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Foreword

John Borrows

In December of 2003, Sasha Harmon contacted me to discuss a pro-
posed conference commemorating the sesquicentennial of the Wash-
ington Territory Indian treaties. I listened carefully to her ideas

because her work has been influential in increasing our understanding of
Native American identity and the definition of tribes around Puget
Sound.1 Her attentiveness to indigenous people’s innovation and
resilience in constructing their own identities, despite others’ imposed
labels, has generated insightful work.

I was enthusiastic about Professor Harmon’s idea to focus on treaties
from a multidisciplinary perspective. I also saw the relevance of the con-
ference for Canada. Treaties on Vancouver Island were formalized
around the same time as those in Washington Territory. Harmon hoped
to engage scholars in a project to analyze broadly the repercussions and
changing meanings of treaties that purportedly defined indigenous  /  non-
indigenous relations in the Pacific Northwest. I believe she has been suc-
cessful in this objective. The conference, entitled Pacific Northwest
Indian Treaties in National and International Historical Perspective,
took place May 13 and 14, 2004. The essays in this book present many
of the issues discussed at that gathering and represent some of the finest
work on treaties currently available in the literature.

Harmon’s training as a lawyer and a historian has been evident
throughout my association with her. This makes her both an excellent
conference convener and an able editor, as is evident in these collected
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viii Foreword

essays. She has a keen eye for detail yet is acutely aware of broader per-
spectives. Both those scholars invited to the conference and those who
have contributed to The Power of Promises share this trait. The con-
tributors draw on anthropology, ethnography, law, history, Native
American studies, and political science, among other disciplines, in the
pursuit of their research. They follow a variety of research methodolo-
gies in making their arguments and establishing their points. They are
also united by their attention to the specific contexts and wider views of
treaties in the Pacific Northwest. In this foreword I would like to say a
few words about the conference theme, the various authors, and the
essays included here, as an orientation to what follows.

There are many reasons to look at treaties in the Pacific Northwest
from a wider angle, particularly across the Canadian – United States bor-
der. The two countries share common historical roots, languages, and
political heritage. Furthermore, the border introduced to the territory by
the Treaty of Oregon in 1846 cut across extended kinship, trade, and
political relationships of indigenous people. It established distinct con-
stitutional and legal authorities that influenced the development and
judgment of treaties in different ways. However, although borders
divide, they can never completely disassociate the people they ostensibly
separate. This has been true for both indigenous and nonindigenous peo-
ples of the Pacific Northwest.

Living on Vancouver Island, one is keenly aware of the connections
Salish people share across the Strait of Georgia and the Strait of Juan de
Fuca.2 Though regrettably constrained by the United States – Canadian
border, indigenous relationships around those and neighboring saltwa-
ter inlets (known to some as the Salish Sea) continue through such activ-
ities as marriages, trade, travel, education, feasting, and other ceremonial
connections. In fact, the conference from which these essays were drawn
demonstrated the saliency of these contacts. Not only did particular pre-
sentations draw on the continued relevancy of continuing cross-border
Salish relationships, but also a good number of Salish students and lead-
ers were in attendance at the conference. Their questions and informal
presence added immeasurably to the spirit of the conference and helped
us all appreciate the living context of the treaties under discussion. I
believe many of the contributions in this book were enriched through
this important exchange.

Just as cross-border contacts among indigenous people are an impor-
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tant source of inspiration for studies of Pacific Northwest Indian treaties,
so too can profound insights be generated through international non-
indigenous collaboration around this same subject. For example, during
the conference I met my colleague Robert Anderson, who teaches sub-
jects at the University of Washington Law School similar to those that I
teach at the University of Victoria. Because we are not indigenous to the
Pacific Northwest, I place our relationship in the nonindigenous cate-
gory for the purposes of this book, but Professor Anderson and I share
indigenous ancestry and citizenship in the Anishinabek Nation of central
Canada and the United States. It is always good to meet a fellow citizen
of the same First Nation. Though separated by international borders and
living away from our homelands, we have a mutual interest in the impli-
cations of treaties our ancestors signed with the colonial governments
in another region of the country.

Anderson’s essay in this volume on the Alaska Native Claims Settle-
ment Act reminded me of processes currently animating the negotiation
of new treaties in British Columbia. That modern treaties might have an
impact on historical treaties was mentioned at the conference and is con-
sidered in greater detail in this book. Professor Ravi de Costa from York
University, closer to my own indigenous home territory in Ontario, also
takes readers down that road. He discusses important concerns regard-
ing the narrow approach he finds in contemporary British Columbia
treaty negotiations. Readers will find his essay rich with insight.

Examples of nonindigenous connections across borders are also found
in the work of Russel Lawrence Barsh, whose essay in this volume helps
explain how tribes have been internally affected by treaty litigation in the
United States. I have worked with Russel in the past in matters of inter-
national indigenous development. Through our mutual association with
First Peoples Worldwide, I knew Russel had the ability to connect local
concerns with issues of international importance. He does not disappoint
here. His discussion of ethnonationalism among Indian tribes could eas-
ily be connected to changes taking place in the larger world, as nation-
states and even indigenous nations often co-opt individual identities to
serve wider collective goals.

Professor Paige Raibmon takes up a similar theme as she explores 
the construction of identity in relation to landownership and individual
acts of dispossession directed at Indians through nonindigenous settle-
ment and intermarriage. Although she does not refer to the processes of



 ethnonationalism that preface Russel’s essay, Paige’s work again reminds
us that individuals can be used by the state to accomplish purposes that
those individuals might not explicitly identify or approve if they were
conscious of how their cultural propensities were being deployed. I first
met Paige when she was working with the British Columbia Treaty Com-
mission in the mid-1990s, while she was still a graduate student at Duke
University. It is clear those experiences have added much to her work as
a history professor at the University of British Columbia. They have
enabled her to bring together the practical and academic implications of
land-use policies and practices in the Pacific Northwest.

It was also a pleasure to associate with three other law professors and
a lawyer at this conference. Their strong contributions are evident. Pro-
fessor Kent McNeil is one of Canada’s leading legal scholars in the field
of Aboriginal and treaty rights. He also happens to be my former doc-
toral supervisor, a fact for which I am extremely grateful because of his
kindness and academic guidance. The Supreme Court of Canada fre-
quently cites McNeil, and his articles are reproduced in texts and case-
books throughout Canada. His work has also been influential in
Australia and New Zealand. McNeil’s essay in this volume discusses the
carving up of indigenous territory through international treaties like
those that dealt with the Oregon boundary. Drawing on the early Indian
law decisions of United States Supreme Court Chief Justice John Mar-
shall, McNeil’s thesis is that international treaties should not be regarded
as nullifying the sovereignty of First Nations that did not participate in
such agreements.

Like McNeil, Canadian law professor Douglas C. Harris picks up ref-
erences to U.S. law, in his case to consider how principles for interpret-
ing rights to fish under the Washington Territory treaties bear on
aboriginal fishing rights in Canada. Doug was a student in the first class
I ever taught as a professor at the University of Toronto Law School. I
remember his term paper very well. It drew on historian Richard White’s
The Middle Ground and argued that law could be a tool for reconcilia-
tion in contemporary Canada.3 Doug was subsequently an outstanding
graduate student at the University of British Columbia, where we again
crossed paths when I taught there. He is now in the Faculty of Law at the
University of British Columbia, and his work continues to examine dis-
location and the possibilities for reconciliation across many “middle
grounds.” Doug carries this theme forward in his essay and demonstrates
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what Canada might learn from the fisheries disputes before the courts in
Washington State.

Finally, my colleague Hamar Foster in the Faculty of Law at the Uni-
versity of Victoria writes with another former student of mine, Alan
Grove. During law school Alan was always keen to pull Indian history
away from its eastern bias. Having done graduate work in history before
law school, he was convinced that courts and scholars had overlooked
important interactions among government officials in Oregon, Wash-
ington, British Columbia, and Alaska. Alan later joined with Professor
Foster, one of Canada’s most respected legal historians, to take up this
inquiry. The result of their collaboration is an insightful essay that
explores the connections between colonial leaders in the Pacific North-
west in the early years of non-native settlement and traces their poten-
tial mutual influence in treaty processes. It is interesting to note modern
parallels in these connections. Our interest in Pacific Northwest treaties
causes us to reach across the border to learn more about treaty issues in
the broader region, just as the mutual interests and shared experiences
of prior generations did in their time.

The essays of Chris Friday, Andrew H. Fisher, Bruce Rigsby, and
Arthur J. Ray also demonstrate how looking back across time can
 provide important perspectives on Pacific Northwest treaties and their
subsequent interpretations. Friday, professor of history at Western
Washington University, looks at performance and illustrates how treaties
might be understood outside of their textual constraints and seen as liv-
ing agreements that have been reenacted and applied at many points
after their signing. Fisher, professor of history at the College of William
and Mary, reminds us that the audience receiving performances can
make a real difference in how treaty reenactments develop through time.
His point — that non-native courts and officials have changed the way
tribes related to one another and their resources — demonstrates the
importance of viewing treaties as multicultural relationships. Fisher’s
work shows that native  /  non-native relationships are not static but rather
are inflected with power, making tribes potentially more pliable and vul-
nerable to the state as time passes. Rigsby, emeritus professor of anthro-
pology at the University of Queensland, demonstrates this vulnerability
in his contribution by describing how tribes lack control over the burials
of ancient people found within their traditional territories, contrary to
their likely understandings when the treaties were signed.
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Ray, professor of history at the University of British Columbia,
describes another vulnerability, vividly showing how non-native people
often have the last word on the treaty interpretations when these issues
are taken to courts. He explains the difficulty he encounters as a histo-
rian trying to educate judges about the treaties’ possible meanings. These
difficulties are often compounded because of the unevenness in the
experts’ teaching and research qualifications. At least in the Canadian
context, courts have been more heavily relying on nonacademic, profes-
sional historians, who do not have work or reputation outside their
employment by the federal or provincial litigation departments. For
decades Ray has been one of the most prolific and respected scholars
studying Aboriginal/non-Aboriginal commercial relationships in west-
ern Canada. His personal reflections on the difficulties historians and
Aboriginal claimants encounter in the courtroom are clearly presented in
a wonderfully concise yet thoughtful essay.

As you read the essays throughout this volume, you will find a rich
source of information that will deepen your knowledge of a dynamic
field of discourse. Treaties in the Pacific Northwest are relevant today
because they continue to define our relationship to one another and to
the land and its resources. For example, in 2006 the Supreme Court of
Canada handed down its decision in R. v. Morris, which examined the
right of Indians on southern Vancouver Island “to hunt over the unoc-
cupied lands . . . as formerly” under the North Saanich Treaty of 1852.4

The Court held that First Nations treaty rights are a valid defense to
charges under provincial law aimed at prohibiting night hunting. It said
that Saanich people possess unextinguished rights to night hunting
(where this practice does not endanger others) because their ancestors
practiced that right at the time treaties were signed, and Governor James
Douglas guaranteed these practices could continue without change.

The fact that First Nations treaties are constitutionally secure against
provincial challenge in such controversial circumstances surely requires
explanation, given the somewhat vague language by which such rights
were protected. In providing such explanations the Court wrote: “The
language of the Treaty stating ‘we are at liberty to hunt over the unoc-
cupied lands’ exemplifies the lean and often vague vocabulary of historic
treaty promises. McLachlin J., dissenting on other grounds, stated in 
R. v. Marshall, [1999] 3 Supreme Court Reports. 456 (Marshall No. 1),
at para. 78, that ‘[t]he goal of treaty interpretation is to choose from
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among the various possible interpretations of common intention the one
which best reconciles the interests of both parties at the time the treaty
was signed.’ This means that the promises in the treaty must be placed
in their historical, political, and cultural contexts to clarify the common
intentions of the parties and the interests they intended to reconcile at the
time.”

The Power of Promises places Pacific Northwest treaty promises and
their interpretation within this broader context. As such, it is an impor-
tant contribution to our developing understanding about how better to
reconcile the varied historical, political, and cultural perspectives on
these important legal agreements in both Canada and the United States
today. As you read, I am sure you will learn more about the power of
Indian treaty promises to have such a lasting impact. Those treaties tell
us how we can live together with “good feelings” if we abide by their
spirit and intent.

notes

1. Alexandra Harmon, Indians in the Making: Ethnic Relations and Indian Iden-
tities Around Puget Sound (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1998).

2. “Salish” — a term that anthropologists adopted several decades ago for a fam-
ily of languages spoken by aboriginal inhabitants of several large areas in the Pacific
Northwest — is now a common ethnic designation for First Nations in southwest-
ern British Columbia and Indian tribes in western Washington.

3. Richard White, The Middle Ground: Indians, Empires, and Republics in the
Great Lakes Region, 1650 – 1815 (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1991).

4. R. v. Morris, 2006 Supreme Court of Canada (SCC) 59 at paragraph 2.
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Introduction

pacific northwest indian treaties in national 

and international historical perspective

Alexandra Harmon

3

The year 1855 was just under way when hundreds of travelers
converged at a popular camping place on the eastern shore of
Puget Sound — a low-lying point known as Mukilteo.1 Flotillas

of cedar canoes brought men, women, and children from communities
in all directions. As each group arrived, the people already there lined up
for a ceremonious greeting, their standard protocol at big gatherings for
special occasions. This gathering, however, promised to be unusual. It
was taking place at the behest of men called Bostons — newcomers in the
region who referred to themselves as Americans or whites and the native
inhabitants as Indians or siwash.2 The Bostons had indicated that they
planned some novel proceedings.

In the two weeks after the first campfires were kindled, the crowd at
Mukilteo grew to more than twenty-three hundred. Finally, on January
22 of the American calendar, the Bostons convened a general assembly.
With prestigious men seated in front, the native people waited to hear
what their hosts would say. The man who spoke first was small in stature
and had not been in the country long, but his importance among the Bos -
tons was apparent. In English, which an interpreter converted to the
regional trade jargon for succeeding interpreters who then rendered the
mes sage in local dialects, Isaac Stevens declared:
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My Children! You are not my children because you are the fruit of my loins

but because you are children for whom I have the same feeling as if you were

the fruit of my loins. You are my children for whom I will strenuously labor

all the days of my life until I shall be taken hence. What will a man do for his

own children? He will see that they are well cared for, that they have clothes

to protect them against the cold and rain, that they have food to guard them

against hunger, and as for thirst you have your own glorious streams in which

to quench it. I want you as my children to be fed and clothed, and made com-

fortable and happy. . . . We want to place you in houses where you can cul-

tivate the soil, raising potatoes and other articles of food, and where you may

be able to pass in canoes over the waters of the sound and catch fish, and

back to the mountains to get roots and berries.3

Stevens introduced “elder brother” Michael Simmons, whose decade-
long residence in the area made him more familiar to and with Stevens’s
native “children.” Speaking a language the minute-taker identified as
“Indian” but recorded as the French- and English-sprinkled Chinook
trade jargon, Simmons talked of Indians victimized by whites who stole
from them, beat them, and sold them trouble-triggering rum. Implying
that the Americans had a plan to solve those problems, he said, “Kona -
way mesike tenass chahko kahkwa Boston tenass. . . . All your children
will be like American children.” Then Stevens rose again and told the
assembly that his assignment was to send a “paper” showing their
“desires & wishes” to the “Great Father” in Washington, who wanted
his Indian children to be virtuous, industrious, happy, and prosperous.

“The lands are yours,” Stevens concluded, “and we mean to pay you
for them. Thank you that you have been so kind to all the white children
of the Great Father, who come to build mills, till land, build and sail
ships. We will put our hearts down on paper. . . . If the Great Father
says the paper is good it will stand forever.” The Bostons had already put
their “hearts” in written English words that they reportedly proceeded
to translate in full for the Indians. When Stevens asked whether any
“chiefs” objected, Seattle responded first and, according to the minutes,
said: “I look upon you as my father. I and the rest regard you as such.
All of the Indians have the same good feeling towards you and will send
it on paper to the Great Father. All of them, men, old men, women &
children rejoice that he has sent you to take care of them. My mind is like
yours. I don’t want to say more. My heart is very good towards Dr. May-
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nard [a physician who was present]. I want always to get medicine from
him.”

Stevens interjected a promise that the Indians would have a doctor
for their bodies and a doctor for their souls, then he listened as other
chiefs briefly expressed satisfaction much as Seattle had. After Stevens
and eighty-two native men had marked the paper, the Bostons distrib-
uted gifts. Finally Seattle, presenting a white flag, made a public pledge:
“Now by this we make friends and put away all bad feelings if we ever
had any. We are the friends of the Americans. . . . We look upon you as
our Father. We will never change our minds but since you have been to
see us will be always the same.”

The heading of the document endorsed that day in 1855 identifies it
as a treaty between the United States and twenty-two listed “tribes and
bands of Indians” (plus unnamed “allied and subordinate” groups). In
fifteen numbered articles the text attests to what the American and tribal
representatives ostensibly agreed. Among other things, the tribes con-
veyed to the United States all interest in the lands they occupied (a
description of which the treaty drafters supplied); the parties reserved
four small specified tracts of land for the Indians’ exclusive use and an
additional tract where the government would build a school for Indian
children; the Indians promised to move to the reserved areas within a
year after Americans furnished them the means; Indians retained their
right to fish at traditional places and get other subsistence resources on
unclaimed land; the United States pledged payments totaling $150,000
over twenty years, either in cash or in expenditures for Indians’ benefit;
and the American president claimed the prerogative of relocating the
reservations, consolidating the Indians at fewer places, and dividing
reserved lands into lots for individuals and families.4

According to U.S. law, that compact, now usually identified as the
Treaty of Point Elliott, is an essential first link on all chains of title to
land in a significant portion of Washington State. The real estate that
changed hands includes the site of the city named for Chief Seattle, and
within the city is a University of Washington campus. At the university,
150 years after the parley at Mukilteo, more than one hundred people
convened for a conference entitled “Pacific Northwest Indian Treaties
in National and International Historical Perspective.” This book is an
outgrowth of that commemorative event, which was an opportunity for
scholars from several disciplines and countries to report on research and
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discuss thoughts about treaties endorsed by indigenous peoples in Wash-
ington State and elsewhere. The essays collected here present and elab-
orate on ideas considered at the conference.

one of ten treaties and ten of many 
indian treaties

It was not the anniversary of the Point Elliott treaty alone that inspired
a scholarly symposium with a broad scope of inquiry. The Point Elliott
treaty is representative of a distinctive historical phenomenon whose
widespread political, economic, and social consequences have carried
into the present day. In North America, where treaties have been
employed hundreds of times to define relations between indigenous and
colonial societies, many such pacts have continuing legal force, and many
have been the focus of recent, high-stakes legal contests. In 2005, for
example, the governments of Canada and British Columbia were even
negotiating new treaties with Aboriginal groups. As the basis for cur-
rent circumstances of great import to millions of people, Indian treaties
are the subject of much public discourse. Thus, whenever there is occa-
sion to ponder the significance of an individual treaty, there is also rea-
son to consider the larger history of such treaties and the issues they have
raised or sought to resolve.5

Furthermore, the Point Elliott council was not the only event of its
kind in 1855; rather, it was one act in an epic regional drama. The doc-
ument inked at Mukilteo was the second in a matched set of ten treaties,
all concluded at Isaac Stevens’s instigation within a thirteen-month
period. As a group those agreements restructured landownership and
intercultural relations in an area extending far beyond the northern Puget
Sound. With his appointment as the first governor and ex-officio super-
intendent of Indian Affairs for Washington Territory, Stevens assumed
responsibility for negotiating the terms of Americans’ coexistence with
indigenous peoples throughout his new jurisdiction, which encompassed
present-day Idaho and western Montana as well as Washington State.
Between Christmas Eve of 1854 and mid-January of 1856 he and a small
crew of advisers met with Indians in nine councils at locations stretch-
ing from the tip of the Olympic Peninsula to the Rocky Mountains.
Couriers subsequently carried ten “papers” bearing Indian signatures or
X marks to Washington, D.C., for the “Great Father’s” review.6
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It is understandable that many people refer to the results of this diplo-
matic tour de force as “the Stevens treaties.” The label may be a nod to
the commanding persona for which Stevens is known, but it is mostly a
convenient alternative to naming the several separate agreements or their
many Indian parties. Either way, linking Stevens’s name to the treaties
reflects a bias common in public representations of history: a tendency
to privilege the perspectives of the people who prevailed in struggles for
hegemony. In the Pacific Northwest, Euro-Americans eventually domi-
nated not only political institutions and economic development, but also
public forums and the media for presenting stories about the region’s
past. And in the stories told by non-Indians, prominent Americans such
as Stevens have usually been important protagonists.

But there is a better reason to speak of the Washington Territory
Indian treaties as a unit, and that reason is also inseparable from Isaac
Stevens’s central role in their formulation. The texts of the ten docu-
ments — drafted in advance by the governor and his associates — are
nearly identical. With minor exceptions they vary only in their descrip-
tions of the lands that Indians ceded and reserved.7 When a court has
had to settle a dispute about the meaning of language in one of the
treaties, its ruling has often determined how corresponding provisions of
the other nine treaties will be construed.8 As a consequence, many
descendants of the indigenous people who met with Stevens in 1854,
1855, and 1856 now identify each other not only as fellow Indians but
also as fellow beneficiaries of treaties so closely related that a single,
shorthand name for them makes sense.9

Although the Stevens treaties dealt with concerns of the specific par-
ties and accommodated local circumstances of the time, they also owed
their existence and much of their content to events in a larger arena and
actions taken years earlier. Subsequently, in turn, the Stevens treaties
have influenced far-flung people and events, even outside the Northwest.
It is with these facts in mind that organizers of the sesquicentennial con-
ference set their sights on bringing together scholars who would con-
sider such treaties from a wide range of chronological and geographical
perspectives. The reward, they hoped, would be fresh and diverse com-
mentaries on the evolving significance of the treaties made in Washing-
ton Territory.

To understand Isaac Stevens’s actions, for example, it helps to have
in mind that the history of treaties with Indians in North America
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reached back more than two centuries before Stevens met a siwash chief.
By the time he requested and received congressional authorization to
negotiate a purchase of lands from the Indians of his bailiwick, treaties
had become a time-honored way for his country to legitimize its colo-
nization of territory already occupied by indigenous peoples.10 For sev-
eral decades after the United States won their independence, the federal
government generated revenue primarily by acquiring Indian land, then
subdividing and selling it.

In proceeding by treaty, leaders of the fledgling republic emulated
their colonial predecessors, who had found it necessary to work out and
solemnize trading partnerships, military alliances, boundary agreements,
and other terms of relations with self-governing indigenous neighbors.
Architects of the United States also had a specific, recent colonial model
for managing relations with Indians — a Royal Proclamation of 1763.
With that decree the British Crown tried (unsuccessfully) to ensure the
orderly, peaceful acquisition of Indian lands by assuming exclusive
authority for negotiating purchases. The U.S. Constitution and early acts
of Congress conferred the same prerogative on the new national gov-
ernment, although the government often invoked this power only after
its constituents had swarmed into Indian country illegally, forcing its
hand. By the 1850s Americans had gained considerable advantage over
Indians in the contest for territory, and the purposes and terms of their
treaties with Indians had changed accordingly; however, federal officials
still took it for granted that treaties were necessary to smooth the way
for American settlement in the Pacific Northwest.11

Looking forward in time from 1855 is also an essential part of assess-
ing the Stevens treaties’ significance. That year was a long, eventful
decade and a half before 1871, when a majority of federal lawmakers,
telling themselves that their country‘s power over Indians made treaties
obsolete, ordered a stop to them. Moreover, the move in Congress
proved premature, and for several decades after 1871 the government
was obliged or chose to negotiate formal compacts with some tribal
groups; it simply dubbed the results agreements instead of treaties and
submitted them to both legislative houses for approval. Although Indi-
ans’ near-impotence and federal policies did finally appear to render
treaties and similar agreements irrelevant in the early twentieth century,
old treaties remained “the law of the land” unless clearly annulled. The
U.S. Supreme Court said as much in a string of decisions that included
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a 1959 case from the Navajo Reservation and litigation from the Pacific
Northwest during the 1960s and 1970s.12

There is at least one more argument for locating and viewing the
Stevens treaties on a timeline of Indian  /  non-Indian relations that extends
to the present day: doing so serves as a reminder that the treaty parties
did not have the benefit of our vantage point. Their words and actions
are not likely to make sense unless we are mindful of what they did not
know and could not foresee as well as what they knew or believed.

the need to look across political 
and disciplinary boundaries

When scanning the historical background and subsequent fates of par-
ticular Indian treaties, a wide-angle geographical lens is also useful.
 Certainly, if treaties made in the northern United States are in the fore-
ground, Canada should be within the range of vision. Not only are the
practices of early English colonists and the Royal Proclamation of 1763
part of Canadian history as well as U.S. history, but also and more
important, Indian policies in British-ruled Canada continued to affect
American actions and Indians in the path of American expansion even
after the United States won independence in 1783. Well into the nine-
teenth century, Britons carried on with colonial activities in places that
would ultimately belong to the United States, including Washington Ter-
ritory. Consequently, some contemporary American and Canadian tribes
or indigenous nations include people whose ancestors dealt with more
than one colonial government.13 Pertinent background for the Stevens
treaties is the fact that the Pacific Northwest was the subject of a joint
occupation agreement between the United States and Britain from 1818
until 1846. And when the two nation-states finally agreed to divide that
region roughly in equal parts at the forty-ninth parallel, the boundary
they drew did not follow the boundaries of indigenous peoples’ territo-
ries and movements. For these reasons and others the continuing pres-
ence and proximity of Britons was very much part of the context for the
treaties that Stevens arranged.

Conference planners therefore resolved not to let present national bor-
ders and political jurisdictions determine the parameters of discussion
at the University of Washington, even though the original stimulus for
the meeting was the anniversary of Washington Territory Indian treaties.
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Recent scholarship on related topics reinforced this determination. His-
tories illuminating the nature and origins of such things as ethnic groups,
technologies of power, and subaltern responses to colonialism testify to
the value of looking across modern international borders. David  Thelen,
for one, has urged his fellow historians to think “transnationally.” It is
important, he writes, to understand how people, “moving through time
and space according to rhythms and relationships of their own, drew
from, ignored, constructed, transformed, and defied claims of the nation-
state.”14 Because the history of Indian treaties in North America is the
history of empire builders and indigenous peoples variously asserting,
negotiating, manipulating, and resisting “claims of the nation-state,”
students of those treaties would be wise to accept Thelen’s challenge.

Organizers of the conference at the University of Washington thus
had ample cause to expect that scholars who concern themselves with
Canada and those who focus on the United States could learn from each
other’s work regarding treaties with indigenous peoples. Numerous
questions are worth addressing jointly, and some lend themselves to
potentially fruitful comparative studies. Why did colonial authorities
make formal treaties with some indigenous peoples but not with others,
for instance? How have indigenous peoples with treaties fared in com-
parison with indigenous peoples who did not make treaties with colonial
authorities? Which colonial policies and practices regarding indigenous
peoples have transcended the boundaries of colonial territories? Why
and how has that occurred? What factors have affected the continuing
viability and the meanings of treaties? And what have been the chal-
lenges and consequences of resolving disputes about treaties, or the lack
of treaties, in colonial forums?

A keynote address underscored for conference participants the value
of comparisons across time and national boundaries. The historian John
Wunder, who has recently supplemented his extensive study of Ameri-
can Indians’ legal history with investigations of other indigenous peo-
ples’ experiences, gave brief accounts of treaties involving or affecting
indigenous people in four disparate places and times: medieval Scandi-
navia, early colonial Australia, nineteenth-century Canada, and the
northern Great Plains of the United States. Although the treaties were
diverse in nature, Wunder noted, their histories have an important com-
monality: indigenous people have ensured the treaties’ evolving and pres-
ent-day significance by remembering them and telling their own stories
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about them despite colonial authorities’ efforts to suppress or discredit
those indigenous representations.15

The quest for fresh perspectives on the Stevens treaties must also
entail looking across the boundaries of academic disciplines. After all,
treaties with indigenous peoples get attention in several intellectual spe-
cialties. Analyzing the language of the documents and judicial interpre-
tations of that language has largely been the province of people trained
in the law. But understanding treaties also involves knowing the cir-
cumstances in which they were made — a task that obliges lawyers and
judges to seek help from people with other kinds of specialized knowl-
edge. As Canadian scholar J. R. Miller has observed about the history of
his homeland, colonists’ treaties with aboriginal groups have been of
several different types, each of which reflects the “character of Native-
newcomer relations at the time.”16 Determining the character and con-
text of particular relations is a challenge that historians such as Miller are
disposed and equipped to tackle. But seeing those relations from the
standpoints of all parties also requires information on tribal societies
that anthropologists and indigenous history-keepers are practiced at col-
lecting and interpreting. Thus it can take the combined work of analysts
with three or more kinds of expertise to determine what treaties have
meant to the people affected.

The essays in this volume confirm the wisdom of seizing on the 150th
anniversary of the Stevens treaties as an opportunity to consider them
and their broad historical context from diverse and wide-ranging schol-
arly perspectives. On the symposium program were historians, anthro-
pologists, lawyers, and interdisciplinary scholars from the United States,
Canada, and Australia. Joining the discussion were members of an audi-
ence that included First Nations leaders and modern treaty negotiators
as well as other scholars and educators. Ten of the fifteen people chosen
to speak — taking into account the presentations, conference discussions,
and subsequent correspondence with each other — have since produced
essays for this volume. The collection also includes a previously pub-
lished article by two researchers who recounted their findings at the con-
ference. For the people in attendance, the exchange of ideas among
researchers from several fields of study and several countries did prove
valuable; and now, with the publication of this anthology, it should
prove valuable for anyone interested in knowing more and thinking fur-
ther about the history and legacies of treaties with indigenous peoples.
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Regrettably, a volume of eleven essays cannot explore every note-
worthy aspect of the Stevens treaties, let alone the many other treaties
with indigenous peoples. Readers seeking basic data on Indian treaties
in the Pacific Northwest — a compendium of the treaties, their parties,
and their terms; details of negotiations; accounts of subsequent imple-
mentation, violations, and controversies — must consult other sources.17

This book samples but certainly does not exhaust the questions that the
treaties continue to pose for scholars as well as members of the general
public. The subjects of presentations proposed for the sesquicentennial
symposium did not include, for example, recent campaigns in opposi-
tion to “special rights” for Indians, the contemporary importance of
treaties to Indians who assert a right of political self-determination, or
the current international law status of Indian treaties. Two of the con-
ference participants who spoke on the important topic of native oral
 traditions had hoped to contribute essays but subsequently faced cir-
cumstances that dashed those hopes. Even so, the works included, sep-
arately and as a whole, make notable contributions to our knowledge of
a historical phenomenon that has had long-lasting, complex repercus-
sions in the Northwest and for many populations around the world.

Before highlighting some of those contributions, I should address a
feature of the book that readers may find puzzling: terminology. Specifi-
cally, the authors use a variety of terms for indigenous people and the
descendants who identify with them. Popular usage gives writers a choice
of terms for such people in the United States, none of them uncontro-
versial. The most common general names— “Indians” and “Native
Americans” — come in for criticism from a variety of directions. But
because there is no consensus on a more appropriate designation, and
because the people in question often identify themselves by one or both
of those terms, our authors use either or both terms, except where a spe-
cific tribal name or indigenous language term is more fitting.

In Canada, by contrast, indigenous people have spearheaded a largely
successful effort to make the term “First Nations” more common than
“Indians” or “Natives.” Although our Canadian contributors adopt that
usage in most cases, they also use the term “Aboriginal” frequently. The
latter word would likely strike Americans as quaint or pedantic but
would seem familiar to Australians, whose term of choice for that con-
tinent’s first inhabitants is “Aborigines.” Some Canadians today may
flinch on hearing Americans say “Indian,” and Americans may wonder
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how many Canadians truly believe in the sovereignty implied by “First
Nations,” but speakers and audience members at the 2005 conference
easily understood each other’s terminology, and the differences did not
prevent respectful communication. Similarly, it did not seem necessary
to standardize the vocabulary throughout this book.18

looking past the u.s.–canada border

Several essays in the collection demonstrate the particular value of link-
ing treaty history in the northwest corner of the United States with treaty
history in what is now British Columbia. They provide support for an
argument that conference-goers heard from John Borrows, Professor and
Law Foundation Chair of Aboriginal Justice and Governance in the Uni-
versity of Victoria Faculty of Law.19 Borrows cited numerous reasons to
consider Canadian and U.S. treaty making in tandem — reasons beyond
the fact that the two nations share some historical roots, a language, and
an English legal heritage. Treaties with indigenous peoples served the
same general purposes in both countries, enabling non-natives to colo-
nize and develop large areas in peace while assuring native peoples of
home sites and access to subsistence resources. In addition, Borrows
deemed it significant that the two countries share a long border. That
border has simultaneously divided and connected, he said; it has created
relationships even as it has marked a formal separation.

At the border’s western end specifically, information and relations
that crossed it were part of the context and the motivations for treaties
involving native peoples on both sides. The first governor of the colonies
that became British Columbia negotiated fourteen recorded treaties with
Aboriginal inhabitants beginning in 1850 and ending in December 1854,
the same month that Isaac Stevens called his first treaty council. Like
Stevens, Governor James Douglas was dealing with people from whom
his compatriots and fur-trader colleagues in the area obtained food,
labor, and other vital services. Because the international boundary
bisected indigenous homelands and extensive kinship networks, the 
two men even treated with some of the same tribal groups and individ-
uals. Both governors— aware of each other’s plans for Indians— also
responded to local circumstances by proposing treaties that would
reserve small parcels for Indian communities while making expanses of
Aboriginal territory available for non-native settlers.
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Legal historians Hamar Foster and Alan Grove offer additional, com-
pelling reasons to meld the history of Indian treaties in Washington Ter-
ritory and the history of treaty making in British Columbia. When trying
to solve a puzzle of colonial B.C. history, they uncovered facts that sug-
gest causal connections between the Indian policies of certain officials
there and similar developments south of the border. Foster’s and Grove’s
essay in this book methodically lays out evidence that Douglas was
familiar with and likely to absorb ideas from U.S. law and jurisprudence
regarding Indians, as was the land commissioner who subsequently
declined to acknowledge native title by seeking treaties. Men charged
with managing Indian affairs, note Foster and Grove, also continued to
associate with each other well after taking up residence and offices on
opposite sides of the international boundary. This meticulous detective
work gives specificity to Borrows’s observation that the line between
Canada and the United States has not been a barrier to relationships or
information. The border did not prevent colonial authorities from influ-
encing each other’s approach to relations with indigenous peoples.

Legal scholar Douglas Harris reports in his contribution that Ameri-
can interpretations of treaties have also influenced developments in
Canada during recent years, thanks to Canadian courts’ willingness to
consider principles articulated by judges in the United States. When rul-
ing on disputes about the fishing rights of Aboriginal people, a few Cana-
dian justices have cited opinions or adopted language of U.S. courts
construing a promise in the Stevens treaties that Indians could continue
fishing at their accustomed places. Although American jurists have not
returned the compliment — that is, they have not looked to Canadian
court decisions for guidance— Harris’s account makes it hard to under-
stand such indifference. Every time Canadians consider and react to
American conclusions regarding treaty obligations to native peoples, the
reasons mount for Americans to take note.

As Harris indicates, Governors Douglas and Stevens “negotiated with
peoples who shared a cultural heritage and economic base,” including
fish stocks that could not be neatly divided by colonial boundary lines.
However, the international boundary does demarcate areas with distinct
political and legal histories. Treaty making and its ramifications have
taken different directions in U.S. and Canadian jurisdictions since 1854.
Ironically, if Foster’s and Grove’s speculation is correct, one key differ-
ence— B.C. officials’ apparent conclusion in 1854 that they could dis-
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pense with treaties as a means of acquiring native territory— may be
traceable to a legal development in the United States. In any case differ-
ences are as instructive as similarities. One important difference — noted
in Harris’s essay and articulated by Borrows—“is that there is greater
recognition of [Indians’] reserved rights in the United States, but greater
constraint of federal sovereign power in Canada.”

American courts have ruled that Congress may unilaterally abrogate
treaties with Indians or terminate tribes’ right to govern themselves, yet
the courts have also said self-government is an inherent right that the
tribes retain in the absence of an explicit cession or abrogation. By con-
trast, Borrows asserted at the conference, “First Nations in Canada do
not currently enjoy a recognized right to self-government,” but they do
enjoy a measure of protection for any acknowledged rights because
Canadian law requires the government to justify interference with such
rights by stating a legislative objective consistent with the Crown’s
honor.

treaties and power relations

In comparing U.S. and Canadian government powers to curtail native
rights, Borrows alludes to another theme that runs through this volume:
understanding treaties (or the lack of treaties) with indigenous popula-
tions entails analyzing power relations, and power relations have been
more complex, negotiable, and variable than many broad-brush histories
of Indian affairs indicate. Histories tracing the development of nation-
states such as Canada and the United States understandably focus on
factors that enabled them to overpower native societies. Francis Paul
Prucha, author of a magisterial history of U.S. Indian policy, stresses the
inequality of power reflected in most of the treaties with Indians. A typ-
ical treaty, he notes, paired ostensible recognition of the tribes’ sover-
eignty with Indians’ acknowledgment of their subservience to the United
States.20

The essays in this book do not deny the ultimate subjugation and
 marginalization of indigenous peoples — indeed, the contribution by 
legal scholar Robert Anderson echoes Prucha’s emphasis — but several
of them tell stories that complicate the usual outcome-oriented  per -
spective on power relations. They do so primarily by considering events
from the historical actors’ time- and culture-specific points of view. That
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approach carries an important lesson: a retrospective assessment of the
treaty parties’ relative powers will not explain the parties’ words and
actions; instead, it is necessary to examine what the parties knew, did not
know, valued, and expected at the time they spoke and acted.

In Washington Territory, for instance, all parties came to the treaty
councils with reasons for apprehension or insecurity as well as reasons
for confidence. When the Indians on Stevens’s circuit heard his propos-
als, the American presence was limited to a few thousand people around
Puget Sound, most of them reliant to some extent on natives’ services
and goodwill. However, newcomers were rapidly swelling and embold-
ening the Boston population while smallpox and other plagues were tak-
ing a demoralizing toll on Indian communities. Representatives of the
United States faced a need to make treaties at a time when their nation’s
ultimate domination of all Indians seemed assured but neither imminent
nor cheap to achieve. Federal Indian policy was in disarray. During the
1840s Americans had moved into the trans-Mississippi West ahead of
their government. Even after they organized U.S. territories there, the
emigrants could not be sure of rapid, effective backup from the national
government if their efforts to appease displaced Indians failed.

The new American communities on the Pacific coast also called into
question the previous federal practice of pushing Indians westward,
beyond the states of the Union, and politicians were slow to agree on
another plan. Isaac Stevens took his instructions from a commissioner of
Indian affairs who opined that Indians could be suffered to remain
within the states, confined to small reserved tracts of land where they
would have to learn the habits of “civilized” life. However, Commis-
sioner George Manypenny and Governor Stevens were both aware that
treaties embodying this proposal had no guarantee of ratification, since
lawmakers and many of their constituents still favored Indians’ removal
from the states.21

In other words the balance of Indian and American power was harder
to discern in the mid-1850s than it is now. Certainly, Indians did not
have access to some information that would have helped them assess the
looming non-Indian threat to their autonomy and prosperity. Moreover,
Indians were calculating the cost-benefit ratio of a treaty by factoring in
considerations that historians have overlooked or regarded as unimpor-
tant. Historian Chris Friday takes a close look in his essay at beliefs and
events that would have informed the calculations of a leading Lummi
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man named Chowitsut. Friday concludes that Chowitsut had reason to
be sanguine when he signed the Treaty of Point Elliott. Drawing on
information about the nature of power and status in Lummi society, Fri-
day infers that Chowitsut did not conceive of his signature on the treaty
as submission to Americans’ will; instead, the ambitious chief likely
believed that he enhanced his personal power by securing an advanta-
geous American promise.22

Historian Paige Raibmon offers a different kind of caveat to the
 general rule that nineteenth-century treaties with indigenous peoples
reflected and secured the colonial states’ superior power. Her essay im -
plies that the treaties are imperfect symbols of such power because they
often embodied policies the non-Indian parties could not or did not
enforce. Pacific Northwest treaties, both in Washington Territory and
on Vancouver Island, were efforts to stem conflict resulting or expected
from settlers’ demands for land and deference, and they represented a
colonial policy of acquiring title to real estate without military action or
moral stain where possible. Yet numerous settlers (including officials and
even judges) risked the wrath of Aboriginal people by taking their land
without treaties and often in defiance (or ignorance) of applicable law.23

Since practice has never conformed entirely to policy, Raibmon argues,
present circumstances (and, by implication, treaty history) cannot be
understood without a history of all the practices that dispossessed
natives. Their dispossession has included loss of access to fish and other
resources as well as land. Detailing the process of deprivation can help
non-Indians comprehend native people’s complaints of injustice and their
rising demands for decolonization. It makes the regional significance of
Indian treaties more apparent than studies that focus solely on black-
letter law.

Raibmon further complicates the issue of power by mentioning that
indigenous people and immigrants have created family ties to each other,
through marriage and otherwise. It will not do to tell a simple story of
Aboriginals or Indians oppressed by colonists of European descent, 
for instance, when some people in the former category have staked 
their future on intimate relations with members of the latter group,
including individuals who have participated in the expropriation of
indigenous property. Such intergroup ties also strike Ravi de Costa as a
complicating factor in the contemporary effort to redefine the balance of
power between Aboriginal and other British Columbians. De Costa, an
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interdisciplinary scholar of colonialism’s legacies among various indige-
nous peoples, contributes an essay on the B.C. treaty process that began
during the 1970s. He observes that the nature of the native parties and
their relationships to other parties is far from clear due in part to the
ramifications of past and present relationships across perceived racial
and cultural boundaries.

The complexity and paradoxes of power relations are also evident
when indigenous people ascribe high value to treaties that have func-
tioned as instruments of colonial domination. The essays of Friday and
historian Andrew Fisher, for instance, describe dogged Indian struggles
to win respect for treaties by which they had surrendered vast acreage
and much of their autonomy without exacting commensurate conces-
sions from the colonial governments. De Costa recounts the present-day
efforts of First Nations in British Columbia to make treaties for the first
time with governments that have ultimate power to change the ground
rules entirely.

In 1994 historian Frederick Hoxie offered a succinct explanation for
Indians’ partiality to a way of defining relations that facilitated non-
Indian rule. Indians regard their treaties as “symbols of community alle-
giance,” Hoxie observed, and they construe recognition of the treaties as
respect for their right “to affiliate as they have for centuries.” Thus agree-
ments originally meant as “a badge of sovereignty” for “weak and out-
numbered Europeans” who were seeking a foothold in other people’s
homelands “have become badges of Native American sovereignty.”
Today the treaties are instruments “wielded by weak and outnumbered
Native Americans to manage their passage through the legal culture” of
superimposed nation-states.24

treaties as indians have understood them

Whether power relations or other aspects of treaty making are at issue,
we cannot understand what happened at treaty councils and afterward
without determining and accounting for what indigenous people knew,
believed, wanted, and customarily did in comparable situations. And for
most of the contributors to this volume, that is evidently a top-priority
task. In their essays the focus is on indigenous perceptions of events and
on the meanings that native people have assigned to agreements with
colonial governments. The results — achieved in many cases through
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inspired historical detective work and methods of analysis pioneered by
anthropologists — are invariably fascinating.

For example, supplementing the abundant available information on
non-native treaty makers with evidence of native views means recogniz-
ing that indigenous peoples have had their own, distinctive legal cultures.
Contributors Kent McNeil, Andrew Fisher, Russel Barsh, and Bruce
Rigsby mention differences between Aboriginal and European or Euro-
American assumptions about such legal questions as the bases of
national sovereignty, the character of property rights, and the criteria 
of tribal landownership. Many post-treaty misunderstandings have
stemmed from colonial authorities’ failure or refusal to acknowledge and
accommodate those differences.

Law professor McNeil carefully exposes the ethnocentricity of the
legal thinking that underlay European claims of sovereignty in North
America. Apologists of colonization invoked the supposedly universal
law of nations — the forerunner of today’s international law. However,
those principles evolved in Europe and did not take Aboriginal law ways
or legal capacity into account. Nor did the imperial powers involve
indigenous inhabitants in plans to allocate territory for colonization.
Because of this ethnocentric oversight, McNeil’s essay argues, indige-
nous peoples of the Pacific Northwest can rightfully assert that the Cana-
dian or American government’s jurisdiction over them must rest on
something other than the 1846 boundary agreement between Britain and
the United States.

Non-Indians’ disregard or ignorance of Indian legal culture also inter-
ests Fisher, Barsh, and Rigsby. These three authors refute a common
belief that Isaac Stevens and James Douglas were negotiating with peo-
ple who had no concept of property rights in land. Fisher, Barsh, and
Rigsby maintain that the Northwest’s native inhabitants did have a
strong sense of proprietorship in the lands they ceded by treaty as well
as the lands, fishing sites, and resources they reserved. However, Indians
had long conceived of people’s proprietary privileges and responsibilities
in ways that probably prevented them from understanding a treaty ces-
sion as a sale of all right, title, and interest. Thus people of the Colum-
bia Plateau, according to the anthropologist Rigsby, would not have
expected the treaties to affect their access to and control of ancestors’
graves and remains, even those in ceded territory.

Another discrepancy in the treaty parties’ understandings — the subject
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of the essays by Fisher and Barsh — came to light when treaty Indians
found themselves in competition with non-Indians at off-reservation fish-
eries. Contrary to the assumptions or assertions of federal lawyers respon-
sible for defending Indians’ right to fish, native people along the Columbia
River and around Puget Sound traditionally regarded their fisheries as
family property rather than the common resources of political entities that
non-Indians called tribes. In pragmatic response to post-treaty develop-
ments, especially court rulings, the Indian treaty signers’ descendants even-
tually embraced the notion of tribal rights and American conceptions of
their tribes.

From the outset, however, Indian construction of the treaties did
roughly correspond to American legal doctrine in one important sense:
Indians understood that treaties acknowledged their status as distinct,
self-governing peoples. In numerous instances that understanding has sur-
vived past efforts by the colonial governments to destroy self- governing
tribal communities. It has also survived a plethora of changes in the
nature and forms of indigenous political practices and institutions.
Explaining such a resilient sense of group identity and desire for auton-
omy means, in part, knowing how indigenous people and their descen-
dants have retained and transmitted historical memories of their treaties.
It entails studying the content of Indian or First Nation histories and the
multiple purposes those histories have served.

As several speakers at the University of Washington conference
explained, the collective memories of native people have both reflected
and influenced the state of interethnic relations. Keith Carlson, a histo-
rian at the University of Saskatchewan, analyzed a memory carefully pre-
served in the Sto:lo Nation of British Columbia, for which he formerly
worked. An address by the Queen’s deputy in 1864 led the Sto:lo to
expect compensation for the lands they lost to settlers. Although Cana-
dian politicians and historians have long ignored or discounted Indian
accounts of that speech, Carlson found that “Sto:lo belief in the histor-
ical reality of the [so-called] Crown’s Promise has shaped the way they
have reacted to and interacted with western society over the past 140
years.”25 Other indigenous historical traditions figure prominently in
the essays of Friday, Barsh, Rigsby, and historian Arthur Ray. Like Carl-
son, those contributors as well as de Costa suggest that airing and
respecting indigenous historical traditions is an essential part of enabling
treaties to achieve their goal of preventing or resolving conflict.
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Although the descendants of indigenous people as well as the succes-
sors of colonial officials have preserved memories and tangible records
of those treaties, their understandings and representations of the treaties
have not remained static. That is apparent when Indians today insist 
on adherence to treaties their ancestors signed reluctantly. Likewise, the
fact and ways that some modern non-Indian governments implement
decades-old treaties would surprise the officials who drafted them. The
meanings and effects of treaties have evolved over time as circumstances
have changed, and there are studies in this book that track some partic-
ularly important adaptations.

The essays by Fisher and Barsh — the latter a lawyer with an exten-
sive record of publication on ethnohistorical questions — describe an
ironic shift in the nature of Indians’ group affiliations and self-govern-
ment, which they attribute to the Stevens treaties and judicial interpre-
tations of those treaties. In Washington Territory, as elsewhere, the
colonial officials who called treaty conferences and created the written
treaty texts had conceptions of “Indian tribes” that did not correspond
to indigenous peoples’ actual sociopolitical organization. The treaties
were instruments for creating — in Stevens’s case, quite deliberately —
new tribes that conformed to American notions of power and political
allegiance.

Indian signers did not share and may not have understood Stevens’s
expectations, but they or their successors subsequently facilitated his cre-
ative effort, sometimes intentionally and sometimes not, when they
asserted their treaty rights in colonial courts. They found themselves
addressing people who were resistant or oblivious to conceiving of tribal
identities as indigenous ancestors did. Although courts in the United
States are supposed to construe treaties to meet the Indian signers’ expec-
tations if possible, judges and even lawyers for the Indians attributed
Indians’ treaty rights to political entities that resemble Isaac Stevens’s
notion of tribes more than aboriginal patterns of governance and social
relations. According to Barsh, the effect has been to prompt Indians
around Puget Sound to reformulate their group identities and embrace
a competitive nationalism that gives rise to a way of allocating resources
very different from the Aboriginal, kin-based system.26 An implication
of Barsh’s analysis — that the change does not bode well for resource
stewardship — contrasts with a more common view among scholars that
emergent tribal governments have used the power flowing from the
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 reaffirmed and clarified treaty rights to protect cherished resources from
overexploitation by other stakeholders.27

indian treaties, old and new, 
in contemporary forums

Courtrooms are among the most important public forums where people
have described memories related to Indian treaties. Tribe members
versed in treaty history have sometimes gained a hearing there, but not
always a respectful hearing or one that had the result they desired. And
in the noisy world outside the courts, including the halls of academia
where litigants find many of the experts who testify regarding history,
non-Indian voices have long been louder and commanded more respect
than Indian voices. Arthur Ray’s essay in this volume concerns the power
of colonial courts to declare whose histories of treaty relations are
authoritative. Ray touches on an intriguing paradox and tension in U.S.
and Canadian treaty relations with indigenous peoples. The hegemony
of colonial law is indisputable; otherwise, Indians and First Nations peo-
ple would not find themselves in federal, state, and provincial courts
asserting or defending their rights. And yet colonial law has developed
rules that require the courts to consider and even in some instances defer
to Indian or Aboriginal interpretations of treaties and treaty history.

Ray shows that such rules are hard to fulfill when indigenous histor-
ical traditions — the events that indigenous people deem significant, their
tests of authenticity, their ways of depicting the past — differ substan-
tially from Euro-American or Euro-Canadian traditions. Judges and
juries, even those imbued with the modern ethos of respect for cultural
diversity, are often unable to transcend some biases that come with their
socialization in a non-Indian culture. Instead, they hew tenaciously to
their own culture’s criteria for determining the credibility of stories about
the past. For example, judges may give little or no credence to Indian
testimony that incorporates orally transmitted history yet grant consid-
erable weight to an anthropologist’s account that is based on interviews
with some of the same Indians.28

Ray offers reasons to doubt that courts are satisfactory forums for
resolving differences in the stories that native and non-native people tell
about the past or the meanings they assign to those stories. When courts
in Canada or the United States entertain claims based on treaties (or the
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lack of treaties), the decisions turn on interpretations of historical infor-
mation. But the persons who are called on to provide that information
at trial may find themselves talking to an audience with limited interest
in or basis for comprehending history told as scholars or native elders
think proper. Ray, who has testified as an expert on history in several
such lawsuits, entertainingly explains why it has been difficult to teach
judges, even with all their formal education, about the complex histories
and unfamiliar cultures of indigenous people. The challenges he describes
also trouble contributor Bruce Rigsby. Rigsby specifically laments the
courts’ adherence to rulings in cases from years ago, when the witnesses
were anthropologists whose data, models, and methodologies seem inad-
equate or erroneous to modern heirs.

Are there government bodies that offer native people better opportu-
nities to tell their stories and better odds of swaying colonial decision
makers than courts do? Contributors de Costa and Anderson do not give
optimistic answers to that question. They look at occasions when native
people have applied to politicians and government agents other than
judges for justice. Ravi de Costa considers an ongoing treaty process in
British Columbia and concludes that it does not sufficiently account for
changes in the nature of the negotiating entities since the nineteenth cen-
tury. He fears that new treaties will not resolve tensions unless they rest
on thorough reviews of the parties’ history and agreements about how
to depict that history. The negotiators hope to settle longstanding griev-
ances, but because change will continue, de Costa believes, finality
should not be the goal of the modern negotiations.

Robert Anderson’s essay analyzes modern negotiations in the United
States that have led to agreements he calls treaty substitutes. He finds
native people — outmatched by the powerful federal government — accept-
ing problematic terms much as their nineteenth-century predecessors did.
One case in point is Alaska Natives’ campaign for federal legislation to
settle their land claims. The result — the Alaska Native Claims Settlement
Act of 1971— was ultimately a disappointment in several respects, includ-
ing its creation of Native institutions that embodied American political
and economic values rather than indigenous values. In the other case that
Anderson discusses, rights guaranteed by a Stevens treaty gave the Nez
Perce Tribe crucial leverage as it managed its engagement with the U.S.
legal system in a water-rights contest; but the rules of that system imposed
unsatisfactory limits on what the tribe could hope to achieve.
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Like Anderson and Ray, many of the contributors to this volume have
at some time served as advocates or expert witnesses on behalf of native
people seeking to redeem treaty promises. All of the scholars represented
in this book are acutely conscious that the subjects they write about are
far from academic. Research and writing about treaties with indigenous
peoples always has potential practical ramifications — in many cases very
significant economic and political ramifications. It is not just that judges
may read and rely on relevant articles in law journals or historical mono-
graphs; it is not just that historians or anthropologists, testifying in tri-
als where the meanings of treaties are at issue, may have to defend every
word of their previous publications on the subject. In fact, the repercus-
sions of scholars’ work are not limited to litigation, important as that is.
Stories about treaties are modern origin stories, and origin stories are
vital ingredients of all peoples’ status and identities. Interrogate and dis-
pute such a story, and you may threaten a people’s understanding of
who they are; affirm and disseminate that story, and you may give the
same people reason for hope, confidence, or righteous anger. That is one
message, articulated in various ways, of the essays by Raibmon, Friday,
and Ray. The significance of treaties with indigenous peoples is ulti-
mately dependent on the power to tell stories about those treaties that
move listeners to take desired action.

Because people continue to tell treaty stories that have important
practical consequences, Friday refers to treaties with indigenous peoples
as “living” documents. In doing so, he echoes the declarations of many
American Indians, and some of those declarations came as Indians
 prepared to observe the 150th anniversary of the treaties made in Wash-
ington Territory. Three men helping to plan a twenty-tribe sesquicen-
tennial commemoration spoke to an Associated Press reporter of their
strong sense that the treaties are a dynamic force in their tribes’ contin-
uing struggle for survival. At the same time they revealed that the
treaties’ modern significance for that struggle is a matter of ongoing
debate:

“Even some of our tribal members look at the treaty as a piece of
paper that identifies defeat,” said Arlen Washines, a Yakama Nation
officer and chairman of the planning committee. “But conquering
nations do not sign treaties with those they overpower. This was no
defeat.” Carl Sampson, descendant of a Walla Walla treaty signer, said
he preferred to see the sesquicentennial observance as a celebration of his
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ancestors’ courage and foresight and an opportunity to give thanks for
the tribes’ endurance. “Much of what we’re doing today,” he told the
reporter, “is to preserve this information and knowledge for the future,
so that as we train the next generation of leaders, we’re confident they
have this knowledge.” Antone Minthorn, chairman of the Confederated
Tribes of the Umatilla Reservation, concurred. “The very treaties that
forced Indians onto reservations,” Minthorn insisted, “promise them
rights that help to secure their futures.”29 Minthorn’s words give vivid
meaning to the assertion that the papers Indians signed long ago are “liv-
ing documents.”

The pledges exchanged and recorded at solemn nineteenth-century
negotiations between Indian and American leaders reflected the promise
makers’ assessments and predictions of the two peoples’ relative power.
Since then, those promises have drawn power of their own from the
expectations, needs, memories, anger, remorse, humanitarian concerns,
principles, and actions of the promise makers and their heirs. History
suggests that the life force of those promises will not be snuffed out as
long as people still live who are conscious of the legacy bequeathed by
the treaty makers.
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part i

COLONIAL CONCEITS





1 Negotiated Sovereignty

indian treaties and the acquisition of

american and canadian territorial rights

in the pacific northwest

Kent McNeil

35

Indian treaties figure prominently in the history of American ex pan-
sion into the Pacific Northwest. In British Columbia they are less
important historically, as the Douglas Treaties on Vancouver Island

in the 1850s and Treaty 8 in 1899, affecting the northeastern corner of
the province, were the only treaties negotiated there. The absence of
treaties in most of the Canadian Pacific Northwest has, however, given
rise to legal and political issues that even today are largely outstand-
ing.1 The matter of unresolved Indian land claims in the region —
 specifically the claims of the Nisga�a Nation — came before the Supreme
Court of Canada in 1973 in the case of Calder v. Attorney-General 
of British Columbia, in which the Court acknowledged the existence 
of Indian title but split evenly on whether it had been legislatively  ex -
tinguished.2 While inconclusive in result, that decision nonetheless
prompted the Canadian government to rethink its attitude toward
 contemporary treaty making and formulate a policy for the negotiation
of treaties in parts of Canada outside the geographical scope of the
 historical treaties.3 The new policy eventually led to the resolution 
of the Nisga�a claim by a modern-day treaty ratified in 2000.4 Reluc-
tantly, the province of British Columbia in the early 1990s finally
accepted the necessity of negotiating treaties as well. B.C. not only par-
ticipated in the Nisga�a Treaty, but also set up the British Columbia



Treaty Commission to assist in the process of negotiating other land
claims.5

Although the historical treaties in both the United States and Canada,
and the contemporary treaty process in British Columbia,6 involve lands
and natural resources, they are also about sovereignty.7 For a long time
the United States Supreme Court has recognized that the Indian tribes
negotiated treaties with the American government as sovereign nations
and that they retained their sovereign status within the United States
after the treaties were concluded.8 In Canada, the Supreme Court has
also acknowledged that France and Britain regarded the Indian nations
as “independent nations” with whom “treaties of alliance or neutrality”
were negotiated in the period prior to the cession of New France to
Britain in 1763,9 but it has yet to recognize the continuing sovereignty
of the Indian nations after the treaties.10 Nonetheless, in Campbell v.
British Columbia the British Columbia Supreme Court upheld the con-
stitutional validity of self-government provisions in the Nisga�a Treaty
on the ground that the Nisga�a Nation’s inherent right to govern itself
had not been taken away by British colonization and the creation of
Canada, and so the nature and extent of that right could be defined by
a contemporary treaty.11 The governments of British Columbia and
Canada obviously supported this position, as they were parties to the
treaty and argued in favor of its validity in Campbell.

However, Indian treaties, both historical and contemporary, are only
part of the legal history of European and American colonization of the
Pacific Northwest. They are not the only treaties of interest to indigenous
peoples and scholars of indigenous    /    colonizer relations. In addition to
dealing with the Indian nations by treaty, European governments and the
United States engaged in wars and diplomatic relations and entered into
treaties with one another, whereby they purported to divide up North
America with scant regard for the Indian nations who occupied the ter-
ritories being distributed. This process was taking place well before the
Pacific Northwest became a region seriously contested by Spain, Russia,
Britain, and later the United States. For example, by the 1763 Treaty of
Paris, France ceded its North American possessions east of the Missis-
sippi River to Britain. This treaty is generally regarded as establishing the
boundary between British North America and the Louisiana Territory
(secretly ceded by France to Spain in 1762 by the Treaty of Fontainebleau
and reacquired by France in 1800 in the Treaty of San Ildefonso).
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Similarly, the 1783 Treaty of Paris that acknowledged the indepen -
dence of the United States set the northern boundary between the new
republic and British North America from the Atlantic to the Lake of the
Woods. In 1803, Thomas Jefferson purchased the Louisiana Territory
from France, placing the United States in a geographical position to enter
into the contest for the Pacific Northwest. The disputed boundary
between the Louisiana Territory and the Spanish territories to the south-
west was defined in 1819 by the Adams-Onís Treaty. On the northern
plains the Convention of 1818 between Britain and the United States
established the forty-ninth parallel as the boundary between their respec-
tive territories from the Lake of the Woods to the Rocky Mountains, but
this agreement left the Oregon country free and open to the subjects and
citizens of both nations for ten years. (This provision for joint access was
renewed for an indefinite period in 1827.) Russia then renounced its
claims in the Pacific Northwest south of 54'40" north latitude by an
1824 agreement with the United States and defined the extent of its claim
to Alaska in a convention with Britain in 1825. Finally, the dispute over
the region between Britain and the United States that almost resulted in
war was settled in 1846, when the boundary between their respective
territories was extended along the forty-ninth parallel from the Rocky
Mountains to the Strait of Georgia and through the Strait of Juan de
Fuca to the Pacific by the Oregon Boundary or Washington Treaty.12

These international treaties are generally accepted by historians and
geographers as having accomplished what they set out to do — namely,
delineate the geographical extent of the territorial rights of European
nations and the United States in North America.13 What then is one to
make of the fact that Britain, the United States, and later Canada nego-
tiated treaties with Indian nations that also dealt with territorial rights
in these same geographical areas? The answer cannot be, as has too often
been assumed in Canada, that the Euro-American treaties were con-
cerned with territorial sovereignty, whereas the Indian treaties were
 concerned with property rights in lands and resources. That simplistic
answer belies Indian understandings of what the treaty process was
about,14 and conflicts with American jurisprudence acknowledging the
sovereign status of the Indian tribes.15

Instead, I think the answer lies in understanding sovereignty as a rel-
ative rather than an absolute matter. If this is correct, the Euro- American
treaties effectively delineated the territorial sovereignty of the European
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parties and the United States as among themselves, but did not deter-
mine territorial sovereignty in relation to the Indian nations. Insofar as
those nations are concerned, treaties had to be negotiated with them in
order for the European powers, the United States, and Canada to acquire
territorial sovereignty legitimately. In the absence of Indian treaties,
American and Canadian claims to sovereignty over the territories of the
Indian nations therefore lack legitimacy vis-à-vis those nations. This
understanding adds significance to the treaty process that is currently
under way in British Columbia, as it confirms that what is at stake is not
just lands and resources but also sovereignty.16 It also calls into question
the decision of the U.S. Congress in 1871 not to enter into any more
Indian treaties, leaving some Indian tribes in the Pacific Northwest and
elsewhere without treaty relationships with the United States.17

My essay approaches this matter of the relativity of sovereignty in
North America in a general way by identifying and evaluating some
broad principles that could be applied to assess the validity of European,
American, and Canadian territorial claims. This requires an examina-
tion of the law of nations (today known as international law) and an
assessment of its applicability to the Indian nations. Using the Oregon
boundary dispute between Britain and the United States as a case study,
I discuss the problems with relying on the law of nations and interna-
tional treaties as determinative of rights to territorial sovereignty vis-à-
vis the Indian nations. I conclude that a more appropriate basis for
assessing those rights involves examination of the relations between the
Indian nations and the colonizing powers, based on mutually developed
protocols and norms and expressed in the form of treaties.

territorial sovereignty and the law of nations

European nations and the United States purported to divide North
America among themselves by entering into international treaties that
essentially drew lines on maps, sometimes through areas where the Euro-
pean or American presence was practically or completely nonexistent. It
is important to be aware that an international treaty, like any agreement,
is binding only on the parties that enter into it.18 So while the Treaty of
Paris of 1783, for example, bound the United States and Britain to the
agreed-on boundary from the Atlantic to the Lake of the Woods, it could
not affect claims that other nation-states might make to the same terri-
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tory. More important, for the purposes of this chapter, it could not affect
the territorial rights of the Indian nations who inhabited the region in
question, especially those whose territories were intersected by this new
boundary.19 As against nations that were not parties to the treaty, British
and American claims would therefore have to be based on something
other than the treaty. They would clearly require factual and normative
foundations beyond the piece of paper on which the treaty was written.

What then were the factual and normative foundations for European
and American claims to territorial sovereignty over areas of North Amer-
ica that were inhabited by indigenous nations? Remarkably, there is no
clear answer to this question. From the time Columbus first arrived in
America in 1492, the European nations relied on a variety of methods to
assert their territorial claims. These included discovery, papal grants,
symbolic acts of possession, colonial charters, and physical occupation
by settlement. There was, however, no agreement among Europeans over
the effectiveness of these various acts.20 While Spain and Portugal
favored discovery and papal grants because it was generally in their inter-
est to do so, France and Britain relied more on symbolic acts, colonial
charters, and occupation. So even when the factual basis for a claim was
clear (and often it was not), no legal resolution was possible in the
absence of agreement among the contending European powers on the
juridical effect of the acts relied upon.

Moreover, even if the European nations had agreed on what was nec-
essary to acquire territorial sovereignty in the Americas, such an agree-
ment would suffer from the same limitation as bilateral international
treaties: it would be binding only on the parties to the agreement, and so
it could not affect the rights of other nations — especially the Indian
nations of North America — who did not participate in it. This was rec-
ognized in the famous case of Worcester v. Georgia, where Chief Justice
John Marshall acknowledged the independence of the Indian nations
and questioned the value of discovery as a means of acquiring territorial
sovereignty in North America: “America, separated from Europe by a
wide ocean, was inhabited by a distinct people, divided into separate
nations, independent of each other and of the rest of the world, having
institutions of their own, and governing themselves by their own laws.
It is difficult to comprehend the proposition that the inhabitants of either
quarter of the globe could have rightful original claims over the inhabi-
tants of the other, or over the lands they occupied; or that the discovery

Negotiated Sovereignty 39



of either by the other should give the discoverer rights in the country
discovered which annulled the pre-existing rights of its ancient posses-
sors.”21

Marshall was not, however, prepared to discard the doctrine of dis-
covery he had formulated nine years earlier in the case of Johnson v.
M’Intosh, where he had said “that discovery gave title to the govern-
ment by whose subjects, or by whose authority, it was made, against all
other European governments, which title might be consummated by pos-
session.”22 Instead, he emphasized that the principle applied only to the
European nations who, he thought (contrary to the historical evidence
assembled more recently23), had agreed to it: “It was an exclusive prin-
ciple which shut out the right of competition among those who had
agreed to it; not one which could annul the previous rights of those who
had not agreed to it. It regulated the right given by discovery among the
European discoverers, but could not affect the rights of those already in
possession, either as aboriginal occupants, or as occupants by virtue of
a discovery made before the memory of man.”24

For the preexisting rights of the Indians as independent nations to be
affected, the title by discovery effective against other European nations
had to be consummated by possession of the territory. This, Marshall
said, could take place by conquest of the Indian nations, but more com-
monly the American government entered into treaties for incorporation
of them into the United States as “domestic dependent nations”25 and
acquisition of portions of their territories. These treaties, he acknowl-
edged, had international dimensions: “The words ‘treaty’ and ‘nation’
are words of our own language, selected in our diplomatic and legisla-
tive proceedings, by ourselves, having each a definite and well under-
stood meaning. We have applied them to Indians, as we have applied
them to the other nations of the earth. They are applied to all in the same
sense.”26

The composite picture that emerges from Chief Justice Marshall’s
opinions in Johnson v. M’Intosh and Worcester v. Georgia can be
summed up as follows: Any agreement the European nations reached on
acquisition of territorial sovereignty in the Americas applied only among
themselves, not to the Indian nations that were not parties thereto. Dis-
covery gave the discovering European nation an inchoate title against
other European nations but had no effect on the preexisting sovereignty
and territorial rights of the Indian nations, other than excluding other
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European nations from dealing with them.27 This inchoate title by dis-
covery could be consummated by possession, which could be acquired
by conquering or treating with the Indian nations. Until that occurred,
the Indian nations remained sovereign and independent in their own ter-
ritories. After conquest or treaty, they could be subject to the territorial
sovereignty of the conquering or treating nation, but they retained any
sovereign authority over their internal affairs that they did not explicitly
relinquish.

Europeans jurists, however, had another way of assessing the valid-
ity of their nations’ assertions of territorial sovereignty in North Amer-
ica. Instead of basing the rules for acquisition of territory on an
agreement among the European nations, as Marshall had, some jurists
opined that the so-called law of nations contained universally applicable
rules governing this matter. Prior to the predominance of positivist think-
ing in the nineteenth century, jurists generally thought there was a “nat-
ural law” basis for the norms of nations,28 which included rules for the
acquisition of territorial sovereignty.29 But although one might invoke
a universal principle, such as first possession, to justify acquisition of
vacant territories,30 can one seriously suggest a natural law basis for
rules permitting Europeans to acquire and convert into colonies terri -
tories that were already inhabited by indigenous peoples?31 The self-
 serving motivation for such rules would obviously disqualify them as
natural law, which should be rooted in ethical norms and principles of
fundamental justice that are genuinely universal.32 The legitimacy and
universality of rules justifying colonialism would surely have been chal-
lenged by indigenous peoples themselves, thus undermining any claim
those rules might have to universality or support by natural law.33

Jurists in the late eighteenth and nineteenth centuries relied more on
positivist sources for the law of nations, or international law as it came
to be known during this period.34 They looked to convention, which is
based on treaties and other agreements, and custom, which is based on
state practice.35 We have already seen that rules based on convention
would bind only the parties and therefore could not be universal in the
absence of unanimous agreement. Custom is subject to an equivalent lim-
itation because the practices of European nations, even if universal among
themselves, could not generate norms that would be binding on nations
that neither participated in nor agreed to the creation of those norms.36

This is not to say that European conventions and customs are of no
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assistance in assessing claims to territorial sovereignty in North Amer-
ica. My argument is that, to the extent that the European nations had
developed rules in this regard, those rules would have been binding only
on the European powers and their successors, such as the United States
and Mexico. The rules would not bind the Indian nations in North
America and so could not be used to assess the validity of their claims to
territory. In other words European norms would apply and could be
used to assess the validity of territorial claims among Spain, France,
Britain, Russia, the United States, and Mexico, but could not legitimately
be applied to assess the relative claims of those nations vis-à-vis the
Indian nations. In the latter context one has to look for other sets of
norms.

The main problem, therefore, with relying on international law to
determine the validity of European and American territorial claims is
that that law was not universal at the time the claims were being made.37

Just as it is an error to regard the Treaty of Paris of 1783, for example,
as determining rights to territory vis-à-vis any nations other than Britain
and the United States, it is erroneous to rely on so-called international
law to determine rights to territory against nations that were not part of
the European and Euro-American diplomatic and legal spheres. Conse-
quently, we should not take European and American treaties and prin-
ciples of international law as determinative of territorial rights in North
America. We need to be aware of the relativity and limited application
of those sources of rights, instead of regarding them as universal and
absolute.

If the conventional and customary international law developed by the
European powers did not apply to their relations with Indian nations,
was there any body of norms governing these relationships? I reject the
notion that there was a universal set of rules applicable in this context.
That would not be in keeping with the diversity of cultures, political sys-
tems, and protocols of the indigenous peoples of North America. Instead,
I think unique, relationship-specific rules were developed out of partic-
ular contacts between the Europeans and Americans on the one hand
and the Indian nations on the other.38 Often the nature of these rela-
tionships was negotiated in intersocietal exchanges and sometimes for-
malized in treaties that were governed by protocols and norms arising
out of the particular cross-cultural context.39

Keeping in mind the relativity of territorial sovereignty, and the need

42 kent mc neil



to identify which normative systems apply to whom when assessing the
validity of territorial claims in North America, let us now examine the
Oregon boundary dispute between Britain and the United States.

the oregon boundary dispute 
and indian sovereignty

Standard accounts of the dispute over the Oregon country tend to focus
on the history of the controversy among would-be colonizers and the
diplomatic efforts to resolve it.40 Originally, this dispute involved Spain
and Russia as well as Britain and the United States. However, Spain
renounced its claims north of the forty-second parallel (now the bound-
ary between the states of California and Oregon) by the Adams-Onís
treaty with the United States in 1819,41 and Russia gave up its claims
south of the 54'40" north latitude in an 1824 agreement with the United
States and defined the limits of Alaska in an 1825 convention with
Britain.42

The American claim to the Oregon country, which can be defined for
present purposes as the territory west of the Rocky Mountains between
the forty-second parallel and 54'40" north latitude,43 was based partly
on the Adams-Onís Treaty. That treaty, the United States argued,
together with the 1824 agreement with Russia, gave it territorial title to
the region. However, because American claims to the Oregon country
under those treaties would be no better than the dubious claims of Spain
and Russia, the United States asserted an original claim as well. In diplo-
matic exchanges with Great Britain the United States contended that its
territorial title had been established with the discovery of the mouth of
the Columbia River by the American captain Robert Gray in 1792, the
expedition of Lewis and Clark to the Pacific from 1804 through 1806,
and the construction by John Jacob Astor of the fur-trading post of Asto-
ria near the mouth of the Columbia in 1811.44 Britain, however, relied
on its own subjects’ discoveries and explorations, principally by Cap-
tain James Cook, Captain George Vancouver, and Sir Alexander Macken-
 zie. It contended as well that its title by discovery had been consolidated
with the presence of the North West Company and the Hudson’s Bay
Company in the region.45

As previously mentioned, in 1818 Britain and the United States had
agreed on joint access to the territory, without prejudice to the claims of
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either. In the 1820s and 1830s, nonetheless, British physical presence
prevailed through the activities of the Hudson’s Bay Company, which
absorbed the North West Company in 1821.46 By the mid-1830s,
though, American missionaries began to arrive in the Willamette Valley,
and by the mid-1840s streams of American settlers were arriving each
year over the Oregon Trail.47 The growing number of Americans in the
Oregon country in the 1840s strengthened U.S. claims in the southern
part of the territory. This was probably a factor that persuaded Britain
to accept the forty-ninth parallel as the boundary in 1846, when the
Washington Treaty was signed.48

Accounts of the Oregon boundary dispute that focus on the relative
strengths of the British and American claims generally assess those claims
from the perspective of the international law of the time.49 The pres-
ence of the numerous Indian nations inhabiting the region is generally
not considered in these assessments because they were not regarded as
having international status and therefore were thought not to count.
There are at least two problems with this approach.

First, we have seen that from the time Columbus arrived in the
Caribbean until at least the middle of the eighteenth century, there was
no agreement among European nations and jurists over what acts were
sufficient to acquire territorial sovereignty in the Americas.50 But as pos-
itivist thinking began to influence European jurists, a consensus started
to emerge in the second half of the eighteenth century, and gained cur-
rency in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, that acquisition of
territorial sovereignty depends on effective occupation, involving phys-
ical presence of some permanence and, in more recent formulations, the
exercise of jurisdiction.51 This view has since been endorsed by interna-
tional tribunals, which appear to have pushed its application back to 
at least the eighteenth century.52 If effective occupation was the  inter -
national law standard from the latter half of the eighteenth century, then
neither Britain nor the United States could have had a valid claim to
 territorial sovereignty over parts of the Oregon country that were effec-
tively occupied by Indian nations.53 So even if one accepts the  appli -
cation of international law to the Oregon country, all the 1846  Wash-
ington Treaty accomplished legally was the division of the territories
effectively occupied by Britain and the United States at the time.

During the Oregon boundary dispute the United States nonetheless
argued that discovery of the Columbia River by Captain Gray, combined

44 kent mc neil



with the explorations of Lewis and Clark and the establishment of the
fur-trading post of Astoria near the river’s mouth, gave it territorial sov-
ereignty over the whole of the Columbia drainage basin.54 In interna-
tional law the doctrine the United States was relying on here is usually
known as the contiguity doctrine. Its application to the Columbia water-
shed was, however, rejected by Britain. Moreover, international jurists,
while accepting the validity of the doctrine and its application in situa-
tions where the occupation of a coastline resulted in control over access
to the interior up to the crest of a nearby range of mountains, generally
denied its applicability to the vast watershed of the Columbia, which
could be accessed from the interior as well as from the coast.55

The second major problem with the standard approach to analysis of
the Oregon boundary dispute is closely related to the first. The Euro-
centric nature of international law in the nineteenth century led jurists
and other commentators to misconstrue the effect of that law. As in
other North American contexts where boundaries were disputed and
determined, not only did government officials and jurists tend to think
that the actions of European nations and the United States were all that
mattered,56 but those actions were taken to give rise to territorial rights
that were effective against everyone else in the world.57 This is erro-
neous because, as we have seen, the international law of the time was not
universal in its application and so could not give rise to universal rights.
To use a modern-day analogy, it would be as though the European
Union developed law that purported to govern rights to minerals located
under the high seas. Although that law would probably be effective to
determine seabed rights among the members of the European Union, any
claim that it would be effective to determine rights vis-à-vis other nation-
states such as Brazil, China, or the United States would likely be met
with derision. And yet this is precisely what the European nations and
the United States purported to do when they applied the international
law they had developed to validate their own territorial claims in North
America.

So although international law could properly be applied to determine
territorial rights between Britain and the United States in the Oregon
country, it could not determine territorial rights between those nations
and the Indian nations. Nor can one point to the Washington Treaty of
1846 as resolving this matter of territorial sovereignty where the Indian
nations are concerned.58 As we have seen, that treaty would have no
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binding effect on them because they were not parties to it. Other norms
and other treaties are therefore required to determine U.S. and Cana-
dian territorial rights vis-à-vis the Indian nations.

indian treaties and negotiated sovereignty

It is not my intention in this essay to identify or describe the norms and
treaties that would be applicable in this context. As stated earlier, I do
not think any set of norms would be universally applicable to determine
Indian and European territorial rights in North America. Instead, a com-
plex patchwork of norms would have been operative, depending on cul-
tural, political, military, geographical, and other factors. Norms of the
affected indigenous peoples must be included in this patchwork.

I nonetheless think a general approach to this matter can be outlined
for application in specific contexts. The main thing to consider is the his-
tory of relations between a particular Indian nation and Britain or the
United States, starting from the time of contact and inquiring specifically
whether the relationship reflected a mutual understanding about rela-
tive territorial sovereignties. In some circumstances the relationship may
have been primarily economic, mediated by the activities of the Hud-
son’s Bay Company or other traders.59 In other instances there may have
been informal agreements creating diplomatic or political relations (for
example, between sea captains or explorers and Indian nations).60 Less
significant contacts would have been with individual British subjects or
American citizens who had no official status or trading license, such as
missionaries and settlers.

Formal treaties were made on behalf of the British Crown in the
1850s with a few of the Indian nations on Vancouver Island and on
behalf of the U.S. government after the Washington Treaty with some
Indian nations south of the forty-ninth parallel.61 Those treaties would
be the primary sources for determining the nature of the relationship
between the parties from the time they were negotiated. In some cases
they may have included recognition of British or American territorial
sovereignty, or possibly joint or shared sovereignty. That would depend
on a proper assessment of the parties’ understanding of the treaty rela-
tionship. But the essential point is that, relative to the Indian nations,
the legitimacy and nature of the territorial rights of Britain and the
United States would depend on these treaties and the protocols and
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norms governing their negotiation and interpretation, rather than on the
Convention of 1818, the Washington Treaty of 1846, and the diplomatic
protocols and norms of international law.

This approach raises a fundamental issue regarding those areas of the
Pacific Northwest where Indian treaties were not negotiated. As men-
tioned earlier, this includes most of present-day British Columbia and
parts of the U.S. Pacific Northwest. It would no doubt be unrealistic
today to deny that the Crown in right of Canada has de facto sover-
eignty over the whole of British Columbia, or that the United States has
de facto sovereignty over Oregon, Washington, Idaho, and western
Montana. But if international law and the Washington Treaty of 1846
were ineffective to give the British Crown and the United States sover-
eignty relative to the Indian nations who live there, was that sovereignty
acquired legitimately and, if so, how and when did that occur? Interna-
tional law may have an answer to this question — namely prescription.62

Basically, prescription applies in situations where a nation-state has
effectively occupied and exercised jurisdiction over a territory for an
extended period of time, and other nation-states by their actions have
explicitly or implicitly acknowledged that nation-state’s sovereignty.63

While Canada’s claim to British Columbia and the American claim to
the Pacific Northwest south of the forty-ninth parallel may meet the
requirements for a prescriptive title in international law,64 the problems
with the application of that law to the Indian nations remain unresolved.
So although the exercise of sovereign authority in those territories by the
Canadian and U.S. governments is an obvious fact, the legitimacy of that
authority with respect to the Indian nations, especially those who have
never entered into treaties, is questionable. Unless treaties are entered
into whereby the Indian nations acknowledge the sovereignty of Canada
and the United States, this cloud on Canadian and American claims to
sovereignty will continue to cast a shadow on the validity of their terri-
torial rights.

As pointed out earlier, the governments of Canada and of British
Columbia are currently engaged in negotiations with many of the Indian
nations in the province who have not yet entered into treaties. Although
these treaty talks are often referred to as “land claims negotiations,”
there is obviously more at stake than property rights. Part of the pur-
pose of this essay has thus been to show that the legitimacy of Canada’s
claim to sovereignty over the territory known as British Columbia is a
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fundamental aspect of these negotiations. As in the United States, where
the nineteenth-century treaties generally resulted in mutual recognition
of the sovereign status and shared jurisdiction of the Indian nations and
the United States, the treaty process in British Columbia is also about
sovereignty and the shared jurisdiction that is entailed by the concept of
self-government.

Let me end this essay with an appeal to historians, geographers, and
jurists to question the effect of international treaties like the Washington
Treaty of 1846. Academics, lawyers, and judges should not simply accept
the carving up of North America by the European powers and the United
States without considering the political and moral legitimacy — as well as
the legal validity — of that process. If we take the actions of these nation-
states at face value and disregard the independent status of the Indian
nations and their role in negotiating sovereignty, we risk becoming
accomplices in a colonial process that many of us deplore.
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2 Unmaking Native Space

a genealogy of indian policy, settler practice,

and the microtechniques of dispossession

Paige Raibmon

56

pre-script

In 1791 the fur trader and U.S. ship captain Robert Gray sailed into
Tla-o-qui-aht territory on the west coast of Vancouver Island. His
visit would prove memorable for generations to come because before

he left, he kidnapped the son of Chief Wickaninnish and ordered the
torching of two hundred houses at the village of Opitsaht. More than
two centuries later, on a sunny July afternoon in 2005, three canoes car-
rying Gray’s descendants pulled ashore at this same village. They came
to apologize. The family spokesperson, William Twombly, announced to
the assembled crowd: “We are sorry for the abduction and insult to your
chief and his great family and for the burning of Opitsaht.”1 It was a
remarkable step for Gray’s descendants to take. Gray’s actions at Opit-
saht do not seem like the sort of family story typically resurrected at
family reunions. Yet these people knew the story and had traveled thou-
sands of miles from Oregon, Texas, New Hampshire, Massachusetts,
and London, England, to acknowledge their ancestor’s behavior. They
had come, they announced, “in peace to offer ourselves in good spirit to
suggest that we’d like forgiveness and we’d like to honour our ancestral
connection and honour your people.”2 The Tla-o-qui-aht appreciated
the gesture and accepted it with grace and hospitality. They returned the
respect shown by Gray’s descendants, treating them as honored potlatch
guests.



What were these hosts and guests doing when they mutually honored
their ancestral connection, a connection born of violence, dispossession,
and the colonial imbalance of power? Surely Twombly and his family did
not consider themselves, nor did the Tla-o-qui-aht consider them, liter-
ally to blame for the acts of their long-dead ancestor. Yet all seemed to
agree that Twombly and his fellow canoe-mates were in some fashion
responsible. In what other context could an “apology” make sense?
What follows in this essay is an extended meditation on these questions.
Those present on the beach at Opitsaht in 2005 understood something
about colonial genealogies and thus have something important to teach
us. They came together that day as the result of a literal family connec-
tion, but we can usefully read their example as analogous to a much
broader family tree — a figurative genealogy of colonialism. Current res-
idents of settler societies like British Columbia do not need to be direct
bloodline descendants of men like Captain Gray to have inadvertently
reaped the results of the colonial work they helped to initiate. I urge
readers to consider what it might mean if all the inheritors of colonial
legacies (whether literal descendants or not) understood their relation-
ship to the past and their responsibilities in the present in a manner akin
to the Twombly family.

family ties

If these metaphorical family ties of colonialism seem counterintuitive or
difficult to trace, it is partly due to historiographical convention. Under
settler colonialism the displacement of original inhabitants and the
arrival of new ones are mutually reinforcing projects. Yet historians have
long treated colonization and immigration — the twin histories of indige-
nous lands and settler lands — as separate topics.3 Rectifying this requires
not only initiating dialogue between existing fields but also bringing the
history of settler practice into greater focus. Although settler policies
have been amply studied, settler practices have not.4

Ultimately, my interest lies in the place where practices of settlement
and the experiences of Aboriginal people intersect. From the vantage of
this intersection we can illuminate the context for the production of what
I call “settlement lands.” I use the term in a dual sense to refer both to
lands required for the settlement of Aboriginal claims and lands claimed
by settler society and its descendants. It is practically a truism in British
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Columbia today that the available supply of such lands is exhausted.
Many people assert that the land required to settle Aboriginal claims in
the province was (some admit, regrettably) appropriated by colonial
society far too long ago to make repatriation of indigenous land  fea -
sible.5 They ascribe natural and irrevocable status to the designation
 “private property” and thus conclude that the problem of “settlement
lands” is deadlocked.

Colonial representatives have consistently treated private property
and its approximations (that is, preemption) as sacrosanct designations.
Given this, closer attention is warranted to the precise mechanisms for
transforming land into these hallowed categories, for transforming Abo-
riginal territory into settlement lands. The historical geographer Cole
Harris has fruitfully used the term “making Native space” to refer to
the creation of small, scattered Indian reserves.6 But “making Native
space” was about more than creating Indian enclaves; it was about mak-
ing private property too. Reserves were not Native spaces made anew;
they were radically diminished refashionings of precolonial Native
spaces. Indian policy mandated reserves. But it was the deployment of
colonial land policy by colonizers that transformed traditional Aborigi-
nal territories into colonial jurisdictions. Settler and developer practices
of land appropriation shrank Native space from its hereditary territo-
rial boundaries to the confines of Indian reserves. Native space had to be
unmade as much as it had to be made. That is, the indigenousness of
hereditary territories had to be undone before the colonial reserve geog-
raphy could gain purchase. This unmaking was accomplished by the
mundane processes that comprised settler life even when Aboriginal peo-
ple themselves were out of settlers’ sight and, by extension, out of set-
tlers’ minds. Over time, settler practices and Indian policy combined in
a mutually sustaining dialectic to do the work of colonialism.

The meticulous attention required to track this dialectic demands a
form of history that we can usefully regard as genealogical. This is not
the same thing as literally tracing family trees, but the metaphor is use-
ful, because we need to map “family connections” not only between peo-
ple but among an array of past practices, policies, and even accidents.
Genealogy in this sense, notes the French writer Michel Foucault, “is
gray, meticulous, and patiently documentary.”7 It seeks to represent the
discrete and disparate processes of the past in all their rawness before
they are cooked in “the long baking process of history.”8 History, con-
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tinues Foucault, is “fabricated in a piecemeal fashion from alien forms,”
an insight that is obscured when we focus on the final product (the
boundaries of modern reserves, for example) at the expense of the con-
stitutive ingredients (multifarious settler practices, for example).9 Appar-
ent absences, disconnects, and non sequiturs are crucial to such an
endeavor. To extend Foucault’s baking metaphor, the yeast in a baked
loaf of bread may be tasteless, but it is still responsible for the bread’s ris-
ing. Genealogy requires that we suspend our tendency toward teleology
while we examine the myriad makings of dispossession in all their con-
fusion and complexity.

Genealogy overlaps with microhistory insofar as it tracks local prac-
tices as they occurred on the ground over time. But it differs from micro-
history insofar as its ultimate interest lies less with specific locales or
events than with connections between disparate people and practices.
Only once the initial shortening of our vision has brought the relevant
actors and elements within purview can we cast our eyes out over the
entire array and feel, as critic Walter Benjamin put it, “the full force of
the panorama opening out” before us.10 It is then that the connections
between widely disparate events and practices become powerfully appar-
ent.

Attending to the relationship between Indian land policy and settler
practice can be seen as genealogical in at least a threefold sense. First,
charting the close ties between these policies and practices would pro-
duce a fuller and more dynamic picture of colonial geography than we
are used to seeing. It would lend geographically and historically specific
context to the belief that settlement lands are perennially in short sup-
ply. Reserves themselves were not static; rather, they grew and, more
often, shrank over time. Preemptions, too, had a checkered existence;
some were conveyed into fee-simple land while many others lapsed only
to be preempted again or revert to the Crown. The precise timing of
these changes in relation to the movements and practices of colonizers
was often crucial in shaping the future of Aboriginal communities.

Second, investigating the intersection of Indian policy and settler prac-
tice can help refine our conceptualization of colonial processes them-
selves. By illuminating the genealogical roots that colonial practices put
down across the land, we clarify the mechanisms of dispossession. We
are able to identify the individuals who laid down those roots, and we
can then map the familial relationships of these individuals. Sometimes
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the relationships were literal. Legal scholars Hamar Foster and Alan
Grove have made this point effectively when they take note of the exten-
sive social ties and intermarriage among families of high-ranking judicial
and government officials throughout the region sometimes dubbed Cas-
cadia.11 These literal kinships were not always framed by clear racial
markers. The frequency of relationships between immigrant men and
Indigenous or mixed-heritage women means that the colonial family tree
cannot be easily categorized using binary racial labels.

Just as important, the genealogical method I advocate unearths figu-
rative kinships between diverse and distant practices that even those
attentive to literal genealogies can overlook. As the historian Victoria
Freeman has noted: “The colonization of North America has been the
result of millions of actions, or non-actions, great and small, by thou-
sands, even millions, of people over hundreds of years.”12 Such acts are
connected, and it is genealogy’s task to show us how.

There is inevitably some overlap between figurative and literal
genealogies. As Foster and Grove show in their case, for example, literal
family ties are diagnostic of broader intellectual kinship among practices
of law and treaty making in what became Alaska, British Columbia,
Washington, and Oregon.13 The resultant “family tree” is a representa-
tion of colonialism that is extremely precise and simultaneously disen-
gaged from questions of intention. Identification of relationships and the
assignment of responsibility replace the overly simplistic search for
blame. Such a conceptualization of dispossession reminds us of the great
uncertainty and historical contingency that Aboriginal people faced
under colonialism. Only then can we comprehend the logic by which
colonizers persuaded themselves and their descendants (that is, us) that
they had succeeded in diminishing Native space from vast indigenous
territories to minute colonial reserves. Only then can we make sense of
the process through which reserves became Native spaces, not only in
colonial eyes but in Aboriginal ones as well.

Finally, reflecting on the work that settler practice did, and more
specifically on many scholars’ own lack of attention to that work, tells
us something about the genealogical ties that bind us as scholars to the
colonial past we narrate. Our individual choices as scholars do not align
by accident. We would do well to investigate the sources and implica-
tions of our own narrative commonalities.

This genealogical approach has intellectual promise for studying a
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diversity of colonial contexts. Whether or not they agreed to treaties
with colonial governments, Aboriginal people lost land and resources as
a result of multiple, diverse, and cumulative acts of dispossession by a
variety of newcomers, many of whom were not policy makers, govern-
ment administrators, or Indian haters. In treaty jurisdictions such as
Washington State a genealogical history would encompass diverse prac-
tices over time beyond the formal sphere of treaty negotiations and thus
help explain why treaties provided inadequate protection of Aboriginal
rights to land and resources. In jurisdictions such as British Columbia,
where most Aboriginal homelands remain unceded, a genealogical analy-
sis can show how, in the absence of treaties, land was alienated from
Aboriginal title-holders in practice.

Regardless of the jurisdiction under consideration, this analysis pro-
vides a framework through which non-Aboriginal citizens today can
understand their relationship to colonial settlers and authorities of the
past. In a place like British Columbia this entails accepting kinship with
those who enacted alienation of land and resources on the ground even
as they refused to formalize the process through treaty. In a place like
Washington it means understanding both that historical treaty obliga-
tions ought to be honored today and that so doing requires the mainte-
nance or restoration of ancillary conditions to ensure the spirit and not
just the letter of the treaty is meaningfully honored. To build this sort of
genealogy, we must invert the usual family tree. Instead of starting with
ourselves at the “crown of a branching family tree and trac[ing] our
ancestors back to a single trunk of sturdy and supposedly pure stock,”
we must be willing, as the historian Claudio Saunt has suggested, “to
place us at the base of the tree and follow the branches of our ancestors
back in time as they divide and subdivide.”14

genealogies of land alienation

There is a paradox at the center of the conviction we have inherited
about the short supply of settlement lands. Much like the nostalgic fig-
ure of the nineteenth-century “vanishing Indian,” settlement lands are
positioned as always vanishing, yet they never disappear. The supply of
settlement lands has ostensibly been short, practically endangered, since
the first generation of settler society arrived in British Columbia. Much
as their inheritors do today, the first generation of newcomers shielded
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themselves from Aboriginal land claims by proclaiming that it was
always already too late to restore the land to Indigenous claimants.

As early as 1878, efforts of the Indian Reserve Commissioner Gilbert
Malcolm Sproat to satisfy Aboriginal land claims were stymied by the
prior accretion of immigrant land titles.15 Throughout the 1880s and
1890s the Indian Reserve Commissioner Peter O’Reilly lacked the man-
date to interfere with the property rights of settlers.16 And by 1913
members of the McKenna-McBride Royal Commission were telling an
old story when they advised Aboriginal people that land for them was
unavailable because of its prior alienation from the Crown.17 The
 colonial state afforded Aboriginal people in British Columbia one more
formal opportunity to express their need for a land base during the
Ditchburn-Clark inquiry in the early 1920s. But J. W. Clark and W. E.
Ditchburn were no more willing to entertain requests for land claimed
by colonists than their predecessors had been.18 And not until the latter
half of the twentieth century would Aboriginal claimants in British
Columbia regain the government’s ear even to this limited extent. The
colonial division of land between Natives and newcomers was thus
largely set by the 1920s.19

Expressed as an abstract principle, this practice of noninterference with
settler title sounds straightforward and authoritative. It might even sound
fair. But upon reflection the authority we grant these stories about settler
title, preemption, and private property begins to seem counterintuitive.
Except, arguably, in the limited areas covered by the treaties that James
Douglas had negotiated and under Treaty 8, the land in question had
never been legally alienated from its Aboriginal owners — a fact that was
not lost on the Aboriginal complainants, even if it went unnoticed by suc-
cessive commissioners. Notions of property, as the geographer Nicholas
Blomley has recently reminded us, are simply stories that we tell ourselves.
Within colonial contexts stories about land and property were (and still
are) freighted with particular power. But powerful as such stories were
and are, it is worth remembering that they are just that: stories.20 Narra-
tives stressing the inviolate nature of non-Native title fit easily with tele-
ological notions of progress and civilization. Such narratives conflated the
imposition of a common law property regime with the civilization of both
land and people.21 And they suggested that this imposition took place
according to the principles of law and order. But it did no such thing.

In the crucial decades when authorities worked to impose their notion
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of a civilized landscape, dispossessing Aboriginal people in the process,
they repeatedly betrayed the logic of their own self-proclaimed law and
order. Examples of this abound as soon as we shift our focus from the
names and dates of government commissions and zoom in on the micro -
techniques of dispossession across settlement lands. Such breaches of
British logic and law took a range of forms, including simple illegalities,
conflicts of interest, and more subtle practices that worked at cross-
 purposes with the quite separate Indian policy being deployed over the
bureaucratic fence in other government departments.

In British Columbia the Crown officially made land available to set-
tlers through the Land Ordinance of 1861. Settlers could preempt any
Crown-claimed land that was not an Indian reserve and did not contain
“Indian improvements,” as long as they improved the land and resided
on the land permanently without being absent for more than two
months. Significantly, the majority of land was unsurveyed at the time of
preemption. In such instances the would-be settler simply wrote a
description and sketched a map of the selected land and submitted both
to the surveyor general in Victoria for registration. Other than a small
administrative fee, no payment was required until the land was surveyed,
at which point four shillings and two pence per acres was due. For pre-
emptors these conditions amounted, at least at the outset, to free land.22

Since this all operated on an honor system, it is not surprising to find
that settlers frequently breached the preemption laws and that registra-
tions were often inaccurate.

There are many instances in which settlers preempted land that did
contain Indian improvements. Aboriginal families would return from
seasonal labor and find settlers occupying their houses. In the early twen-
tieth century, for example, more than one Ahousaht family came home
to find a White man occupying their home.23 On the Sunshine Coast a
settler named Alfred Jeffries took proactive steps to create the conditions
that would make the land he desired eligible for preemption: he simply
destroyed the “Indian improvements,” burning down the house and fruit
trees of a Sechelt man, Charlie Roberts. When questioned about whether
his preemption had in fact contained Indian improvements, Jeffries
offered the lame excuse that he had been temporarily hard of hearing at
the time the affidavit stating that the land contained no improvements
was read to him.24 A preemption that took in Indian houses, clearing,
and a well was likewise granted in Pender Harbour.25 Up the coast in
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Malaspina Inlet settler Barnard Nelson accomplished the same feat at
the expense of Domonic Tom, a Sliammon man.26 And farther north
William Thompson, who came to the Homalco community at Church-
house as the schoolteacher, went on to preempt land that encompassed
eight residences, the schoolhouse, the church, and cemeteries.27

Settlers had good reason to covet preemptions that came complete
with house and clearing. Logging the dense rainforest of the West Coast
was no simple task. Even with dynamite the removal of stumps could
take a man and horse four hundred hours of labor per acre.28 As
William Thompson said in his own defense: “The land around here, as
you will see, is mountainous and covered with heavy and thick timber,
and a man my age, well it is simply impossible for me to do any hard
work such as that would entail.”29 Similar practices characterized the
settlement even where land clearance did not pose the same obstacle. In
the interior ranchers preempted land cultivated by Aboriginal people,
and Chinese miners worked land that encompassed Indian settlements.30

In other instances settlers violently displaced Aboriginal people from
their homes without even the formality of filing a preemption. White
squatters in places as far-flung as the Cowichan and Nass valleys
attempted to drive Cowichan and Nisga�a inhabitants from their land at
gunpoint.31 Indigenous people along the west coast of Vancouver Island
had similar experiences. An Ahousaht man, Joe Didian Sr., faced threats
first from a White settler and later from the Indian agent, who told him
that settlers were coming to burn down his house.32 Kelsomaht chief
Charlie Johnnie’s community fled a village of thirteen houses when the
Indian agent came and told them their houses would be set alight.33 Set-
tlers destroyed Muchalaht houses along the Gold River, and settlers in
Haida Gwaii used Haida houses for firewood.34 Indian agents pled impo-
tence in such situations, leaving the dispossessed to fend for themselves.35

Preemptions may well have followed in the wake of these violent dis-
placements, since “Indian improvements” could be legally preempted if
they had been “abandoned.” The law said nothing about the conditions
that precipitated such “abandonment.” Whether individuals perpetrated
violence with the calculated intent to preempt the newly “abandoned”
land themselves, as Alfred Jeffries had done, or whether they simply
cleared the way for subsequent preemptors to do so matters less than the
powerful momentum generated by the ongoing dialectic of practice and
policy.
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Settlers also breached preemption requirements related to residency
and improvements. This is clear from historian Ruth Sandwell’s study of
Salt Spring Island between 1859 and 1891. Most settlers on Salt Spring
neither fulfilled nor shared the agrarian ideal that was supposed to jus-
tify colonial usurpation of indigenous lands. Financially unable to sub-
sist on their land year-round, many settlers relied on intervals of
off-island wage-earning. In so doing, they violated the preemption pol-
icy’s residency requirements. Moreover, most preemptors on Salt Spring
never purchased their claim outright. Instead, they manipulated colonial
regulations, and the lack of enforcement thereof, to turn the preemption
system into one that gave them perpetual access to free land and the fran-
chise. Some even found ingenious ways to pass their never-purchased
preemptions on to their heirs.36

Sandwell convincingly interprets such behavior as evidence of the flex-
ibility of settler practice and of the distance between that practice and the
goals of the colonial elite. But this is only half the story. These creative
settler practices were irrevocably bound to microtechniques of dispos-
session across the colonies and later the province. The accumulation of
individual settler acts had acute outcomes for Aboriginal people, who
were told by royal commissioners and Indian agents that the notion of
property embodied by the settler and his preemption was inviolate. Colo-
nial officials simply deemed lands covered by Crown grants or timber
licenses “unavailable” to Indigenous applicants.37 Many settlers would
over time allow their preemptions to revert back to the Crown. But even
then it was unlikely that such land would be restored to Indigenous
applicants if the reversion occurred after reserves had been allotted and
surveyed.

The precise geography and timing of such incidents could be crucial.
In 1881, for example, several properties near Pemberton Meadows lay
abandoned with back taxes owing. Even though faced with a directly
competing Aboriginal need for arable land, the province still did not
enforce the land laws and instead bent over backward to allow the pre-
emptors additional time in which to perfect their claims. In this fashion
the last agriculturally viable land in the area was alienated from the
Crown and lost to the Pemberton band.38 As it played out on the
ground, even the rights of settlers who flouted land laws took precedence
over Aboriginal claims.

Conflicts of interest characterized other preemption claims, and in
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these cases, too, timing was everything. In 1859, for example, the assis-
tant land commissioner, after being instructed to reserve lands for Abo-
riginal people at Lytton, instead purchased the land and recorded the
water rights for himself. The legality of this purchase was questioned,
after which point the land was still not gazetted as a reserve but passed
into the hands of other settlers. By 1878, when Indian Reserve Com-
missioner Sproat arrived to allot lands, his intent to remedy past injus-
tices mattered little: a boulder field was all that remained for him to
reserve.39

These examples of colonial law bent or broken reinforce a number of
important points. First, they remind us that the powerful stories about
the rational, coherent, and just nature of British law were riddled with
contradictions at the time of their telling. In and of itself this is no indict-
ment. The stories we live by are inevitably marbled with contradictions.
But we might begin to think more deeply about the consequences of par-
ticular contradictions at particular places and times. Which contradic-
tions have been tolerated to the point of invisibility, while others have
been called up as evidence of an impoverished or inaccurate story?40

Second, the examples of settler practice here at hand further remind
us that stories about yeoman farmers, private property, and the con-
comitant civilization of land and people were not so much “British sto-
ries” or “settler stories” in general but stories told by a particular group
of newcomers — elite, literate, urban, and those least likely to get their
hands dirty trying to uproot ancient trees in the name of an agricultural
dream. The stories were not widely shared colonial truths; rather, they
were selective rhetorical gestures belied by the practices of others at the
same time. Settlers themselves were driven less by a blind desire for pri-
vately owned patches of their own Arcadia than by the practical exi-
gencies of clearing land, growing crops, and feeding families.41 In the
end it was practice and rhetoric combined that effected dispossession.

Aside from settler activities that directly flouted colonial law, there is
another and arguably larger category of settler practice that deserves
close scrutiny. Numerous regulations and practices, quite legal in nature
and on their face affecting only settlers, often had critically important
impacts on Aboriginal communities. The Indian reserves, limited in size,
were hemmed in through various colonial techniques that further under-
mined the already marginal quality of reserve land. In the interior of
British Columbia, for example, one of the most obvious and widespread

66 paige raibmon



examples of this was the taking of water records. Settlers acquired water
rights without regard to the needs of the reserves so that by the 1870s
farms and ranches on reserves found themselves without necessary
water.42 Similarly, reserves that commissioners had allocated as fishing
stations came, through various means, to be deprived of fish.43

Nearly a century later, similar practices persisted: at the mouth of the
Gold River on the western coast of Vancouver Island, for example,
lessees filled a water lot, the province built a highway, and the Crown
sold a piece of land. Individually, none of these activities even involved
Aboriginal people; combined, however, they eliminated the riparian
access of the Mowachaht /  Muchalaht village that had stood on salt water
for thousands of years. The name of the place, Ahaminaquus, still indi-
cated that that it was beach (quus), but now it was beach in name only.
The fill became provincial Crown land, which the Crown conveyed to
the multinational corporation that had filled the water lot in the first
place. Ahaminaquus has still not regained its beach.44 The Sliammon
reserve of Toh Kwon_non, an important fishing site, was also ampu-
tated from its most important purpose when timber companies acquired
Crown land on the steep hills above the reserve. In the 1960s the com-
panies logged and constructed roads without regard to the consequences
of erosion on the downhill site. In the 1990s a landslide that predictably
originated on the logged-out Crown land swept down to devastate the
reserve and destroy the salmon habitat and spawning grounds. The
reserve lost its purpose, and the people lost the enormous chum salmon
found only at Toh Kwon_non.45

As the historical geographer Cole Harris has stressed, the cross-
 purposes of provincial and dominion agendas greatly contributed to such
outcomes in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.46 No doubt a
similar lack of reconciliation between levels of government played a role
later on too. In a larger sense, however, it is the cross-purposes of settler
society and indigenous claims — the basic conundrum of settlement lands
— that is responsible. Breaches of the spirit and letter of colonial laws
were not so much colonial anomalies as they were constituent elements
of colonialism. Only after taking close note of the multiplicity of dis-
crete practices on the ground can we step back and see their interlock-
ing and contradictory relationships to one another. We can thus map
the precise workings of land transfer and transformation, appropriation
and alienation. We are afforded a clearer view of how Native space was
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simultaneously made and unmade. Then perhaps we can begin to make
sense of how it can be that 94 percent of the land base in British Colum-
bia remains provincial Crown land at the same time as the perceived
shortage of settlement lands endures.

genealogies of colonialism i

Revealing the dialectic between policy and practice can elucidate the
nature of colonialism and dispossession more broadly. The presumed
separation of Indian policy, settler policy, and settler practice is histori-
cally entrenched, and we live with (and through) it still. “Indian land”
is neatly segregated from “non-Indian land.” The separation is palpably
present in the stranding of reserve lands across British Columbia: farms
without irrigation, “beaches” without water access, fishing stations with-
out fish. Settler policies and practices worked in concert with Indian pol-
icy to produce this landscape of the absurd. Policy makers and settlers
may not have cooperated knowingly, but their lives were part of a com-
mon colonial lineage. Like members of an extended family, they were
related even as they operated largely independently of one another. Not
all family members were on speaking terms, but this did not erase their
common family ties.

Historian Duane Thomson’s work on the Okanagan can be used to
illustrate this point. In 1861 the Okanagan reserved lands for themselves
that encompassed most of the good bottomland in the Penticton region.
But in 1865 a justice of the peace ordered these reserves be reduced to
an eighth of their original size because the tracts were, in his estimation,
too large for “semi-nomadic” people. In fact, “Penticton,” which means
“people always there,” was quite probably occupied year-round histor-
ically. In 1877, Okanagan protests helped persuade the Indian Reserve
Commission to restore some land to the reserves based on the number
of head of livestock held. At first glance this seems an instance where
colonizers righted their own wrongs. But in the years between 1865 and
1877 settler stockholders had preempted the fertile bottomland that was
previously part of the reserve, and that land would not be restored to the
reserve. Over the same period many Okanagan families, suffering from
the lack of adequate rangeland and water, must also have lost heads of
livestock, which reduced the acreage to which they were entitled in 1877.
Throughout the 1890s settler practices eroded the Okanagan land base
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further. The reserve’s river frontage was fraudulently appropriated,
 compromising riparian access of reserve residents. The Crown sold off
land adjacent to the reserves, eliminating Okanagan right-of-way to
Crown lands that lay beyond. Then, in the early twentieth century, inter-
national property developers began to turn land in the region toward
fruit production, siphoning off ever greater proportions of the scarce
water resources.47 Settlers and developers and investors came and went.
Whether they thought about Aboriginal people in the process made lit-
tle difference to the outcome: the Okanagan people ended up with mar-
ginal land and without the water rights necessary to improve that land.
Okanagan families watched as orchards sprang up around their parched
communities. Their reserves became desert isles surrounded by fresh
water seas of irrigation. Generations of settlers, developers, administra-
tors, and reformers were partnered, whether they knew it or not, in a
common choreography of dispossession.

Chinese immigrants, themselves victims of discrimination under colo-
nial policies, were likewise members of this colonial troupe. In 1884 the
legislature passed an act denying Chinese the right to preempt land or
divert water.48 Legally their status became more similar to Indians than
ever before. But in practice this legislation did little to forge alliances
between Chinese and Aboriginal people. Instead, it increased the likeli-
hood of Chinese trespasses on the small portion of lands that were being
remade as “Native space.” Legally shut out from land and water rights,
Chinese settlers looked to lands reserved for people similarly reviled by
colonial authorities. Chinese prospectors or farmers might have antici-
pated that White authorities would be slow to correct transgressions
committed against Aboriginal people. Some Chinese had found this to be
the case even before the 1884 restriction.49 By placing Chinese and Indi-
ans on similar legal footing, White authorities diverted Chinese ambi-
tions away from the land desired by Whites and toward reserve land. At
the same time Chinese preemptions that predated 1884 became obvious
targets for Indians whose meager reserve allocations were too small to
support them. Under such circumstances conflicts over land and water
between Indians and Chinese were almost inevitable.

By indirectly engineering such conflicts, elites also generated increased
measures of Indian acquiescence to colonial hegemony. Faced with Chi-
nese encroachments, Aboriginal people were more likely to turn for help
to federal Indian agents (who had no jurisdiction over provincial matters
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of preemption) or to White neighbors (who could afford to act benevo-
lently with their racial privilege safely swaddled). When Whites inter-
vened (as they sometimes did) to rectify illegal action taken by Chinese
against Aboriginal people, they simultaneously solidified their authority
and power over Aboriginal people. Mapping these complex intercon-
nections on the ground would tell us new things about the racialized
production of hegemonic consent that facilitated dispossession in places
like the interior of British Columbia, where treaties were never signed.50

Elsewhere, where treaties were signed, the contours of colonialism’s
figurative genealogies appear remarkably similar. Here, too, the micro -
techniques of dispossession that transformed indigenous territory into
settlement lands were crucial in determining the historical meaning and
efficacy of treaty provisions over time. The treaties in Washington Ter-
ritory (1854– 56) and the Douglas treaties in British Columbia (1850–
54) all contained articles guaranteeing the signatories the right to hunt
and  /  or fish in the customary manner on unoccupied ceded land. Article
5 of the Treaty of Point Elliott (1855), for example, which encompassed
Island County, Washington, promised both the “right of taking fish at
usual and accustomed grounds and stations” and “the privilege of hunt-
ing and gathering roots and berries on open and unclaimed lands.”51

The interrelated land practices that would nullify this clause in prac-
tice, if not on paper, take us back before 1855. “Gathering roots”
referred to the cultivated bracken and camas that were staples of the
Coast Salish diet. Yet bracken and camas grew on the same prairie land
coveted and seized by the first generation of White settlers to Island
County. A macro view of Island County history tells us that White pop-
ulation growth was minimal — only 294 by 1860— and might mislead
us to believe that Article 5 protected indigenous subsistence and usufruct
rights. But the micro view offers a more telling story: The wave of set-
tlers who arrived between 1852 and 1853 settled “almost entirely on
prairie land,” with the result that by the spring of 1853 “open and
unclaimed” prairie was practically nonexistent.52 Thus, two years before
the Treaty of Point Elliott, it was already impossible to protect the prairie
land ecology of the Kikiallus of Island County. The promise to do so in
1855 was hollow; by that time the Kikiallus were already dispossessed
from this key element of their economy.

Having acquired the most fertile land in the county, early prairie set-
tlers and their heirs stayed and prospered. They created successful farms
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on land that increased a hundredfold in value over twenty years; the
farmers who followed would not come close to matching the prosperity
of this first generation.53 The Kikiallus, displaced from the agricultural
elements of their traditional economy, became farm laborers. Laboring
in order to feed their families, they further subsidized the prosperity of
early settlers. (The first subsidy, of course, had been the land itself.) In
the mid-1870s mechanization began to push the Kikiallus out of farm
labor.54 After the loss of the prairie, this was the second economic dis-
placement that they experienced in less than a generation.

Kikiallus access to hunting grounds likewise eroded. Through the
1860s White men cut timber for their personal use and for sale to mills
even though, in the words of the historian Richard White, they “did not
have a shadow of title to it.”55 Fraud and theft were ordinary practices
in the woods. Mill companies bought their own land but delayed logging
it as long as logs from rogue operators were available. The Kikiallus were
doubly denied: they had access to unsurrendered but logged-over land,
and they lacked access to forested but alienated land. At the same time
speculators were able to purchase and hang on to large tracts of the
county despite nonpayment of taxes.56 The Kikiallus hunting territory
in Island County shrank piecemeal.

Eventually, in the 1890s these economic displacements were followed
by full physical displacement when the Kikiallus began at last to acqui-
esce to the prospect of moving to the reservations that had been set out
in the 1855 treaty. Reservation residents might have hoped to make use
of Article 5 when they returned to Island County to fish seasonally, but
in this, too, they would be stymied. In the first decades of the twentieth
century non-Indian-owned fish traps encircled Whidbey Island, effec-
tively barring Kikiallus access to fish there.57 Had they been compen-
sated for that valuable prairie land decades earlier, the Kikiallus might
have had the capital to invest in fish traps of their own. Newcomers’
guarantee of usufruct rights on paper and their breach of that guarantee
in practice worked in concert to dispossess the Kikiallus.58

The succession of newcomers to places like Island County, Salt Spring
Island, and the Okanagan Valley included farmers, speculators, loggers,
and fishers. These groups were riven by class differences; they worked
largely independently of each other. Some of them were probably hos-
tile toward Aboriginal people; others were no doubt sympathetic toward
those they viewed as “vanishing Indians”; and others still surely formed
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meaningful and nuanced relationships across the divides of culture and
power. Assessing the intentions of different members of the colonial fam-
ily does not bring us closer to understanding the mechanisms of dispos-
session on the ground. For that we need to examine the relationships
between the practices of colonizers of different stripes. We need to zoom
in to map the microtechniques of dispossession on the ground, and we
then need to stand back to view the constellation of these techniques as
the product of colonialism.

genealogies of colonialism ii

Members of the colonial family tree were diverse by class, ideology, and
personal idiosyncracy. We would be seriously remiss, however, to over-
look the additional diversity of ancestries that we conceptualize as
“race.” Marriage among early pioneers was not only, or even primarily,
among White immigrants. In late nineteenth-century British Columbia
and Washington, for example, more than a thousand pioneer families
originated in households where an Aboriginal woman partnered with a
non-Aboriginal man.59 In the case of rural British Columbia this means,
as the historian Jean Barman has pointed out, that “somewhere between
one in every ten to twenty non-Aboriginal men lived with an Aboriginal
woman, and another larger proportion with a woman of mixed race.”60

These women of Aboriginal and mixed ancestry were pioneers too,
although they have not generally been recognized as such.61 The mix of
non-Aboriginal and Aboriginal heritage in these pioneer households
must surely complicate the figurative genealogies of colonial practice dis-
cussed earlier. What does it mean that the elite men who made land pol-
icy and the working-class men who labored on the land were often
married to Aboriginal women? 

Instead of assigning blame for Aboriginal dispossession to one mem-
ber of a mixed-heritage family, it is more useful to consider the general
questions of relationship and responsibility that these genealogies raise.
Colonialism’s network of laws, attitudes, and practices placed these fam-
ilies and their offspring at the center of the transformation and transfer
of lands. In British Columbia, children of combined Aboriginal and non-
Aboriginal descent often found themselves doubly denied. In Canada,
the federal Indian Act of 1876 imposed a patrilineal definition of
“Indian,” denying Indian status to Aboriginal women who had children
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with non-Aboriginal men. The children were likewise denied Indian
 status. Mothers and children alike were forbidden from residing on
reserves. Denying these children access to their mothers’ extended fam-
ilies propelled them into the social and economic milieu of immigrant
society. The consequences of this in turn were gender specific. Lacking
social and material capital, the boys usually grew up to be laborers in the
colonial economy, subsidizing the primitive accumulation of early immi-
grant pioneers. This was an experience they shared with the Kikiallus of
Island County and with their Aboriginal kin in general. The young men
were denied both the white privilege of their fathers and the Aboriginal
rights of their mothers. Daughters of dual heritage had more opportu-
nities to integrate into the social milieu of their fathers but usually at 
the cost of their Aboriginal identity. Many of these women in turn
bequeathed a genealogical amnesia to their children, choosing not to tell
them about their Aboriginal lineage.62

In practice, then, thousands of descendants of Aboriginal mothers
were effectively cut off from their indigenous roots. Families were
cleaved in two, often never to be reconnected. The outcome of this
 deraci nation was certainly social, but it was also political and economic.
When assimilationist practices bled off members of Aboriginal families,
the number of people with demonstrable links to indigenous political
structures shrank drastically. At the same time assimilationist practices
and pressures reduced the pool of people who could challenge the ongo-
ing transfer of British Columbia’s capital (that is, land and resources)
from indigenous hands to nonindigenous control. If what Marx ironi-
cally termed the “secret of so-called primitive accumulation” was to
remain a secret, colonizers were well advised to limit the number of peo-
ple who were in on it.63

Since the first days of European arrival in North America, intermar-
riage with Indigenous peoples had been a survival strategy for newcom-
ers. This practice is usually seen as ending with the fur trade era. In
places like rural British Columbia, however, intermarriage between
immigrants and Aboriginal women continued well past the fur trade
period. Immigrant settlers to Salt Spring Island in the second half of the
nineteenth century, for example, gained access to and knowledge about
local resources from their Aboriginal friends and relatives. Historian
Ruth Sandwell has stressed that the economies and lifestyles of non-
 Aboriginal settlers had a great deal in common with those of Aboriginal

Unmaking Native Space 73



people on reserve, some of whom were their in-laws.64 These common-
alities in practice are crucial, in part because they enrich our under-
standing of social history. More broadly, they matter because they
masked the simultaneous transformations at the political and economic
levels as massive amounts of wealth were siphoned off from Aboriginal
communities.

Aboriginal people who built log houses on Salt Spring Island knew
that their right to land had a different derivation than that of settlers
who built similar structures. They pointed to this difference when they
explained that they had “always” used the island’s land and resources,
a historically entrenched claim that they supported with the physical evi-
dence of ancestral graves.65 Working-class immigrants to Salt Spring
Island had likely never owned the means of production, but their Abo-
riginal friends, neighbors, and relatives had until quite recently. The
extent to which rural settler and reserve economies resembled one
another by the end of the nineteenth century is a measure of the extent
to which Aboriginal people had already been dispossessed in practice,
although not in law, of their capital.

Sandwell reads the similarities between Aboriginal and non- Aboriginal
rural life as a challenge to “the very notion of a coherent white-settler
society that could be understood as the colonizing ‘other’ of nineteenth-
century British Columbia.”66 The point is not simply that there existed
no single unified monolith of “colonial society,” although this is true
enough. What deserves our attention is that a “coherent white-settler
society” was not required in order to colonize and dispossess Indigenous
peoples of their land and resources. The fractures and fissures in that fic-
tion of “white-settler society” cannot be said to have curbed the process
of colonization in any straightforward manner. And in fact, they may
have facilitated colonization’s success. After all, one is unlikely to mount
resistance against in-laws and neighbors who lead lives much like one’s
own. Regardless of personal intentions, feelings, or affiliations, the prac-
tices of pioneer families on the ground were what fashioned British
Columbia out of indigenous territory. If Indian policy was an iron fist,
intermarried pioneer men were sometimes the velvet glove.

The White men who raised families with women of Aboriginal
descent may have done colonialism’s work, but they received neither
reward nor recognition for their acts. Instead, the White men who part-
nered with Aboriginal women lived against the grain of colonial dis-
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course that reviled their choices. Charged with undermining racial
supremacy, compromising civilization, and threatening the stability of
empire, these men had little reason to see themselves on the same side as
the elite urban missionaries, politicians, and rhetoriticians who judged
them.67 Yet the de facto result of their marriages was the deracination
of their wives from their Aboriginal families and patrimony.

And what of the Aboriginal and mixed-heritage wives? How are we
to understand their precarious position in colonialism’s sprawling
genealogy? We know little about their motivation for marrying immi-
grant men, although we might well assume that they did what they
believed best for themselves and their families.68 At the level of individ-
ual instances this may have turned out to be the case in the short and
even long terms. Evidence of relationships that endured over time, that
were marked by affection, or that provided secure homes for women
and their families is important and should not be dismissed. At the same
time such evidence should not, as historian Adele Perry has noted,
“obscure . . . the coercive details and larger brutality of colonialism.”69

The disparate practices of colonialism shaped the broader impact of
these women’s individual spousal choices. The combined effect was to
earn these women places on the colonial family tree.

Such genealogical connections do not ascribe blame; they do point to
the opacity of the colonial context when viewed from the ground. They
remind us that in the long run the broader ramifications of our daily
actions are utterly unpredictable. They remind us that direct causal con-
nections are not necessary to achieve consequential outcomes. The result
can be equally forceful, as Perry notes, when phenomena are “inextri-
cably and largely accidentally bound by chronology.”70 Such is the cen-
tral insight of genealogy.

genealogies of scholarship

There is precious little work that takes up the perspective I have advo-
cated throughout this essay. Sources are part of the problem. Tracing
the history of land practices is not nearly as simple as tracing the history
of land policies. Sources are much scarcer for such an endeavor, if they
exist at all. Getting at most land practices requires sources of rural rather
than urban origin. Given the low literacy rates among many rural resi-
dents in the nineteenth-century North American West, such sources are
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rare. It is sometimes possible to cross-reference land records to trace the
history of specific pieces of land, as Ruth Sandwell has done, but this is
time-consuming, demanding, and must be meticulously done. Such is to
be expected of a genealogical approach, which, as Foucault noted,
“requires patience and a knowledge of details, and . . . depends on a vast
accumulation of source material.”71 The most obvious reason there has
been so little of this sort of research is simple: it is hard work.

Yet if academics have devoted little genealogical attention to settler
practice, the same cannot be said of the teams of researchers who work
for First Nations. First Nations attention to settler practice is not simply
of scholarly interest; rather, it is central to their efforts to gain restitution,
whether at the treaty table or in the courtroom. Lawyers, judges, bureau-
crats, and officials of today demand a close and precise accounting of set-
tlers’ actual practices on the land over time. The historical genealogy of
land practice across British Columbia is not impossible to retrieve. In
fact, it is accumulating day by day in the databases and filing cabinets of
band and treaty offices. The barriers between academic and applied
research are such that many academic scholars may be entirely unaware
of these growing collections of historical knowledge. Those who are
aware cannot even hope to gain access to the research until after the
cases have been tried. And even then, First Nations may decide not to
release the research for academic purposes. Yet as the legal stakes
increase, so do the caches of research. Genealogical method not only
produces a conceptually more satisfying framework for understanding
colonialism, it also provides a more usable framework for dealing with
its legacy.

Why, then, have academic scholars been slow to focus research on
settler practice? Conceptual blinders, inherited from our scholarly fore-
bears, have certainly played a role, and these deserve our scrutiny. The
scholarly tendency to privilege policy over practice suggests one of the
ways in which colonial tropes continue to shadow our narrative and
interpretive choices. Our scholarship no longer celebrates the colonial
past, yet our choice of historical protagonists, heroes, and villains
remains diagnostic. We have become comfortable laying responsibility
for our modern-day “Indian problem” at the feet of politicians and
Indian affairs bureaucrats of days gone by. We have had studies of
Indian affairs bureaucrats at the federal and agency levels.72 The schol-
arship on British Columbia, in particular, has long been characterized by
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debates over the personalities, policies, and intentions of men in official
positions such as James Douglas and Joseph Trutch, with Gilbert Mal-
colm Sproat recently being added to the cast.73 These policy makers of
the past are easily othered — that is, they are not us. This tendency is only
accentuated by today’s general cynicism toward politicians and bureau-
crats.

We are less comfortable, it seems, dealing with the mundane prac-
tices of colonialism and dispossession as they were deployed by so-called
regular folk. Sandwell’s microhistory of Salt Spring Island, for example,
offers an impressively intimate view of settler practices on the ground
over time. Having taken great care to distinguish between urban-based
rhetoric and rural-based practice, Sandwell’s instinct is to stress settler
and Aboriginal agency in its resistance to dominant rhetoric rather than
to locate that agency within its genealogical context. This leaves broader
questions of power unaddressed and implicitly suggests that similarities
between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal lifestyles somehow distanced
nineteenth-century working class immigrants from the colonial proj-
ect.74 My point is not to single out Sandwell but rather to urge reflection
on the contours of our collective scholarly choices. To a greater extent
than we often admit, our scholarly “choices” continue to be shaped by
those who came before us. In a practical sense we can see this in the
sources we have inherited. Documents about “Indians” reside in  dif -
ferent record groups than documents about immigrants. Bureaucratic
distinctions have become archival distinctions and these in turn histori-
ographical ones. In a broader discursive sense we have likewise inherited
ideological baggage packed within colonial categories. As scholars today
we disown the historiographical traditions that uncritically celebrated
pioneer heroes and mourned vanishing Indian victims. But we have not
brought our correctives to these two traditions into  conversation with
one another. And it is here that our scholarly choices may betray us.
Scholarship’s segregation of immigrant pioneers from the work of dis-
possession suggests that at some level we continue to lionize hard-
 working pioneers. In Canada in particular the exceptionalist myth 
that frontier settlement followed in the wake of British law and order
has furthered tendencies to see settlers as hapless bystanders rather 
than full participants in colonialism. Likewise, scholarly work that
removes indigenous actions from their colonial context continues to 
deny full agency to Aboriginal people. Indigenous people participated in
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colonialism but, to paraphrase Marx, not under circumstances of their
own making. They were victims but they were not only victims.75 The
colonial family tree is gargantuan, and it is hung heavy with contradic-
tions and inequalities among its members.

you don’t pick your family

Whether or not individuals carried heavy consciences for acts perpe-
trated by their colonial relations, they enjoyed the subsidy of free land
and bequeathed it to their heirs. This is something for which they can-
not personally be blamed but for which they are nonetheless surely
responsible. The specter of mass reparations haunts any discussion such
as this, of course. But we have plenty of precedent for this sense of
responsibility in our society. In both legal and moral terms we accept
that people are often responsible for outcomes they did not intend. Inten-
tion plays a role in the distinction between manslaughter and murder, for
example, but it does not absolve the perpetrator or bring back the vic-
tim. We are similarly accustomed to holding institutions responsible for
actions committed in the past under the auspices of the corporation,
church, government, or military as the case may be. The same can be
said more broadly of society. The ancestors of our society, even if not our
biological ancestors, made treaties that we are responsible for honoring,
and they committed depredations — including the refusal to negotiate
treaties — that we are responsible for rectifying.76

“Responsibility” also has another, more positive connotation that is
helpful here. We should remember that being considered a “responsible
person” is a positive trait in our society and that we appreciate those
who live up to their responsibilities. Following the work of historian Vic-
toria Freeman, we might attempt “the acknowledgement of the destruc-
tion we have wrought — not for the purposes of assigning blame and
guilt, but as a necessary foundation for trust.”77 With this in mind we
might feel less threatened by, and thus more open to, the reconfiguration
of colonial genealogy that encompasses us all.

Every non-Aboriginal person in British Columbia today is a living
beneficiary of the original sin of dispossession. This hidden subsidy keeps
our quality of life afloat. And it is the unspoken secret of this subsidy that
causes a collective shudder when the reallocation of settlement lands is
proposed. We did not pick our colonial family, but we have inherited
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its assets and are responsible for its debts. Ninety-four percent of land in
British Columbia remains Crown land, much of which can still be leased
or purchased in fee simple, yet paying our long-overdue debt to the orig-
inal landowners seems to many an impossible feat. Our past is heavy
with the accumulated multigenerational weight of these microtechniques
of dispossession, these intimate interactions between policies and prac-
tices over time. Our past may be heavy with them, but they only com-
prise our history if we choose to shoulder our family responsibility and
narrate them as our history.

postscript

This takes us, finally, back to the beach at Opitsaht. The Twombly fam-
ily took a brave step when they returned to accept their inheritance of
Captain Robert Gray’s legacy. The “ancestral connection” they honored
that day was neither easy nor pleasant. But it was an acknowledgment
of a shared past, and in this acknowledgment the seeds of trust could be
sown. Not all of us can trace our literal roots to early colonization, but
we are nonetheless all rooted to this past. We all have a spot on this
colonial genealogy. This is a difficult fact with which to reckon, partic-
ularly for residents of British Columbia today. It was perhaps no accident
that the supplicants on that summer’s day came from afar. For British
Columbians to engage in a comparable act would be fraught not only
with personal tensions and pain but with material stakes as well. The
Twomblys, after all, did not occupy British Columbia, and whatever
land they occupy today is not the land that the Tla-o-qui-aht want back.
Joe Martin of the Tla-o-qui-aht First Nation seemed to understand this
well when he spoke to a reporter about why the apology was so signifi-
cant to his community: “Because . . . this has never been done anywhere
else in Canada as far as I know. . . . These people are from the U.S of A.
and we’ve never had the government come here . . . the government of
Canada come here to apologize, to apologize to our people for taking out
all these resources from under our feet and so on that belong to us, they
rightly, rightfully belong to our people. People are very . . . happy about
it and then of course a lot of them are being educated by it.”78

We can all be educated by the exchange that took place on the beach
that day. The Twomblys did not pick their family, but they accepted
their inheritance all the same. It would have been more difficult for them
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to take such steps at home in Texas, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, or
Oregon, just as it will be more difficult for British Columbians to do so
in British Columbia. It is a harrowing task to dig down where we live
and expose the roots that tie us to the colonial past, but it is also imper-
ative.
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3 “Trespassers on the Soil”

UNITED STATES V. TOM and a new perspective

on the short history of treaty making in

nineteenth-century british columbia

Hamar Foster and Alan Grove

89

The insatiable greed of the white man leads him to desire to obtain 

all that the Indian has, and if he cannot get it without law, he will 

have a law enacted which will enable him to get it. — Missionary 

William Duncan of Metlakatla, 1886

The British Columbia “Indian Land Question” has been an issue
since the 1860s. Until 1927, when Parliament imposed legal
restrictions, Aboriginal groups lobbied, petitioned, and protested

in support of their land rights.1 The campaign for title resumed when
these restrictions were dropped in the 1950s, and since the 1973 Calder
v. AGBC decision, British Columbia has produced most of the Supreme
Court of Canada’s leading Aboriginal rights decisions.2 The province
has even had its own unique tripartite treaty process since 1993.3

This exceptionalism is largely because treaty making ceased after a
number were made on Vancouver Island in the 1850s and no more were
completed until — with one exception — the Nisga�a Treaty was finalized
in 2000.4 As a result, land in the province was sold to or preempted by
settlers without extinguishing the Aboriginal title, a practice that ham-
pered the efforts of reserve commissioners from the 1870s on.5 It also
created a cloud on title that today “has grown to lower” over most of the
province.6 Prior to the renewal of treaty making prompted by the Calder
case, land cession treaties in Canada were either never made (as in



Québec and the Atlantic provinces) or treaty making, once commenced,
was pursued to completion (as in Ontario and on the prairies). Only in
what is now British Columbia did the process end almost as soon as it
had begun. When the legality of this was eventually challenged, the
province managed — until relatively recently — to keep the issue out of
the courts. But why treaty making was terminated remains something
of a mystery.

To put the matter more concretely, why did Judge Matthew Baillie
Begbie — who admonished Governor James Douglas in 1860 that it was
imperative that the Indian title be extinguished — “inexplicably” change
his mind?7 In our view part of the answer to this question may be found
in the years that Douglas and other colonial officials spent in Oregon,
where federal Indian law required treaties; in a deviation from that law
developed by the courts in Oregon and applied in Alaska; and in the
close ties between the administrative and judicial elites of British Colum-
bia, Oregon, and Washington. In short, we think that although British
and American territories on the West Coast were separate and very dif-
ferent national jurisdictions after 1846, a similar, albeit legally hetero-
dox, attitude toward Aboriginal land rights thrived in both.8 We attempt
to make this case in this essay. But first we cast a brief glance at treaty
making on colonial Vancouver Island.

i. the douglas treaties

In 1850, pursuant to instructions from the Hudson’s Bay Company
(HBC) and the Colonial Office, James Douglas began to make agree-
ments with the indigenous people of Vancouver Island to purchase their
land.9 It was his responsibility because he was the senior local official of
the HBC, the body to whom the Crown had conveyed the Island and
charged with extinguishing the Indian title.10 By 1854 fourteen treaties
had been made: eleven with the Coast Salish peoples of southern Van-
couver Island, two with the Wakashan peoples at the northeastern end
of the Island, and one with the Coast Salish at Nanaimo.11 The text used
in these transactions was taken from New Zealand precedents for pur-
chasing Maori land.12

The “Douglas treaties” are basically deeds of conveyance in which
land is transferred to “the white people forever” in return for a mone-
tary consideration, paid largely in blankets. Probably neither party spoke
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the other’s language very well, and none of the chiefs would have under-
stood the concept of land as a transferable commodity. It seems more
likely that they regarded the agreements as temporary measures designed
to secure peace until more permanent arrangements could be worked
out.13 Although the text is therefore an uncertain guide to what they
thought had occurred, the oral and written guarantees that were made,
rather than the blankets, are probably why these documents were signed
— and why they are properly regarded as treaties. In addition to reserv-
ing village sites and enclosed fields, the signatories were solemnly assured
that they and their descendants would be “at liberty to hunt over the
unoccupied lands, and to carry on their fisheries as formerly.” To a fish-
ing people, a promise that their fisheries would remain undisturbed
would have been a significant inducement indeed.14

After the Nanaimo treaty of 1854, no more of these agreements were
formally recorded. Instead, the colony began to sell land without pur-
chasing the Indian title. But the Cowichan, who were the first to have
their lands dealt with in this manner, strongly resisted incursions into their
territory, frustrating anxious purchasers who had been waiting months,
some even years, to take possession.15 Apparently unwilling to use the
monies received from these sales to extinguish the Indian title, Douglas
attempted in 1861 to pry funds out of the imperial treasury instead. And
because he was supposed to have been extinguishing the Indian title before
selling land to settlers, he advised the secretary of state for the colonies
that “until 1859” it had been his practice to do just that.16

Douglas thought he could look to Britain for funds because title to
Vancouver Island was to revert to the Crown in 1859, thus ending the
HBC’s responsibility. But he would not have helped his case by acknowl-
edging that he had made no treaties between 1854 and 1859, when the
HBC was supposed to be paying to extinguish the Indian title. Nor, one
presumes, would he have been inclined to reveal that he had permitted
Indian land to be sold to settlers before the Aboriginal title had been
extinguished.17 It was much more effective to present the problem in
the way that he did: a diligent HBC had done its duty until 1859, and
now the imperial parliament should do the same. But the secretary of
state for the colonies was not buying. The Duke of Newcastle informed
Douglas that responsibility for extinguishing the Indian title had moved
from the HBC to the colony, not to the imperial treasury. And the rela-
tively small sums involved, he added, were quite within the means of
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colonial taxpayers, particularly for a purpose that was, as both Douglas
and the Assembly had acknowledged, so “essential to the interests of the
people of Vancouver Island.”18

Essential or not, the history books do not record a treaty at Cowichan
or anywhere else after 1854. One writer has suggested that the reason for
this is simple: the colonial elite, including Judge Begbie, invested heavily
in real estate and came to see Indian title as a threat to their financial
interests.19 Another proffered explanation is also financial: Douglas ran
out of money. On this view the Colonial Office decreed that funds to
extinguish the Indian title had to be raised locally, the colony balked,
and that was that.20 But as political scientist Paul Tennant has pointed
out, this account does not square with the facts. Not only did the legis-
lature vote funds for buying Indian land, but for a while editorial opin-
ion seems to have been in favour of it as well.21 Douglas, moreover, was
also governor of the mainland colony, where he ran up a considerable
public debt on other projects. The Cariboo wagon road alone cost many
times what would have been necessary to extinguish Indian title along
the way, and funds were found, or at least borrowed, for that.22 Even
more telling: soon after Douglas retired, the two colonies probably spent
in excess of one hundred thousand dollars in capturing and executing
the chiefs responsible for the Chilcotin war — a sum that would proba-
bly have been sufficient at that time to extinguish Indian title through-
out B.C.23 Therefore the money explanation, although part of the story,
fails to satisfy.

According to Tennant, what really happened is that, quite apart from
financial considerations, Douglas decided that negotiating payment for
Indian land was difficult and that even completed treaties did not make
adequate provision for the Indians‘ economic security and social devel-
opment. In September of 1853 he therefore advised his HBC superiors
that he would not attempt to reopen negotiations at Nanaimo until he
felt it was “safe and prudent to do so,” adding that the question of
Indian rights “always give[s] rise to troublesome excitements, and has on
every occasion been productive of serious disturbances.”24 So he
resolved on a different approach.

The details of what Tennant has called the “system” that Douglas
developed to replace treaties need not detain us. Suffice it to say that he
clearly preferred to avoid the turmoil of treaty talks and debates about
compensation. He proposed instead to guarantee Aboriginal people spe-
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cial hunting, fishing, and education rights, as well as reserves of land ade-
quate to support them in adapting to the new social and economic real-
ity. Douglas also took the position — rather remarkably, given the tenor
of the times — that in every other respect Indians would have the same
legal rights as non-Indians.25 His successors, however, reduced the
reserves and were clearly of the view that Indians should not have the
same rights as settlers. Instead, they enacted legislation restricting such
rights. And they certainly did not make treaties.

Tennant’s theory is a useful corrective to the view that it was only a
lack of funds that ended treaty making in B.C., and this seems closer to
the truth. So does a more detailed variation on this theory that historical
geographer Cole Harris has recently developed. Harris argues that  Doug -
las did not really change his mind about treaties. Rather, he simply made
them when he thought it made sense to do so, but not otherwise, stopping
on Vancouver Island when to continue would have involved acquiring
more land than he could protect. On the mainland he made no treaties
because there were too many different bands there and not the same
expectations. The Colonial Office, moreover, was fast losing its enthusi-
asm for liberal humanitarianism and was not pressing him. “There was
a jumble of Native land policies around the empire,” Harris notes, argu-
ing that although the idea of Indian title “remained in the air” in the
1850s, the Colonial Office “no longer quite knew what to do with it.” For
his part, Douglas was a practical man, not a theorist. He may never have
taken seriously the idea that treaties were legally necessary. In the end he
appears to have decided that the cost — including the administrative effort,
time, and money that would have to be devoted to negotiating them —
was not worth it. It was better to allocate generous reserves and to ensure
that Indians enjoyed all the rights that colonists did.26

There is surely much truth in this. But it submerges law in policy,
obliterating the difference — however tenuous that difference may some-
times be — between the two. It also appears to assume that Douglas and
his successors either did not know or did not care that the idea of Indian
title had spawned a body of law that by the 1850s was generating treaties
in Canada and the United States, including right next door in Washing-
ton and Oregon. Yet only twenty years later, B.C.’s continuing refusal to
acknowledge Aboriginal land rights after confederation clearly surprised
the dominion government, which was just embarking on a major treaty-
making project of its own.27
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In fact, even in B.C. the treaty process did not end abruptly at
Nanaimo in 1854, although it was certainly suspended. This is an
impression fostered by twentieth-century court decisions that have clas-
sified only fourteen of a number of events as treaties, partly because
 Doug las was insufficiently diligent when it came to completing and
recording his decisions regarding Indian lands.28 The Nanaimo treaty,
for example, has no text. There are simply signatures (“X’s”), and a
notation in the register that the “conveyance” by the Sallequun tribe at
Nanaimo in 1854 was “similar” to the rest.29 There is an indistinct line
between this sort of informality and transactions with no signatures — in
other words, oral promises — that can be misunderstood or misrepre-
sented and, if necessary, denied.

Thus in 1860, Douglas reported to the Colonial Office that he had
promised the tribes of the Okanagan that the magistrates would reserve
as much land as they needed, and that the tribes were “delighted” with
this proposal. But the Okanagan seem to have expected more negotia-
tions and compensation for the lands they were giving up.30 When this
did not happen, they felt betrayed — a sentiment that nearly led to war-
fare in the 1870s. The Shuswap people took a similar view of promises
made to them. Government officials, they said years later, had assured
them that a “very large reservation would be staked off for us,” and 
that the government would buy “all the tribal lands outside this reserva -
tion” that were required for white settlement.31 This is also what the
Cowichan said about the events that followed Douglas’s rebuff by the
Duke of Newcastle.

ii. the cowichan “treaty”

In the early 1850s the Cowichan had expressed interest in a treaty but
Douglas was unwilling: little was known about their territory, and the
land was not needed for settlement. By 1859, however, the situation had
changed in at least two ways. First, military expeditions in 1853 and
1856— expeditions that had ended in executions and some bitterness —
had revealed the agricultural potential of the Cowichan Valley, and the
Fraser Gold Rush had brought new settlers. Second, Aboriginal people
knew what was going on south of the international border. As we dis-
cuss in section III, below, by 1853 warfare and a much harsher treaty
process were replacing the relatively benign treaty making of the early
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1850s. This probably contributed not only to the problems Douglas had
in negotiating the Nanaimo treaty, but also changed many Cowichan
minds as well. Douglas then soured relations further by selling off their
land without treaty or payment.32 As the House of Assembly put it in
1861, the Cowichan were aware of the compensation that had been paid
“in the earlier settled districts of Vancouver Island [and] the neighbour-
ing territory of Washington, and strenuously oppose[d] the occupation
of settlers of lands deemed their own.”33 The denial of Douglas’s request
for imperial funds to resolve this problem therefore left the purchasers
of land at Cowichan in a tight spot, as many of them must have been per-
sons of modest means who had risked everything in coming to Vancou-
ver Island.

Finally, it seems, patience ran out. In August of 1862 a group of nearly
eighty settlers set out for Cowichan on board the HMS Hecate. As one
contemporary observer put it, they were determined to go ahead even
though “the Indians [were] unwilling to sell, still less to be ousted from
their land.”34 It no doubt helped that the Hecate was a ship of the Royal
Navy: this served to remind the Cowichan of the naval expeditions that
had been mounted against them. It is also interesting that the gallows for
the executions at Nanaimo in 1853 appear to have been constructed near
the coal mines that those treaty negotiations were intended to secure, and
that when the treaty was finally made in 1854, the formalities took place
at Gallows Point.35 Neither the Cowichan nor the Nanaimo could have
missed the significance of this, nor forgotten it by 1862.

Douglas himself accompanied the Hecate, in order “to prevent the
Indians from objecting” to the settlement.36 He apparently meant to do
this by paying for the land, because a contemporary newspaper account
of what occurred describes a scene straight out of the treaty process of
the early 1850s. The Indians, according to the British Colonist, were
promised that “compensation for the lands taken up would be made as
previously established.”37 But it wasn’t. At least there is no real evidence
that it was. And Douglas did not make a formal record of the transac-
tion. If he had, it might have made its way into the books as the fifteenth
Douglas treaty.

Even before the Hecate sailed, there were those who questioned what
was going on. Lieutenant Edmund Hope Verney, commander of the gun-
boat Grappler, had been in the area a few days before and expressed a
concern that there might have been “some underhand dealing among
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the officials in this matter.”38 What he meant is not clear. But the
Cowichan were not happy, and they complained. In 1866, for example,
a Cowichan delegation went to see the new governor to tell him that
they “wanted to be paid for the lands taken by the white men.”39 Other
tribes, they said, “have had Indian claims allowed, why not we? The
lands we occupy we do not wish to give up: for the rest we wish to be
paid.”40 But by then there was not only a new governor. There was a
new regime entirely.

The commissioner of lands and works, in particular, was  unsym -
pathetic. Joseph William Trutch was committed to a policy of taking
Indian lands without compensation, even lands in reserves that had been
formally laid out and guaranteed by the Douglas administration.41

Responding to repeated complaints to Governor Anthony Musgrave by
the Cowichan and their supporters, Trutch reported in late 1869 that he
could find “no record of any promise having been made to these Indians
that they should be paid for the lands in the Cowichan Valley, nor can
I learn that any such promise has ever been made.” (Apparently then, as
today, one cannot believe everything that one reads in the newspapers —
even the British Colonist.) Trutch conceded that the Cowichan may have
expected to be paid, as other tribes had been. He also conceded that it
was likely that Douglas had intended to pay “gratuities.”42 But he main-
tained that there had been no promise, notwithstanding Governor  Doug -
las’s acknowledged “intention.”43 The fact that the government had
already acted on Trutch’s advice and unilaterally reduced reserves with-
out paying compensation may help to explain why Musgrave pro-
nounced himself satisfied with this rather doctored account of events at
Cowichan — that and the fact that Trutch was his brother-in-law.

A decade later Reserve Commissioner Gilbert Malcolm Sproat inves-
tigated what had happened and, typically, left a lengthy memorandum
on the subject.44 Pretty much everything he unearthed supports the
Cowichan version of events, including a letter written in 1865 by the
Reverend A. C. Garrett to the surveyor general. According to Garrett,
Governor Douglas had made “definite promises” to the Indians at
Cowichan in 1862. In particular, he said, Douglas had assured them that
he would return in the autumn, “have a gathering of all their tribes, and
make them suitable presents. This promise was never fulfilled.” Sproat
concludes that in 1869 Trutch knew most of these facts, “except per-
haps Sir James Douglas’ alleged unfulfilled promise.”45 The “perhaps”
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is interesting and rather takes the shine off what would have otherwise
been a most charitable concession.

In light of this, we conclude that although the Nanaimo treaty in 1854
is the last one acknowledged in the history books, a treaty of sorts was
made at Cowichan in 1862. It was not formally recorded, nor appar-
ently was it honoured. But then the Nanaimo treaty was only a set of
marks, with no text. Did the same sort of thing happen in the Okanagan
and the Shuswap? Who knows? But a good case can be made that
although Douglas abandoned the treaty process after 1854, circum-
stances obliged him to revive it — or at least part of it — at Cowichan.

To most colonists, the issue was a practical not a legal one. Whether
treaties were legally required was rarely debated, and Aboriginal people
in the mid-nineteenth century had neither the technical knowledge nor
the resources to go to court to debate it. Nor was a test case, whereby
the legal status of Aboriginal title might be raised in litigation between
settlers, ever brought in colonial British Columbia.46 However, if  Doug -
las and his successors thought that there was no legal obligation to extin-
guish Indian title before settlement, there was little support for such
complacency in imperial law. Only two years before the colony of Van-
couver Island was established, the Supreme Court of New Zealand had
ruled that native title in the British Empire existed at common law
whether acknowledged by treaty or not.47 And between 1787 and 1835
both the Congress and the Supreme Court of the United States, relying
on British practice and the Royal Proclamation of 1763, had confirmed
the legal status of Indian title.48 It is possible that Douglas did not know
about any of this. But if he did know, why would he think that he could
dispense with treaties?49

The line between law and policy in the common law system is ad mit-
tedly indistinct. At the time there was also the calculated indifference of
the Colonial Office. By the 1850s enthusiasm for humanitarian causes in
far-away possessions was waning in Britain, and the Indian Mutiny 
in 1857 and the Maori Wars of the 1860s served only to emphasize 
the ingratitude of the indigenous inhabitants of the empire. No one there-
fore was keeping too close a watch on how careful Douglas and his suc-
cessors were being about Aboriginal title.50 But no one in the imperial
government told them that they could ignore it, either. In fact, in 1859 the
Colonial Office told Douglas that whenever Indian lands were required
for settlement, “His Majesty’s Government earnestly wish that . . . 
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mea sures of liberality and justice may be adopted for compensating [the
Indians] for the surrender of the territory which they have been taught
to regard as their own.”51 Yet that very year Douglas sold land at
Cowichan without paying for it. Then a year later Begbie informed him
that Indian title on the mainland “was by no means extinguished” and
that “separate provision must be made for it, and soon.”52 Why was
this not done? Partly, no doubt, because a wish is not a command, how-
ever earnest. And in politics if one can get away without doing something
onerous, one usually will. But again, we think that a piece of the puzzle
may be missing — a piece that Begbie, who did not arrive in the colony
until late 1858, may not have become familiar with until later.

iii. the true interests of a white population:
UNITED STATES V. TOM

In 1846 the Treaty of Washington fixed the international boundary west
of the Rockies at the forty-ninth parallel.53 This meant that formal col-
onization could now proceed, so in 1849 Great Britain created the
colony of Vancouver Island, which had been confirmed as British even
though it extended south of forty-nine degrees. A year earlier Congress
had transformed the provisional government organized by the settlers
by creating the federal territory of Oregon, which until 1853 included
what is now the state of Washington. But the new territorial adminis-
tration was immediately faced with a problem: although the provisional
government had legally committed itself to respecting Indian land, no
treaties extinguishing the Indian title had been made.54 As delegate
Samuel R. Thurston told the U.S. Congress in February 1850, two
months before Douglas began negotiating his Fort Victoria treaties,
“although the white population in Oregon [is] about fifteen thousand . . .
the Indian title . . . in that territory has never been extinguished.” As a
result, he concluded, “no man owns a foot of land in Oregon; but all of
us are trespassers on the soil.”55

What Thurston meant was that extinguishment by treaty had been
British and U.S. policy for at least a century. It had, moreover, been given
the force of law through the Royal Proclamation of 1763 and, in the
United States, the Northwest Ordinance of 1787 and the Indian Trade and
Intercourse Acts of 1790 and 1834. In the 1834 act Congress had specifi-
cally required treaty making in the “Indian country,” which was defined
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as including “all that part of the United States west of the Mississippi, and
not within the states of Missouri and Louisiana, or the territory of
Arkansas.”56 So when the Treaty of Washington confirmed in 1846 that
Oregon was part of the United States, the new territory was “Indian coun-
try” as defined by the 1834 act and subject to federal Indian law.

Accordingly, in June 1850 Congress passed a statute authorizing the
appointment of a treaty commission for Oregon and providing that the
“law regulating the trade and intercourse with the Indian tribes east of
the Rocky Mountains, or such provisions of the same as may be appli-
cable, be extended over the Indian tribes in the Territory of Oregon.”
This confirmed that Oregon was subject to the special laws and obliga-
tions contained in the 1834 act.57 A few months later Congress also
enacted the Donation Land Claims Act, which provided for free land
grants.58 The way was now clear to make treaties and confirm the set-
tlers’ land titles.

And that is what happened. An assortment of officials, including the
federal Indian superintendent Anson Dart, negotiated and signed at least
nineteen treaties with the tribes. By the time the amended version of 
the Donation Land Act had expired in 1855, title to more than 2.5 mil-
lion acres of the surrendered land had been formally transferred, gratis,
to nearly seventy-five hundred non-Aboriginal homesteaders. These
treaties, however, were not popular in the settler community. They were
seen as too generous to the tribes, and they did not provide for removal
of the Indians to large reservations. The U.S. Senate therefore refused to
ratify them.59 This left putative owners — whose land grants had been
legally confirmed because everyone thought that the Indian title was
being disposed of — in a somewhat awkward position. If Oregon was
Indian country, their land grants were subject to the requirement in the
Indian Trade and Intercourse Act of 1834 that the Indian title be extin-
guished by federally sanctioned treaty. Oregonians were thus in much the
same position as the settlers at Cowichan would be a decade later. They
had taken title to land before the Indian title had been extinguished. The
difference was that Oregon, unlike Vancouver Island, was subject to U.S.
law, and in particular to the 1850 statute regarding treaty making. It
was also subject to a federal government that had exclusive authority
over Indian matters and that was committed — for its own reasons — to
enforcing federal Indian law. Thus in Oregon treaty making had to, and
did, continue.
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Something rather interesting happened before the process was com-
plete, however. In December 1853 the Oregon Supreme Court decided
the case of United States v. Tom, in which “Tom, an Indian,” was indicted
pursuant to section 20 of the Indian Trade and Intercourse Act of 1834
for selling a gill of brandy worth twenty-five cents to another Indian.60

The case was not as ordinary as it might sound. First, Tom had a
lawyer.61 Even more unusually, the defence moved to quash the indict-
ment on the ground that Oregon was not “Indian country,” which meant
that federal Indian law, including the 1834 act, did not apply. In ruling on
the motion, the court began by noting that the act of 1850 appeared to
make the 1834 act effective in Oregon only insofar as local circumstances
made its various provisions “applicable” — a common statutory provi-
sion. The judges therefore decided that whether the earlier act met this
test was for them to decide, and they went on to hold that insofar as 
the liquor prohibition was concerned, Oregon was Indian country.62

“Defenceless white persons, women and children, who are exposed to
violence of drunken savages” were said to need the protection of section
20. Crude as this statement may be, it was all they needed to say to decide
the case on its facts.63

The court went on to state that although Oregon was “generally sup-
posed to be part of the Indian country named by Congress” in the 1834
act, in fact it was not. Chief Justice George H. Williams explained that
in 1834 the United States and Great Britain had jointly occupied Oregon,
which stretched from Spanish California in the south to Russian Alaska
in the north, so it was not part of the United States at that time. Oregon
therefore could not have been subject to the act and was not Indian coun-
try.64 Moreover, he added, “much of the act of 1834 is clearly unsuited
to the present condition of the country.” How then was one to tell which
provisions of federal Indian law applied and which did not? According
to the chief justice, “all which tends to prevent immigration [and] the
free occupation and use of the country by whites must be considered
repealed.” The proper test for deciding what portions of the act applied
in Oregon was therefore a simple one: “Whatever militates against the
true interests of a white population is inapplicable.”65

This forthright way of putting the matter is remarkable, because these
are words that could have been spoken by almost any settler, politician,
or land-jobber west of the Rockies whether north or south of forty-nine
degrees. They are, however, the words of a federally appointed chief jus-
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tice. Certainly judges in British colonies might think along similar lines,
but they would have had sense enough to disguise it in legal language.66

So far as the Oregon Supreme Court was concerned, Oregon was not
subject to most of the federal Indian laws that applied elsewhere in the
United States; and until Congress said otherwise, any law that was not
in “the true interests of a white population” was quite simply not law.67

The Tom decision therefore looked very much like a signal to Washing-
ton that not only the settlers but their judiciary thought that the Pacific
Northwest was special, and that any treaty making that took place there
should reflect this.

In 1855 the commissioner of Indian affairs requested U.S. Attorney
General Caleb Cushing to respond to Tom. Cushing described its rea-
soning as “strange” and “untenable” and subjected the decision to a
lengthy and scathing criticism. Whether the test for applicability was the
rights of the white population or their interests, he wrote, the decision
violated the United States Constitution because it gave Oregon instead
of Congress jurisdiction over commerce with the Indian tribes.68 The
attorney general concluded by stating that “a white settler has the same
right . . . to oust the Indians as he has to oust white men, and no more:
that is, the right to substitute robbery for purchase, and violence for
law.”69 So federal law, in this case the combination of the acts of 1834
and 1850, prevailed. But Chief Justice Williams and his court were not
simply rattling their swords: they were telling Congress that it was the
Indians, not the whites, who were the trespassers, and they were setting
the tone for the new treaties.

What happened to Tom is unclear because once the point about
Indian country had been made, his fate was of interest only to him.
Because the indictment based on the liquor prohibition in the 1834 act
was upheld, there was nothing for the U.S. attorney general to appeal.
There was also little if any prospect that Tom, who no doubt was con-
victed, could find the resources to do so.70 The Oregon Supreme Court’s
ruling on Indian country was therefore never reviewed by a higher court.
In Oregon it survives only as a particularly unattractive, albeit forth-
right, curial statement of the grundnorm of the settler state. But its spirit
clearly informed the new, less generous process that would soon provide
substitutes for the failed treaties. The result was warfare, Aboriginal
 displacement, and defeat.71

To take one example, the treaty at Medicine Creek in Washington
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Territory forced the Nisqually and Puyallup tribes onto reservations and
took away prime farmland. The war that ensued ended in defeat for the
tribes and after two trials the conviction of Leschi, a prominent chief, for
murder. The first jury could not reach a verdict because two of the jurors
concluded that the killing was part of an act of war. Governor Isaac
Stevens, to whom history has not been kind, therefore arranged to have
the trial moved to a more compliant venue. The second jury convicted.72

Justice Obadiah B. McFadden, who had participated in the Tom deci-
sion, wrote the opinion denying the appeal, and Leschi was hanged on
February 19, 1858.73

Now, James Douglas was not delicate about executions. But neither
was he a fan of American Indian policy, the evil effects of which quickly
became known to the tribes north of the international boundary.74 He
was particularly opposed to the large-scale removals in the new treaties,
and it is likely that the wars in Washington and Oregon helped to per-
suade him that treaty making of any sort was increasingly ill advised. If
so, after 1853 he could look to Tom as authority for the proposition
that Oregon, which until 1846 included British Columbia, was not
Indian country. In other words a man who was already skeptical about
treaties might see certain advantages in a decision that legally treaties
did not have to be made in the Pacific Northwest unless clearly man-
dated by a legislature with jurisdiction to do so.

The decision in United States v. Tom was of course not a binding
precedent north of the border, which was now a completely separate
national jurisdiction. Nonetheless, in 1849 the imperial parliament had
specifically withdrawn Vancouver Island from the Indian territories,75

and U.S. law on Indian title was a much more tangible presence in British
Columbia than the Royal Proclamation of 1763 or the New Zealand
Supreme Court.76 Another consideration is the notion that the whole
coast, from northern California to Alaska, was really a single region
(“Cascadia,” as some would have it) requiring compatible policies. This
sentiment may even have contributed to a decision of Federal District
Court judge Matthew P. Deady in the case of the United States v.  Seve -
loff, which also involved the sale of liquor to Indians. Sitting in Port-
land, Deady relied on Tom to rule in 1872 that Alaska, too, was not
Indian country.77

We return to this part of the story in section V, below. For now the
point is that the land question in Alaska, like the land question in British
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Columbia, was left unaddressed until the 1970s, when a century after
Seveloff the U.S. Congress passed the Alaska Native Claims Settlement
Act.78 So although the Tom decision may have been something of a judi-
cial comet in Oregon, flaming out soon after it appeared, its progeny
lived on in Alaska. It is not difficult to see how a British official who was
becoming disenchanted with treaty making might find its conclusions
comforting.

iv. the oregon connection

Was Douglas comforted? Did he even know about the Tom decision?
There is reason to believe that he did. He had been a justice of the peace
for the Indian Territories since the 1830s, and he had lived and worked
in Oregon for nearly twenty years before permanently transferring to
Fort Victoria in 1849. During this period he had become increasingly
involved in civil governance and with issues regarding land. He also col-
lected newspaper articles, including ones on law, and as early as 1837
he began compiling detailed notes on preemption rights and on various
departments of the U.S. government.79 The HBC and its officers were
prominent landowners in Oregon, so it would have been their business
to inform themselves in this way, especially when the trickle of land-
hungry American pioneers coming over the Oregon Trail became a
flood.

President John Tyler sent the first federal Indian agent, Dr. Elijah
White, to Oregon in 1842, and Douglas and Chief Factor John McLough-
 lin supplied White with men, food, and weapons. They also sent along
Thomas McKay, McLoughlin’s stepson and a man with a formidable
reputation among the tribes, as White’s escort — a move that gave his
initiatives the imprimatur of the HBC.80 These initiatives consisted pri-
marily of a series of “treaties of amity” to regulate trade and intercourse
among the tribes, the HBC, and American economic migrants. The
tribes agreed to punish any of their members who violated these treaties,
and in return White agreed to pay them compensation for allowing
Americans to pass through their territories. He also urged Washington
to “save [the Indians] from being forcibly ejected from the lands and
graves of their forefathers.”81

Foremost among White’s treaties was the “civil compact” that the
HBC had helped him negotiate with the Nez Percé, an arrangement that

“Trespassers on the Soil” 103



the Indians viewed as a declaration of good faith on behalf of the whites
generally.82 This impression can only have been strengthened when in
1844 the recently established Oregon provisional government passed
“an Act in relation to Indians” stating that “such vacant land as [the
Indians] occupy with their villages or other improvements, and such fish-
eries as they have heretofore used,” should be protected.83 It was this
government that Douglas and McLaughlin joined in 1845, after the
region north of the Columbia was constituted a separate county. When
the Organic Act was passed in 1848 to establish Oregon as a federal ter-
ritory, it provided that nothing should affect Indian rights “so long as
such rights remain unextinguished by treaty between the United States
and such Indians.” It also extended the Northwest Ordinance of 1787 to
Oregon, notably the provision that the “utmost good faith shall always
be observed towards the Indians [and] their lands and property shall
never be taken away from them without their consent.”84

Soon after Oregon was divided into counties, Douglas was elected to
a three-year term as senior judge of the County Court for Vancouver, the
region north of the Columbia that the HBC expected to be confirmed as
British. The position involved extensive administrative as well as judicial
responsibilities.85 Douglas therefore would have known that the Indians
of the Pacific Northwest expected treaties. He would have known that
the provisional government had acknowledged that some sort of legal
obligation in this regard existed. And he would have known that the
immediate source of this obligation was U.S. federal Indian law. When
he settled on Vancouver Island, Douglas learned something else: the Indi-
ans there were, if anything, even more jealous of their property rights
than those in Oregon.86

Douglas’s connection with Oregon and Washington did not end when
he moved north. He remained in contact with the governors of both ter-
ritories and with HBC people who had stayed south of the forty-ninth
parallel to retire or to manage the company‘s remaining operations.87

He also continued to oversee these operations, notably those of the Puget
Sound Agricultural Company, an HBC subsidiary. Moreover, others
who had been involved with the Oregon provisional government went
on to hold the sort of office that he would. Peter H. Burnett, for exam-
ple, who had been a member of the Oregon legislature and a judge,
moved to California and became its first governor. In his gubernatorial
message for 1851 he opined that “a war of extermination will continue

104 hamar foster and alan grove



to be waged between the two races until the Indian race becomes
extinct.” Burnett regretted this, but felt that it was “beyond the power
and wisdom of man to avert.”88 Douglas would have been appalled at
such a vision. But what about the suggestion in the Tom case that the law
of Indian title did not apply in the West as it did in the East?

Even if he had never heard of the Royal Proclamation of 1763,  Doug -
las must have arrived on Vancouver Island in1849 knowing that U.S.
law, which was based on British law and practice, required that Indian
title be extinguished. So the instructions he received to purchase the
Indian title on Vancouver Island before allowing settlement would not
have come as a surprise. But he found negotiating treaties increasingly
arduous, and in December 1853 the highest court west of the Rockies
proclaimed that treating before settlement was not required unless com-
pelled by statute.89 A year later, in December 1854, Douglas concluded
the treaty at Nanaimo, and even if he did not find Tom‘s racially based
reasoning appealing, it could have encouraged him to think that he was
not legally obliged to make any more (see the chronology at the end of
this chapter).90 It would of course have been difficult to refuse to com-
plete the negotiations at Nanaimo: the company wanted the coal and
expectations had been raised. But it was his last recognized treaty, and
the timing is, to say the least, interesting.

It is true that eight years after the Tom decision, Douglas sought impe-
rial funding to make a treaty at Cowichan. As scholars such as Tennant
and Harris have pointed out, Douglas was a practical man who sought
practical solutions: in 1861 a treaty may have seemed the only option.
But he resisted as long as he could. When he realized that he could
weather the Cowichan crisis without formalizing these proceedings or
paying for the land, the idea was dropped, even though the written and
oral records suggest that a treaty of some sort was made. This was seen
to be in the interests of the white population at the time, and it set an
important precedent — one that Trutch would soon follow.

Douglas could change course like this because of the difference
between Oregon and British Columbia in the 1850s and 1860s that we
have already noted. Treaty making could not be abandoned in Oregon
because there was a federal government in that country that was deter-
mined to enforce federal law, however compromised the treaties that
resulted might be.91 Until 1871 there was no such law or federal author-
ity in the British possessions to the north.92 There was only a distant
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Colonial Office that by 1860 had relinquished its management of Indian
affairs in Canada and had no intention of assuming real responsibility for
such matters in its colonies on the Pacific coast. As a result, there was no
Caleb Cushing to tell Douglas that selling land at Cowichan without
extinguishing the Indian title was theft. So if Douglas decided that Tom
was a green light, and that he could permit settlement before extin-
guishing the Indian title, he would have been correct in thinking that
there was really no one to gainsay him. Even if he thought that a gener-
ous reservation policy was a fair equivalent, his successors took a rather
different view of what “generous” meant. And until union with Canada
in 1871, there would be no one to challenge them, either.93

There is admittedly no direct evidence that the Tom decision played
a role in this, or even that Douglas knew about it. But as a former judge
and land manager in Oregon, with many sources of information south
of the forty-ninth parallel, he must have known. Even if he did not, the
American influence was even more important later on, when the last
“Douglas treaty” was slipping into history and a different breed of man
came to dominate the colonial government.

v. the spirit of TOM

Joseph William Trutch, viewed by many as the architect of the policy
denying Indian title in B.C., lived and worked in Oregon as a young man.
The territorial surveyor general, John Bower Preston, had hired Trutch
in 1852 as an assistant surveyor, and he was there in 1853 when Tom
was decided. Trutch was by all accounts a man intent on making the
right connections. He soon married Preston’s sister-in-law and after sev-
eral years in Oregon and Illinois he went to B.C., where he displayed a
similar determination to prosper. From 1859 to early 1864 he worked
as an engineer and surveyor, enjoying a series of lucrative government
contracts. He was elected to the Vancouver Island House of Assembly in
1861. Trutch’s long and successful public career really began, however,
when Douglas, in one of his last official acts, made this former Oregon-
ian B.C.’s commissioner of lands and works in April 1864.

By then Trutch was already a well-connected member of the colonial
elite. In 1863 his sister had married Peter O’Reilly, who in 1880 would
become B.C.’s Indian reserve commissioner. Trutch’s position would be
further consolidated in 1870, when his brother John married Zoe Mus-
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grave, the sister of Anthony Musgrave, the governor who shepherded
B.C. into confederation with Canada.94 Trutch was also a friend of
Judge Begbie and Attorney General (later Justice) Henry Pering Pellew
Crease. More important for present purposes, his many friends and cor-
respondents included Judge Mathew P. Deady of the Oregon District
Court, who is important to an understanding of the subsequent career of
Tom. Deady had been a judge since 1853 and regularly sat on the Ninth
Circuit with Circuit Court Judge Lorenzo Sawyer of San Francisco and
U.S. Supreme Court Justice Stephen Field. This would be unremarkable
were it not for the fact that in 1870 Field’s brother, David Dudley Field,
became the father-in-law of Governor Musgrave — who was of course
also related by marriage to Trutch.95 Cascadia was a small world.

Trutch’s surviving letters to Deady deal mainly with personal and
business matters, including letters of introduction for various family
members and business associates.96 Would further research reveal letters
that discuss Indian title? Even if it would not, it is clear from legal his-
torian John McLaren’s work that Canadian and American judges west
of the Rockies consulted one another on other legal matters, notably
those affecting the status of the Chinese.97 Is it not likely that they also
discussed the law of Indian title? And came to a common view? Cer-
tainly there was no doubt in Trutch’s mind that such title was a chimera.
As he said in a letter to Prime Minister John A. Macdonald in 1872, just
as Canada was embarking on treaty making in the Northwest, British
Columbia had never “bought out any Indian claims to land” and to start
now would be to “go back of all that has been done here for 30 years
past.”98 By the 1880s Begbie, who had once urged Douglas to extin-
guish the Indian title on the mainland as soon as possible, was adding a
judicial gloss to this theme in a decision on Indian title that preceded the
case known as Calder v. AGBC by nearly a century.

The occasion was the spectacular clash between missionary William
Duncan and the Church Missionary Society, and one of the issues was
the ownership of two acres of land at Metlakatla. Duncan’s supporters
relied on Indian title, but in his ruling, Begbie wrote that before reserves
are laid out, Indians “have no rights whatever except such as the grace
and intelligent benevolence of the Crown may allow.” To be sure, British
law was never as clear on the point as it might have been. But these sen-
timents do not sound like the Begbie of 1860.99

Whether the Tom decision influenced Douglas and his successors or
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not, the view that treaties were unnecessary prevailed not only in British
Columbia but in Alaska, notwithstanding that they were being made
east of the Rockies and south of the border in Washington and Oregon.
Why? If there is, as we suggest, a legal dimension to this question, the key
to answering it is Deady, whose first judicial appointment was to the ter-
ritorial supreme court when the chief justice of that court was George
Williams. Deady did not sit on the bench that decided Tom, but he and
Williams were friends and “political allies” from the 1850s until Deady’s
death in 1892.100 In 1859, when Oregon became a state, President
James Buchanan appointed Deady a federal district judge, and in 1864,
Williams was elected to the U.S. Senate. In 1872, President Ulysses S.
Grant made Williams U.S. attorney general.101 In that same year, and
only two months after Trutch advised Prime Minister Macdonald that
it would be to “go back on” all that had been done in B.C. if treaties
were made, Deady decided the first of his Alaska “Indian Country”
cases.102

The facts of United States v. Seveloff are basically those of Tom.103

Ferveta Seveloff, a “Sitka Creole,” had been charged with selling liquor
to “one John Doe, an Indian,” and sent south to Portland to be tried by
Deady.104 Because the statute under which Seveloff had been charged
was the 1834 Indian Trade and Intercourse Act, the defence made the
same objection to the indictment that defence counsel in Tom had made,
but with more success. Deady acquitted Seveloff and ruled that Alaska
— like Oregon — was not part of the United States in 1834 and was there-
fore not Indian country.105

Deady would use Tom and what we have called the “spirit” of Tom
in three more decisions to confirm his conclusion that unless the U.S.
Congress explicitly legislated otherwise, Alaska was not Indian country.
He did this even after the U.S. Supreme Court ruled in the landmark case
of Ex Parte Crow Dog that all the territory described in the 1834 act as
Indian country “remains Indian country so long as Indians retain their
original title to the soil.” If that were not clear enough, the Court added
that the definition in the 1834 act “now applies to all the country to
which the Indian title has not been extinguished within the limits of the
United States, even when not within a reservation expressly set apart for
the exclusive occupancy of Indians, although much of it has been
acquired since the passage of the Act of 1834.”106 Yet, in the case of Kie
v. United States, Deady suggested that the “anomalous condition of
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Alaska was probably not considered by the [Supreme] Court.” He ruled
that because Russia had not made treaties and the United States had pur-
chased Alaska from the Russians, this act extinguished the Indian title.
In other words he stuck to his guns: Alaska was not Indian country.107

Deady’s view prevailed: no treaties were made.
The provincial authorities in British Columbia during this period were

likewise convinced of the anomalous condition of their province, and
they did little to prevent settlers from preempting Indian lands before
the reserve commission could allot reserves. They also never tired of
asserting B.C.’s uniqueness when Ottawa complained about its hetero-
dox Indian policy.108 As a consequence, in both Alaska and British
Columbia the law of Aboriginal title was suspended. Indeed, the debate
about whether the Indian Trade and Intercourse Act of 1834 automati-
cally applied in newly acquired territory such as Oregon and Alaska
strikingly resembles the debate in Canada over whether the Royal Procla-
mation of 1763 “followed the flag” to British Columbia.109 It is true
that dominion politicians and officials often grumbled about the intran-
sigence of the B.C. government and muttered occasionally about making
treaties or at least submitting the issue to court. But it in the end the
dominion government did neither.110 Nor did it do what the U.S. Con-
gress had done in Oregon — that is, pass a statute requiring that treaties
be made.111 Canada’s fragile confederation was not about to be imper-
iled over an issue such as Indian title.

The fact is that legally B.C. was surrounded: it had Tom to the south
of it and Seveloff to the north, both stating that in the absence of con-
trary legislation Cascadia was not Indian country. Thus if we are cor-
rect in thinking that the spirit of Tom was influential, it seems
reasonable to wonder whether B.C.’s rogue Indian policy might  rep -
resent “the farthest extension of US Indian law into Canada.”112 Cer-
tainly the settler population and their representatives were sympathetic
to the sort of views expressed by the judges in Tom, and insofar as Abo-
riginal title was concerned, these views became in effect the law of
British Columbia for more than a hundred years. As a result, there were
no treaties extinguishing the Indian title, and reserve allotments could
not be adequately carried out because so much land came into the hands
of settlers before the reserve commissioners could act. The question of
title was deferred and denied until by the 1990s it could no longer be
avoided.
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vi. trespassers on the soil

Trutch was a man likely to be attracted by the idea, first expressed in
Tom and but given important legal force in Seveloff, that whatever mil-
itated against the interests of a white population could not be law. Did
he tell Douglas that land could be sold to settlers without worrying about
extinguishing the Indian title? Or did Douglas, who presided over just
such a process at Cowichan, reach that conclusion on his own? It would
not have been difficult. According to the Tom decision, Oregon was not
Indian country, and by 1858 not only Vancouver Island but also the
mainland had been withdrawn from the “Indian territories” as defined
by the imperial parliament.113 And what did Begbie mean when he said
at Douglas’s retirement dinner that he had disagreed with the governor
“in almost every point of public policy”?114 Did these disagreements
include the fact that in 1860 he had advised Douglas to extinguish the
Indian title on the mainland, and this had not been done? If so, Begbie
eventually came on side.

In the absence of documentation establishing that colonial authorities
were aware of and impressed by cases such as Tom, the influence of Ore-
gon law on the premature end of treaty making on Vancouver Island —
and its complete absence on the mainland — can only be guessed at. But
it seems almost inconceivable that Douglas and Trutch, with their strong
Oregon connections, would not have known about these developments.
And it is, at the very least, interesting that the last recognized Douglas
treaty was signed within a year of the decision in Tom, and that by the
1870s, Judge Deady and Lieutenant Governor Trutch were applying sim-
ilar reasoning to Alaska and British Columbia.

It is certainly true that there were other factors at work. Before the
gold rushes the number of settlers in the area was disappointing, and
Douglas was always reluctant to buy Indian land too far in advance of
settlement because he believed that the Indians would not regard such
arrangements as binding. Eventually, it seems, he decided that he did not
have to buy the land at all. It may be that this was simply pragmatism.
But if this experienced property manager and former county court judge
was aware of U.S. federal Indian law and its roots in British law and
practice, perhaps he saw in Tom an exception that applied in B.C. —
whatever the situation might be in Oregon.
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Even if Tom did not have an immediate effect on Indian policy in
B.C., what about later on? In 1872, when Judge Deady invoked the
case as a precedent for deciding that Alaska was not Indian country,
Ottawa was just discovering that its brand-new province was not about
to let reserve allocation interfere with white immigration. Nor would
B.C. countenance any revival of the treaty process: Trutch told Mac-
donald this in 1872, and B.C. politicians kept repeating it until 1990.
By 1886, Judge Begbie was even proclaiming in his Metlakatla decision
that “no proposition . . . could be more decisively or clearly consis-
tently established than this, that . . . Indians (not being enfranchised)
had no rights to the land” other than occupation “at the will of the
Crown.”115 He stated that this was also the law in the United States —
“whose law is founded on ours.” But he declined to cite any U.S. prece-
dents, and counsel for the defendants apparently had fewer than
twenty-four hours to prepare.116 So the decision was hardly a well-
considered one.

Brushing aside the contrary opinions of the dominion minister of jus-
tice, the governor general, and a prominent local cleric as political and
mischievous “all round,” Begbie concluded that it was the right of every
civilized power . . . to occupy and settle in a country utterly barba -
rous.”117 The following year, missionary William Duncan and his
Tsimshian followers left Metlakatla and moved across the line to estab-
lish New Metlakatla in Alaska. Of course, Alaska wasn’t “Indian coun-
try,” either; Deady had seen to that. But there were very few settlers
there, and the Americans were prepared to give Duncan the land he
wanted.118 Was Begbie’s view of U.S. law influenced by Deady?

The fact is that by the 1870s and 1880s relations between the elites
in B.C. and the western United States were even closer than they had
been in the 1850s. As we have already argued, Trutch and Deady are
key figures. Trutch had been in Oregon when the legal test of “the true
interests of a white population” was first promulgated in 1853, and he
remained at the center of B.C.’s Indian Land Question until he retired
in 1889. He was chief commissioner of lands and works from 1864
until confederation and B.C.’s first lieutenant governor from 1871 to
1876. In 1880 he became the dominion’s agent in B.C., with particu-
lar responsibility for the railway. Trutch also advised on Indian land
matters, kept in touch with Deady, and even influenced the appoint-
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ment of his brother-in-law, Peter O’Reilly, as Indian reserve commis-
sioner.

For his part, Deady was acquainted with many prominent British
Columbians. In 1873 he visited Victoria and met with Dr. William Fraser
Tolmie, whom he knew from his Oregon days.119 In 1880 he decided
that it was time to see Alaska, the territory over which his court had
exercised jurisdiction since 1868, and on his way he stopped again in
Victoria, where he met with Trutch, O’Reilly, and Justice John Hamil-
ton Gray. Deady also went to see coal baron Robert Dunsmuir at
Nanaimo before proceeding to Sitka.120 On the return journey he
stopped again, playing billiards at the Union Club with Justice Gray and
Chief Justice Begbie and traveling to New Westminster with Trutch. He
also went to church with Begbie and watched him play cricket at Beacon
Hill Park. Over dinner with Mr. and Mrs. Trutch, who had visited him
in Portland in the summer of 1876, Deady and his hosts “went over all
the old people of Oregon.”121 He socialized with various other members
of B.C.’s ruling elite during this visit, and there was one particularly
evocative moment when Deady met Begbie and Justice Henry Pering
Pellew Crease at their chambers in the courthouse. As he records in his
diary, “I [put] on the latter’s gown and wig and sat in the [Chief Jus-
tice’s] seat and was much complimented on my judicial appearance.”122

He then made at short tour of the interior with Trutch, and visited Vic-
toria at least once more, in 1890, when he met with Trutch and Begbie
for what was probably the last time.123

Of course, none of this proves a direct link between Deady’s jurispru-
dence and B.C. Indian land policy. People can know each other and share
views without conspiring together, particularly when the law of Indian
title in British North America was unsettled. Equally, what lawyers and
judges believe the law to be may not always be as important as what the
public, the media, and government officials think it is, especially when
any appeal to higher authority is unlikely. But surely it is not unreason-
able to suggest that these men discussed Indian title and commiserated
about what they saw as ill-advised federal Indian policy in both their
countries.124 They may not have agreed on everything, but as McLaren
has argued in the context of the anti-Chinese discrimination cases, “the
commonality of belief and perception” among the B.C. and Oregon
judges is striking.125 Perhaps they also sought a common approach to
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Indian title in Alaska and British Columbia, where the turmoil at  Metla -
katla — and on the Nass and Skeena rivers — could not be contained by
a flimsy international border. Old and New Metlakatla are after all only
seventy miles apart.

The approach that Begbie and Deady adopted may have sat uneasily
with the law laid down elsewhere — most explicitly in U.S. Supreme Court
jurisprudence — but it managed to stop just short of openly confronting
it. Deady justified his rulings by distinguishing such cases as Crow
Dog.126 Begbie simply did not refer to contrary precedent, and his Met-
lakatla decision is unreported, even today. Both judges also benefited
from the fact that, at least for the time being, the possibility of an appeal
with respect to Indian title was slim to nil.127 And, as B.C.’s confedera-
tion debates reveal, by the 1870s there was a marked official reluctance
to discuss the details of Indian policy in public, a reluctance that may
possibly have contributed to the elusive record on this point.128 The
result, as we have suggested, is that B.C., like Alaska, went its own way.

There is no better illustration of this point than the Calder case itself.
When it came before the Court of Appeal in 1971, one of the justices
made it clear that whatever the law in New Zealand or the United States
might be, it was not the law in British Columbia. And another unwit-
tingly turned delegate Samuel Thurston’s proposition on its head. Not -
withstanding the absence of treaties extinguishing Aboriginal title in the
province, he said, it was not the settlers but the Indians who in law were
trespassers on the soil.129 Two years later Canada’s Supreme Court Jus-
tice Emmett Hall described this as “a proposition which reason itself
repudiates.”130 But it was nonetheless an accurate summary of a century
of law and policy. Had he been aware of United States v. Tom, Hall
could have added that it was a proposition that found its first judicial
expression on the West Coast in 1853.

Until now, the question of why the treaty process ended so prema-
turely in British Columbia has been addressed in terms of finances and
policy. The role of the law has been neglected or discounted, and most
Canadian scholars have proceeded as if the neighbouring U.S. territories
and legal developments there are not particularly relevant to what hap-
pened in Canada. In this essay we have endeavored to show that they are
relevant, and that whether our speculations are close to the mark or not,
the need to look beyond Canada’s borders in such matters is clear.
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select chronology

1763 The Royal Proclamation (King George III) (United Kingdom)
1787 The Northwest Ordinance (United States)
1818 The Treaty of Joint Occupation (United States and Great Britain)
1834 The Indian Trade and Intercourse Act (United States)
1843 The Oregon Provisional Government is formed, and Fort Victoria 

is established.
1844 An Act in Relation to Indians (Oregon Provisional Government)
1845 James Douglas is elected to the Vancouver County Court in Oregon.
1846 The Treaty of Washington ends the joint occupation of Oregon.

Washington, Oregon, Alaska Vancouver Island, B.C.

1848 The Oregon Territory The colony of Vancouver Island
is established. is established.

1850 The U.S. Congress enacts the Douglas makes nine treaties.
Donation Act, extends the 1834
act to Oregon, and treaty making 
begins.

Douglas makes two treaties.
1853 Indian wars in Oregon; 

Washington Territory is carved 
out of Oregon; United States v. 
Tom is decided.

1854 Indian wars in Oregon Last recorded treaty at Nanaimo
1855 Indian wars in Washington 

and Oregon
1856 Indian wars in Washington 

and Oregon
1858 Indian wars in eastern Washington The colony of British Columbia is

established. 
1860 Begbie advises Douglas that 

Indian title must be 
extinguished.

1862 The United States purchases The Cowichan “treaty” is made.
Alaska from Russia.

1872 United States v. Seveloff (Deady) Trutch advises Ottawa that
is decided. treaties should not be made in

British Columbia.
1886 Kie v. United States (Deady) AG and Nash v. Tait (Begbie)

is decided.
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money spent on colonization when its grant expired.

43. Papers Connected to the Land Question, at 10 of the supplement, enclosure
in Musgrave to Granville, 29 January 1870.
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118. Accounts of the events leading to Duncan’s departure for Alaska may be
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128. Foster, “Letting Go the Bone,” 57– 58.
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4 The Boldt Decision in Canada

aboriginal treaty rights to fish on the pacific

Douglas C. Harris

128

The Oregon Treaty of 1846 established the forty-ninth parallel as
the boundary between British and American interests in western
North America. Described in treaty text and drawn on a map in

a distant capital, this international border severed Aboriginal worlds that
at the time were largely oblivious to the remote geopolitical maneuver-
ings of two imperial powers. Eventually the border would constrain the
movement of people whose lives spanned it, in some cases restricting or
eliminating access to important resource procurement and village sites,
and also to markets on its other side.1 More immediately, after 1846
those to the north of the border negotiated with the British Crown the
terms of their coexistence with incoming settlers, those to its south with
the United States. As a result, while some of the Coast Salish and
Kwak�waka�wakw peoples in what would become British Columbia con-
cluded treaties between 1850 and 1854 with the Crown’s representative,
James Douglas, the tribes in the United States settled with the governor
of the Washington territory, Isaac I. Stevens, in 1854 and 1855.

In the Douglas and the Stevens treaties, as the agreements came to be
known, Britain and the United States sought to extinguish Aboriginal
rights and title and to replace them with a defined set of treaty rights.
These treaty rights included monetary payment and guarantees of
reserved land, hunting rights, and fishing rights.2 The fisheries provi-



sions in the written text of the treaties were short. The Douglas treaties
reserved to Aboriginal peoples the right to “their fisheries as formerly”;3

the Stevens treaties provided that “the right of taking fish at usual and
accustomed grounds and stations is further secured to said Indians in
common with all citizens of the Territory.”4

This essay focuses on the relationship between U.S. and Canadian
judicial interpretations of these treaty rights to fish. In the first two sec-
tions the essay describes the rulings in United States v. Washington
(known as “the Boldt decision”)5 and Washington v. Washington State
Commercial Passenger Fishing Vessel Association (Passenger Fishing
Vessel).6 It then explores the impact of these two cases from the United
States on the general development of Aboriginal and treaty rights in
Canada. Although not widely cited in Canadian courts, the U.S. deci-
sions have had a profound influence on Canadian Aboriginal law.7 In
particular, the priority that Canadian courts accord to conservation and
then to the Aboriginal food fisheries, before commercial and sport fish-
eries, is closely correlated with the fishing rights framework established
in the Boldt decision. In addition, the idea that treaty rights to fish entail
a right to a moderate livelihood, now well established in Canada, comes
directly from the U.S. Supreme Court’s interpretation of the Stevens
treaties in Passenger Fishing Vessel.

The third part of the essay considers the historical evidence pertain-
ing to fishing rights in the Douglas treaties and suggests various inter-
pretations. Finally, it turns to the Boldt decision and away from
Passenger Fishing Vessel to offer the outlines of a reasonable judicial
determination of treaty rights to fish in British Columbia. The question
remains whether these U.S. decisions provide useful guidance for the
interpretation of the fishing rights provision in the Douglas treaties. The
difference in legal jurisdictions certainly limits their applicability, but
Canadian courts are more inclined to consider decisions from other juris-
dictions than are their U.S. counterparts. In the area of Aboriginal law
Canadian courts frequently refer to U.S. Supreme Court Chief Justice
John Marshall’s nineteenth-century trilogy and many later Indian and
treaty rights cases as well.8

Beyond case law, the fact that many fish — including salmon, halibut,
and herring — traverse the international boundary suggests that courts
should pay some attention to judicial pronouncements from its other
side. Moreover, except for the two treaties with the Kwak�waka�wakw
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at the north end of Vancouver Island, the fisheries covered by the Doug-
las treaties are in Coast Salish territory, as are the Stevens treaties
around Puget Sound. Douglas and Stevens negotiated with peoples who
shared a cultural heritage and an economic base in the fisheries that
long preceded the Canada-U.S. border in western North America.9 They
also share a broadly similar history of lost access to their fisheries, at
least until the Boldt decision.10 For these reasons, and for the simple
fact that the fishing rights under the Stevens treaties have received more
legal and scholarly attention than the fishing rights under the Douglas
treaties, the U.S. decisions are a relevant and important resource in
determining the division and management of the fisheries in British
Columbia.

UNITED STATES V. WASHINGTON (the boldt decision)

In 1970 the U.S. government and several tribal governments sued the
State of Washington for its repeated harassment of Indian fishers and its
disregard for the fishing rights in the Stevens treaties. The treaties pro-
vided that “the right of taking fish at usual and accustomed grounds and
stations is further secured to said Indians in common with all citizens of
the Territory.”11 From the advent of an industrial commercial fishery
on the Pacific Coast in the last quarter of the nineteenth century, the
state, which has jurisdiction over fisheries in state waters, maintained
that the treaties did little more than permit tribe members to participate
individually in the fisheries on the same terms as the rest of the public.
The federal government disagreed. It presented extensive historical and
anthropological evidence to the court to establish that although the tribes
had ceded land under the treaties, they had reserved to themselves exten-
sive off-reservation fishing rights, including the right to a substantial
share of the fish that returned to the tribes’ “usual and accustomed” fish-
ing places.12 Given this divergence of opinion, all the parties understood
U.S. v. Washington to be an important test case, meant to settle issues
unresolved after several earlier judicial interpretations of treaty fishing
rights.13

The principal rulings in the ensuing decision, released on February 12,
1974, involved the allocation and management of the fisheries. First, Judge
George Boldt held that the treaty right to fish “in common” amounted to
a right to catch up to 50 percent of the harvestable anadromous fish
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(salmon and steelhead) at “usual and accustomed” tribal fisheries: “‘In
common with’ means sharing equally the opportunity to take fish at
‘usual and accustomed grounds and stations’; therefore, non-treaty fish-
ermen shall have the opportunity to take up to 50% of the harvestable
number of fish that may be taken by all fishermen at usual and accus-
tomed grounds and stations and treaty right fishermen shall have the
opportunity to take up to the same percentage of harvestable fish.”14

By “harvestable” Judge Boldt meant commercially harvestable; the fish-
eries were to be divided equally after accounting for conservation
requirements and the needs of the Indian ceremonial and subsistence
fishery. Ceremonial and subsistence fishing, he wrote, had “a special
treaty significance distinct from and superior to the taking of fish for
commercial purposes.”15

Judge Boldt also held that the tribes had the right to manage their off-
reservation fisheries, and he set out the terms under which that respon-
sibility might be assumed. Two tribes — the Quinault and the Yakima —
could assume jurisdiction immediately because of their existing fisheries
management experience, the others when they had established the capac-
ity to do so. The state had the right to regulate the off-reservation treaty
right to fish but only to the extent necessary to ensure the preservation
of the species: “The fishing right was reserved by the Indians and cannot
be qualified by the state. The state has police power to regulate off reser-
vation fishing only to the extent reasonable and necessary for conserva-
tion of the resource. For this purpose, conservation is defined to mean
perpetuation of the fisheries species. Additionally the state must not dis-
criminate against the Indians, and must meet appropriate due process
standards.”16 In other words the treaty right to fish had priority over the
state’s right to manage the fishery, with the one exception that the state
might limit the treaty right in order to preserve and sustain the fisheries.
However, the state had to achieve its conservation objectives legitimately
and fairly; it could not discriminate against the Indians by imposing con-
servation burdens so that others might fish.

The Boldt decision outraged many non-Aboriginal fishers, who turned
to protest and civil disobedience but also to the state courts.17 In 1977
the Washington Supreme Court held that Judge Boldt’s interpretation
of the treaties, by allocating the right to catch up to half of the com-
mercial fisheries to a small proportion of the population (treaty Indians),
violated the equal rights protection in the U.S. Constitution.18 In this
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context of legal and political turmoil, Judge Boldt assumed continuing
oversight of the implementation of his ruling.

Then in 1979, on appeal from the cases in the state courts, the U.S.
Supreme Court largely confirmed the Boldt decision. However, in Pas-
senger Fishing Vessel the Supreme Court altered the original decision in
two ways: it held that the 50 percent allocation was to include the tribal
ceremonial and subsistence fishery (rather than calculated after account-
ing for that fishery) and 50 percent was the maximum allocation (not
the minimum). If the ability of tribal members to secure a “moderate liv-
ing” from the fishery required fewer fish, then the treaty right could be
honored with an allocation of less than 50 percent. The Supreme Court
offered no legal or historical basis for limiting the right to a level that
supported a “moderate livelihood” — a ruling that has not been widely
adopted in U.S. Indian treaty interpretation19 but, according to the
Court, was central to the decision:

The central principle here must be that Indian treaty rights to a natural

resource that once was thoroughly and exclusively exploited by the Indians

secures so much as, but no more than, is necessary to provide the Indians

with a livelihood — that is to say, a moderate living. Accordingly, while the

maximum possible allocation to the Indians is fixed at 50%, the minimum is

not; the latter will . . . be modified in response to changing circumstances. If,

for example, a tribe should dwindle to just a few members, or if it should find

other sources of support that lead it to abandon its fisheries, a 45% or 50%

allocation of an entire run that passes through its customary fishing grounds

would be manifestly inappropriate because the livelihood of the tribe under

these circumstances could not reasonably require an allotment of a large num-

ber of fish.20

Although measures to implement the treaty rights were contested after
the Supreme Court decision, the basic parameters had been established.
Under the Stevens treaties Indian tribes had a right to catch up to 50 per-
cent of the harvestable fish at usual and accustomed places in order to
secure for their members a “moderate living”; if that could be achieved
with fewer fish, then the entitlement would be reduced. Once they had
demonstrated the capacity to manage the fisheries, Indian tribes were to
assume jurisdiction over their fisheries. The Washington Fisheries and
Game departments had the capacity to limit the treaty right, but only
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for the purpose of ensuring the continuing viability of the resource. Con-
servation measures could not discriminate against Indians.

from the boldt decision to JACK, SPARROW,
GLADSTONE, and MARSHALL

Within three weeks after the U.S. Supreme Court’s 1979 decision in Pas-
senger Fishing Vessel, the Supreme Court of Canada released its deci-
sion in Regina v. Jack.21 It was the first foray of that Court into
Aboriginal fishing rights in British Columbia, although the members of
the Cowichan Tribes who were charged with Fisheries Act offenses did
not raise an Aboriginal or treaty rights defense. The Cowichan, a Coast
Salish community on eastern Vancouver Island, were not party to the
Douglas treaties, and the entrenchment of Aboriginal and treaty rights
in the Canadian constitution was still three years away.22 The Cowichan
therefore relied on the colonial policy not to interfere with Aboriginal
fisheries and on the federal government’s commitment in the terms of
union with British Columbia, when it assumed responsibility for Indians
and fisheries in British Columbia in 1871, that it would continue “a pol-
icy as liberal as that hitherto pursued by the British Columbia govern-
ment” in its management of Indian affairs.23

The Jack decision turned on the details of Canadian federalism,
whereas the Boldt decision involved an interpretation of treaty rights in
Washington State. It is hardly surprising therefore that the Supreme
Court of Canada did not refer to the U.S. case. However, two basic prin-
ciples outlined in the Boldt decision — that the government with juris-
diction over the fisheries might limit the exercise of the treaty right to fish
only for conservation purposes, and that the Indian food and ceremonial
fishery had priority over other fisheries — reappeared in the Canadian
decision. The majority dismissed the Cowichan defense, rejecting the
argument that the terms of union inhibited or limited Canada’s juris-
diction over Aboriginal fisheries. Justice Brian Dickson concurred in the
result, although for very different reasons.

Justice Dickson found that “the colony [of British Columbia] gave
priority to the Indian fishery as an appropriate pursuit for the coastal
Indians, primarily for food purposes and, to a lesser extent, for barter
purposes with white residents.”24 Therefore, because the federal gov-
ernment assumed responsibility for Indians and fisheries in British
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Columbia and undertook to treat the former as liberally as the colonial
government had done, it had to recognize the priority of the Indian fish-
eries. However, this priority was subject to the overriding goal of con-
servation, and Justice Dickson adopted the following priority scheme:
“(i) conservation; (ii) Indian fishing; (iii) non-Indian commercial fishing,
or (iv) non-Indian sports fishing.” The priority of the Indian fishery, he
continued, “is at its strongest when we speak of Indian fishing for food
purposes, but somewhat weaker when we come to local commercial pur-
poses. If there are to be limitations upon the taking of salmon here, then
those limitations must not bear more heavily upon the Indian fishery
than the other forms of the fishery.”25 The proposition that an Indian
food fishery had priority and that the federal Department of Fisheries
might have to justify its regulation of the Indian fisheries on the basis of
conservation were important developments — ones that bore a distinct
resemblance to the ruling in the Boldt decision.

Eleven years later the Supreme Court of Canada, then led by Chief
Justice Dickson, would develop this priority scheme in Regina v. Spar-
row, the case that would become the cornerstone in the interpretation of
Aboriginal rights in Canada.26 In Sparrow the Court held that the
Musqueam, a Coast Salish community at the mouth of the Fraser River
and not party to the Douglas treaties, had an “aboriginal right to fish for
food and social and ceremonial purposes.”27 Chief Justice Dickson and
Justice Gérard La Forest then applied the priority scheme first outlined
in Jack to infuse the right with content. In practice, the right provided
that “if, in a given year, conservation needs required a reduction in the
number of fish to be caught such that the number equalled the number
required for food by the Indians, then all the fish available after conser-
vation would go to the Indians according to the constitutional nature of
their fishing right. If, more realistically, there were still fish after the
Indian food requirements were met, then the brunt of conservation meas-
ures would be borne by the practices of sport and commercial fishing.”28

Thus, after conservation the Indian food fishery had priority. But con-
servation was, in the Court’s words, a “compelling and substantial”
objective that would justify the federal government’s infringement of an
Aboriginal right to fish.29 To this extent, the judgment mirrored the
Boldt decision without citing it.

However, Canada’s Supreme Court went further, suggesting that the
federal government might have other objectives, such as the prevention
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of harm, that might justify infringing an Aboriginal right. The standard
was high; the “public interest,” for example, was too vague and uncer-
tain an objective to justify limiting a constitutional right.30 This con-
straint on the Crown’s capacity to infringe Aboriginal and treaty rights
marks an important difference between Canadian and U.S. law. While
federal power to abrogate Indian treaty rights in the United States is
nearly unconstrained,31 if seldom exercised, in Canada the federal gov-
ernment’s capacity to limit Aboriginal and treaty rights has been reduced
since those rights were entrenched in the constitution in 1982. As a
result, in Sparrow the Supreme Court held that the federal government
must justify its infringement of an Aboriginal right by establishing a com-
pelling and substantial objective (such as conservation), and that its
actions in pursuing that objective reflect the honor of the Crown in its
relationship with Aboriginal peoples.32

In Sparrow the Supreme Court did not address the priority of an Abo-
riginal right to a commercial fishery. Justice Dickson had hinted in Jack
that it would be less secure, and the Court confirmed this approach six
years later in the case of Regina v. Gladstone.33 In that case Chief  Justice
Antonio Lamer, writing for the majority, concluded that the Heiltsuk
had an Aboriginal right to a commercial herring-spawn-on-kelp fishery.
This right, he continued, conferred priority but not exclusivity.34 As 
a result, the federal government might justifiably infringe the right to 
a commercial fishery not only for conservation purposes, but also to
 pursue policies of “economic and regional fairness” or to recognize 
“the historical reliance upon, and participation in, the fishery by non-
 aboriginal groups.”35

These objectives were too broad for some members of the Court. Jus-
tice Beverley McLachlin replied in Regina v. Vander Peet, a decision the
Supreme Court released with Gladstone, that Chief Justice Lamer’s test,
which required a balancing of social policy objectives against constitu-
tional rights, was “indeterminate and ultimately more political than
legal.”36 In rejecting Chief Justice Lamer’s approach, Justice McLachlin
defined the right to a commercial fishery much less expansively, sug-
gesting that “the Aboriginal right to trade in herring spawn on kelp from
the Bella Bella region is limited to such trade as secures the modern
equivalent of sustenance: the basics of food, clothing and housing, sup-
plemented by a few amenities.”37 Similarly, in her dissenting opinion in
Vander Peet, Justice Claire L’Heureux-Dubé constructed the commercial
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fishing right as “an Aboriginal right to sell, trade and barter fish for liveli-
hood, support and sustenance purposes.”38 These dissenting opinions
defined the right more narrowly and thus avoided Chief Justice Lamer’s
expansive understanding of what might justify infringing an Aboriginal
right. However, the basis for this narrower interpretation is unclear.
Chief Justice Lamer responded that “the evidence in this case [Gladstone]
does not justify limiting the right to harvest herring spawn on kelp on a
commercial basis to, for example, the sale of herring spawn on kelp for
the purposes of obtaining a ‘moderate livelihood.’”39

The definitions in the dissenting opinions of Justices McLachlin and
L’Heureux-Dubé of Aboriginal rights to commercial fisheries as securing
the “modern equivalent of sustenance” or “livelihood, support and sus-
tenance” were new developments in the Supreme Court of Canada. They
derive from the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision in Passenger Fishing Ves-
sel, although through reference to the dissenting opinion of Justice Doug-
las Lambert in the British Columbia Court of Appeal rather than to the
U.S. cases themselves. In Vander Peet Justice Lambert described the Abo-
riginal right to the salmon fishery fish as securing the right to “a mod-
erate livelihood” from that fishery, and he acknowledged Passenger
Fishing Vessel as his source.40

In the context of Aboriginal rights, therefore, the right to fish for food
is broadly established following Sparrow. However, each First Nation
must establish the right to a commercial fishery independently. Where
established (and to this point only the Heiltsuk in Gladstone have suc-
cessfully established such a right, and only for their herring spawn-on-
kelp fishery), the commercial right is expansive, although subject to
broad federal powers to infringe that right. The dissenting approach —
to define the rights in terms of a moderate livelihood — has not been
adopted.

In the context of treaty rights (as distinct from Aboriginal rights) to
fish, however, the moderate livelihood standard is well established in
Canada. Again, although the Canadian rulings have not included direct
citations, it is plain that this understanding originates in the U.S.
Supreme Court’s interpretation of the Stevens treaties in Passenger Fish-
ing Vessel. In Regina v. Marshall, for example, the Mi�kmaq of Nova
Scotia contested a prosecution on the grounds that they had a treaty
right to fish derived from an eighteenth-century agreement with the
British. The Supreme Court of Canada agreed in 1999 but limited the
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commercial right to fish to that which secured the “equivalent to a mod-
erate livelihood”; the right did “not extend to the open-ended accumu-
lation of wealth.”41 Justice Ian Binnie, who wrote for the majority,
tracked the lineage of the “moderate livelihood” definition of the right
from Justice Lambert in the B.C. Court of Appeal to Justices McLachlin
and L’Heureux Dubé in Gladstone and Vander Peet.42 He did not cite
the American antecedents, but their incorporation through Justice Lam-
bert, who dealt with them at length, seems clear.43

In sum, the principles articulated in the interpretation of the Stevens
treaties are a significant presence in the interpretation of Aboriginal and
treaty rights to fish in Canada, even if the U.S. decisions are seldom cited.
Given the importance of fishing rights to the articulation of Aboriginal
and treaty rights in general, the impact of these principles has been per-
vasive. With this legal framework established, the question remains how
the courts will interpret the fisheries clause in the Douglas treaties. That
will turn, at least in part, on the historical evidence.

“fisheries as formerly”

The agreements known as the Douglas treaties are the fourteen land pur-
chases from Aboriginal peoples on Vancouver Island made between
1850 and 1854 by James Douglas, the Hudson’s Bay Company’s (HBC)
chief trader and eventual governor of the colonies of Vancouver Island
and mainland British Columbia. They followed the British grant in 1849
of Vancouver Island to the HBC as a proprietary colony for the pur-
poses of settlement. The purchases were limited to the land around the
fort at Victoria, the Saanich Peninsula, the future townsite of Nanaimo
midway up the island, and land around Fort Rupert near the island’s
north eastern end. (See map 4.1.) With the exception in 1899 of Treaty
8 covering the northeast corner of British Columbia, the Douglas treaties
marked the beginning and the end of a treaty process and of the formal
recognition of Aboriginal title in the province until the 1990s.

Much has been written about why Douglas undertook these pur-
chases on Vancouver Island and why he did not continue them. It seems
that recognition of a legal requirement to extinguish Aboriginal title 
was an important part of his motivation for beginning the process, but
ebbing enthusiasm for treaties in the Colonial Office in London reduced
the incentive to continue the process when other interests intervened.   
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map 4.1 Boundaries of the Douglas Treaties, 1850– 54. The treaty process did

not continue beyond 1854, leaving the issue of Native title unresolved on the

rest of Vancouver Island and throughout most of the mainland colony of British

Columbia. source : The treaty boundaries were adapted from information

available in the Government of Canada’s Directory of Federal Real Property

(http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/dfrp-rbif/treaty-traite.asp?Language=EN).



Historical geographer Cole Harris has emphasized Douglas’s pragma-
tism, born of a lifetime in the fur trade, suggesting that he was less con-
cerned about theories of Indian land policy and even of the law of
Aboriginal title than about finding workable solutions for Native and
European coexistence.44 Legal historians Hamar Foster and Alan Grove
speculate that the decision of an Oregon court to deny the existence of
Aboriginal title, discredited in Oregon and Washington but picked up
later in Alaska, may also have influenced Douglas and his successor in
the formation of colonial land policy, Commissioner of Lands Joseph
Trutch, who was openly hostile to the idea of Aboriginal title.45

The legal standing of Aboriginal title may have been fragile enough 
in the mid-nineteenth century that colonial authorities were prepared 
to ignore it, but there was less doubt about the existence of specific
 Aboriginal rights, particularly rights to hunt and fish. Moreover, pro-
tecting these rights, on which Aboriginal economies depended, fit
 Douglas’s pragmatism. Aboriginal peoples’ hunting could coexist with
non- Aboriginal ownership, if not use and occupation, of the land, and
the fishery could be secured without much impact on the land available
for incoming settlers. In anticipation of the treaties, Douglas wrote to
the HBC that he “would strongly recommend, equally as a matter of
justice, and from regard to the future peace of the colony, that the Indi-
ans Fishere’s [sic], Village Sitis [sic] and Fields, should be reserved for
their benifit [sic] and fully secured to them by law.”46 HBC secretary
Archibald Barclay, in setting out the company’s obligations and policy
toward Aboriginal peoples on Vancouver Island, instructed Douglas that
the “right of fishing and hunting will be continued to them.”47

On the basis of these instructions, Douglas entered negotiations with
the tribes on southern Vancouver Island. After minimal discussions (of
which no minutes were kept), Douglas asked the chiefs to place X’s on
blank sheets of paper. Following the conclusion of the first nine agree-
ments at Fort Victoria between April 29 and May 1, 1850, Douglas
wrote to the HBC to explain his understanding of what had transpired:
“I informed the natives that they would not be disturbed in the posses-
sion of their Village sites and enclosed fields, which are of small extent,
and that they were at liberty to hunt over unoccupied lands, and to carry
on their fisheries with the same freedom as when they were the sole occu-
pants of the country.”48 He forwarded the “signatures” of the chiefs
and asked that the HBC supply the proper conveyancing instrument to

The Boldt Decision in Canada 139



which the signatures could be attached. Several months later Barclay
replied, approving the agreements and sending a template, based on 
New Zealand precedents, that would become the text of the Douglas
treaties.49 The first paragraph would provide a description of the lands
that were covered by the treaty; the second described the terms as fol-
lows:

The condition of or understanding of this sale is this, that our [Indian] village

sites and enclosed fields are to be kept for our own use, for the use of our

children, and for those who may follow after us; and the land shall be prop-

erly surveyed, hereafter. It is understood, however, that the land itself

becomes the entire property of the white people for ever; it is also understood

that we are at liberty to hunt over the unoccupied lands, and to carry on our

fisheries as formerly.50

Although the structure and content of Barclay’s template emulated
the New Zealand deeds, the final clause setting out the hunting and fish-
ing rights was new. The guarantee that the tribes were “at liberty . . .  to
carry on our fisheries as formerly” appears to be an abbreviated version
of the agreement Douglas described several months earlier when he
wrote that the Native peoples “were at liberty . . . to carry on their fish-
eries with the same freedom as when they were the sole occupants of the
country.”

Given this sequence of events, the treaties are best understood as oral
agreements between Douglas and the chiefs. The written texts, based on
imperial precedent, drafted by someone not present at the negotiations
and supplied months afterwards, should be considered as evidence of
the terms of those agreements, not as the agreements themselves.51 As
evidence, the written texts probably provide reasonable indication of
what the HBC thought it needed to do and of how Douglas understood
the treaties. The anthropologist Wilson Duff considered the texts to be
“the white man’s conception (or at least his rationalization) of the situ-
ation as it was and of the transaction that took place.”52 They provide
little or highly qualified evidence at best of how the Aboriginal partici-
pants understood the agreements and should not be considered the full
texts of what were oral agreements. However, given the thin documen-
tary and oral history record surrounding the treaties, the written texts
assume particular importance.
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Even the terms of the written texts are not self-evident.53 It is clear,
however, that “fisheries” were important parts of the agreements. A
“fishery” (or its plural, “fisheries”) refers not only to the act of fishing
but also to the places where it occurs. In reserving “fisheries,” therefore,
the Douglas treaties reserved the right to fish in the places where Abo-
riginal people fished. It was the same approach that Governor Stevens
and the tribes in the Washington Territory would adopt in reserving the
“right of taking fish at usual and accustomed grounds and stations.”54

In neither case, however, were the boundaries of the right carefully
drawn. An abundance of fish was assumed in the 1850s, and there was
little non-Aboriginal interest in the fisheries. Even so, the fisheries were
not an afterthought. The HBC had deployed some of its workers to the
fisheries of the Fraser River in the 1840s but had realized that it was
more efficient and effective to purchase fish from Aboriginal fishers.
Those fish, which the HBC had been barrelling and salting on the Fraser
since the late 1820s, had become one of its principal exports from the
Pacific Coast of North America.55 Thus the treaties were concluded in
a context of well-established and ongoing commercial fishing involving
the HBC and Aboriginal peoples. Douglas believed that this would con-
tinue and hoped it would grow.

There is no evidence that either Douglas or the Aboriginal parties
understood their agreements as limited to food fishing. Several years after
concluding the last of the treaties, Douglas informed the Vancouver
Island House of Assembly that Aboriginal peoples “were to be protected
in their original right of fishing on the coast and in the bays of the
Colony.”56 In describing the fishing right as “original,” Douglas meant
that it preceded the British assertion of sovereignty and therefore derived
from sources other than the British Crown, not that it was limited to a
food fishery. In fact, the category of “Indian food fishing” was not yet a
way of thinking about Aboriginal fishing in British Columbia. Estab-
lished in Canadian fisheries regulations in the late nineteenth century, it
would become an important part of fisheries management and an effec-
tive way of diminishing Aboriginal peoples access to the fish, but it was
not part of the framework in which the treaties were negotiated.57

Rather, the treaties emerged in the context of a long-established com-
mercial relationship. The parties would have understood that the right
to “fisheries as formerly” included a continuing commercial fishery.

How expansive, then, was the understanding of the commercial aspect
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of the treaty right to fish? At one end of a spectrum of possible mean-
ings, the treaty right might have been intended to protect only commerce
between Aboriginal peoples. This is not likely. In fact, given the context
and the wording of the written text it is highly implausible that the Abo-
riginal peoples who participated in the negotiations understood they had
conceded anything in respect of their fisheries. Instead, the text suggests
that the Aboriginal signatories could continue their fisheries without any
non-Aboriginal restriction — that is, “as formerly.” At the other end of
the spectrum, therefore, the right could be interpreted literally as secur-
ing the fisheries exclusively to Aboriginal peoples. When the treaties were
concluded, Aboriginal peoples worked and managed the fisheries exclu-
sively. Moreover, the laws of many First Nations established certain fish-
eries as the exclusive property of one family or house-group.

However, Douglas certainly did not intend to preclude non-Aboriginal
fishing. He believed that the long-term prosperity of the colony depended
on attracting immigrants and that the fisheries would be one of its prin-
cipal draws. The HBC had sought control of the fisheries as part of the
Crown grant of Vancouver Island, but the Crown appears to have with-
drawn this provision, which was in an early draft, in the midst of wide-
spread public disapproval of the HBC in London.58 As a result, the HBC
prospectus for the colonization of Vancouver Island informed prospec-
tive settlers that “every freeholder shall enjoy the right of fishing all sorts
of fish in the seas, bays, and inlets of, or surrounding, the said Island.”59

With respect to tidal waters, then, the prospectus asserted the right of the
landowning public to fish as indeed the common law doctrine of the pub-
lic right to fish established it for the public at large.

Is it possible to reconcile previously exclusive Aboriginal fisheries with
the colonial public’s right to fish? In English law the Crown could not
limit the public right to fish in tidal waters (except with the sanction of
Parliament), but the common law doctrine did not affect exclusive fish-
eries that preexisted the British assertion of sovereignty and thus preex-
isted the common law in British Columbia.60 Such preexisting fisheries
would include exclusive Aboriginal fisheries. Under Aboriginal law some
fisheries were understood as exclusive property, but others were public,
at least in the sense that allies and trading partners were welcome to par-
ticipate.61 As a result, where Aboriginal peoples held what they under-
stood to be exclusive fishing rights, the Douglas treaties did not interfere
with those rights. In fact, the text confirms that existing fisheries were to
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be protected “as formerly.” Where they did not have exclusive fisheries
— areas that were understood as public fisheries — the treaties provided
the basis for non-Aboriginal participation.

Just as some areas of land under the treaties were to remain for the
exclusive use of Aboriginal peoples (village sites and fields), so some
Aboriginal fisheries in tidal and nontidal waters were also to remain
exclusively for Aboriginal peoples. But whereas most of the land was to
be opened for non-Aboriginal settlement and the reserved parcels were
small, the opposite was true in the fisheries. The treaties provided expan-
sive protection for the Aboriginal fisheries, with the prospect that non-
Aboriginal fishers could participate where they could do so without
interfering with these fisheries. Similarly, just as Aboriginal peoples had
the right to continue hunting in a manner that did not interfere with non-
Aboriginal occupation of lands (the right “to hunt over the unoccupied
lands”), so non-Aboriginal fishers had a right to fish so long as they did
not hinder the existing Aboriginal fisheries.62 In sum, the right to “fish-
eries as formerly” is best understood as protecting the Aboriginal fish-
eries, including the rights to catch fish and manage the fisheries in the
places where they conducted their fishing and the right to dispose of fish
for whatever purpose, but also as securing for the Crown the right to
grant settler access to fisheries that were not exclusive before the treaties.

This was a satisfactory resolution in the 1850s, when abundance was
assumed and there was little prospect that non-Aboriginal fishing would
interfere with the Aboriginal fisheries. However, beginning in the 1870s,
many Aboriginal fisheries would come under great strain when, with the
introduction of an industrial fishery, cannery boats worked by Aborigi-
nal and non-Aboriginal fishers occupied owned fishing grounds, and
 cannery fleets radically diminished the upriver fisheries on which many
Aboriginal peoples relied. At that point the federal Department of
Marine and Fisheries largely ignored the existing treaties and the
province, with federal acquiescence, refused to negotiate others. Indian
Reserve Commissioner Gilbert Malcolm Sproat, while working to allot
Indian reserves along the Fraser River as part of an Indian land policy in
the absence of treaties, wrote that “if the Crown had ever met the Indi-
ans of this Province in council with a view to obtain the surrender of
their lands for purposes of settlement, the Indians would in the first place
have made stipulations about their rights to get salmon to supply their
particular requirements.”63
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Instead of negotiating treaties, the two levels of government imposed
an Indian land policy that was premised on continuing Indian access to
their fisheries. The small and scattered Indian reserves allotted under
treaty or by the reserve commissions were intended primarily to provide
points of access to the fisheries that would support viable local econo-
mies. Without the fisheries the Indian reserve geography in British
Columbia provided little prospect for other commercial activity and
made little sense except as a means of clearing Aboriginal peoples from
the land.64 In this context the Aboriginal fisheries ought to have been,
in the words of James Douglas, “fully secured to them by law.” Those
who were parties to the Douglas treaties reasonably believed that they
had been.

judicial interpretation of “fisheries 
as formerly”

As of 2007, Canada’s courts had yet to provide a definitive judicial inter-
pretation of the right to “fisheries as formerly” in the Douglas treaties.
The British Columbia Court of Appeal’s 1989 decision in Saanichton
Marina Ltd. v. Tsawout Indian Band remained the principal judicial
statement of the treaty right to fish.65 In that case the Tsawout presented
evidence that Saanichton Bay, where they and their ancestors lived, “pro-
vided a wide variety of fish, shellfish, sea mammals and waterfowl
important in the economy and diet of the Saanich people.”66 They
claimed a continuing treaty right to fish and argued that a proposed
marina development in the bay infringed this right. The court agreed,
concluding that “the effect of the treaty is to afford to the Indians an
independent source of protection of their right to carry on their fisheries
as formerly,”67 and that in this case the “construction of the marina will
derogate from the right of the Indians to carry on their fisheries as for-
merly in the area of Saanichton Bay which is protected by the treaty.”68

Although the court was not explicit, the decision seemed to imply a right
to participate in determining what activities might coexist with their fish-
eries. In other words the treaty recognized the Tsawout right to access
and manage their fisheries.

After that decision the courts struggled to define the treaty right to
fish more precisely. It seemed clear that the treaties protect and give pri-
ority to a food fishery, a category that was firmly entrenched in Cana-
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dian law by then. In Regina v. Ellsworth, a case involving charges against
a member of the Tsartlip First Nation who was fishing coho and chi-
nook salmon in the Goldstream River for food purposes, Justice Murphy
of the British Columbia Supreme Court defined the right broadly to
include “fishing, conservation and the use of fish by the Indian people for
whatever purpose the fish were used by the signatories to the treaty. One
of these purposes was for food obviously.”69 In this view the treaty rec-
ognized the priority of the Native fishery, at least but not limited to a
food fishery, as well as a right to participate in the conservation or man-
agement of the fish stocks.

Justice Harvey Groberman, also of the British Columbia Supreme
Court, described a similar set of treaty rights, including priority to the
fishery and management rights, in Snuueymuxw First Nation v. British
Columbia. In that case the Snuueymuxw (Nanaimo) First Nation sought
an interlocutory injunction to remove log booms from the Nanaimo
River estuary on the basis that they damaged fish habitat and infringed
the treaty right to fish. Justice Groberman held: “The contours of the
right to ‘carry on fisheries as formerly’ have not been fully articulated by
the courts. The treaty would seem, at the very least, to entitle the First
Nation to priority over the fish stocks that exist. It also places responsi-
bilities on the Crown and vests the First Nation with powers to manage
the fishery in such a manner as not to jeopardize the constitutionally
protected rights of the Douglas Treaty First Nations.”70 The nature of
the priority, including the question of whether priority extends to a com-
mercial fishery, remained undeveloped. In Regina v. Hunt, Justice Brian
Saunderson of the British Columbia Provincial Court held that the treaty
right does not include either a commercial fishery or a deep-water fish-
ery because the Kwakiutl had not established, to his satisfaction, that
either activity was integral to the distinctive culture of the Kwakiutl.71

The Kwakiutl did not appeal Justice Saunderson’s decision, but they
subsequently brought a treaty fishing rights case on their terms. In Hunt
v. Canada they sued Canada and the province for a declaration that their
treaty right to fish in their territory includes “a priority right to harvest
the aquatic resources . . . and to the commercial sale of a reasonable
quantity of fish to meet their livelihood needs” and “a right to manage
and conserve the aquatic resources . . . exercisable together with Cana -
da’s power to manage the fishery.”72 These pleadings, which frame the
right to a fishery in terms of “livelihood needs,” reveal how central that
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approach has become to the interpretation of treaty fishing rights. The
Kwakiutl did not append “moderate” to their claim, but the term “liveli-
hood needs” suggests that they recognize some limit on their treaty right
beyond conservation. And rather than claiming jurisdiction over the fish-
eries, the Kwakiutl sought a declaration of joint management. The plead-
ings are an indication of what some First Nations believe to be possible
within the parameters of Canadian law.

Although the fisheries certainly supported Aboriginal peoples’ liveli-
hoods, there is no evidence that the Douglas treaty right was limited to
fisheries that supported “moderate” livelihoods. Where this limitation
has been imposed, as in Passenger Fishing Vessel and Marshall, it is a
later construct designed to establish some grounds for those without
treaty rights to participate in the fishery. Although the aim is legitimate,
the “moderate livelihood” standard is flawed. Beyond the fact that there
may be no historical evidence for such a standard, it is inherently vague
and changeable, and not something that courts are equipped to deter-
mine. Moreover, the building of a moderate livelihood, if its meaning
can be determined, depends on so much more than access to a resource
that it seems peculiar to establish the level of access on the basis of that
standard. A clear division of the fisheries along the lines of the Boldt
decision, which provides certainty and is broadly if not unanimously per-
ceived as a fair interpretation of the treaty, is eminently preferable to all
those working in the fisheries, and to the sustainability of the fisheries
themselves.

conclusion

In attempting to account for the Boldt decision, legal scholar Fay Cohen
has suggested that by the early 1970s the state of the law on Indian treaty
rights to fish was such that “a definitive ruling could hardly have been
avoided.”73 Perhaps so. Perhaps thirty years later Aboriginal and treaty
rights to fish in British Columbia are at a similar point, and perhaps a
case such as Hunt v. Canada will provide a definitive ruling. However,
unlike Washington State, where most of the tribes hold rights to fish
under treaties with virtually identical fisheries provisions, in British
Columbia in 2007 there is a patchwork of arrangements that include
historical treaties, one modern treaty, two final agreements in the process
of ratification, and several agreements-in-principle, all with different fish-
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eries provisions. For most of the province there are no treaty rights but,
instead, ill-defined Aboriginal rights to fish or rights to fisheries as an
incidence of claimed but not-yet-recognized Aboriginal title. In this con-
text a single definitive ruling seems unlikely. A clear ruling from the
courts on the meaning of the fisheries provision in the Douglas treaties
will not resolve the continuing conflict over fish, but it might hasten a
resolution.

The recognition of Aboriginal and treaty rights to fish in Canada has
been building slowly since they were entrenched in the Canadian con-
stitution. Steps to enhance Aboriginal peoples’ access to the fisheries,
 following decisions such as Sparrow and Marshall, have produced deter-
mined opposition from many in the commercial fleet, including court
cases based on the proposition that privileging Aboriginal fishers vio-
lates the equality guarantee in the Canadian Charter of Rights and Free-
doms.74 In this there are important similarities to the reaction against the
Boldt decision in Washington. However, judicial recognition of sub-
stantial treaty rights to fish in British Columbia, should it occur, could
hardly shock the fishers and fisheries managers in the province to the
same degree that it did those in Washington.

Although a small number of Aboriginal peoples are parties to the
Douglas treaties, a fuller judicial interpretation of the right to “fisheries
as formerly” will be important across the province. It will establish the
extent to which the tribes reserved their fisheries to themselves when
they granted to the Hudson’s Bay Company the right to occupy certain
areas of their traditional territories. Understood as reserved rights instead
of granted rights (rights that the treaty tribes reserved to themselves
rather than received from the Crown), the treaty rights would represent,
at a minimum, the fishing rights that nontreaty nations still retain. As a
result, the impact of a judicial interpretation of the fisheries clause in the
Douglas treaties has the potential to extend across most of the province,
building on the basic platform of fishing rights that the Supreme Court
of Canada established in the Sparrow decision.

Given the continuing conflict over the fisheries in British Columbia
and the great difficulty in reaching negotiated settlements, a court-
directed interpretation of the fisheries provision in the Douglas treaties
seems inevitable. That interpretation, when it occurs, will be based on
the text of the treaty and the surrounding circumstances at the time each
treaty was negotiated. It is hard to imagine that the interpretation of the
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Stevens treaties in Washington State will not also have some impact on
the outcome. In a dissenting opinion in the British Columbia Court of
Appeal on a commercial fishing rights case, Justice Lambert suggested
that the interpretations of the Stevens treaties certainly ought to be con-
sidered. He thought it “of great importance to try to achieve harmony
between the recognition of aboriginal rights in British Columbia and the
recognition of aboriginal rights in Washington State, where the Indians
are closely related to the Indians of British Columbia and where they
share many of the same customs, traditions, and practices.”75

The holding in the Boldt decision that access to the commercial fish-
ery should be divided evenly between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal
fishers may not be reproduced. That conclusion is perhaps too closely a
product of the particular language in the Stevens treaties. However, the
general conclusions that the treaties include rights to a substantial com-
mercial fishery and to manage that fishery seem applicable and appro-
priate to the interpretation of the Douglas treaties. If a ruling fails to
recognize that the treaties protected significant Aboriginal control of the
fisheries, it will appear manifestly unjust.
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5 Performing Treaties

the culture and politics of treaty remembrance

and celebration

Chris Friday
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On Martin Luther King Jr. Day in March 1999, three Lummi
Nation representatives sat at a table before an audience of
Whatcom Community College students and faculty in Belling-

ham, Washington. Salted here and there in the audience were visitors to
the campus,both Indian and non-Indian. The title of the panel, organized
by the college and the Whatcom County Human Rights Task Force, was
“Cultural Genocide: Native Treaty Rights.” The elder on the panel,
Lummi Tribal Council member Vernon Lane, spoke first. He highlighted
the consequences of a long history of cultural repression and forced-
assimilation programs foisted on Lummi tribal members and Puget
Sound – area Indians in general. The other panelists — Juanita Jefferson (a
member of the Lummi Nation) and Darrell Hillaire (a member of the
Lummi Indian Business Council) — reinforced Lane’s message.

Yet Lane took the discussion of repression further than the others: he
connected it to a history of broken treaty promises. The repression, he
declared, meant that Indians lost sight of the power and import of the
Treaty of Point Elliott until the tribes rediscovered it in the 1950s as an
empowering document. Since then, Lane told the audience, the tribe had
tried to use the treaty, with mixed success, to protect its resource base
and the regional environment. We “hope we can get it beautiful again,”
he explained, by using the treaty provisions to bring an Indian cultural



sensibility to bear on land management. He reminded the audience that
the Lummi could not do this alone and needed allies: “We need people
to support our treaty.”1

Contrary to what Lane said about lost culture and lost knowledge of
the treaty, however, the Lummi and other Indians in the Puget Sound
region have a long history of using the so-called Stevens treaties (which
include the treaties of Medicine Creek, Point Elliott, and Point No Point)
in public forums, much as Lane did in 1999. During the first hundred
years of life under the treaties of the 1850s, tribal members articulated
their understanding of the treaties multiple times in order to protect
reservation lands, secure Indian access to economic resources, and ensure
their ability to continue customary practices. To be fair to Lane, one
should note that there were transformations over time in how Indians
acted upon, or performed, those treaty rights. The fact that Lane came
of age in the 1950s might provide a partial explanation for his perspec-
tive: treaty performances were undergoing a change in that era. A more
complete explanation might also include Lane’s possible awareness that
the political tactic of playing the victim can have a powerful impact on
certain audiences.2

By examining the history of Indians performing treaties — that is, pub-
licly articulating and negotiating the meaning and application of treaties
— historians can contribute to an assessment of treaties as “transcripts”
of power and resistance. Scholars over the past several decades have rec-
ognized that oppressed people can and do resist, but that often such
resistance is subtle and scarcely recognizable by the oppressors. Cultur-
ally coded meanings in everyday speech and songs, as well as petty acts
of violence and disobedience, can reveal “hidden transcripts” that are
messages commonly understood and recognized within the oppressed
group. Sometimes these acts of resistance erupt into the open, and these
formerly hidden transcripts become part of a larger public discourse and
even rebellion.3 Treaties, however, were not (and are not) hidden tran-
scripts. Over the past century and a half treaties like that negotiated at
Point Elliott have been the very scripts that Indians and non-Indians have
employed in a series of contests.4 An examination of how Puget Sound
Indians have used the treaties in public contestations engages a broader
discussion of the relationship between power and resistance.

The many Indian performances of treaties also illustrate continuities
and innovations in the application of treaty rights. They show how peo-
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ple using “inventive strategies” adapted their portrayals of the treaties to
the political, social, and economic contexts of different historical eras.5

Thus history demonstrates that treaties were and are living documents,
not stale artifacts locked in museum cases or legal relics whose modern
significance is limited to the narrow confines of ostensible original intent.
Public performances or expressions of the meanings that Indians have
given to treaties can yield insights into power relationships among Indi-
ans, between Indians and the federal government, or between Indians
and non-Indians in general. The study of treaty performances is also cen-
tral to American Indian studies because it concerns the nature and extent
of resistance and the meaning of dependency as well as questions of
authenticity, identity, and innovation within tradition.6

A survey of the ways that Indians of Western Washington have staged
public performances of their treaties, especially the Treaty of Point
Elliott, is an excellent way to demonstrate these points. In the existing
scholarly literature, several authors have described the treaty perfor -
mances, yet no one has analyzed them as a group, across a long span of
time, for the purpose I have described in this essay.7

performance at the treaty council

Any analysis of the Western Washington treaty councils and the per-
formances surrounding them should begin with recognition that the
 settler society in 1855 was still weak relative to the large indigenous
 population, whose basis for understanding events was very different
from that of American negotiators. Washington Territory governor Isaac
I. Stevens intended the treaties as confirmation of Americans’ dominance
in Indian-white relations, and he was a man “in a hurry” to prove his fit-
ness for leadership, as Stevens’s biographer has maintained.8 But he
could not blithely dictate to assembled Indians because he did not have
sufficient power to enforce terms from which Indians expected no ben-
efit. Furthermore, although Stevens had orders to “leave no question
open, out of which difficulties may hereafter arise,” he did leave a great
many details of treaty application open or, at best, implied because the
Indians had the power to reject the treaties outright.9

Thanks to Indians’ relative strength, as the historian Alexandra Har-
mon has aptly noted, treaty councils in the Puget Sound area were as
much ceremonies by and for American Indians as they were occasions for
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Stevens to deliver and dictate terms of coexistence to Indians. As early
American settlers recognized, Indians gained status in their societies “by
hosting feasts and giveaways,” often called “potlatches.”10 And most
members of the Indian bands, Harmon surmises, “probably expected
the treaty councils to have the same kinds of social repercussions as their
own potlatches.”11 Later testimony tends to support this inference. In
the late 1920s, for example, eighty-five-year-old Puyallup tribe member
Lucy Gurand said her family members had understood at the treaty
councils that “the Government [was] giving them free gift of some
goods.”12 Sixty-eight-year-old Augustus Kautz, also Puyallup, made the
comparison with traditional giveaways more explicit. In recounting a
meeting that likely took place not long after the treaty, he explained:
“My mother tells me of coming from the Nisqually to the mouth of the
Puyallup River to what they called the potlatch of the Government —
they called it a potlatch — she got a piece of calico.”13

Students of the treaty negotiations have had to rely primarily on min-
utes kept by Isaac Stevens’s associates at the councils and, as anthro-
pologist Barbara Lane and coresearcher Robert Brockstedt Lane have
argued, those are only “a partial record of what happened.”14 Still, a
careful examination of the minutes and other sources, contemporary and
subsequent to the treaty, provides evidence of Indian perspectives. Much
care must be taken with such a reconstruction, but it is possible to infer
some aspects of Indian understanding that are necessary for a satisfac-
tory analysis of those events. In particular, a close look at the negotia-
tors’ recorded speeches and their context reveals that the treaty council
was an important moment for specific Indian individuals to enhance their
power or status. Indian performances at the time said as much about
power relationships among Indians as about the relationship between
Indians and whites.

Instead of focusing solely on the iconic and misunderstood man
named Seattle or Sealth, whom Stevens anointed as “principal chief” for
Indians at the Point Elliott council, it pays to look at other “players” in
the treaty negotiations. Consider Chowitsut (also known as Chowit-
shoot), for example. Identified on the Treaty of Point Elliott itself as
“Chief of the Lummi and other tribes,” Chowitsut was one of the four
major chiefs at the council and one of fourteen men who signed the
treaty on behalf of the Lummi and related bands in northwest interior
Washington.15 He was the lone Lummi to give a recorded speech. The
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minutes indicate only that he said: “I work on the ground (raise pota-
toes) and build houses. But I will stop building if you wish and move to
Chah-chou-sen.”16 A deeper meaning of this seemingly simple statement
is apparent when one reconstructs the context in which it was spoken.

The treaty tribe called Lummi was a group of loosely affiliated bands
and complex lineages linked by marriages and grouped around various
headmen who established large, multifamily houses in portions of the
San Juan Islands and the Bellingham Bay area.17 Between 1780 and
1830 or so, the growing fur trade, deaths from diseases introduced by
Europeans, and increased conflict with northern raiding tribes (most
likely Haida or Tlingit, but possibly also Kwakwaka�wakw, also known
as Kwakiutl), forced Coast Salish peoples like the Lummi to consolidate
and sometimes fortify their villages. While the Lummi continued to move
seasonally to camps and villages throughout the San Juan and Southern
Gulf islands, on Vancouver Island, and at mainland sites on both sides
of what would become the U.S.-Canada border, the Lummi Peninsula
increasingly emerged as a central geographical focus of group life, with
several of the larger seasonal encampments and winter villages located
there.18

By 1850 one of the major settlements consisted of the large (four-
 hundred-feet-long) multifamily house built by the emerging headman
Chowitsut at a place known as “The Portage” on the tip of the penin-
sula. (Chowitsut had also sponsored the building of houses at other,
lesser sites.19) Longstanding Lummi custom meant that house construc-
tion, which was a cooperative endeavor, resulted both in private own-
ership and land occupancy rights for the sponsor of a lodge and in a
sense of collective ownership on the part of those who contributed labor
and materials.20 It was clear, however, that Chowitsut was a leading fig-
ure among the Lummi, thanks to his immense wealth, social as well as
economic.21

In 1852 and 1853, when land speculators and entrepreneurs Henry
Roeder and J. E. Peabody sailed into Bellingham Bay seeking a location
with the timber and falling water needed to operate a lumber mill, they
found Chowitsut waiting for them.22 Later accounts hold that Roeder
and Peabody traveled to the large Lummi village at The Portage — a site
on the mainland between Portage Island and the southwestern tip of the
Lummi Peninsula. There, according to early local chronicler Lottie
Roeder Roth, “Chief Chowitsut not only gave them the Falls and the
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land surrounding it, but promised to send some of his men to help raise
the mill.”23 A different reading of events in context suggests Roeder
understood that Chowitsut simply “invited” him to stay in the area as a
“guest.”

More recent Indian oral accounts support the interpretation that
Chowitsut hoped to incorporate members of the Roeder and Peabody
mill community into the political economy of the immediate area. The
establishment of European American activities in Lummi territory would
give him access to trade goods and resources previously available only
through trade with the British at Fort Langley to the north or Victoria
to the southwest. Chowitsut may also have calculated the value that
Roeder and Peabody offered as allies against Indians from the northern
coastal stretches of British Columbia, who periodically raided Coast
 Salish villages and encampments, including those of the Lummi.24

 Furthermore, given the calculus of house-building among Coast Salish
peoples, Chowitsut must have figured that the contribution of Lummi
labor gave him at least a partial interest in the mill that Roeder and
Peabody erected, notwithstanding notions of property held by the two
Americans.25

Chowitsut’s activities in regional politics and diplomacy during the
early and mid-1850s provide additional evidence of his growing power
and ambition. At roughly the same time as the Point Elliott Treaty nego-
tiations, Chowitsut acted as an intermediary in the diplomatic marriage
between early Bellingham Bay settler Edmund C. Fitzhugh and the
“Samish noblewoman” E-yow-alth. E-yow-alth was the daughter of the
headman S�ya-whom (Sihome), who lived across Bellingham Bay from
the Lummi Peninsula and himself had married in an alliance with a
 S�Klal lam family.26 Such diplomatic relations were not new to Chow-
itsut. On February 11, 1852, he had signed the South Saanich Treaty on
Vancouver Island as one of 118 individuals. That treaty was the
eleventh of fourteen negotiated from 1850 to 1854 between First
Nations peoples and Sir James Douglas, then chief factor of the Hud-
son’s Bay Company and governor of the British colony.27 Exactly how
and why Chowitsut came to be involved in that treaty remains unclear.
Saanich bands like the Pacquachin and the Tseycum shared fishing sites
and camps near Point Roberts (particularly rich fishing grounds for
sockeye salmon migrating to the Fraser River). It is likely that Chowit-
sut’s ties to the Saanich came through such contacts. The frequency of
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contact and fluidity of movement among Salish peoples in the area
meant that a host of complex lineage affiliations and other ties linked
them together.28 Chowitsut’s signing of the Saanich treaty is thus
intriguing but not surprising.

It is no wonder then that early in 1854 the powerful Chowitsut made
certain to meet with Governor Stevens when the latter toured the region
to visit tribal leaders before negotiating the treaties. According to
Lummi oral history, Stevens and Chowitsut went together to the bluff
near the mouth of the Nooksack River and Chowitsut “stood . . . with
his arms outstretched (one toward Lummi [or Portage] Island and one
toward Cherry Point) [while] he explained to Stevens that that was the
territory the Lummi desired for their reservation.”29 By the time Chow-
itsut traveled to the Point Elliott Treaty Council in late January 1855,
he surely had his own understanding of what the treaty would mean
for him. His involvement in the council was part of a long-term and
ongoing effort on his part to consolidate his influence or prestige, and
the treaty speech and signing was his public proclamation of the advan-
tageous arrangements he had already made. Chowitsut’s willingness to
“stop building” in places other than the Lummi Peninsula, where the
reservation was to be located, was not simply an act of submission to
the Americans. It also confirmed that he had consolidated considerable
personal power. By standing at the council and delivering that short
speech, he was able to solidify the social status he had already attained
among Indians. His household would be one of the two principal village
sites on the reservation designated for Lummis, and it would remain so
until after his death and the establishment of a new “Lummi village”
near the mouth of the Nooksack River in 1861. (The latter settlement
coalesced around another headman who rose to power with Chowit-
sut’s passing.)

Chowitsut’s speech and subsequent treaty signing was therefore not
merely some resignation to a lesser evil, nor was it clearly and singularly
a concession to an inevitable European American dominance. Although
Chowitsut could not fully redefine the “rules of engagement,” he did
use the treaty negotiations to perform and potentially enhance his social
rank and status. Thus close examination of circumstances behind an
Indian treaty oration helps us begin to fathom how individuals and
bands used the treaties as prospective opportunities in specific histori-
cal moments.30
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performance and the ratification delay

Except for the Treaty of Medicine Creek — the first of the treaties nego-
tiated by Isaac Stevens — treaties with Indians around the Puget Sound
did not enjoy immediate ratification by the U.S. Congress. In the period
between the negotiation of the Treaty of Point Elliott on January 22,
1855, and ratification on March 8, 1859, Indians of the region grew
increasingly unhappy with the delay.31 In May of 1858 the local super-
intendent of Indian affairs, M. T. Simmons, met with tribes to mollify
their discontent by distributing gifts and hearing their complaints regard-
ing the Senate’s failure to ratify the treaties. In each of these meetings,
hundreds of people gathered and witnessed Simmons’s attempt to com-
municate federal goodwill to Native leaders, who responded with forth-
right calls for ratification. At Fort Kitsap, Simmons met with some four
hundred people, including Chief Seattle, who vividly described his peo-
ple’s illness and poverty and then asked: “Why don’t our papers come
back? . . . I fear we are forgotten, or that we are to be cheated out of
our land. . . . I should like to be paid for my land before I die.”32 Push-
ing harder, Chief Seattle pointed out that his people “were ashamed”
that the parties to the only treaty yet ratified, the Nisqually and Puyallup,
had risen up in open, armed rebellion against American settlers. Why, he
asked, do “the Puyallups have their papers . . . , while we . . . get noth-
ing?”33

Headmen in other parts of the Puget Sound not only adopted a rhetor-
ical and oratorical strategy similar to Seattle’s but also hit the same
themes: the federal government had been dishonest, Indian reserved
lands were in jeopardy, they should be compensated for ceded lands,
and they were bitterly frustrated to see the Puyallup and Nisqually
rewarded for rebellion with a ratified treaty and the protected land base
and annuities that it promised. For example, Hetley Kanim of the Sno-
qualamie asked Simmons in front of nearly 750 people when the “Great
Father” was “going to send our papers back? Four summers have now
passed since you and Governor Stevens told us we would get pay for our
land. . . . [O]ur hearts are very sick because you do not do as you prom-
ised. We saw the Nisqually and Puyallups get their annuity paid them
last year, and our hearts were sick because we could get nothing.”34

Kanim was interested in how he might use the treaties as more than
just paper acknowledgments of Indians’ rights and promises of money.
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He wanted the treaty provisions to preserve and extend his people’s eco-
nomic base: “We consider it good to have white people among us. Our
young women can gather berries and clams, and our young men can fish
and hunt, and sell what they get to the whites. We are willing that the
whites shall take the timber, but we want the game and fish, and want
our reserves where there is plenty of deer and fish, and good land for
potatoes.”35 Kanim believed the treaties could provide the basis for a
robust economic strategy so that Puget Sound Indians could expand their
role in the region’s newly emerging economic order.

When considered in light of the fact that Puget Sound Indians’ eco-
nomic strategy combined traditional subsistence activities with economic
pursuits made possible by non-Indian settlement, the 1858 performances
by Seattle and Kanim, along with other similar evidence, confirm that
Indians used such moments of public discourse to push for the ratifica-
tion of treaties because they believed the documents could provide lever-
age for a broad community good; they could be more than a defense
against non-Indian encroachments. In this respect the treaties were
“offensive” weaponry. The chiefs’ calls for their “papers” to be sent
back also show that they were cognizant of the stock Americans put in
written records of their promises. Indian leaders were comfortable
enough with the power and meaning of written documents to use them
to their advantage. Orality and the written words were therefore not
mutually exclusive; both modes of communication had meaning within
their communities as well as in their relations with non-Indians.

performing the treaty’s purpose

By spring of 1859 the Treaty of Point Elliott and Treaty of Point No
Point had been ratified in the U.S. Senate. During the 1860s and early
1870s executive orders clarified and modified boundaries of the treaty
reservations and established some additional reservations.36 For the
most part Indians who settled on the reservations and federal officials
assigned to oversee them spent much of the 1860s absorbed with the
details of administering those enclaves. They also witnessed the emer-
gence of new leaders alongside the older generation of headmen, many
of whom had signed the treaties.

By the early 1870s uncertainty about how the reservations would be
administered and the treaty provisions carried out came to a head when

Performing Treaties 165



railroad construction threatened the integrity of reservation lands.
Records of a visit to the Puget Sound by the chairman of the influential
Board of Indian Commissioners Affairs, Felix R. Brunot, illustrate how
Indians took what federal representatives hoped to accomplish and bent
it to their own ends. In 1871, Brunot held a series of special councils at
select reservations in Oregon and Washington Territory, including the
Lummi Reservation. Heading the agenda was a potential survey of the
reservations and the possibility of consolidating several reservations.37

Brunot preached about the desirability of “civilization” and the prob-
lems that arose when Indians continued with their “wild ways.” His was
a program of racial uplift and assimilation that required Indians to
become “civilized” (but not white) by taking up agriculture, individual
land ownership, and Christianity.

While Brunot recited his prepared lines at each stop on his tour with
remarkable consistency, he ran into Indian leaders who did not hesitate
to tell him what they believed the treaties meant. At the Lummi Reser-
vation, for example, the headmen who had succeeded Chowitsut were
quite forceful. They made it clear that they wanted precise boundaries for
the reservation, they must have access to tools and supplies in order to
succeed in the new market agriculture economy, the treaty was central
to their remaining self-sufficient, and the treaty required an ongoing
commitment from the federal government to preserve reservation lands
and the reservation economy for future generations.

David Crockett was the most vocal of the Lummi speakers. Crockett
was a “traditional” headman as well as Catholic lay leader in the com-
munity. His role in helping build the Catholic church at the Lummi Vil-
lage was comparable to the power embodied in Chowitsut’s house at
The Portage. At the meeting with Brunot, Crockett told the assembled
crowd:

I know what Governor Stevens said when the treaty was made; half the Indi-

ans put a wrong construction on it, and it fooled them. Governor Stevens

gave us to understand that we were to have half of all this country, and the

whites the other half. We thought the reservation took in both sides of the

river, but then the surveyor changed the boundary from what we thought it

was. I want you to assist us in defining the boundary line of the reservation,

so that the whites and others will know just where it is, and there may never

be any trouble about it. My people are increasing in number, and we want
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much land for them, and we want the line so fixed that the whites will not

encroach on us, and our children may inherit the land. . . . I want my people

to be like white men, have cattle and horses, and imitate the good whites . . . ;

all I want is this land secured to my children, and the implements necessary

to cultivate it, that my children may cultivate it when I am dead. This is all

that is on my mind; that my children may have a home after I am dead. . . .

[W]e want the reservation surveyed . . . that all may have lands, and know

what is theirs.38

At the same meeting Crockett also explained that the first agent
assigned to the reservation had “furnished lumber for the buildings on
the reservation, of which we are proud” along with “cattle . . . , two
horses and a wagon; also plows, oxen, and yokes.” Crockett’s role in
the acquisition and distribution of such items, implied in his statement,
would have helped consolidate his social status within the tribe.
Although it seemed that “we got all that belonged to us at the time” of
the treaty, Crockett said, it had been a number of years since anything
more had come to the tribe. Those early gifts, he urged, “are becoming
old and worn out; the wagon is old and not fit for much service; it is the
same with the plows and the tools.”39 He also explained to Brunot that
even more of the reservation land could be opened for cultivation if
Lummi had the means to dike and drain the marshlands. Of the land
near Old Lummi Village, Crockett stated that it “overflows, and we can-
not cultivate it; if we had tools we would ditch it, and have much good
land.”40 Without those instruments at hand, he argued, neither his gen-
eration nor the next could develop the reservation’s potential.

Brunot’s reply to Crockett revealed that his conception of the reser-
vation’s future was not so different from Crockett’s. Brunot told Crock-
ett and the assembled crowd: “I am going to ask the President to make
out the lines on the reservation . . . [and] then each man, when he builds
a house, may build it on his own land, and no one can ever take it from
him. . . . The rest would belong to all of you, and when a boy grows up
and gets married, and goes to work, you could give him a farm.”41 The
exchange between Crockett and Brunot demonstrates that federal offi-
cials and a Lummi tribal member agreed that the reservation created by
treaty was to be a permanent fixture, even if some of the land was to be
held individually while other land was still held by “all of you” and man-
aged for the well-being of that generation and future generations of
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 Indians. The reservation was to be a homeland for industrious, self-
 supporting Indians. Thus leading Indian men cited the treaties when try-
ing to define the boundaries of the reservations and give Indian residents
access to vital resources. This meant that some measure of economic
well-being was tied to the treaties, and the management of the treaties for
those purposes brought power to the headmen who insisted on their ful-
fillment.42

Although it is possible to read this insistence as Indian “dependency,”
in that the tribes’ economic and political viability depended on Ameri-
cans fulfilling the treaty, it is clear that individuals like Crockett could
articulate a “transcript” of resistance and manipulate it to meet their
individual, family, and tribal needs while appearing to conform to
demands of the federal government. In such moments Indians’ exercise
of power was syncretic and an “innovation within tradition” or an
improvisation on the basic official script that was the treaty.43 Indians
supplemented their orality — their tradition of spoken and performed
agreements — with literacy and appeals to legality in order to achieve a
decidedly Indian geography and political economy of the reservation.

performance, orality, and power 
for subsequent generations

By the 1870s federal officials had started, informally, to assign tracts of
reservation land to individuals according to treaty provisions.44 With
those assignments came new proposals from a range of federal repre-
sentatives to close or consolidate some reservations while perhaps
expanding others. Such actions prompted further Indian articulations of
what the treaties meant to them. In 1877 the special agent for Indians of
the Tulalip Agency, Edmond Mallet, offered an important glimpse into
these Indian understandings. He reported that the Indians said: “The
reservations were reserved by themselves as the permanent homes of
themselves and children, and . . . the cession was of their lands other
than the reservations. They therefore claim that the reservation lands
belong to them absolutely, and it need not be added that the proposition
to consolidate them with other tribes at another agency does not meet
with their [approbation].”45 Mallet’s report indicates a shift in how Indi-
ans understood the results of the treaty negotiations, or at least a shift
in the meanings of the treaty that they emphasized. Up through the
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1870s most Indian performances of the treaties stressed Indian desires
for fulfillment of the promises of annuity payments and schools. This
focus shifted subtly but significantly in ensuing decades.

Prior to about 1880, Puget Sound Indians remained largely self-
 sufficient economically. To ancient subsistence practices, many  indi -
viduals added seasonal paid work — mining, logging, selling fish to
canneries, farm labor, and occasional transport services. During the 
late 1870s and 1880s, however, a surge in the capitalist transformation
of the region brought new levels of resource extraction and waves of
migrants (and immigrants). Those demographic and economic develop-
ments in turn brought escalating assaults on Indian treaty rights, which
prompted Indians to pay greater attention to two aspects of the treaties
— their reservation of exclusive Indian lands and their promise of con-
tinuing access to resources on and off the reservations.

Complicating the issue was the aging and passing of the generation of
Indians who had witnessed the treaty councils. The exit of that genera-
tion from the stage was gradual. Even in the late 1920s a few tribal mem-
bers could still claim a direct connection to the treaty-making process.
For those individuals, having been there was a basis of legitimacy and
authority. Snoqualmie tribal member William Kanim was eighty-seven
years old in 1927, and he had only to state “I am going to tell you what
Governor Stevens and John Taylor [the Indian interpreter] said” in order
to establish that his was an authentic account of the Point Elliott Treaty
Council.46 Such exact knowledge of the treaties and an ability to mobi-
lize it became markers of leadership. August Martin of the Lummi
recalled how his father-in-law, Chief Henry Kwina, had swayed a legal
case that followed the arrest of several Lummi tribal members for off-
reservation fishing in the 1910s. Martin explained that Kwina told the
judge “all he knowed about the treaty”: “When he came through telling
all what he knowed about the treaty, the judge or the lawyer opened the
book and he find this was correct, what he was saying. They don’t bother
the rest of the men that was called, when they find out this Chief Henry
Kwina he hit it right, he hit every word correct on that book, on the
treaty book.”47

Although older tribal members could use their direct experience to
assert what the treaties meant, those from younger generations could
not because, as James Nimrod of the Muckleshoot said, they “did not
hear the promise.”48 Like Nimrod, Richard Squi-Qui of the Lower
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Skagit seemed to lament Indians’ need to rely on the oral transmission
of knowledge about the treaties. “That was the only thing Indians had,”
Squi-Qui told lawyers taking testimony for a Court of Claims case about
alleged breaches of the treaty. “They didn’t have anything — didn’t know
how to read and write the same as white people do.”49

However, this and other testimony from litigation in the late 1920s
reveals that the Indians had ways of preserving knowledge orally, includ-
ing significant facts about the treaties. Many younger people recounted
how a grandfather, grandmother, father, uncle, or mother had instructed
them not only in aspects of culture and subsistence, but also explicitly in
the meaning of the treaties. Jimmy Jones of the Upper Skagit explained:
“Every tribe . . . [has] maybe one or two of what you might call an
instructor, instructing the younger generation or younger people as to
what . . . happened here in the past as their custom, and it is abided by
the parties that were instructed.”50 And August Martin of the Lummi
told how his father-in-law “and all the rest of his friends, brothers, and
uncles, when we gather uplike [sic] this, he always told about the
treaty. . . . That is why we all know . . . and that is why it is coming
down . . . from generation to generation. That is why we can not say we
don’t know nothing about the treaty.”51

In contrast to the written word, which is so often treated as
immutable from its moment of creation, treaty teachings based in oral-
ity could be mobilized at any time, not just at formal proceedings, where
the writing was on display. When Indian families traveled around the
Puget Sound for work or pleasure, elders consistently used the opportu-
nity to instruct the young in the history of places and customary prac-
tices. Talking about clamming beds, camas fields, potato plots, fishing
sites, and house locations invariably invoked some discussion of treaty
rights (and losses). Jennie Davis of the Duwamish recounted that her
“grandfather used to often talk” about house and village locations
“because we used to go along in that lake there and all these places there
it was shown; I could see it.”52 Agnes Sigo of the Suquamish simply
stated that the treaty “was common talk among the people.”53 In all
cases children were expected and required to listen and learn.54

Occasionally a treaty-centered teaching moment exposed doubts
among Indians about the information being passed down. In 1880 or
1881, for example, a “council of chiefs . . . who had signed the treaty”
of Point Elliott gathered on the Tulalip reservation.55 The accounts dif-
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fer as to why. In one version John Sam of the Snoqualmie recalled that
Snohomish band member John Taylor called the meeting to explain what
he “understood at the time when . . . [he] was interpreting” from Chi-
nook jargon to local languages at the Point Elliott treaty negotiations.56

Sam explained: “I remember that John Taylor told the people, to be sure
to don’t forget to remember what was promised them — the elk, deer,
bears, berries, clams, and fish.”57

Another version of Taylor’s public proclamation cites the arrival of a
government “inspector” who had called the chiefs together to hear griev-
ances. As remembered by Josie Celestie, a Snohomish band member and
Taylor’s nephew, the situation was rife with conflict. After several
rounds of heated exchanges between the chiefs and the inspector, Chief
Clubshelton abruptly said: “You, John Taylor, who was interpreting this
treaty, step up here now and tell this white man what you understood.
We have disputed you and we have been thinking that you hadn’t inter-
preted this treaty right.”58 According to Celestie, Taylor’s careful recita-
tion of unfulfilled treaty obligations mollified Clubshelton, but the
incident reveals that not all performances of the treaties were conflict
free. Celestie recounted that Taylor had explained the treaty “at many
council meetings,” but none appeared to have been as overtly con-
tentious as that early 1880s meeting at Tulalip.59

By the 1920s decades of discussions among Indians and occasional
public declarations to wider audiences about the meaning of the Stevens
treaties came to a head in a Court of Claims case entitled Duwamish et
al. v. United States. Testimony in the case, taken in 1927, was a grand
performance of orality as well as evidence of the shifting emphasis on
specific treaty rights. A full recounting of the case and its subtleties lies
well beyond the scope of this essay, but even a cursory glance at the tes-
timony demonstrates how Puget Sound Indians had blended orality and
the written words of the treaties to gain points of leverage for their eco-
nomic, political, and social well-being.60 On the surface, however, the
Duwamish and twenty-three other named “tribes” sought compensation
for U.S. failure to create a “big general reservation,” which Indians
believed Stevens had promised at the treaty negotiations.61 (There was
much variety in testimony about where this reservation was to have been
located, but most witnesses seemed to hold that the larger reservation
was to have been near their original reservation.) The tribes also sought
payments for the loss of “improvements” to the lands from which they
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had moved — a provision of Article 7 of the Treaty of Point Elliott.62 The
improvements described included root and berry grounds, “marketable”
timber, houses (which settlers had frequently appropriated as part of their
homesteads and burned), and fishing and hunting grounds.63

The courtroom testimony was tightly bound by the scripting of legal
counsel on both sides and by the requirement that Indians place a dol-
lar value on lost goods, resources, and properties, be they tribal or indi-
vidual. Nevertheless, Puget Sound Indians proved unruly actors in the
case. One reason their testimony was so cacophonous was that they saw
the case as an opportunity to compensate for the dual impact of down-
turns in commercial fishing and on-reservation agriculture. The fisheries
were clearly an area of contention. In his examination of Lummi salmon
fishing, ethnohistorian Daniel L. Boxberger has explained that fisheries
were an uncontested resource for the Lummi before about 1880. With
non-Indians’ commercialization and capitalization of the salmon fish-
eries, which included large mechanized processing plants and huge, sta-
tionary, corporate salmon traps, Indian fishers like the Lummi found
themselves at the margins of the fishing economy within two genera-
tions. Because they could not raise the capital necessary to compete in the
commercial fisheries and because the courts would not uphold Indian
rights to specific fish trap locations, the transition left them in a state of
economic and political dependency.64

The fisheries were not the only factor pushing Indians of the region
toward dependency. Conditions for Indian farmers had also grown worse
since the nineteenth century, when several of the area reservations and
especially the Lummi Reservation had held substantial agricultural
prospects, which some Indian residents had tried to exploit. Hay, root
crops, berries, and dairy and poultry items had yielded significant returns
that benefited the community, not just individuals. Early-twentieth-
century “working bees” suggest that individual and tribal resources were
intimately connected, even after land allotment. In 1903, George Brem-
ner, a schoolteacher on the Lummi Reservation who temporarily took on
the tasks of the government agent in charge there, complained to the
superintendent at Tulalip: “It is the common practice in clearing land,
and even in plowing and planting, to have working ‘bees,’ which result
in much feasting with little work poorly done. Each time that a death
occurs the Indians all, or many of them, congregate at the home of the
bereaved and feast and gossip for three or four days at the expense of the
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near relatives of the deceased. These and other foolish customs consume
an amount of valuable time that, if used advantageously, would in a few
years transform the reservation into a veritable garden spot.”65 Brem-
ner’s response was typical of federal agents, who perceived profligate
waste in anything that smacked as “tribal,” especially when they believed
it distracted Indians from agricultural pursuits.66 Yet the “working bees”
on the Lummi Reservation demonstrate that tribal practices persisted
amid what otherwise might appear to be purely individual efforts. The
good of the community depended on the cooperation of various individ-
uals and families in many economic activities, including agriculture.

In the twentieth century the host of problems that confronted small-
scale American farmers hit Puget Sound Indians, and peculiarly “Indian”
issues amplified the pain.67 Indians contended with fractured ownership
of inherited land allotments, lack of access to capital, and federal offi-
cials’ application of various “technologies of power” to control the
 distribution of seeds, tools, livestock, and machinery. As if those dis-
couraging circumstances were not enough, Lummi farmers were hit with
fees to finance a diking district that was supposed to reduce floods and
open marshlands to agricultural production. As a consequence, many
faced bankruptcy and the alienation of reservation lands accelerated.
Like the fishermen, Indian agriculturalists found themselves in a state of
economic dependency by the late 1920s and early 1930s.68

Given the loss of income and control in commercial fishing and in
agriculture, it is no wonder that witness after witness in the Court of
Claims emphasized losses of land, houses, and other economic resources
that went well beyond the scope of the legal courtroom script. The
breadth of the Duwamish testimony was markedly different from those
performances that had come before it, and it presaged many of those
that would follow in the next century. By the last decade of the twenti-
eth century and the first decade of the twenty-first, battles for treaty-
reserved resources would even extend beyond the quantifiable losses
emphasized in the Duwamish case to hunting rights, access to clam beds,
and even groundwater rights.69

treaty remembrance and performance

In 1910, Tulalip agency superintendent Charles Buchanan initiated a
new practice — an annual celebration of the 1855 signing of the Treaty
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of Point Elliott. In his official diaries of agency affairs, Buchanan noted
that the first few years of “dinner speeches” along with “old time games,
customs . . . , [and] old time songs and dances” made Treaty Day an
impressive event. In sponsoring these activities, Buchanan hoped to use
older Indians to show the younger ones just how far they had traveled
down the path to “civilization” since the signing of the treaty. For the
first several years Buchanan was effusive in his descriptions of success-
ful Treaty Day celebrations. Limited vision initially prevented him from
recognizing the Pandora’s box that his action had opened.70

In 1927, William Shelton, whose service as a reservation policeman
and judge had prompted Buchanan to laud him earlier as the model of
a progressive modern Indian, recalled the first Treaty Day celebration as
an event very different from that depicted by Buchanan. Shelton
explained that the speakers included Tyee William, or Steh-shad, who
said “that he would like to have the Government to come with the prom-
ise that they made; that he would like to get the government to settle up
before he died; that he wants all the young Indians to listen to his talk,
to remember that this promise must be fulfilled, even after he is dead.
And that is just what happened.”71 Whether this “transcript” of protest
and resistance went unrecognized by Buchanan, or Shelton and others
projected their sentiments back onto that day, Shelton’s testimony
reveals that the meaning of Treaty Day performances and celebrations
had slipped quickly from Buchanan’s grasp.

Indeed, by 1915 and 1916 it became clear even to Buchanan that the
Indians, under the guise of celebrating the treaty, had taken Treaty Day
as an occasion for performing some of the old “pagan dances” at Tulalip
and other reservations. In response Buchanan called an abrupt halt to the
1916 Treaty Day events and turned his energies toward promoting
Indian agricultural fairs instead.72 He could not stop the spread of
Treaty Day celebrations to other locations, however, especially the
Lummi and Swinomish reservations. By the end of the decade the pub-
lic performance of Treaty Day and customary winter or spirit dances
had become tightly interwoven, much to Buchanan’s displeasure.73

Buchanan used all means at his disposal — moral suasion, withholding
individual money disbursements, community pressure, the Catholic
Church, and federal orders stipulating fines and arrests — to squelch the
multiday dances.74 Yet despite such efforts, the dances continued
unabated, and even the Nooksack, who had not signed the treaty, took
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the opportunity to link Treaty Day celebrations to the public perfor-
mance of dance ceremonies.75 Treaty Day had clearly taken on the char-
acteristics of an open rebellion, not simply a resistance, to federal policies
— all in the name of a document supposedly recording Indians’ conces-
sion to federal power.

The strength and force of the resistance surprised Buchanan. Solomon
Balch of the Lummi responded to Buchanan’s threats with threats of his
own, telling Buchanan: “I think if you stop and think over the matter,
you would soon find the first reviver of this pagan dances: let us look
back and ask the founder of the treaty day celebration, he’s the reviver
and influencer of all the custom practices. . . . [When we received allot-
ments and patents] we was told . . . that all the people was called citi-
zens . . . with all the rights and privileges as any other citizen of the
united states; therefore I feel in liberty to go to any party or gathering or
dinner party what ever it may be as such citizen.”76 Balch was in no
mind to back down and was unafraid to exercise his right as a “citizen”
to sidestep Buchanan’s threat — a right he possessed by virtue of federal
actions and treaty provisions.

A month later, farmer-in-charge and Lummi tribal member William
McCluskey reported to Buchanan that he went to investigate dances at
the ceremonial “Smokehouse” on the Lummi Reservation and take
names. There Louis Washington, one of the dance leaders, announced to
the crowd “that they need not fear in carrying out their own custom and
that no white man’s law can stop them from such practice.”77 Tom
Squiqui, another dance leader, followed with an affirmation of Wash-
ington’s proclamation and added that “Treaty matters and Church
teachings” supported the legitimacy of their rights to perform the
dances.78 When the dances subsequently stopped, McCluskey admitted
that he could not claim credit. He explained to Buchanan: “As far as I
can understand the dancing is about ended but [I] can not say whether
it is through warnings that they have stopped or that their dancing sea-
son is now over.”79

McCluskey’s second option was the correct explanation, for the next
year the combination of Treaty Day celebrations and spirit dances
returned despite continuing efforts to discourage them. In 1921,
McCluskey noted, “Pagan Dances was held at Gooseberry Point this
Reservation in full swing according to the old custom on the face [pre-
text] of holding a Treaty Day celebration.”80 When tribal member John
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Alexis applied to the relatively new agency superintendent for permission
to perform “our social dance,” he cited connections to the treaty, Indi-
ans’ ability to police themselves against “whiskey,” and the fact that it
was “nature of the north west red people to be . . . happy as the great
spirit has given them enjoyment and pleasure.”81 Such frontal assaults
on federal authority meant that any transcript of resistance was at best
only partially hidden.

By the mid-1920s Treaty Day celebrations and the spirit dances were
inextricably linked, and the two had become performative marks of
Indian identity.82 Yet the dances and Treaty Day as performances had
room to grow and expand in meaning and purpose. In the late 1920s
and 1930s Treaty Day became an occasion for leaders of the North-
western Federation of American Indians — the same people who had
organized the multi-tribal Duwamish case — to transact their business
and plan political and legal strategies in a public forum of Indians from
various tribes as well as whites.83 During the 1930s Treaty Day cele-
brations at the Lummi and Swinomish reservations were large, multi-
tribal and international events drawing relatives and representatives from
British Columbia tribes as well as the greater Puget Sound region.84

That was also the character of Treaty Day celebrations in the 1940s
and 1950s. At the same time the celebrations also took on new meanings
of tribal power, first with the creation of new tribal constitutions and
then with the subsequent shift to a federal policy of terminating U.S.
protection for Indian tribes.85 Throughout the 1970s and 1980s Treaty
Day celebrations and dances continued to represent tribal strength.
Lummi Tribal chairman Sam Cagey told local reporters in 1978 that
“singing and dancing at the celebration represents a victory” for the
tribes against missionaries and federal officials who attempted to destroy
“our tradition and culture.” Chief and tribal council vice president Jim
McKay used the occasion to warn that “Congress is considering chang-
ing the treaties” and thus marked Treaty Day as a means to claim and
maintain the Treaty of Point Elliott. Tellingly, Cagey followed with a
comment regarding state fisheries closures as a violation of treaty fishing
rights.86 At the 1981 Treaty Day ceremonies, Joe Washington argued
that it was not a “celebration” but a “recognition” of broken treaty
promises, including the treaty fishing rights.87 The statements by Cagey,
McKay, and Washington reveal that in the last quarter of the twentieth
century, Treaty Day had become not only a vehicle for “spiritual prayers,
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songs, dances, spiritual medicine, and a noon dinner,” but also a venue
for public proclamations of resource control through the exercise of
treaty rights.

performances as transcripts of resistance

When Vernon Lane used his appearance at the 1999 Martin Luther King
Jr. Day event to highlight broken treaty promises and recruit allies, his
speech fit well into the long lineage of public performances of the
treaty.88 The variations over time in performances of the Stevens treaties
by Indians of the Puget Sound region came about because Indians mobi-
lized the treaties and their understandings of them for the purposes of the
day. In doing that, Indians did not “rewrite” the treaty promises or
invent new ones; rather, they elaborated creatively on the original prom-
ises and thus honored a tradition of invoking the treaties to achieve goals
they defined. In the early years their struggle was to find ways to articu-
late an Indian understanding of treaty terms and persuasively urge the
implementation of the treaty. Those who had been present to hear
Stevens could claim an authority and legitimacy. As those generations
passed and the focus shifted to teaching younger Indians about the
treaties, however, there was a need to emphasize resource control
because those resources were under increasing threat. By the twentieth
century, public treaty performances expanded to include displays of the
power of citizenship and religious freedom. The treaties also became
increasingly politicized as their role in court claims grew. The court of
public opinion took on more importance, and by the late twentieth cen-
tury, treaties and treaty performances became bulwarks of defense
against repression and dispossession.

Such transformations in the performance of treaties reveal how oral-
ity and the written word have evolved together, making treaties living
documents. The treaties have been central to the struggle for power not
only between Indians and non-Indians but also among Indians for the
past century and a half and have served to bring much of Indian  resis -
 tance into the open. Scholar Fran Lisa Buntman, in her study of prisoner
resistance in apartheid-era South Africa, has noted that acts of public
and private resistance are not mutually exclusive or absolute binaries,
but instead are related to each other. Resistance is most important, she
explains, when it “begins to appropriate power.”89 This links “hidden
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transcripts” of language and meaning, apparent only to those who share
the same cultural context, to the public discourses of recognizable and
understandable resistance for actors and audiences alike, especially in
the case of the treaties, because Indians and non-Indians were simulta-
neously actors and audience members in the performances. The treaties
were common scripts. The words in the treaties did not change, but Indi-
ans came together to challenge and redirect them even if they did not
fully subvert the “authorized script.”90 While the historical evidence
makes it clear that some of the messages in treaty performances are likely
to remain “hidden transcripts” of resistance, understandable only from
specific cultural perspectives, the same evidence demonstrates that Indi-
ans could also simultaneously translate performances meant for many
other people’s ears and eyes to convey messages, sometimes forcefully,
to a variety of audiences.
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6 Reserved for Whom?

defending and defining treaty rights

on the columbia river, 1880–1920

Andrew H. Fisher
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On May 15, 1905, the United States Supreme Court issued its
landmark decision in United States v. Winans, a case concern-
ing the treaty fishing rights of the Yakama Nation in south-

central Washington State.1 The ruling required fishwheel owners Audu bon
and Linnaeus Winans to stop impeding Indian access to traditional fish-
ing stations at the Tumwater fishery along the Columbia River. Justice
Joseph McKenna, writing for an eight-man majority, eloquently articu-
lated the rationale: “The right to resort to the fishing places in contro-
versy was a part of larger rights possessed by the Indians, upon the
exercise of which there was not a shadow of impediment, and which
were not much less necessary to the existence of the Indians than the atmo -
sphere they breathed.” An 1855 treaty had reserved that right, along
with any others not specifically granted, which the Winans brothers
could not legally restrict even on their own property. In reaching this
conclusion, McKenna held further that treaties generally must be con-
strued as the Indians understood them at the time of negotiation. His-
torians and legal scholars rightfully regard his opinion as a major victory
for tribal sovereignty as well as treaty rights, but its legacy was more
complicated and more problematic for the Native peoples of the Middle
Columbia River.2 From an ethnohistorical perspective there is cause to



question whether the Court’s construction of treaty fishing rights fully
accorded with that of the Indians.3

The Winans decision, together with the related cases United States v.
Taylor (1887) and United States v. Seufert (1919), helped redefine the
nature of the very rights it protected. All three court actions were
responses to challenges from non-Indian competitors who had obstructed
Native access to traditional fishing sites on the Mid-Columbia River.4

In each case the federal courts found illegal interference with treaty
rights, but the litigation also made it clear that the government construed
off-reservation fishing as a tribal entitlement belonging to the confed -
erations established by treaty in 1855. Federal officials dealt primarily
with reservation Indian leaders and treated fishing sites as tribal prop-
erty. In doing so, they ignored indigenous traditions of village autonomy
and family ownership of resource sites. Native trial testimony reveals
that Indians did not immediately or universally accept the federal view.
In legal terms, however, fishing rights and fishing sites became collective
possessions rather than the privately held (though widely shared) assets
of aboriginal custom. The fact that this transformation coincided with
the allotment of reservation lands, an assimilationist policy designed to
convert tribal property into individual private properties, is one of the
many ironies that punctuate the history of federal Indian policy and law.

This case study of the Taylor-Winans-Seufert trilogy suggests that
Indian treaties and their judicial interpretations became significant agents
of tribal ethnogenesis and cultural change. As instruments of American
colonialism, treaties and court decisions reshaped more than they
reflected the complex realities of indigenous social and political life. They
created powerful legal fictions that eventually compelled Native Ameri-
cans to alter their diverse property regimes and legal cultures to suit the
designs of the dominant society.5 In the Columbia Basin this shift
occurred slowly and with considerable debate among Indians. Some
turned American law to their own advantage, using it to gain access to
places they could not fish before, while others employed it as a club
against competing groups. The decline of the salmon runs and the dis-
appearance of traditional fisheries beneath reservoirs only deepened
inter- and intratribal divisions as the twentieth century progressed. From
the 1880s to the 1920s, however, the Indians’ main antagonists were the
fishwheel operators and cannery owners seeking to monopolize the river-
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front. The non-Indians’ attempts to nullify the treaties, or to categorically
exclude entire tribes, forced the federal government to defend and simul-
taneously define the rights reserved in those agreements.

The so-called Stevens and Palmer treaties of 1855 laid the legal foun-
dation for the reordering of indigenous property rights.6 In order to gain
title to Indian lands and remove Native inhabitants to reservations, the
U.S. government had to identify the signatory “tribes,” define their var-
ious territories, and select the proper “head chiefs” with whom to nego-
tiate. This process, driven by political expediency rather than aboriginal
reality, required the radical modification of Native institutions. On the
Columbia Plateau winter villages formed the largest political units in a
regional network of people who shared territory and cultural practices,
engaged in economic exchange, and intermarried extensively. Family ties
crisscrossed the area, bridging both geographic barriers and linguistic
boundaries, and people moved in and out of different social groupings
throughout the year. In this world of interconnected communities, indi-
vidual Indians had multiple associations and multifaceted identities that
greatly complicated attempts to categorize them.

Using pieces of the aboriginal pattern, American treaty commission-
ers partitioned the southern portion of the Columbia Plateau into terri-
tories to be ceded and grouped their residents into several purported
confederations of tribes. Most of those living in villages north and west
of the Columbia River became nominal members of the Yakama Nation,
while those living south of it were ultimately folded into either the Con-
federated Tribes of Warm Springs or the Confederated Tribes of the
Umatilla Indian Reservation. Some Indians actually settled on the reser-
vations, but many stayed on the river or spent much of the year away
from the agencies. On paper the treaty commissioners had arbitrarily
broken up social networks, reassigned political loyalties, and restruc-
tured group rights in an effort to create a system they could better com-
prehend and control. However, as scholar Russel Lawrence Barsh has
observed in this volume and historian Alexandra Harmon has shown in
her work on Puget Sound, the multifarious nature of Native identity “did
not collapse into reservation-based identities. On the contrary, residence
continued to be a part of identity, along with geographically extensive
networks of ancestry.” The remaking of Native space along the Colum-
bia River would take decades, but it had serious consequences for future
generations of Indian fishers.7
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Prior to the treaties, and for many decades after, kinship structured
access to the fisheries where Indians had caught salmon for nearly ten
thousand years before European contact. Although each village claimed
its own fishing grounds, specific sites belonged to individuals and fami-
lies. The rights to a particular cliff, rock, island, or scaffold descended
through inheritance, and the owners had to grant permission for others
to use it. Fishing rights thus created a major incentive to marry outside
one’s village, as a person could thereby acquire rights to several sites
across a wide area. The language of the treaties reconfigured this system
in subtle yet significant ways. Like the treaties on Puget Sound, which the
treaty commissioners used as a model, the agreements in the Columbia
Basin contained a nearly identical version of this familiar article: “The
exclusive right of taking fish in all the streams, where running through
or bordering said reservation, is further secured to said confederated
tribes and bands of Indians, as also the right of taking fish at all usual
and accustomed places, in common with the citizens of the Territory,
and of erecting temporary buildings for curing them; together with the
privileges of hunting, gathering roots and berries, and pasturing their
horses and cattle upon open and unclaimed land.”8

By vesting subsistence rights in the confederated tribes and bands, this
clause purported to transform individual and familial rights into tribal
possessions. At the same time the treaties permitted competition from
American citizens, who eventually used their nation’s land laws to reclas-
sify the riverfront as private property. Within a century of the treaties’
ratification, both Indians and non-Indians would be fishing in places they
could not have fished before as kinship networks and salmon chiefs faced
challenges from the state and tribal authorities empowered by Euro-
American legal culture.

Conflict between aboriginal practice and settler policy first erupted in
the 1880s. Following the arrival of the railroad and the fishwheel in the
Columbia Basin, white homesteaders and packing companies began
pushing aside Indian dipnetters and blasting channels for their water-
powered harvesters. By 1900 five canneries and dozens of wheels lined
the river between the Cascades and Celilo Falls.9 Although many Native
fishers eventually sold salmon to the packers, they deeply resented the
usurpation of their treaty-reserved fishing grounds. As Yakama Indian
agent James Wilbur explained in 1881: “The Indians have always
regarded these fishing stands as their own property, as much as the house

Reserved for Whom? 189



map 6.1 Columbia Gorge villages and fisheries. Inset: The Dalles area. Follow-

ing Robert A. Habersham, comp., J. K. Gill & Co’s map of Washington Terri-

tory (Portland, OR: J. K. Gill & Co., 1878).
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*Alternate names for Nixluidix: Echeloot, Spearfish, Spedis, Wishram
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or barn of any citizen; they never contemplated giving the whites the
privilege of taking possession of them, but I believe when they signed
the treaty supposed they were only giving the whites the privilege of tak-
ing fish at the fishery, from other stands.”10

This culturally grounded and legally sound interpretation of the
phrase “in common with the citizens of the Territory” held no water
with white competitors, who read the treaty language to mean that they
had equal standing at the tribal fisheries. They also assumed that Euro-
American concepts of property ownership trumped whatever claims the
Indians might have to their “usual and accustomed places.” Accordingly,
once citizens and companies had acquired land adjoining the fisheries,
they often tried to block Native access to the river.

The trouble at Tumwater started with Frank Taylor, whose father
William had cobbled together five contiguous homestead sections
embracing the highly productive fishery across from The Dalles, Ore-
gon. In 1881 he began leasing two prized fishing stands to a trio of white
men intent on catching salmon for profit. They in turn prevented the
Indian owners from using the rocks where their people had fished for
generations. On several occasions, the Indians alleged, “the whites had
taken away their dip-nets, and driven them from the fishing stands at
the point of the revolver.” Fearing starvation, the Indians beseeched the
Yakama agency for assistance in reclaiming their ancestral inheritance.
Agent Wilbur managed to negotiate a compromise, whereby the whites
agreed to fish one of the stands on alternate days, but Taylor refused to
concede that the Indians had a superior right. Since he had secured a fee
patent from the federal government, “the fishery was his property, which
he considered himself perfectly justified using to the best advantage, and
had therefore leased.” If the Indians wanted to fish there, he informed
Wilbur, “he would dispose of his interest to the [Interior] Department for
$3000.00, which he considered much below its real value.” The Indian
Office dismissed his offer out of hand, and the situation deteriorated rap-
idly.11

Taylor’s provocative behavior finally compelled the federal govern-
ment to take legal action. In 1884 he ran a barbed-wire fence across the
Colwash Trail, the only path to the Tumwater fishery, arguing that it
was necessary to stop the Indians from camping and pasturing horses
on his land. When the Yakama agency dispatched some of its Indian
police to keep the trail open, Taylor sued them for damages in county
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court. The Justice Department retaliated with a lawsuit on behalf of the
Yakama Nation, United States v. Frank Taylor, which reached the
Supreme Court of Washington Territory on appeal from the plaintiff.
While recognizing Taylor’s title to the land, the court held that “the
Treaty privilege of the Indians to take fish was an easement upon it at the
time the government conveyed the title and that such title did not extin-
guish the easement.” In other words treaty Indians had the right to cross
private property when passing to and from their traditional fishing sites.
This opinion reversed the initial ruling of the district court and remanded
the case for a new trial, resulting in an injunction against Taylor in Octo-
ber 1887. The tribes had won the first battle, but the war had only just
begun.12

Neither the court order nor the transfer of title to Orson D. Taylor,
an unrelated Baptist minister, ended white opposition to Native fishing
at Tumwater. Indeed, the new owner turned out to be even less charita-
ble and more devious than the previous one. Citing the fact that some
Indian fishers lived off the reservation and claimed homesteads, which
required them to forswear any tribal allegiances, Reverend Taylor con-
tended that they had severed their tribal relations and forfeited their
treaty rights. His argument followed a seductive but spurious line of rea-
soning. In fact, many Indians came to Tumwater from the reservations,
drawn by the age-old lure of salmon and the enduring bonds of kinship.
Even those who had obtained land on the public domain maintained de
facto tribal relations through family ties and continued participation in
the seasonal round. The Indian Office rejected Taylor’s cynical manipu-
lation of the law on the narrow grounds that the Indian Homestead Act
permitted entrants to retain their shares of tribal property. However, the
case showed that the notion of usual and accustomed fishing places
belonging to tribes, not individuals and families, left some Indians vul-
nerable to attack. In the clashes yet to come, adversaries like Taylor
would use the government’s own categories against the people they sup-
posedly defined.13

The concept of ceded tribal areas, central to the process of treaty mak-
ing, proved irresistible to foes of Native fishing. Within nine months of
the Taylor decision, the Oregon Railway and Navigation Company
brought trespassing charges against Indians fishing at customary loca-
tions on the Washington side of the Cascade rapids. W. H. Holcomb, the
company’s general manager, insisted the charges were justified because
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the ceded territory described in the Yakama treaty “[did] not include the
land where these Indians have been fishing, hence no agreements made in
that Treaty could possibly be applied to this land.” Furthermore, he
argued, the railroad had purchased the property from a settler who per-
fected his claim under the Oregon Donation Land Act of 1850, nine years
before Congress ratified the Yakama treaty. The Taylor case therefore
had no bearing on the current dispute because the fishing easement had
not been established when the land left the public domain. Holcomb was
wrong on both counts. Besides accepting the false premise that the treaties
had granted a privilege to the tribes, he assumed that Mid-Columbia
 Indians had once stayed within a fixed set of tribal boundaries. The Indian
Office promptly pointed out these erroneous assumptions, which its own
policies had fostered, but they remained potent legal weapons for adver-
saries committed to keeping Indians away from the river.14

Native fishers affiliated with the Warm Springs Reservation also lived
in the shadow of the 1865 Huntington treaty, which supposedly sur-
rendered the off-reservation hunting and fishing rights reserved ten years
earlier. Although federal officials had never enforced that agreement
because of its fraudulent character, white competitors claimed that the
Indian parties to it had forfeited their fishing grounds on the Columbia.
River dwellers and reservation residents alike faced a serious threat, since
every Indian living south of the Columbia and west of the John Day
River ostensibly belonged to the Warm Springs agency. In May of 1887
an OIA field inspector listened to anxious tribal leaders recount their
understanding of the Huntington treaty. According to William Chinook,
the elder statesman of the Kiksht-speaking Wascos, Oregon Superin-
tendent of Indian Affairs J. W. Perit Huntington had said that the agree-
ment merely required Indians to “get a paper or a pass when we wanted
to go outside the Reservation.” They had not knowingly surrendered
their treaty rights, whatever the printed document said. “Huntington
told lies when he said so,” insisted Chinook. “We never sold any right
to fish. I don’t lie. My people would starve without their fish.” The
Warm Springs chief and former “renegade” Queahpahmah added a plea
for the Sahaptin-speaking residents of the reservation: “I feel here in my
heart that I and my people have been wronged by the white people, have
been cheated by Huntington agent of our rights to fish, have been driven
from [the] Columbia River like dogs, when we were promised protec-
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tion. Tell this to the President, and ask him to help me, and the Warm
Springs Indians at Simnasho.”15

Help arrived the following summer in the form of two special agents,
Thomas S. Lang and George W. Gordon, whose 1889 report furthered
the transformation of the fisheries into tribal spaces. Lang, posted in The
Dalles, spent the next five years trying to enforce the Taylor decision and
resolve fresh disputes between Indians and whites. He faced stubborn
resistance, however, and his own attitude made him a dubious advocate
for tribal interests. While highly critical of Taylor and other “fishery
whites,” Lang accepted the legitimacy of the Huntington treaty and often
appeared insensitive to Native concerns. The off-reservation Columbia
River Indians especially annoyed him with their “very unreasonable” and
“loud demands for immediate redress.” When seeking potential witnesses
to testify in court, Lang preferred to rely on the “best men” of the reser-
vation rather than enlist “blowhards such as we have here.”16

George Gordon shared his colleague’s ambivalence about their assign-
ment because it appeared to contradict the government’s policy of forc-
ing Indians to abandon their traditions and assimilate into American
society. During the summer and fall of 1888, Gordon traveled the
Columbia River from the Cascades to Wallula Gap seeking to buy land
for Indians near the fisheries. Congress appropriated $3,000 for that pur-
pose, but Gordon found few suitable tracts and fewer willing sellers.
Except for a handful of marginal plots, which he proposed withdrawing
from sale and settlement, virtually all the riparian property of value 
for fishing or camping had passed into private ownership. Gordon
approached seven owners on the Oregon side of the river, including two
Indian homesteaders, but he received only one attractive offer. While he
advised taking it “upon the ground of abstract justice to the Indians of
the Warm Springs Reservation,” he agreed with their agent’s opinion
that off-reservation fishing “had been an injury to the Indians and an
obstacle to their progress.” At the end of his voluminous report Gordon
suggested that the money go instead “to the development of their agri-
cultural and stock raising interests, from which a more certain and per-
manent source of subsistence could be secured and a better state of
morals and of society established among them.” Considering his luke-
warm support, it is hardly surprising that the government failed to
acquire any property for Indian fishers.17
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The Gordon Report further reinforced the idea that usual and accus-
tomed fishing places belonged to recognized tribes. In the treaties the
government had purported to transform personal and familial preroga-
tives into a collective entitlement governed by tribal affiliation. Hence,
when Gordon visited the fisheries, he identified the various Indians he
encountered with one or another of the neighboring agencies. Though
not entirely arbitrary or inaccurate, his labels simplified the situation in
a way that invited future conflict and endangered the rights of individ-
ual Indians. In his description of Celilo Falls, for example, Gordon asso-
ciated the fishery with “the Indians of the Warm Springs reservation and
the non-reservation Indians originally belonging to said reservation.”
This crude categorization not only ignored the presence of fishers affili-
ated with other bands at other agencies, it also implied that off- reservation
Indians residing at the falls were bound by the Huntington treaty — an
agreement their leaders had never signed. Opponents of tribal fishing had
already made this claim and would do so again in the future. Even as Gor-
don fought against their exclusionary efforts, his report gave them poten-
tial ammunition.18

Many Indians already understood the significance of affiliation with a
named treaty tribe, although they sometimes chose not to claim it. For
those living within the ceded area of the Middle Oregon treaty, Hunting-
ton’s handiwork offered an especially powerful incentive to avoid associ-
ation with the Warm Springs agency. In an 1885 report on the problems
at Celilo, agent Alonzo Gesner identified “six or eight hundred non-treaty
Indians, who live along the Columbia River . . . and want to be let alone.”
While these people had many reasons for wanting to be left alone, includ-
ing their general opposition to removal and assimilation, the fear of los-
ing their fishing rights provided additional incentive to claim nontreaty
status. Conversely, during Gordon’s investigation of the trespassing dis-
pute at the Cascades, the local Indians assured him that “they originally
belonged . . . to the Yakima tribes or nation, though not now residing
upon the Yakima reservation, and that they had been accustomed from
time immemorial to take fish at these fisheries.” Salmon remained a mat-
ter of survival for Mid-Columbia Indians, and federal policy tied access
to tribal membership. The answers they gave to Gordon’s questions could
determine whether the government provided or withheld support in the
struggle against white competitors.19

That struggle soon resumed at the Tumwater fishery. In the late 1880s
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brothers Audubon and Linnaeus Winans strung a fence across their
homestead that impeded Native travel to the river. Echoing the Taylors,
they insisted it was essential to protect their crops and pastures from
Indian ponies, yet the brothers lost no time in building three fishwheels.
Their barbed-wire barrier prevented Indians from reaching both the
accustomed fishing stations and an important natural spring. As a river
resident named White Salmon Charley recalled: “The children used to
crawl outside of the fence for water and tear their clothes. That is the
way the Winans are stopping the Indians from getting in.” “I seen
Winans Brothers,” added Charley Ike, who lived in the nearby village of
Wishram, “I said you have no right to blast rocks at salmon stations.
They said the Indians had no right to claim any more a fishery. If the
Indians want to make a fight, get them lawyers in Yakima and we will
have all the Indians drove into the reservation, that is what they said last
year to me.” Federal officials called the brothers’ bluff in 1897.20

The ensuing lawsuit, United States v. Winans, became a milestone in
the history of American Indian law and the first of nine Northwest fish-
ing rights cases to reach the U.S. Supreme Court. Hoping to overturn
the Taylor precedent, defense attorneys Charles H. Carey and Franklin
P. Mays raised several new arguments to bolster the Winans’ property
rights claim. First, they cited the Court’s recent ruling in Ward v. Race
Horse, which struck down Shoshone-Bannock treaty rights on the basis
of the constitutional provision that new states join the Union on an equal
footing with existing states. Because Washington’s 1889 admission to
statehood had supposedly abrogated treaties made during the territorial
period, the Winans’ lawyers contended, Indians held only the common
right to fish enjoyed by all citizens of the state. The defense then
advanced the rather contradictory assertion that their clients’ use of
state-licensed wheels gave them a right superior to that of Native dip-
netters, “since wheel fishing is one of the civilized man’s methods, as
legitimate as the substitution of the modern combine harvester for the
ancient sickle and flail.” Even when erected at traditional grounds, fish-
wheels did not deprive Indians because their common right “[applied] to
no certain and defined places.” In other words, the Winans team alleged,
Indians could always catch salmon somewhere else on the river.21

This final argument played on the notion that the fisheries originally
belonged to recognized tribes with well-defined populations and bound-
aries. According to that logic, any member of the Yakama Nation or its
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fourteen constituent groups could take salmon at any usual and accus-
tomed place within the tribes’ ceded area. Fishing sites were thus inter-
changeable and open to all comers, regardless of their aboriginal ancestry
and family history. In the courtroom, however, Native testimony exposed
serious defects in this line of thinking. Take, for instance, an exchange
between defense attorney Franklin Mays and Sam Tanawasha, a long-
time resident of Wishram Village. When asked if he was a Yakama
Indian, Tanawasha replied: “My mother is a Wisham [Wishram], I am
right there at Wisham.”22 Mays then pressed him on the issue of fish-
eries, trying to elicit the desired response:

Q: Do you know about the fishery called Skin?

A: That is another tribe’s fishing ground.

Q: Isn’t there a good fishery there?

A: It is a fishing ground that belongs to another group of Indians.

Q: Couldn’t you go there and fish?

A: No, I can’t fish there, the Indians won’t allow me, I couldn’t go there.

Q: Are not the Indians that do fish there part of the Yakima Nation?

A: They used to go, some that have relatives there, go to Skin, at Wisham

there is more salmon.23

Mays’s cross-examination of other Indians produced similar results.
Hoping to prove that people enrolled in the Yakama Nation could fish
anywhere within their tribal territory, he instead demonstrated that
indigenous conceptions of ownership still governed the fisheries almost
forty years after the treaties became law.

Although Indian witnesses used the term “tribe,” or at least had their
words translated that way, their testimony showed that the concept still
puzzled some people. They understood that the Yakama treaty protected
their right to fish at all usual and accustomed places. They did not
assume that it dictated universal access to those sites, however, as
Wishram resident Martin Spedis later explained: “The various fishing
stations were the private property of individual family groups and they
were handed down from generation to generation . . . it had always been
that way and the Indians always recognized their own rights to family
stations.”24 People from Wishram and their relatives fished primarily at
Tumwater, while residents of Skin and their relations generally caught
salmon farther upstream at Celilo Falls. White Swan, named as one of
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the co-plaintiffs in the case, claimed fishing rights at Wishram because his
wife came from that community, not because he served as head chief of
the Yakama Nation. For many off-reservation Indians in particular, abo-
riginal attachments still mattered more than the tribal categories created
by treaty. Hence, when Mays interrogated witnesses such as Joe Kolocken
about their identity, it often produced confusion and consternation on
both sides:

Q: You belong to the Yakima tribe or nation of Indians?

A: Yes, I used to go there.

Q: I am asking you if you belong to the Yakima tribe or nation of Indians.

A: I don’t belong, I am not a Yakima.

Q: What are you?

A: Wisham.25

The sticking point was the difference between aboriginal identity and
post-treaty tribal affiliation. Kolocken possessed legal rights under the
Yakama treaty, by virtue of his membership in the signatory and con-
stituent Wishram “tribe,” and he sometimes visited the reservation
where many of his people had settled. In his view, however, traveling to
that place and associating with its residents did not make him a Yakama
or give him the right to fish anywhere along the river.26

Native testimony also frustrated defense efforts to minimize the sig-
nificance of salmon for tribal subsistence. Pointing to the idealized vision
of land allotment, not its actual results, Mays suggested that Indians no
longer needed fish because they had become farmers. This argument,
aimed at the so-called progressives on the reservations, ran headlong into
a wall of traditionalism. Bill Charley, a lifelong river dweller, raised some
hay and potatoes on his allotment yet still depended on fishing for food
and cash. “I don’t know how the people live that went over [to Fort Sim-
coe], I have not been on the reservation,” he told Mays, “but I used just
as much salmon as I ever did.” Speaking for reservation residents, White
Swan declared: “I can’t myself get along without the salmon, I don’t
know how to eat hog meat, I don’t like it very well myself and that is the
way it is with the other Indians, I suppose.” As he understood it, the
treaty assured them “you have your rights in the Columbia River to get
this fish, the great father in Washington is not asking you for this river
or this salmon, all the great father wants [is] the land for whites to  settle
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by and by. But as long as the world stays here you will have all the
salmon you want in this river all the time.” A host of other witnesses
said the same thing. Unable to prove its claims, and unwilling to accept
the Native interpretation of the fishing clause, the defense team ulti-
mately dismissed Indian testimony as “incompetent and inadmissible
when it would tend to vary the plain stipulations of the treaty.”27

The federal district judge agreed with the defense, but the Supreme
Court overturned his decision on appeal and set forth two vital princi-
ples governing treaty interpretation. The first stated that treaties must
be construed as the Indians understood them at the time and “as justice
and reason demand,” since the United States exerted superior power
over the “unlettered” tribal representatives. The second, known as the
reserved rights doctrine, held that treaties were “not a grant of rights to
the Indians, but a grant of rights from them — a reservation of those not
granted.” Putting these principles into action, Justice McKenna declared
that members of the Yakama Nation had retained their existing rights to
cross the land, to fish at usual and accustomed places, and to erect tem-
porary houses for curing their catch. Neither private property nor supe-
rior technology gave the Winans family an exclusive claim to the fishery,
and they could not restrict the Indians in their use of it. Although Wash-
ington State might regulate their fishing, it too was bound to respect
Indian treaties that preceded its admission to the Union.28

McKenna never explicitly addressed whether fishing rights resided in
the tribe or with individuals because it did not bear directly on the issues
at hand. In defining the scope of the treaties, he did recognize that they
had reserved rights “to every individual Indian, as though named therein.
They imposed a servitude upon every piece of land as though described
therein.” Throughout the opinion, however, he referred to the plaintiffs
as “Yakima Indians” or “certain Indians of the Yakima Nation.” While
correct in the sense intended by U.S. treaty makers, such labels flattened
persistent ethnic distinctions and implied that the Wishram fishery at
Tumwater belonged to all “Yakima Indians,” despite substantial testi-
mony to the contrary. This construction of the treaties, conveyed to Indi-
ans by their agents and attorneys, laid the groundwork for tribal claims
to the fisheries later in the century. Nevertheless, most Indians still adhered
to the aboriginal conception of fishing sites. Writing in 1924, Yakama
superintendent Evan W. Estep professed to be “doubtful about whether
any one Indian can claim the exclusive right of fishing from a particular
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rock or island, yet I note that numbers of them claim this right as one
which descended to them from someone else.” The tension between these
perspectives became glaringly obvious in the conflicts to come.29

The Winans decision, like the earlier Taylor case, failed to bring last-
ing peace on the river. Regulatory disputes with Washington State
loomed in the near future, and the ruling changed nothing on the Ore-
gon shore, where the Huntington treaty still threatened Indian fishing
rights. Natives on that side of the river took salmon at the whim of the
Seufert Brothers Company, which claimed most of the riparian property
between The Dalles and Celilo Falls. By the time Winans went to trial,
many local Indians had signed contracts to supply fish to the canneries.
Seufert Brothers sold twine for nets, extended credit during the off-sea-
son, and allowed Indians employed by the company to take scrap lum-
ber for fuel and scaffolding. The cannery’s Chinese butchers also gave
Indians discarded fish heads and tails, which they then dried and sold to
visiting reservation residents. Owner Frank Seufert even allowed Indians
to camp on his land as long as they did not damage his property or inter-
fere with the wheels. His company had a history of aggressive land acqui-
sition, however, and many Indians already resented him for blasting
away traditional fishing sites near Tumwater. He antagonized them fur-
ther by testifying for the Winans brothers and purchasing their land
shortly before the case concluded. As his empire grew in the early twen-
tieth century, he did not hesitate to challenge Indian fishing when it con-
flicted with his business interests.30

Seufert’s principal confrontation with the treaties arose from the activ-
ities of an Indian named Sam Williams, an erstwhile company employee
and the minister of the Indian Shaker Church at The Dalles. In 1907,
Williams filed a homestead entry on behalf of his granddaughter for
eighty acres adjoining Three Mile Rapids. Known to Native people as
Wah-sucks, or Lone Pine, the area had once been a traditional fishing
and camping ground for several villages on both sides of the river.
Williams had obtained aboriginal rights to the fishery from its previous
owner, Wasco Charley, but Seufert already claimed the surrounding land.
By the time the General Land Office cancelled Williams’s entry in 1915,
he had begun operating a state-licensed fishing scow from a mooring on
the contested point. Seufert tolerated Williams’s presence and even helped
him secure licenses as long as he sold his catch to the company.

In the summer of 1913, however, Williams switched to a buyer who
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offered better prices and hired several white men to work his scow. Their
vessel competed with two of Seufert’s Indian crews, which tried to stop
Williams’s scow from fishing that season. When his crew returned the
following spring, Seufert took matters into his own hands — literally —
and set their boat adrift. His employees repeated the offense four more
times during the 1914 season, arguing that Williams had trespassed on
company property. Williams sued for $2,000 in damages and requested
an injunction to prevent the company from using the disputed river
frontage. Anticipating a difficult battle, he called on the Yakama agency
to help “protect my indian fishing right along river . . . [I] cannot fight
millionaire corporation in courts without help of indian department.”
Another fish fight had begun.31

Throughout the ensuing trial, known as United States ex. rel.
Williams v. Seufert Brothers, questions swirled around the identity of
Sam Williams. Born to a Yakama father and a Cowlitz mother, he had
spent part of his youth west of the Cascade Mountains. Although he
had taken an allotment on the Yakama Reservation in 1897, he later
sold part of it and moved to an Indian homestead along the Columbia
River. Consequently, his rights as a member of the Yakama Nation
seemed dubious to Seufert, who exploited popular notions of “blood”
and “tribe” to argue that the treaty had no bearing on the case. In an
angry letter to the U.S. district attorney, Seufert declared: “I cannot
allow Indians of the Sam Williams stripe, who really do not belong here,
but belong to western Washington Agency, to come here, gather up
some white trash to stand behind them, so they can ask the Govern-
ment to do their lawing for them. Williams belongs to the Quinault
Reservation, and they have good fishing grounds there, and he should
be made to go there.”32

Echoing this sentiment, Seufert witness Charles Switzler informed a
federal attorney that Williams “hasn’t any more rights on that place then
[sic] I have. I told him this Sam is a different person from all the
Wasco’s[,] he doesn’t belong there and never was raised there. I said to
the lawyer, ‘[E]ven I have a little Wasco blood in me and I don’t bother
about any fisherys [sic].’” In fact, Williams’s right to fish at Lone Pine
rested on his arrangements with the late Wasco Charley and his mar-
riage to a Wasco woman named Susie, not on any personal claim to
Wasco identity. Under the government’s system of tribal classification,
however, he remained vulnerable to charges that he had no place on the
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Columbia River at all. Even the Justice Department harbored doubts and
only agreed to proceed after the Indian Office assured that Williams had
been allotted as “a straight Yakima Indian.”33

Seufert’s defense dropped the Cowlitz identity issue at trial, choosing
instead to attack the rights of the Yakama Nation as a whole. Knowing
that the company could not lawfully exclude treaty Indians in light of the
Winans decision, his lawyers set out to prove that the confederated tribes
possessed no fishing rights south of the Columbia River. The concept of
ceded areas played straight into their hands. As the treaty commission-
ers had rendered it on paper, Yakama territory ended at the water’s
northern edge. The agency superintendent, Don M. Carr, privately
admitted that to be his own understanding and also wondered whether
the treaty applied to Indians fishing commercially with modern technol-
ogy. Seufert’s attorneys argued that even if Williams was an Indian and
a member of the Yakama Nation, he could not possibly have a “usual and
accustomed” fishing place on the Oregon shore. Those sites belonged to
the tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation, which had supposedly given
up their off-reservation rights in 1865. The logic was as clear and cold as
the river itself. If the court accepted it, Seufert Brothers Company would
become the principal owner and arbiter of fishing privileges on the Ore-
gon side of the Columbia.34

At the initial hearing on May 24, 1915, district court judge Charles
E. Wolverton leaned toward the defendant’s point of view. The govern-
ment avowed that “the Indians upon one side went to the other side,
and vice versa, and that the fishing was a right in common,” but he
remained skeptical. In his opinion the Warm Springs Indians had sur-
rendered their off-reservation rights in the Huntington treaty, leaving
“the right as claimed by the Yakimas to be established upon their own
customs, and upon their own practices, in fishing upon the south side.”
The testimony of several non-Indian witnesses and two elderly tribal
leaders failed to satisfy Wolverton. He lifted a temporary injunction
against Seufert Brothers but kept the case open, giving the government
a chance to produce additional evidence and initiate further proceed-
ings. If it chose to do so, he advised, “the plaintiff should enlarge the
scope of his action, and include the Yakima Indians as a tribe, or their
confederated tribes, so as to secure the community right belonging to
those confederated tribes, if they have one.”35

This final word of advice reflected Wolverton’s judgment that fishing
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rights were indeed a tribal prerogative, which Williams had forfeited by
accepting U.S. citizenship. Since he was no longer a member of an Indian
community, one of a tribe or band, his lawsuit could not establish any
rights on behalf of the Yakama Nation. Wolverton based this opinion on
the fact that Williams had received a fee patent for his allotment and had
taken an Indian homestead on the public domain, which required him to
swear that he had severed “tribal relations” and adopted “the habits and
pursuits of civilized life.” On the surface Williams had met these stipula-
tions. He resided off-reservation, held landed property, operated a fishing
scow, wore Euro-American clothing, and presided over a nominally Chris-
tian church. For making such adjustments, the government had rewarded
him with citizenship. Yet there is little reason to believe that Williams had
truly severed tribal relations or ceased to think of himself as an Indian.
Though more acculturated than many of his neighbors, he still spoke the
Cowlitz language and lived among Indians in an off-reservation commu-
nity. As a leader of the Indian Shaker Church, he ministered to Native
people visiting the fisheries, healed their sick, and worked to protect their
religious freedom against government persecution — all activities that
entailed maintaining connections to his co-religionists on the reservations.
Williams’s life suggested no contradiction between “citizen” and “Indian,”
but the law framed them as exclusive categories.36

The Justice Department responded to Wolverton’s advice by naming
the Yakama Nation as a plaintiff and broadening the pool of evidence
concerning traditional fishing practices. To counter Seufert’s contention
that Indians from the north never fished south of the Columbia, agency
superintendents recruited an army of witnesses who had seen or done
that very thing.37 Tomar Handley, a venerable Wasco resident of the
Warm Springs Reservation, testified to the historic mingling of diverse
peoples at The Dalles:

Q: Did the Wasco Indians ever object to the Yakima Indians coming across

to fish at Wah-sucks?

A: No.

Q: Well did the Yakimas ever object to the Wascos going over on their side?

A: No.

Q: Why did not one tribe, either the Yakimas or the Wascos, object to the

other tribe fishing there?

A: Well, they were friendly, and they were related through marriage.38
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The theme of kinship also permeated the statements of “Old Man”
Pipeshire (Simtustus), an octogenarian Warm Springs Indian who tradi-
tionally fished at Celilo Falls:

Q: What were the relations of the tribes that met there, as to whether or not

they would dispute or have trouble among themselves?

A: Never was any dispute, they married back and forth.

Q: What tribes were married back and forth?

A: The Indians married over to Wash-ham [sic] and the Yakima, and the

Yakimas married over to the Wascos and Celilos.39

Again and again, Indians and non-Indians alike affirmed that the river
was not a wall between separate and distinct tribes. “We knew no Ore-
gon or Washington. We knew only that the shores were our fishing
grounds,” declared George Waters, who succeeded his brother White
Swan as the head chief of the Yakama Nation. Even in 1915, said a res-
ident of Skin called Doctor Sheawa, the Columbia remained “a table for
[Indians on] both sides of the river. It laid right in between them, and
they came and ate and were gone.” Family relationships governed where
people sat at this table, but many guests could choose from a number of
different chairs.40

The weight of oral evidence presented at trial shifted Judge Wolver-
ton’s opinion in favor of the Indians. On May 1, 1916, he ruled that
Lone Pine was indeed a traditional fishing site for the confederated tribes
of the Yakama Nation and that Seufert Brothers “should be enjoined
from exercising any pretended fishing right along or within this space.”
Citing the canons of treaty construction established in the Winans deci-
sion, Wolverton demolished the assumption that ceded areas limited
tribal fishing grounds. “The Indian tribes did not themselves occupy defi-
nite territory with fixed and exact boundaries,” he wrote, “and it is with-
out doubt that the different tribes commingled more or less, and roamed
about. . . . And so of their fishing — there was no monopoly by any one
tribe of any specific and fixed territory.” The ceded areas outlined in the
treaties were merely a convenient device for extinguishing aboriginal title
to the land. Drawn with that goal in mind, “they very naturally only fol-
lowed in a general way the very general idea that the Indians had of their
territorial delimitations.” Native representatives agreed to these bound-
aries with the understanding that their people could continue to hunt,
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gather, and fish at their usual and accustomed places. Those rights had
nothing to do with territorial boundaries, stated Wolverton, “since, to
their mind, all such places were being reserved for their benefit anyway.”
Although the concept of tribal rights remained intact, the courts had
seemingly laid to rest the illusion of tightly bounded and mutually exclu-
sive tribal territories.41

Ironically, the Indian who had initiated the whole proceeding lost his
own treaty rights as a result. Wolverton, expanding on his pronounce-
ment at the hearing, declared that Sam Williams had become a citizen
and could no longer demand government protection of his fishing rights.
He had ostensibly lost his tribal status by accepting a fee patent, adopt-
ing “the habits of civilized life,” and establishing his residence “separate
and apart from any tribe.” He possessed all the rights and privileges of
an ordinary citizen but retained none under the Yakama treaty, which
applied only to those still under the guardianship of the United States.
Thus, even as Wolverton struck down artificial geographical boundaries
between tribes, he reinforced the legal barrier between Indian identity
and American citizenship.

Only a month later the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision in United States
v. Nice removed this barrier, and in 1924, Congress unilaterally con-
ferred American citizenship on all Indians without stripping them of
tribal membership. Even then, however, Seufert insisted that Williams
was “not — so the court declared [ — ] an Indian.” Seufert also contin-
ued to disobey the federal court order directing his company to vacate
the contested river frontage. Judge Wolverton had cited him for con-
tempt of court in 1920, but the Oregon Supreme Court subsequently
upheld Seufert’s property right in the separate damage suit that Williams
initiated. Although Williams continued to fish at Lone Pine for several
years, he did so as a regular citizen under contract with Seufert Brothers
Company. Clearly frustrated by the arrangement and by the decline of
his Shaker congregation, he moved downstream to Hood River in the
late 1920s.42

While Seufert welcomed the court’s dismissal of the “troublemaker”
Williams, he had no intention of accepting the decision that members of
the Yakama Nation possessed treaty rights at Lone Pine. “To my knowl-
edge,” he informed The Oregonian, “they have not fished there for
thirty-five years, and to our witnesses’ knowledge, about the same
time. . . . None that fished for us were witnesses; those that did testify
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were drummed up from all parts, (except around the vicinity of our
plant) old reservation Indians that never come to the river, and all this
to create public sentiment.” In Seufert’s appeal to the U.S. Supreme
Court, his lawyers challenged the tribal construction of the treaty on the
grounds that it “imposes a servitude upon the Oregon soil.” Since the
Yakama treaty applied to Washington, they claimed, this servitude
unfairly burdened property owners who had not anticipated it when they
bought land in Oregon. The Supreme Court heard this argument in
March 1919 but unanimously affirmed Wolverton’s decree. The Indi-
ans’ interpretation of the treaty was clear, declared Justice John Clarke,
and their continued presence at the fisheries was so evident “that any
person, not negligently or wilfuly [sic] blind to the condition of the prop-
erty he was purchasing, must have known of them.” After three decades
of litigation, Mid-Columbia Indians had finally established their right of
access to the river’s precious salmon runs.43

In the process of defending the treaties, however, many Indians came
to accept the government’s legal restructuring of the fisheries. Indeed,
some had already begun to act on the assumption that they could fish
anywhere their tribe had recognized treaty rights. In 1915 an Indian
homesteader named Emma Dave asked the Yakama agency to stop Olie
Charley from fishing on her land along the Klickitat River. “He is a
Tumwater Indian, and owns interest in fishwheels at Tumwater,” she
explained, but the poor spring runs had driven him to Klickitat Falls. “I
have forbid him of coming on my premises but he says that he has a
right to fish here because he is an Indian, and he is still fishing.” Dave’s
complaint revealed the conflict brewing between the tribal right outlined
in the treaties and the individual rights of aboriginal custom. Charley
assumed that his membership in the Yakama Nation enabled him to fish
at any of the aboriginal locations reserved by the treaty. Dave accorded
him only the privileges of a visitor, and her family could not afford gen-
erosity because there was “not a very large run of salmon this year and
we need them all for our own use.” Because Charley no longer respected
aboriginal practice, Dave could only hope that the government would
enforce her rights as a landowner.44

Similar disputes erupted at Celilo Falls, where some Indians attempted
to turn Seufert’s arguments against fishers from the Yakama Reser vation.
In 1922, three years after the Supreme Court affirmed the Seufert deci-
sion, several witnesses accused the local headman Tommy Thompson and

Reserved for Whom? 207



a Umatilla enrollee named Andrew Barnhart of trying to collect a $5 fee
from members of the Yakama Nation before permitting them to catch
salmon on the south side of the river. Two white men were also impli-
cated in this alleged scheme, but Yakama Superintendent Don Carr
focused his wrath on the Oregon Indians. Although the Indians’ precise
motives remain a matter of speculation, the cultural and historical context
suggests something more than a desire for monetary gain. In recent years
the Celilo fishery had grown increasingly crowded as irrigation dams on
the Yakima and Umatilla rivers damaged the runs there and forced Indi-
ans away from their traditional locations. Many of the newcomers to
Celilo had no customary place at the falls, and Chief Thompson rejected
the claim that they had rights under the Yakama treaty. As he later testi-
fied in the 1930s, Yakamas already had “many favorable locations at
which to fish on their side of the River . . . [where] Celilo and Oregon Indi-
ans are not permitted to fish.”45 The family table that Doctor Sheawa
spoke of in 1915 was in danger of being overturned by an intertribal
squabble that had started with rumors and false accusations made in court.

If Thompson and Barnhart did attempt to impose a fee on Yakama
fishers, it may have represented an attempt to preserve Thompson’s
mediating role as the “salmon chief,” who had traditionally regulated the
fishery and adjudicated outsiders’ requests to use particular sites. Such
behavior clashed with the federal government’s construction of the
treaties, however, and the Yakama superintendent lashed out at Barn-
hart. “As a member of the Umatilla tribe I do not understand that you
have any Treaty fishing rights on the Columbia River,” he scolded, “and
certainly you do not have any under the Yakima Treaty.” The reprimand
had little effect. In 1925 and again in 1927, Barnhart allegedly ordered
Yakamas to leave Celilo because they had no rights in Oregon. The
embarrassed Umatilla agent assured his colleague that “what [Barnhart
knows] about the legal status of affairs on the Oregon side of the Colum-
bia River would not fill a very large book.” Thanks to the Seufert case,
however, he knew enough to make trouble for other Indians.46

Disagreements within and between the tribes intensified over the next
forty years, even as they struggled to fend off the common threat of state
regulation. With salmon runs dwindling and other fisheries disappear-
ing beneath reservoirs, many Indians migrated to the remaining sites
between The Dalles and Celilo Falls. The Celilo Fish Committee (CFC),
created in 1936 to settle the proliferating disputes, provided a forum for

208 andrew h. fisher



competing visions of the fishery. Local residents and people with ances-
tral fishing stations, such as Chief Thompson, viewed treaty rights as a
legal umbrella beneath which traditional rules still applied. By contrast,
newcomers and advocates of tribal control embraced the framework
established in the treaties and reinforced through litigation.47 As Barn-
hart explained to the CFC in 1942: “I was appointed a fish committee-
man from my Umatilla Reservation to protect my tribal rights. I can
remember the old people that fished here at Celilo — Wyam Indians. But
the white man has come here and ruled your location as a tribal rela-
tion . . . this Committee will not determine one individual ownership to
one location. But we must rule equal right.”48

Two decades later the courts finally settled the question in the case of
Whitefoot v. United States, which expressly defined treaty rights as tribal
property.49 Off-reservation activists such as David Sohappy still resisted
the change, but the tribes embraced it as an opportunity to exercise their
hard-won sovereignty. They began passing their own ordinances to reg-
ulate tribal fishing and eventually formed the Columbia River Inter-
Tribal Fish Commission to oversee enforcement efforts. Perhaps the final
blow to the “old ways” came in the early 1980s, when the Warm Springs
and Yakama councils reluctantly backed federal efforts to evict the
Sohappy family and other river residents from in-lieu fishing areas (built
to replace those flooded by Bonneville Dam) on the grounds that the
sites belonged to the tribes as a whole.50

Tensions among Indians, though more muted now, constitute but one
legacy of the legal restructuring initiated in 1855. In 2005, as the Native
nations that grew from the treaties staged their sesquicentennial com-
memorations, tribal leaders reminded the public that the United States
did not give Indians territory, sovereignty, or identity; they already pos-
sessed all of those things. Rather, federal treaty commissioners and
jurists took forms of social and political organization they did not fully
understand and repackaged them as “tribes.” Native people then had to
sort out the meaning of this transformation, including its ramifications
for such traditional activities as fishing. They have not always reached
the same conclusion, and the debates within and between tribal com-
munities provide a revealing window into Indian intellectual history.

Like contemporaneous discussions of tribal land tenure, which histo-
rian Alexandra Harmon has documented in her work on Indian Terri-
tory, intra- and intertribal disputes over treaty fishing rights constituted
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a “broad bilateral and intercultural discourse” about economic culture,
political sovereignty, and group affiliation. Such debates are, Harmon
notes, “a potent reminder that Indians have an intellectual history whose
complex relationship to Euro-Americans’ intellectual history deserves
further research and thought.” The Taylor-Winans-Seufert trilogy has-
tened the redefinition of Mid-Columbia Indian communities in the eyes
of the law and eventually in the eyes of Indians themselves. To fully
understand the dynamics of that process, scholars must engage in the
sort of difficult, detailed genealogical research advocated by ethnohisto-
rian Russel Barsh. Only then will they be able to determine precisely how
the bonds of kinship that tied Indians to their fishing sites were strained
and snapped by the lowering weight of federal policy and jurispru-
dence.51
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7 Ethnogenesis and Ethnonationalism

from Competing Treaty Claims

Russel Lawrence Barsh
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einvented and imagined communities have been the focus of con-
siderable study and theoretical debate in the quarter century sinceRethnonationalism replaced communism as a preoccupation of

Western political leaders. Most case studies involve postcolonial envi-
ronments in which indigenous and tribal societies find themselves mar-
ginalized and physically dispossessed within newly established states.
This essay explores a rather different manifestation of ethnogenesis and
ethnonationalism, involving a persistent colonial environment in which
indigenous peoples reformulate their identities in a contest for legitimacy
and state-controlled resources. Anthropologist Alcida Ramos has
described a parallel competition among indigenous peoples in Brazil,
where the prize is state demarcation of reserves.1 In my case study, by
comparison, the prize is the enjoyment of treaty rights: that is, rights 
recognized by the state 150 years ago. It is not about disputed land
claims but rather about disputed inheritance or “successorship” among
“tribes.”

That “tribes” should dispute each other’s rights at all is a significant
development in the boundary waters of Washington State and British
Columbia, a region frequently referred to as the Salish Sea because of its
linguistic and cultural contiguity with Coast Salish – speaking peoples.
The anthropologist Wayne Suttles has argued convincingly for a Coast



Salish “continuum” rather than a mosaic of socially and economically
interrelated but politically distinct “tribes.”2 My experience since the
1970s as a lawyer for tribes, a traditional knowledge researcher, and a
tribal program director is consistent with Suttles’s characterization of
the historical Coast Salish ethos as both competitively individualistic and
strongly family based, with loyalties to family and class ordinarily
trumping ties to such geographical groupings as houses or villages. As the
historian Alexandra Harmon has shown, the underlying structure of
Coast Salish society began to change in the late nineteenth century, with
individuals thinking of themselves more broadly as “Indians” while also
self-identifying more firmly with particular Indian reservations and tribes
delineated by U.S. authorities.3 One important component of this social
transformation has been the association of harvesting rights, including
fishing, with membership in “tribes” rather than membership in partic-
ular extended families.

I contend in this essay that the implementation of treaty fishing rights
in western Washington since the 1970s has significantly increased the
economic relevance of “tribal” boundaries and the salience of “tribal”
affiliation in the public identities of Coast Salish peoples of western
Washington State and their present-day communities. Treaty litigation
culminated a process of replacing broad regional kinship networks with
jealously exclusive, ostensibly homogeneous local polities — a process
that began in the late nineteenth century with the establishment of Indian
reservations and continued in the early twentieth century with the orga -
nization of federally approved tribal governments on those reservations.
Coast Salish leaders and their lawyers asserted a “tribal” basis to fishing
rights within the context of a federal legal system that already presumed
the existence of discrete “tribes” and the collective nature of “tribal”
resource rights. Collapsing the Coast Salish system of interconnected
families and regional social classes into geographically discrete “tribes”
was not foreseen or intended by Coast Salish treaty signers, however.

the concept of “tribe”

U.S. law assumes that “tribes” are collective owners of Indian property.
Collective tribal ownership is a legal fiction, like the legal fictions that the
Americas were legally vacant when Europeans first arrived, or that
indigenous Americans lacked fixed settlements, institutions, or laws.
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Unlike other legal fictions that legitimized Europeans’ seizure of Indian
territories, such as terra nullius,4 the fiction of collective tribal ownership
has not only survived but prospered in the so-called era of Indian self-
determination, promoted by tribal governments. Emphasizing collective
tribal ownership strengthens a central government bureaucracy at the
expense of Indian families and indigenous customary laws.5

At the outset it is important to clarify the significance of the term
“tribe” as it has typically been used in Euro-American law. A household,
family, or lineage consists of a number of closely related individuals.
They share common ancestors in each generation. A “tribe” is a larger
group, comprised of many households, families, and lineages. They may
assert some ancient shared ancestry and history, but they are linked more
by shared institutions including language, systems of rank or leadership,
and defense of a territory.6 This is what the ancient Romans understood
by “tribe” (tribus): a territorial polity with a hierarchy of power, smaller
and less unified under law than a kingdom or state (civitas). In a tribe,
ancestry and kinship compete with law as bases of solidarity and author-
ity. In a state, law prevails over social solidarity, at least in principle.

It was convenient for European empires to categorize indigenous peo-
ples as tribal and divide them into “tribes” with distinct, bounded terri-
tories. It is easier to exact a land cession from a few purported tribal
chiefs than hundreds of families. What is more, a tribe was considered
civilized enough to sell its land but not civilized enough to assert the
right to keep its land for itself. A tribe was considered institutionalized
enough to be given some form of internal self-government as part of an
imperial scheme of indirect or proxy rule; but a tribe was supposedly
too backward to function as an independent international actor with-
out a protector or patron. Tribes were thus regarded as sufficiently
mature to sign treaties with European powers but too childlike to be
given access to the courts to enforce them.7 Francis Jennings, Robert
Williams, and John Borrows (among other scholars) have traced the
Euro-American use of law to define indigenous peoples into division and
submission.8

European imperial schemes profited from two complementary fic-
tions: that tribal polities always entrusted their leaders with absolute
authority over land and that all land was held and used in common,
undivided in any way that could embarrass the generosity of the chiefs.
(Anthropologist and national leader Jomo Kenyatta made this point
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forcefully when writing of his own people, the Kikuyu of East Africa.9)
British Imperial courts accordingly ignored the existence of customary
land tenure laws or substituted fictitious ones. In a 1919 appeal to the
House of Lords in the case of Southern Rhodesia,10 for example, the
Law Lords maintained that the King of Pondoland was an absolute des-
pot under Pondo law. Subsequent decisions in the British Common-
wealth interpreted this as authority that tribal peoples generally had no
laws— a pretense only recently abandoned in Australia and Canada.

In 1824 the U.S. Supreme Court took a somewhat different approach,
ruling in Johnson v. M’Intosh that U.S. courts cannot inquire into the
legitimacy of Indian signatures on a land cession: the validity and effect
of a land cession is determined solely by U.S. law, and the disappointed
customary owners or occupants of the land have recourse only to their
own Indian leaders and institutions. The effect of this principle belies its
pretended neutrality. Indigenous laws are irrelevant to land transactions
with the colonial state and do not create rights directly enforceable in the
state’s courts. Hence, as far as U.S. judges are concerned, those indige-
nous laws are nonexistent. U.S. judicial deference to present-day tribal
court systems has created an opportunity for Indians to reassert and
enforce customary systems of land tenure, but as I have shown elsewhere
in a survey of tribal court decisions, tribal courts themselves rarely
invoke traditional or customary laws.11 Rather, tribal courts generally
act as if real estate was always inherently collective or tribal, to be dis-
posed of as tribal leaders have seen fit.

International law (that is to say, the globalized European law of
nations) has long maintained that private property rights persist through
a transfer of sovereignty or regime change. Even if the new state or
regime has constitutional authority to rearrange property rights, it must
do so by express legislation.12 Echoes of this principle appeared in early
U.S. law concerning Indians — for example, in the rule that treaties and
acts of Congress must be read strictly against any implied takings of
property or limitations of “tribal sovereignty.”13 U.S. lawyers did not
deem it necessary to learn about the norms and procedures of tribal legal
systems, however, and U.S. courts have decided many intertribal dis-
putes without referring at all to the customary laws of individual tribes
or to customary principles widely observed by tribes in their dealings
with one another. In general, each “tribe” was regarded as a discrete
whole, and as a “tribal” matter property could only remain with the
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same tribe, or pass as a whole to another tribe. Individuals and families
therefore had no enforceable interests in the tribal estate.

In 1914, drawing on thirty years of case law, the U.S. Supreme Court
asserted as an ethnographic fact that all “lands and funds belonged to the
tribes as a community, and not to the members severally or as tenants in
common. The rights of each member to participate in the enjoyment of
such property depended on tribal membership, and when that was ended
by death or otherwise the right was at an end. It was neither alienable
nor descendible.”14 This may seem a quaint old ruling, but it has been
invoked more recently to deny claims by individual Indians that their
tribal leaders sold their family property, including traditional shrines,
without their consent.15 U.S. courts persist in upholding communal own-
ership as being “in accord with normal Indian custom.”16 It has scarcely
occurred to them that there are diverse indigenous cultures on this con-
tinent, with equally diverse systems of customary laws.

If Indian property is a tribal commons, what happens in the event that
a tribe splits into two groups? It is remarkable how often this issue has
come before U.S. courts. As a general rule, courts have sought evidence
of collective tribal intent. Hence the Cherokees who refused to leave
North Carolina for the Indian Territory as prescribed by treaty lost their
share of the tribal estate;17 whereas the Oneida families that moved from
New York State to Ontario “by communal consent” retained their pro-
portional share of Oneida property.18 Similarly, the Delawares who
became Cherokee citizens under the terms of an 1867 Cherokee-Delaware
agreement obtained equal rights to the proceeds of Cherokee lands in
Oklahoma.19

Tribes have sometimes been consolidated by a treaty or federal legis-
lation.20 In the absence of some overriding expression of federal intent,
however, the courts have considered the customs and intentions of the
Indians. In 1990, for example, two present-day federally recognized
tribes unsuccessfully claimed the fishing rights of a third tribe that was
no longer federally recognized. The membership rolls of both recognized
tribes included descendants of the tribe whose recognition had been
revoked. The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals ruled there must also be
evidence that all of the historical Indian tribes concerned intended “a
consolidation or merger of the tribes, or cohesive bands thereof,  suf -
ficient to combine their tribal or political structures.” For similar rea-
sons a federal district court rejected the claims of the Swinomish Indian
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 Community to the fishing rights of the Samish Indian Tribe. A large
number of Samish families had moved to the Swinomish Reservation
and enrolled there in the nineteenth century, but there was no evidence
that the Samish as a polity had decided to consolidate with the Swino -
mish.21

customary fishery law

Some indigenous societies in North America may have owned and man-
aged land and fisheries collectively, but not in the Salish Sea. At the time
of the treaties 150 years ago, Coast Salish social structure focused on
the individual person, the household unit within a single cedar-plank
house, and the extended family that linked households living in several
plank house villages. In addition, a broader conception of place-of-
origin exists in Coast Salish languages and may properly be interpreted
as a type of ethnicity.22 Families historically associated with the plank
house village on Guemes Island still refer to themselves as sapš (Samish),
for instance, and families that lived in houses on the lower Snohomish
River still take pride in being sdodobš (Snohomish). But these are terms
of historical affiliation, and like ethnicity they did not ordinarily confer
rights to land or resources.

Status or “class” was more important than geographical or village
origins. Status was individually earned, although the children of an influ-
ential family had opportunities and resources — including a regional net-
work of kin and “friends” — to facilitate their rise. Like the European
preindustrial middle class, Coast Salish society valued productivity, and
families struggled to enhance their social standing and widen their con-
nections with other high-class families through marriage and business
partnerships. However, such material wealth as blankets, baskets,
canoes, and preserved foods conferred no status merely by its posses-
sion. Status was a function of conspicuously distributing wealth at feasts
in a way that created social debts — that is, calls on the labor, wealth, and
support of others. As I have written elsewhere, Coast Salish “gentlemen”
(siiyém in Northern Straits) were rich in people, rather than goods.23

Much status was earned through the sustainable stewardship and gen-
erous sharing of productive property. A wealthy individual could acquire
a fishing site, keep it “clean” (kwiát), and invite his relatives and friends
to fish there each summer. He could also hire a crew to fish the site for him
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and distribute the dried salmon at feasts. In either case the foundation of
the owner’s wealth was the continued productivity of the fishing site. If the
fishery failed, its “owner” had nothing to give away at feasts. In this sense,
individual “ownership” of productive living resources was intrinsic to the
traditional Coast Salish status system, which in turn motivated the “own-
ers” to take an active role in conserving biological productivity.

Rights to physical resources such as fishing sites, hunting grounds,
and meadows for the cultivation or gathering of nutritious or medicinal
plants tended to fall within the category of “inheritances” (čilƒàƒn in
Northern Straits). Only worthy individuals could inherit, however; spirit
power and demonstrations of the wise use of power and resources were
also traditionally required. Thus when the custodian of a reef-net site
passed over to the invisible world, stewardship of the site was not sim-
ply inherited by a close relative such as a sibling, child, or grandchild. A
transfer would not be recognized unless it was made to someone who
had demonstrated, by performances at the winter dances and by suc-
cessful fishing, the support of powerful ancestors and guardians on the
other side. The transfer was witnessed at a feast, moreover, where rela-
tives of the former owner could denounce any impropriety. As a practi-
cal matter, this made it likely that fisheries remained in the hands of
expert fishermen from influential families who had earned their status
through productivity and generosity.

Of course, there have always been alternative sources of Coast Salish
wealth, such as doctoring and the arts. Euro-American lawyers would
call this intellectual property; in Coast Salish thinking it was spiritual
property, conferred on worthy individuals by powerful ancestors and
nonhuman beings in the invisible world. Although many of these gifts
were traditionally associated with particular lineages and geographic
areas, thus to some extent “inheritances,” they must also be earned
through individual effort. There was no sense of property being a “right”
in the strict sense of Euro-American law. Birth into a high-class family
or community could improve an individual’s opportunity to seek some
forms of property, but no one acquired property without personal merit
and serious effort. Furthermore, a transfer of property was arranged by
relatives of the former owner, and required approval by a public assem-
bly, rather than by “chiefs” or by some elected or representative body.
All property, then, was “private” at the individual and family levels,
whether it consisted of land, goods, or knowledge.
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A few years ago anthropologist Wayne Suttles and I visited Point
Doughty on Orcas Island with Samish speaker and centenarian Lena
Daniels and her grandson Randy. Lena remembered spending summers
camping at this important reef-net site during the lifetime of her great-
uncle Boston Tom, the traditional owner, who died in 1913. The sum-
mer sockeye season brought together her great-uncle’s extended family:
people from the old Eastsound and Rosario villages on Orcas as well as
Samish from the Anacortes and Bay View areas, Lummi from the reser-
vation near Bellingham, and Saanich and Cowichan households (like
Lena’s) from Vancouver Island. As Lena expressed it in Samish, Boston
Tom had “many friends,” which meant many to feed, as well as tacit
authority to decide when to begin fishing. Point Doughty was “his place”
(using the Northern Straits possessive prefix), but he did not turn any-
one away or decide how many fish they could catch. Lena simply recalled
his watching the salmon from a high spot every day. When he concluded
that the “first run” of fish had passed the point, he announced that the
season was open. In this simple way Boston Tom augmented his wealth
by feeding his “friends” from many different corners of the Salish Sea,
placing them in his debt at the feast hall. At the same time he conserved
his wealth by ensuring adequate escapement each year.

Samish people as they are constituted today include direct descen-
dants of owners of six reef-net sites on Lopez Island, one on south San
Juan Island, and Boston Tom’s site on Orcas Island. Other descendants
of the same owners are enrolled today as S�Klallam, Lummi, Swinomish,
and Upper Skagit and, on the other side of the international border, as
Saanich and Cowichan. Individual members of many other present-day
“tribes” have collateral or affinal links to the same site owners. Tradi-
tionally, any kinship ties could be sufficient to justify minimal seasonal
access to a reef-net site, although the owner might be considerably more
selective in choosing crew members for the most productive “sets” at
the site — that is, allocating the largest shares of wealth. Closeness of kin-
ship was always a consideration when choices had to be made; this is
why it was important to listen to the family teachings, and why it is still
said that people will be poor if they “don’t know who they are” (that is,
their kinship network).

When Boston Tom died, county officials usurped the family’s tradi-
tional role and disposed of his property, including the reef-net site.24

This was a taking of fish from all of Boston Tom’s “friends,” the value
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of each taking varying more or less in accordance with the strength of the
kinship relationships and not a nominal “tribal” affiliation or place of
residence. It is likely that rights to the fish would have changed little if
the county had not intervened, no matter who was selected. The new
owner would have been a successful reef-netter from the same broad net-
work of families, widely recognized as a protégé of powerful spirit
beings, perceived as generous and trusted to maintain the status quo. If
a different sort of person was put forward, there would be accusations
of impropriety in the feast hall, and the hosts would lose status and “pull
down their names” — the Coast Salish equivalent of bankruptcy.

The factors traditionally considered in Coast Salish law with respect
to claims to the ownership of “estates” such as fisheries, and claims to
their use for the accumulation of wealth (as opposed to the casual use of
resources while in transit — that is, for “lunch”), can be summarized sim-
ply. Claims to ownership were weighed against the claimant’s lineage,
personal merit, and power manifestly acquired from the invisible world,
and they required recognition and validation at a public feast. Claims
merely to the shared use of an estate could be asserted on the basis of any
number of kinship relationships with the owner. Close lineal descent
from the owner was the strongest argument; but in-laws, “friends” (busi-
ness partners), and members of the same house group could ask for and
receive the use of an estate with more or less expectation of recognition.

the new deal and tribalism

The Coast Salish pursuit of “wealth in people” involved carefully
arranged long-distance marriages, a kind of portfolio diversification that
made nearly everyone living around the Salish Sea a relative to some
degree, however small. Only the families of “slaves” tended to remain
geographically or socially isolated. For a long time the establishment of
Indian reservations did little to change Coast Salish social organization.
People continued to travel and marry widely and to rely on far-ranging
kinship ties for economic security. Reservations offered little in the way
of farmland, and few Coast Salish pursued full-time farming. Most indi-
viduals who acquired “allotments” of reservation land earned their liveli-
hoods elsewhere. For the most part the only Coast Salish who lost
geographical mobility and developed localized reservation identities were
government employees such as Indian policemen and clerks.
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By 1900 most Puget Sound Indians were earning wages in logging
camps, mills, and canneries, or working independently as seamstresses,
knitters, and tradesmen.25 The social, geographical, and economic
mobility of Coast Salish people maintained the open fabric of traditional
Salish Sea society. Men and women earned status through individual
accomplishments, including earning power and the ability to mount lav-
ish feasts. Status also continued to be a function of long-distance mar-
riage ties. My census-based study of Puget Sound Indian residence and
labor from 1880 through 1920 revealed a significant exchange of Indian
population among reservations as well as between reservations and non-
reservation towns. The multifarious nature of Coast Salish identity did
not collapse completely into reservation-based identities. On the con-
trary, residence continued to be a part of identity along with geograph-
ically extensive networks of ancestry.

The Samish are one example. Federal officials never surveyed and set
aside the March Point Reservation that the Samish believed had been
promised to them by treaty in 1855. Eight influential Samish families
remained on Guemes Island at their traditional feast hall (known as
xwá�ime¬) and built a new plank house there in the 1880s.26 Others
stayed in the Bow-Edison area after settlers torched the Samish Island
plank house. One large lineage took land on the Lummi Reservation and
another on the Swinomish Reservation, where they are “tribal” members
today. Another lineage moved to Cypress Island, off-reservation, where
they comprised a majority of the island’s “pioneer” population for two
generations.27 A Samish village of sorts was established by 1910 at the
Fidalgo Island Packing Company’s Ship Harbor cannery, where lived a
number of individual households from the Guemes, Samish, and Swino-
mish aggregations of Samish people. Like their ancestors these people
were all multiply hyphenated: for example, an individual might identify
as sapš living at Swinomish with roots in the Guemes village — and with
ancestral ties to Snohomish, Nooksack, Cowichan, and Musqueam.

Consolidation of “tribes” on reservations under the 1934 Indian Reor-
ganization Act (IRA) promoted different ways of thinking about Indian
identity. The act authorized “any Indian tribe, or tribes, residing on the
same reservation” to organize local governments.28 So few Indians were
living on Puget Sound reservations by the 1930s that the Indian Office
worried about the viability of reservation-based self-government; in some
cases its field staff urged Indian families to relocate to reservations where
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they had historical ties.29 The charters and constitutions adopted by
reservation communities during the New Deal era emphasized residence
at the expense of ancestry. Most striking of all, perhaps, was the decision
of the “Indians residing on the Tulalip Reservation” to begin to refer to
themselves as “Tulalip Indians.” Tulalip residents had self-identified with
more than thirty different ancestral groups in the 1920 census. Many of
the membership rolls prepared by new tribal governments in the 1930s
not only classified all resident Indians as one “tribe” but reset their Indian
blood quantum to 100 percent. Thus, for instance, a Lummi Reservation
resident of Nooksack, Sumas, Musqueam, Irish, and German ancestry
could have been enrolled as full-blood Lummi.

To the extent that Coast Salish Indians of the New Deal era were pro-
tecting their families by staking their future on reservation-based identi-
ties in response to the promises of an “Indian New Deal” by the U.S.
government, their motives cannot be faulted. However, the Indian Reor-
ganization Act also began a process of transferring wealth such as reser-
vation land and timber from regional kin networks to tribal governments
elected by relatively small coresidential groups.

In the 1950s, ironically, the Indian Claims Commission treated com-
pensation for lost land as an individual inheritance rather than “tribal”
property. As a collectivity, for example, the “Tulalips” lacked standing
to seek compensation from the United States, but most persons enrolled
at Tulalip received individual shares of awards to one or more ancestral
groups, such as Snohomish, Snoqualmie, and Kikiallos. Similarly, per-
sons of Snohomish ancestry who did not live on a reservation, and were
not enrolled in any IRA tribal government, shared equally in awards
made to their ancestral group. Thus when the issue of Indian treaty fish-
ing rights was litigated in federal district court in the 1970s, district judge
George Boldt was confronted with two incompatible legal models of
Indian rights: the IRA model, in which a relatively recent historical res-
idential group, the “tribe,” is exclusive owner on behalf of persons
enrolled as tribal members; and the ICC model, in which individuals
inherit rights from all of their ancestors, regardless of residence.30

the boldt decision framework

In United States v. Washington, treaty rights were asserted by tribal gov-
ernments, not by the traditional owners of marine resources. To be sure,
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tribal governments were acting on behalf of their members, who included
traditional owners, but also included families that had not owned fish-
ing sites.31 The federal district court assumed that the fishery is a
“tribal” (that is, collective) resource in which all tribal members are enti-
tled to share equally regardless of their lineage or individual merit. The
court’s ruling therefore sanctioned the transfer of wealth from high-sta-
tus families with inherited fishing sites to families with other forms of tra-
ditional wealth or no wealth at all, including families that had gained
power in tribal electoral politics and thereby controlled boat loans,
licenses, and harvest allocation under the court decision. It also greatly
increased the number of families with enforceable rights to each histor-
ical fishing site, arguably weakening the link between harvesting fish and
stewardship.

The federal government’s expert witness, anthropologist Barbara
Lane, provided the court with a fair overview of Coast Salish law relat-
ing to fisheries. She emphasized that case-area tribes were “very prop-
erty-conscious.”32 She said in her deposition: “The individual groups
had recognized places which were understood to be their places. They
might invite other people in at various times and occasions to share
resources in their area.”33 Stewardship of fishing areas had been “owned
by groups,” Lane explained, which were either “particular villages or, in
the case of [trap sites on] smaller creeks, perhaps, individual families.”
However, the “title to them was said to reside in particular chiefs or
leading individuals” and could be transferred at public ceremonies before
witnesses.34

Lane continued: “At treaty times an individual had a right to fish at
the place where he was born and raised and continued to live by virtue
of being a member of that community at birth. If he changed residences
during his lifetime, he would acquire rights to fish with the people in
whose community he was now a resident member. He would not neces-
sarily lose the rights to fish in the place that he originally came from,
because even an individual who never changed residence had various
levels of rights based on kinship and would normally have kin in several
localities.”35 Hence an individual’s community did not necessarily share
in his or her distant fishing rights, since they were based on the individ-
ual’s personal kinship ties. “You didn’t go there unless you had a right
to go either by residence or marriage or in-law relationships or descent,”
Lane testified.36 Sharing fish during times of abundance with kin from
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other communities was governed by principles of generosity and reci-
procity; but visitors were careful not to abuse this privilege.37

Guided by arguments advanced by tribes’ lawyers, however, federal
courts had already ruled that “each tribe bargained as an entity for rights
which were to be enjoyed communally,” including “the right to take fish
at usual and accustomed grounds.“38 Citing precedent, Judge Boldt ulti-
mately reasoned “the fact that certain Indians have been allowed to have
sole use of a particular spot by the Tribe gives that individual no prop-
erty right against the Tribe,” since the fishery as a whole is a commons.39

The Lummi tribe submitted evidence of the individual ownership of
reef-net sites to support its claim to an exclusively Lummi fishery in the
San Juan Islands. The district and appellate courts dismissed the uncon-
tested ethnographic evidence of individual reef-net ownership as “an
aberration from the general communal pattern of Indian property own-
ership,” and ruled that “as far as the United States is concerned, under
the treaty the right to engage in reef net fishing belongs to the Lummi
tribe” as a whole, and as such it is subject to the “same principle of equal
division” as other treaty fishing rights.40 Although the judges insisted
that they were deferring to tribal law in the matter of regulating the indi-
vidual exercise of fishing rights, they were in fact shaping a substantive
rule of tribal property law (“equal division”) that looks more like the
English common law principle of wildlife allocation — that is, the “rule
of capture” — inherited by most U.S. jurisdictions.41

Tribal governments had already used their New Deal powers to con-
solidate their ownership and control of reservation forests and grazing.
United States v. Washington legitimized efforts by tribal governments
to nationalize off-reservation fisheries that previously had individual or
family owners. This kind of taking was an “internal affair” of the tribes
and, in accordance with the principle of deference to tribal sovereignty,
did not give rise to federal actions for abuse of power.42

In Australia and New Zealand, by comparison, traditional custodi-
ans (individuals) and landholding groups alone have standing to assert
aboriginal rights and treaty rights. Australian courts have accepted  Abo -
riginal arguments that land is not only a “resource” but sacred and there-
fore must be returned to the specific kinship group that has customary
ties to the land and knows the stories, symbols, landmarks, and cere-
monies associated with the land.43 New Zealand courts follow the Wai-
tangi Treaty Tribunal’s reasoning that the treaty was made with
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 traditional polities represented by chiefs chosen in accordance with cus-
tomary laws.44 Treaty rights accordingly belong to those historical poli-
ties, represented by leaders traditionally selected by their extended families
or clans. Although Canada negotiates land claims with “bands” or “First
Nations” constituted by federal ministers, the Canadian Supreme Court
has ruled that traditional customary laws define the nature and exercise
of “Aboriginal rights” such as fishing.45 In the United States, then,
where administrative powers were delegated to European-style “tribal”
governments decades before the resolution of land and treaty claims,
the administrative “tribe,” which in large part was constituted exter-
nally, has become the holder of ancestral rights. In Australia and New
Zealand, by comparison, where substantive claims preceded state recog-
nition of institutions of indigenous self-government by more than a
decade, rights to land and wildlife are still held and allocated by tradi-
tional custodians.

development of a treaty commons

Judge Boldt’s initial judgment in 1974 interpreted the phrase “usual and
accustomed fishing grounds and stations,” as it appears in the treaties
with Puget Sound Indians, as every place that the members of a tribe
“customarily fished from time to time, however distant from the then
usual habitat of the tribe, and whether or not other tribes then also fished
in the same waters.”46 Overlapping fishing areas were deemed to be typ-
ical of Coast Salish cultures; hence there was no requirement that a plain-
tiff tribe establish exclusivity of its historical use of an area before
including it within claimed “usual and accustomed” fishing grounds.47

“In determining usual and accustomed fishing places,” furthermore, “the
Court cannot follow stringent proof standards because to do so would
likely preclude a finding of any such fishing areas.”48 It was unneces-
sary for a treaty tribe to prove by a preponderance of evidence that its
ancestors customarily fished at each and every location that it claimed.
Rather, a tribe’s mere historical “presence in the area” could be sufficient
to establish a prima facie case for fishing there as a matter of right.49

Historical documents and scholarly studies were to be preferred over the
testimony of living elders, however.50

Consistent with his view that the historical evidence was fragmentary
at best, Judge Boldt invited tribes to enlarge their usual and accustomed
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areas incrementally in the future based on new evidence.51 He also
encouraged treaty tribes to resolve allocation disputes among themselves
outside the courtroom.52 However, several tribes attempted to expand
their fisheries unilaterally by enlarging the geographic scope of their fish-
ing regulations. “Such conduct evidences a disregard for the Court’s rul-
ings,” Judge Boldt complained.53 Intertribal disputes grew, particularly
with respect to the boundaries of “primary” fishing areas, which the
court agreed involved substantially different issues than the boundaries
of tribes’ usual and accustomed fishing areas.54 In 1978, Tulalip alone
was involved in four separate disputes with other tribes in the area
encompassed by the litigation.55

At the outset the court was inclined to give treaty tribes the benefit of
the doubt. Thus the Suquamish, for instance, with their treaty-era pop-
ulation concentrated on the Kitsap Peninsula in central Puget Sound,
won herring fishing rights in coastal Skagit and Whatcom counties in
the North Sound on the basis of a single recorded visit to the Hudson’s
Bay Company’s Fort Langley post by a “small retinue” of Suquamish in
1827. Expert witness Barbara Lane testified: “It is my opinion that the
Suquamish undoubtedly would have fished the marine waters along the
way as they traveled [to Fort Langley]. It is likely that one of the reasons
for travel was to harvest fish.”56 The Suquamish likewise won fishing
rights in Hood Canal on the basis of five historical references to their
fishing there, of which only three referred to specific locations or
streams.57 Similarly, the three Klallam tribes successfully asserted rights
to the entire San Juan archipelago on the basis of a single reliable his-
torical reference to the presence of some Klallams (among many others)
fishing at Cattle Point.58 Jamestown Klallam later claimed all of the
North Sound on the basis of a single report that Klallams were with
Skagits fishing Lummi Island in 1835 and “were met with” by early trav-
elers in the San Juan Islands.59

Within the broader concept of “usual and accustomed” areas, how-
ever, the 1974 judgment distinguished between “permissive” fishing aris-
ing from individuals’ historical kinship ties and “primary” fishing rights
arising from communities’ collective control of their territories.60 While
they expanded their “usual and accustomed” fishing areas in subpro-
ceedings before the court, tribes increasingly asserted “primary” rights
to the most valuable fishing areas so that they could govern the alloca-
tion of quotas between their own members and other treaty tribes. The
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concept of “primary” rights was clarified in a lengthy dispute over rivers
draining into the Strait of Juan de Fuca. Judge Boldt held that “east of
the Hoko River was Clallam territory over which the Clallams exercised
some control and that any Makah fishing on rivers within the Clallam
territory was due to kinship, individual in nature and based upon inter-
marriage, or a grant of permission.”61 The Skokomish tribe subse-
quently won “primary” rights in Hood Canal.

Mixtures of peoples were settled on all Puget Sound Indian reserva-
tions, “some more than others,” but this did not enlarge individuals’
fishing rights under traditional law.62 Since present-day Indian tribes
were claiming fisheries derivatively, from rights once enjoyed by indi-
viduals or families, genealogical data should have been given great
weight. However, tribes resisted releasing family history charts on
grounds of privacy.63 As a result, expert witnesses’ broad assessments of
relatedness between groups continued to be the basis of decision making
resulting in broad generalizations by the court. In his First Supplemen-
tal Treaty Status Order (issued on December 31, 1974), for example,
Judge Boldt found that the Swinomish Indian Tribal Community and
Tulalip Tribes of Washington are each “a political successor to certain
tribes and bands and groups,” without specifying which groups or their
proportional representation on present-day tribal rolls.

The Swinomish government initially claimed fishing territory from
Bellingham to Penn Cove, plus all of the San Juan Islands.64 The evi-
dence consisted of reports by anthropologists Sally Snyder and Wayne
Suttles, consolidating what was known about “the Tribes forming the
modern Swinomish community,” which was to say the Swinomish,
Lower Skagit, Kikiallus, and Samish. All fishing sites in the San Juan
Islands were explicitly identified as historically Samish, but consistent
with its broad conception of “usual and accustomed” fisheries, the court
approved the overlapping Swinomish claim because at least some Swino -
mish tribal members had Samish ancestry.65 The Swinomish subse-
quently challenged the Lummi Nation over the Cherry Point herring
fishery, arguing that some Swinomish tribal members “can trace their
ancestry to aboriginal tribes which fished herring in the areas which the
Lummis now claim to be exclusive.”66

The geography of these two disputes is significant: the islands have
historically been the region’s richest sockeye fishery, and Cherry Point its
largest and most consistent herring fishery. Before the treaties influential
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Lummi and Samish households “owned” these two fisheries. Individu-
als from Swinomish villages with strong kinship ties to those Lummi and
Samish households would have had opportunities to fish with them.
However, the court’s approach gave all members of the Swinomish
Tribal Community as it exists today an equal right to fish in areas his-
torically owned by siiyém (leading men) who lived in the Lummi and
Samish houses.

Similarly, the Tulalip Tribes initially claimed exclusive rights to the
Snohomish, Stillaguamish, and Sauk-Suiattle river basins as successors to
the aboriginal Snohomish-, Snoqualmie-, and Stillaguamish-area peo-
ples.67 The majority of Tulalip tribal members were of Snohomish ances-
try, they argued, with many of Snoqualmie and Skykomish descent, and
the Snoqualmie leader Patkanum had signed the treaty for the Sno-
homish, Snoqualmies, and Stillaguamish.68 The Stillaguamish tribe
objected “there could be no justice and certainly no order in the on-going
fishery to grant to [one] tribe . . . the usual and accustomed places of any
single individual tribal member.”69 In other words, they argued that
since the largest part of the Tulalip membership was originally Sno-
homish, Tulalip could at best legitimately claim the traditional Snoho -
mish fisheries. Furthermore, the majority of Snohomish “never went to
the Tulalip reservation and are [still] organized off the reservation.”
Tulalip Reservation residents’ decision to organize as a tribe under the
Indian Reorganization Act could have no effect on the treaty rights of the
aboriginal tribes, and Tulalip had thereby acquired no treaty fishing
rights.70 These objections had little effect in limiting the Tulalip “usual
and accustomed area.”

The Tulalip Tribes widened their claim in 1980 to include all of the
marine waters between Port Angeles, Seattle, and the Canadian border,
including the San Juan Islands, arguing that they had not presented their
full case in 1975 because “unrecognized tribes were, at that time, making
claims as successors to Tulalip treaty rights.”71 This referred to the Sno-
homish and Snoqualmie, who lost their initial bid for fishing rights in 1980
but continued to seek redress through administrative recognition of their
Indian tribal status.72 The Tulalip case for expanded fishing rights was
circumstantial. The pleading stated: “Tulalip ancestors were not unlike
those of other north and central Puget Sound tribes, in that they regularly
and customarily fished throughout a wide marine area which was used
jointly by the several tribes. They were not limited to their drainage  system,
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nor were their fisheries activities restricted to the marine waters under their
primary or ‘territorial’ control. [They] traveled widely and regularly [and]
where the Indians regularly traveled, they regularly fished.”73

Tulalip offered to establish by expert testimony “that the Tulalip pre -
decessors traveled regularly and customarily throughout the San Juan
Islands” and northern Puget Sound, where they “necessarily fished for
subsistence” and sold some of their fish to settlers.74 There were also his-
torical reports of Snohomish traveling to Fort Langley to trade, and “no
indication whatsoever of any other marine areas north to the Fraser
which they did not use.”75 What is more, by claiming that the Snohomish
had been “some of the most wide-ranging, widely-traveled and aggressive
Indians on the Sound at treaty times,”76 the Tulalip request implied that
an extensive fishery could simply be assumed to have existed.

Evidence relating to the San Juan Islands consisted entirely of testi-
mony by living Tulalip tribal members who were identified as Sno-
homish.77 Consider the testimony of Harriet Shelton Dover, however,
whose father identified as Snohomish and her mother and maternal
grandmother as Samish. Dover stated that her father used to visit San
Juan Island and Victoria, British Columbia, to attend “potlatches.”78

Her father and mother each had a different name for San Juan Island,79

since they spoke different Coast Salish languages (Lushootseed and
Northern Straits). Only her mother knew the Indian names for the other
islands in the archipelago.80 When asked directly which Indians fished
in the archipelago, she replied: “My mother’s Samish people did.”81

Over other case-area tribes’ objections, the court accepted this as evi-
dence of Tulalip fishing rights, without any direct evidence of Tulalip
succession to Samish fishing rights.

At the same time the Tulalip directly challenged Lane and other ethno-
graphers with respect to customary law, contending that at treaty time
fishing “was characterized by the absence of strict territoriality” and all
fishing grounds were held in common by all of the tribes.82 The division
of Coast Salish Indians into tribes was “artificial” and “arbitrary,” mask-
ing the extensive alliances and kinship that once existed, resulting in many
conflicts today.83 “The confusion regarding the identity of the various
tribal groups and their present somewhat arbitrary separation into (at
times) mutually antagonistic legal units has resulted in a great deal of
frustration and a number of ironic consequences,“ including a smaller
“usual and accustomed” fishing area for the Tulalip!84 Arguably the most
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aggressive tribal party in the United States v. Washington proceedings, the
Tulalip successfully changed the legal paradigm that had been originally
adopted by the court (overlapping “tribal” fisheries) in order to gain the
most extensive possible fishery for its fleet.

The Tulalip Tribes, moreover, asked for the right to fish chum in the
South Puget Sound as a matter of “equity,” since the chum in their own
area had been depleted.85 This invited the federal court to undertake the
traditional role of redistributing local surpluses and minimizing local
famines. The Northwest Indian Tribal Fisheries Commission endorsed
the Tulalip proposal, and the court approved it. Federal lawyers went
even further, arguing that one tribe “should not be required to curtail
fishing on fish passing through its usual and accustomed places in order
to assure fishing opportunity for another tribe on those same fish. Nec-
essarily curtailments should be equitably shared by all.”86 This was con-
sistent with traditional practices, they maintained. The court decision
stated: “The Indians — whose survival and economy was so heavily
dependent upon salmon — would go to where the salmon were if the runs
at their usual places were severely curtailed for some reasons. This was
especially true in marine waters where any concept of tribal ownership
rights to fishing areas was far less pronounced than the case of  fresh -
water river or stream areas.”87 This is a significant misstatement of the
ethnographic record, however; redistribution had been based on the
strength of kinship ties, not merely on need. Traditional incentives to
conserve fish arose from not automatically reallocating fish to the needy.
To compromise with the Tulalip Tribes, litigants contributed to making
the treaty fishery a true commons.

In 1981 the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals ruled that treaties had
not affected tribes’ relationships among or between themselves: they
“reasonably understood themselves to be retaining no more and no less
of a right vis-à-vis one another than they possessed prior to the treaty.”88

To address disputed “primary” fishing areas, the district court was to
consider four factors: the proximity of the disputed fishing area to his-
torical tribal settlements; the frequency and significance of different
tribes’ historical use of the disputed fishing areas; historical tribal per-
ceptions of who controlled the disputed areas; and historical tribal
behavior consistent with perceived control.89 The goal was therefore 
to restore the status quo ante with respect to historical arrangements
between communities. Instead, treaty tribes increasingly contracted out
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of their historical relationships. For example, the Tulalip subsequently
signed agreements with five other tribes to recognize its claims to most
of Puget Sound, and to share fish harvests “equitably” with the Tula -
lip.90 The Lummi and Klallam tribes complained that the Tulalip fish-
ing area thus recognized included Lummi and Klallam primary fishing
grounds in the San Juan Islands and the Strait of Juan de Fuca without
their consent.91 An agreement was subsequently made to combine the
three present-day Klallam tribes’ usual and accustomed areas, on the
grounds that the reassignment of families from a dozen villages into three
federal recognized tribes was arbitrary.92

By the 1990s intertribal allocation was governed almost entirely by
closed-door negotiations within the Northwest Indian Tribal Fisheries
Commission. Allocation is no longer strongly tethered to customary law
and history, but like the international allocation of fisheries, it is governed
by the relative power of (relatively) sovereign states. The treaty fishery as
a whole is like a commons, with the attendant management problems of
multiparty coordination under conditions of mistrust and uncertainty.93

How different might things be today, had the court in United States v.
Washington incorporated the customary Coast Salish law of estates into
its ruling? Disputes over individuals’ right to fish in particular places would
have been numerous, no doubt, and if not settled in the feast hall, would
have been subject to the general civil jurisdiction of the Northwest Inter-
Tribal Court system. Tribal governments would presumably have asserted
inherent authority to regulate the exercise of individual fishing rights for
the protection of fish populations, although their power to redistribute
those rights would have been more limited. The administration of a cus-
tomary law regime would have been contentious and complex, and it is
possible that the individual owners of estates would have shared fishing
rights about as widely as fishing rights are shared today under tribal gov-
ernment licenses. It is also possible that a customary law regime would
have resulted in a concentration of fishing wealth in the hands of a small
number of tribal members, becoming a kind of capital.94

economics and ethnogenesis

In summary, present-day tribal governments have taken the position that
all of their current members can fish wherever any of their members’
indigenous ancestors could traditionally have fished. Because the most
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productive fishing grounds in the case area, such as the San Juan Islands,
had supported the largest traditional networks of “friends” of the own-
ers, nearly every treaty tribe was successful in claiming them.95 The
result is that all of the members of all the treaty tribes enjoy equal rights
almost everywhere: a commons. However, the tribe with “primary”
rights bears the responsibility of allocating annual catch quotas “equi-
tably” — or as equitably as possible among parties with unequal wealth
from such other sources as casinos. “Primary” rights thus confer on
tribal governments the allocation function once held by the traditional
owners of sites, but there is also an important difference. Formerly, in
accordance with Coast Salish law, the owners of sites allocated fishing
opportunities according to the strength of kinship ties. Under United
States v. Washington, therefore, all enrolled members of tribes that have
overlapping “usual and accustomed” fisheries must be treated the same.

From the perspective of ethnogenesis, moreover, the relationship
between family and territory has been completely confounded. Enrolled
members of recognized tribes have learned to regard their “usual and
accustomed area” as a cultural fact, whether or not their families actu-
ally had customary rights there in the past. Thus, for example, Swino -
mish and Tulalip tribal members increasingly regard the San Juan Islands
as their traditional territories, although only a small number of individ-
uals on these tribes’ rolls are actual descendants of people who had
inherited rights or in-law privileges there a century ago. Likewise, Samish
people have been told that they do not have a role in the culture or the
stewardship of the islands because they do not yet have an adjudicated
fishing area there. Court rulings and tribal side-agreements have been
displacing family histories as a source of cultural knowledge and terri-
torial identities.

Through the court-supervised process of litigating “tribal” treaty fish-
ing grounds, tribe-based nationalism advanced at the expense of Coast
Salish kinship. Polities arising from the federal reservation system and
the Indian New Deal gained greater economic power through control of
fish that previously had been resources belonging to individuals and their
families. At the economically motivated urging of the tribes themselves,
the federal courts in effect “modernized” Coast Salish social structure.

Social boundaries, particularly recently invented ones, are arguably
only as strong as their relevance to everyday life and ordinary pocket-
books. In the 1970s fish remained an important source of food and
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income for Indian and non-Indian communities in western Washington.
Treaty fishing rights had substantial cash value, intensifying intertribal
competition for the most productive fishing sites. It is not surprising that
some families initially switched their tribal affiliations to try to get access,
through tribal fishing cards, to better fishing grounds; or that treaty
tribes with large fleets invested hundreds of thousands of dollars to pre-
vent landless, nonfederally recognized tribes from regaining their polit-
ical status and treaty rights, although they were composed of people
whose ancestors had signed the same treaties in 1854 through 1855. The
economic salience of fish contributed significantly to reifying the idea of
“tribe” as the primary ethnic group affiliation of Coast Salish peoples.

Much has changed since 1974, however. Many Puget Sound salmon
and herring stocks have collapsed; some are even listed under the Endan-
gered Species Act. Despite tribal, state, and federal efforts to restore
stocks, competition from farmed Atlantic salmon continues to depress
the wholesale price for wild Pacific salmon, making even the largest and
most successful commercial operators think twice about keeping their
Washington fishing licenses. At the same time much of Indians’ employ-
ment has shifted from fishing fleets to casinos and retail business parks
along the highway corridor connecting Portland, Seattle, and Vancouver.
Constitutional developments in Canada have meanwhile recognized (but
not yet implemented) the land and fishing rights of Coast Salish First
Nations in British Columbia, and they are seeking greater political
strength by advocating the renewal of a regional Coast Salish identity
across “tribal” lines and across the international border.

As the treaty fishery loses its luster, and new opportunities arise from
transboundary political and economic solidarity, it is conceivable that
Coast Salish people will once again regard themselves as more alike than
different. A continued decline in federal funding for tribal governments
may contribute to such a shift if tribal technocrats respond to tight bud -
gets by cooperating with other tribes and sharing programs. But this
does not mean that some future, renewed Coast Salish identity will be the
same as the Coast Salish “continuum” of the treaty-making era.
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8 The Stevens Treaties, Indian Claims Commission

Docket 264, and the Ancient One known as

Kennewick Man

Bruce Rigsby

244

T
he Ancient One, Kennewick Man, and Tiičáminsh Uytpamá 
Natítayt1 are three among the names given to ninety-five-
hundred-year-old human remains found in shallow waters of the

Columbia River at Kennewick, Washington, in July 1996.2 When
regional Indian groups requested the remains so they could bury them
promptly, a dispute ensued that attracted national and international
media attention (including some right-wing culture warriors) and gen-
erated a popular literature as well as a considerable scholarly literature.3

The controversy pitted a notable set of researchers, who wanted to study
the skeleton, against some tribal governments and many Indian people
in Washington, Oregon, and Idaho. It polarized American archaeolo-
gists, sociocultural anthropologists, and physical anthropologists; it rein-
forced old interpersonal antagonisms and intellectual differences, and
created new ones.

In 2004 the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit found for the
eight plaintiff scientists who sought to study the remains and denied peti-
tions for rehearing, so that further study could (and did) proceed. The
bad feelings on both sides will be with us for years. That decision, known
as Bonnichsen v. United States of America et al., cannot have endeared
archaeologists (especially) to people in Indian Country.4 But beyond
drawing attention to a cultural conflict between some scientists and



Indian traditionalists, the case should make us consider the likelihood
that Indians reserved the right to curate graves and burial sites of peo-
ple they considered their ancestors, even on lands they ceded in treaties
with the United States. The discovery of a skull initiated the drama and
conflict that put these issues in the public eye.5 Within a few weeks after
the find, the bones of an almost complete skeleton had been recovered
and identified as those of an ancient man, soon dubbed “Kennewick
Man” in the media. Indians of the nearby Confederated Tribes of the
Umatilla Indian Reservation (CTUIR) responded by naming him “the
Ancient One” in English. These Indians also have a name for themselves
— for “(Indian) person” or “people” — in the Walla Walla Sahaptin lan-
guage: Natítayt. I often use their term in place of “Indian(s).”

The CTUIR requested that the remains be turned over to them with
no further study. They planned a quick reburial with proper ceremony.
Other regional Natítayt groups joined in the request, but some wanted
repatriation to themselves instead of the CTUIR. The Natítayt believe
that the remains are those of an ancestral landowner. They asserted that
therefore it was their religious duty to return their ancestor’s bones to
repose in the earth without the desecration entailed in DNA testing and
other investigative procedures that scientists would employ.6 Impor-
tantly, the CTUIR leaders drew attention to the fact that the bones were
found on their traditional homeland, where they retained rights under an
1855 treaty that ceded other rights in the land to the United States. In a
position paper Armand Minthorn of the CTUIR plainly stated the Nati-
tayt argument about reserved rights and jurisdiction: “My tribe has ties
to this individual because he was uncovered in our traditional homeland
— a homeland where we still retain hunting, fishing, gathering, and other
rights under our 1855 Treaty with the U.S. Government.”7

In mid-September of 1996, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (COE)
announced that they would return the remains to five Natítayt groups
and let the groups decide among themselves how to deal with the Ancient
One. A month later, however, eight scientists initiated an action to block
repatriation and allow them to study the remains. When the CTUIR
and later a tribal coalition requested possession of the Ancient One, they
in fact asserted their reserved rights regarding burials. But in court they
laid their claim under the Native American Graves Protection and Repa-
triation Act (NAGPRA), a 1990 act of Congress which provides that
the owner of Native American human remains found on federal property
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shall be the Indian tribe whose land or area of aboriginal occupation
encompasses that place.

The issue in the litigation became a question of whether and how
NAGPRA applied and how certain terms (such as “indigenous” and
“Native American”) were to be read and given meaning. When trial
judge John Jelderks and subsequently the appellate judges rejected the
tribal coalition’s request that the remains be repatriated, they were sim-
ply interpreting and applying NAGPRA. It was not for them to con-
sider whether members of the coalition had reserved sovereign rights
regarding burials. At the same time further legal action on the reserved
rights question was effectively discouraged when the trial judge accepted
that the site where the remains were found was not part of the aborigi-
nal homeland of any CTUIR predecessor group. That finding is based
on a superseded and now indefensible determination of the Indian
Claims Commission (ICC).8

some aspects of the BONNICHSEN litigation

I focus here on two decisions — the opinion and order of Magistrate
Judge John Jelderks issued on August 30, 2002, and the opinion of 
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, written by Circuit 
Judge Ronald M. Gould and filed on February 4, 2004.9 The plaintiffs/
appellants in the actions were eight scientists whom I would character-
ize variously as archaeologists, forensic anthropologists, and physical
anthropologists. They were aggrieved not only by the COE’s decision in
1996 but also by a decision of the Secretary of the Interior in September
2000 to repatriate the remains to a tribal coalition for reburial. They
brought an action against the COE, the Department of the Interior
(DOI), the National Park Service (NPS), and a small set of civil servants
whose membership changed between the two actions. On appeal the
coalition of five Natítayt groups joined the defendants-appellees as defen-
dants-intervenors. The coalition consisted of the CTUIR, the Confeder-
ated Tribes and Bands of the Yakama Nation, the Nez Perce Tribe of
Idaho, the Confederated Tribes of the Colville Reservation, and the
Wanapum Band.10

The trial judge declined to remand the matter to the Secretary of 
the Interior with specific instructions. Among other things, Judge Jel -
derks found the remains were not “Native American” under NAGPRA
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because the evidence did not support the conclusion that they were “of,
or relating to, a tribe, people, or culture that is indigenous to the United
States.” He noted: “The parties agree that the lineal descendants of the
Kennewick Man, if any, cannot be ascertained, and the remains were
not found on tribal land.” He held that “the Secretary erred in assum-
ing that the coalition was a proper claimant and in failing to separately
analyze the relationship of the particular Tribal Claimants to the
remains.”11 Finally, Jelderks concluded that the secretary also misinter-
preted a key provision of NAGPRA when he determined that the
Ancient One had turned up within the aboriginal territory of the peti-
tioning tribes. That section of NAGPRA, now codified at 25 U.S. Code
section 3002(a)(2)(C)(1), requires “a final judgment of the Indian Claims
Commission” that the federal land where remains are found was “the
aboriginal land of some Indian tribe.” Jelderks said the secretary erro-
neously construed this language “to include cases in which no valid final
judgment established aboriginal title, and misinterpreted . . . [it] by
applying it to cases in which the ICC [Indian Claims Commission] had
specifically found that the tribe failed to establish its aboriginal title.”12

For all of the preceding reasons, the judge pronounced the secretary’s
decision “arbitrary and capricious,” set it aside, and ordered the defen-
dants not to transfer the Ancient One’s remains to the tribal coali-
tion. The three appellate judges affirmed, saying, among other things:
“Because Kennewick Man’s remains are so old and the information
about his era is so limited, the record does not permit the Secretary to
conclude reasonably that Kennewick Man shares special and significant
genetic or cultural features with presently existing indigenous tribes, peo-
ple, or cultures. We thus hold that Kennewick Man’s remains are not
Native American human remains within the meaning of NAGPRA and
that NAGPRA does not apply to them.”13

I have also read the expert reports and friend-of-the-court  sub -
missions, and I do not question the soundness of Judge Jelderks’s  
black-letter legal reasoning about the meaning and intent of NAGPRA.
It appears that the remains are not Native American as defined by
NAGPRA.14 I also accept his judgment that the evidence did not
 support a finding of “cultural affiliation” between the Ancient One 
and a contemporary Native American group. It is difficult to think of a
case where remains that old might be linked to a contemporary ethnic
group by the standards of proof required in court.15 Furthermore, I
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understand the judge’s legal reasoning that the tribal coalition did not
have standing in the case.

However, the coalition was not just a fortuitous, unrelated set of
neighboring groups. It represents the descendants of groups that partic-
ipated in the treaty council at Walla Walla in 1855 and signed treaties
proposed by Washington Territory governor Isaac Stevens (although
some later rejected them). All the groups either had traditional territory
that included the Kennewick Man discovery site or was close by. Ethno-
graphically, we can describe the significant mid-nineteenth-century
ancestors of the tribal coalition as people who were countrymen, fellow
regional landowners, much intermarried, and who generally spoke or
understood each other’s languages.

The CTUIR includes the Cayuses, the Umatillas, and the Wallas Wal-
las. The Ancient One’s remains were found on land that those tribes
ceded in their treaty of June 9, 1855, and specifically on land that is rec-
ognized by the Natítayt throughout the region as belonging to Walla
Walla people. A second coalition member, the Yakama Nation, made a
treaty the same day at the Walla Walla council, and some of its signa-
tories represented groups whose territories might have included the
 Kenne wick Man site or come very close to it (these groups include the
Palouses and the Wanapums). The Confederated Tribes of the Colville
Reservation joined the coalition on behalf of Nez Perces, who are one of
the confederation’s constituent bands.16 The Nez Perces too were major
participants in the Walla Walla Council and signed their own treaty on
June 11, 1855. The last coalition group — the Wánapam — are not a fed-
erally recognized tribe, although the earliest explorers observed and
reported on them. Wanapum Band members are direct descendants of a
local group headed by the prophet and holy man Šmú∏ala, who made his
home near Priest Rapids after 1860. They are culturally conservative
people who have resisted repeated efforts to move them to a reserva-
tion.17

These facts and Indian Claims Commission records persuaded John
Leshy, a solicitor for the Department of the Interior, that the coalition’s
joint claim for the Ancient One’s remains made sense: “Because, as noted
above, the ICC’s findings of fact and opinions identify the recovery site
of the Kennewick remains as the joint aboriginal land of numerous
Indian groups, including at least two [the CTUIR and the Yakamas] of
the claimant tribes, I believe that these tribes collectively may successfully
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claim the Kennewick remains, if disposition is not appropriate under 25
U.S.C. 3002 (a)(1), (a)(2)(A) and (a)(2)(B).”18 Leshy also observed that
“multiple-use or non-exclusive use of an area did not preclude the ICC
from” making a determination of joint ownership of a claimed area.19

In fact, however, the ICC very rarely made joint-ownership determina-
tions.20

In 1997, I wrote: “The requirement of exclusive use and occupancy
prevented establishing Indian title over land where ‘many tribes or bands
were known to wander or occupy.’ And it also required establishing that
use and occupancy was sufficiently intensive that the tribe excluded
‘white explorers, traders, miners, and settlers.’”21 It is “conceivable that
a similar shared aboriginal land holder [ICC] determination could have
been made for the Mid-Columbia region at issue if the following tribes
had brought a joint claim: Yakama, Umatilla, Nez Perce, and Colville,”
but the time for that is long past.22

the argument from reserved rights

When the Cayuse, Umatilla, and Walla Walla leaders signed their treaty
in 1855, they explicitly ceded certain rights in lands and waters, but 
they reserved other rights.23 The doctrine of “reserved rights” (or
“implied rights”) is a recognized part of established federal Indian law,
along with canons of construction that require judges to give Indians’
 under standings the benefit of the doubt when construing treaties.24 But
the  rec ognition of specific reserved rights has always been a matter of
contention and litigation. The position I put in this essay is that the Natí-
tayt treaty parties did not intend to cede, nor did they cede, their sover-
eign rights to deal with the remains of the dead then on their homelands
and to access and look after the graves and burials there in traditional-
 customary ways.25

The argument for such Natítayt reserved rights, and thus for juris-
diction over the Ancient One’s remains, is strong.26 It rests on three legs
— on the legal doctrine of reserved rights and precedents articulated by
American courts, on past and continuing Natítayt understanding of the
CTUIR treaty of 1855, and on the rights in land under traditional law
and custom that the treaty-signing ancestors of the CTUIR possessed
and exercised. I do not treat these three bases for the argument serially.
The first is well known and beyond my competence as an anthropologist
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to do more than summarize, as done earlier in this essay. The second
requires some knowledge of classical and postclassical Sahaptin culture
and society, accessible through linguistic anthropological analysis and
discussion of some key indigenous words, phrases, and concepts.27

These provide background to the Natítayt understanding, past and pres-
ent, of the treaty, which I discuss next, before considering evidence for
the third basis of the argument — traditional-customary Natítayt rights
in the lands they used and called home.

some sahaptin words, phrases, and concepts

In the Walla Walla and other Northeast Sahaptin dialects, the word
Lč�ílč�ima signifies the ancestors as a set, which includes the known and
remembered dead as well as all the remaining dead since the beginning
of time, when humans first occupied the earth. The word’s counterpart
in Umatilla, Yakama, and other dialects of Sahaptin is Nč�ínč�ima, and
its Nez Perce equivalent is Titlúume. Good glosses are “the Ancestors,
Old People.” My observations on the Umatilla Reservation since 1997
are that speakers of the indigenous Sahaptin and Nez Perce languages
regard the ancient man whose remains were found at Kennewick in 1996
as one of their Lč�ílč�ima, Nč�ínč�ima, or Titlúume. Those Natítayt who
do not speak their heritage languages also regard the Ancient One as an
ancestor.

These are terms of great respect. When I attended root feasts and
other public events on the Umatilla and Yakama Reservations in the
1960s and 1970s, I heard people use them often in formal speeches to the
audience or congregation as they invoked their Old People’s experiences
and admonishments. The Old People are exemplars and supporters of
tradition and natitaytwít, tananáwit, or tiináwit— that is, “Indian-ness,
Indian culture.”28 When I first read about Kennewick Man in early
1998, I also read the phrase “the Ancient One,” the now customary
Natítayt way of referring to the remains in English. I assumed that it
was simply a translation into English of the important cultural concept
of “the Ancestors, Old People,” and I discussed the matter in my affi-
davit for the CTUIR later in the year.29 I was concerned then with
demonstrating that the Ancient One was not a New Age term, but one
with its origin in indigenous tradition.

In early 2005, I learned that the CTUIR and other groups used the
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indigenous language phrase Techaminsh Oytpamanatityt when they
requested the repatriation of the remains in February 1999. They gave
the phrase no translation then. When the Yakamas filed to intervene in
May 2000, their lawyer wrote: “The remains are called Techaminsh Oyt-
pamanatityt (‘from the land the first native’) in the Yakama language.”
In technical linguistic orthography the phrase is properly three words —
Tiičáminš Uytpamá Natítayt— and is well analyzed and glossed as “a
human (or Indian) land-owner from the beginning of time.” The first
word, Tiičáminš, can be translated best as “landowner.” It is a complex
word built on the simple word or base tiičám (“earth, land, country”)
plus the derivational suffix -inš, which is the possessive-proprietive suf-
fix. It gives the meaning “the one that has or possesses the thing signi-
fied by the base” — thus, “land-having” or “the one who owns (the)
land.”

I don’t recall hearing or recording the word Tiičáminš during my field-
work in the 1960s and 1970s. I encountered it first in September 2004,
at a workshop review of the Sahaptin place-names atlas project.30 It
struck me as a perfectly well-formed comprehensible word, and because
of my interest in traditional-customary systems of land tenure and use,
I found it significant culturally and socially. Later, I learned that the
anthropologist Melville Jacobs recorded a Northeast Sahaptin dialectal
form we can reconstitute as tiičámiš, which he glossed as “land owner.”31

Tiičámiš is cognate with Tiičáminš “land-owner” in other Sahap tin dia -
lects. This conventional form provides prima facie evidence for the exis-
tence and operation of a traditional-customary system of land tenure
and use. Were I just starting fieldwork among Sahaptin-speaking people,
the existence of this form would cue me to talk extensively and inten-
sively with people about the traditional-customary ownership of land,
now and in the past.

Uyt-pamá is also a complex word, and it is built on the simple word
or base ( �)úyt (“beginning, start”) plus the derivational abessive suffix
-pamá, which we can translate here as “from, pertaining to.” It is well
translated as “from / since the beginning (of time).” As explained at the
outset of this essay, Natítayt is the Walla Walla (Northeast) Sahaptin
word that means “person, people.” In an earlier period it implied or con-
noted simply “human being(s),” but since the early nineteenth century or
so, its unmarked connotation is “Indian person, people.” The remains of
Tiičáminš Uytpamá Natítayt were found washed out at a place where
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the indigenous residents spoke the language from which these words
come — that is, the remains were in country where Walla Walla people
held the traditional aboriginal beneficial title.

The indigenous-language words for “law” are also relevant to the
Natítayt interest in the Ancient One. The social philosopher Jeremy
 Bentham reminds us that where there is property, there is also law. Law
and custom are signified by a single cognate term in Sahaptin and Nez
Perce, Tamánwit and Tamáalwit, respectively, often translated as “the
Law.” In anthropological and general social science terminology, the
term includes both law and custom, but its conventional reference is to
traditional Indian law and custom.32 God can also be called Tamanwi¬á
(“the Law-Giver, Ordainer”) in Sahaptin. The same complex stem is also
found in Nez Perce tamánwi- (“lead, plan, lay down the law, legislate”)
and píitamalwit (“treaty”).33

The experts and friends of the court who opposed the tribal coalition
assessed the myths and legends of traditional Sahaptin oral literature
only for their historical veracity. They overlooked or ignored their char-
tering role in providing accounts of the events that were and are the root
of Natítayt traditional-customary title to their homeland. But Natítayt
communal title does not originate from acts of the sovereign, nor from
sale and purchase, nor even inheritance; nor is it recorded on paper
deeds. Instead, the oral literature tells us there was a time or period
before there were human beings or people. The Spirit-Beings who lived
on the land then are called Walsákas, Walcáytsas, and Wat�ítaš in North-
east, Columbia River, and Northwest Sahaptin, respectively. Principal
among them was Spilyáy (“Coyote”), who fashioned many landforms
and features and instituted the norms of human law and custom — that
is, culture and society. Elements of the oral literature function as paper
(or electronic) deeds do for owners and nonowners alike.

the walla walla council of 1855

In May and June of 1855, Governor Isaac Stevens of Washington Ter-
ritory and Oregon’s superintendent of Indian affairs, Joel Palmer, held
a treaty council with members of several indigenous groups at a site near
present-day Walla Walla, Washington.34 Of special interest to us are the
Walla Walla people and their Cayuse and Umatilla kin and neighbors,
but Nez Perces, Palouses, and Yakamas were also active players at the
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council. Over the century or so before 1855, their ancestors had under-
gone great social and economic transformation due to their acquisition
first of horses, then later of cattle and other commodities acquired by
trading and raiding trips into other regions, including the Spanish set-
tlements in New Mexico, Arizona, and California, as well as from Amer-
ican emigrants transiting their homelands. From 1818 the policy and
practice of the Hudson’s Bay Company (HBC) (and later that of the mis-
sionaries) had encouraged political centralization and the development
of explicit legal norms. The Natítayt had increasing material wealth;
class distinctions were emergent between equestrian groups who went to
the buffalo grounds on the Plains and those who “stayed home and ate
cottontails”; and leaders had more power and scope to exercise that
power.35 The Natítayt leaders who negotiated with the American offi-
cials were also people of property and wealth who knew something of
the wider world and had witnessed the dispossession and dislocation of
Indian groups west of the Oregon Cascades and in upper California.

Stevens and Palmer discussed and negotiated three treaties with the
Natítayt at the council, then wrote them down for signing. Their objec-
tive was to produce public documents that would, after ratification by
the U.S. Congress, extinguish the Indian title to the land and thus enable
the United States to provide secure titles to settlers. By U.S. law only the
federal government was competent to extinguish the Indian title. Private
companies (for example, the HBC) and individuals (for example, retired
HBC men) might have gained possession of land by transactions with
traditional owners, but they did not have titles recognized in American
law.36 The treaties were and remain the first and indispensable link on
the chain of American titles to land in areas that the Natítayt ceded.

From what I understand of Natítayt law and custom in 1855,37 I do
not believe that the cession of lands was a proper act, but the Natítayt
generally wanted to avoid war. Thus they tried to secure the best situa-
tion for themselves as peoples (and in some instances as individuals) by
accommodating the American custom of providing for access to land
and resources by formal treaty.38 I believe the Natítayt did view the
treaties as solemn covenants with the American government.39 But I
doubt that they realized the Americans thought the treaties consisted
only of what was recorded in writing. The Natítayt would have regarded
all that was said and agreed by talk at the council as binding on all par-
ties.
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People on both sides of the negotiations made efforts to communi-
cate their intentions and desires as effectively as possible, but the factors
preventing complete understanding were significant. Stevens and Palmer
were concerned that the “chiefs, head-men and delegates” (whose agree-
ment and signatures were essential to conclude the treaties) understand
enough of the American proposal to discuss and negotiate points and
issues, then reach accord and mark the documents.40 Stevens and Palmer
dealt with the Natítayt not only during the formal sessions but also in
informal and even secret sessions. For their part the Natítayt were con-
cerned about getting the best translations they could to understand fully
what Stevens and Palmer proposed. Pyópyo Maqsmáqs, or Yellow Bird,
the main Walla Walla chief, requested that there be more than one inter-
preter at the council.41 Among the Natítayt leaders who spoke at the
formal sessions, Pyópyo Maqsmáqs stands out for expressing concern
about the need for good interpreting and the quality of particular inter-
preting.42 The Natítayt also observed the commissioners not just to
understand what they were saying, but to look into their hearts and
assess their character and goodwill as well.43

English, Nez Perce, and Sahaptin were the languages used during the
formal council proceedings.44 Stevens and Palmer spoke in English, the
Natítayt spokesmen (all males) spoke in Nez Perce or one or another
Sahaptin dialect, and the interpreters (appointed and otherwise) trans-
lated into the addressees’ language(s). When Stevens and Palmer spoke,
the interpreters spoke their translations to two Natítayt “criers, heralds”
(Nez Perce te�wyelene�wéet and Sahaptin si-nwi¬á), who relayed them
loudly to the audience.45 No doubt, many Natítayt understood both
translations. The Natítayt also held meetings among themselves in the
evenings, and the Nez Perce language was considered proper and fitting
for such intergroup meetings. It had gained wide regional currency from
the time of Lewis and Clark, and many Natítayt spoke Nez Perce as a
second language, if not as their first.46 It is possible that a few speakers
on both sides also made some use of Chinook trade jargon, but the Natí-
tayt did not regard the jargon highly, and indeed it lacked the referen-
tial and expressive power of the other languages.47

By 1855 power relations between the Americans and the Natítayt
were so imbalanced and precedents were so powerful that Stevens and
Palmer probably never considered framing the treaties in two languages,
English and a Native tongue, as was done for the Treaty of Waitangi,
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concluded in New Zealand in 1840 and recorded in English and Maori
versions. Instead, the treaties made at Walla Walla are written in a for-
mal register of English. Their legal phrasing and terms had precise mean-
ings and references for the Congress and the U.S. legal and political
system. Had they been written otherwise, the treaties might not have
been ratified by Congress, which included many lawyers. Some of the
Natítayt were fluent speakers of English, perhaps even native speakers.48

But I doubt that the treaties were completely clear and comprehensible
to any native speaker of English — non-Indian or Indian — who lacked
formal education, let alone training and experience in American law and
politics. And some of the interpreters were illiterate; they made X marks
instead of signing their names.

On June 9 the Walla Wallas, Cayuses, and Umatillas signed a treaty,
and the Yakamas signed a separate one. Two days later the Nez Perces
concluded their own treaty. On June 12, without waiting for Senate rat-
ification, Stevens and Palmer prepared a public notice that the ceded
lands, but not the reservations, were open to settlement, although the
Natítayt retained possession of their “buildings and implements until
removed to the reservations.”49 Newspapers soon published that
announcement. War involving Yakamas and Palouses erupted some
weeks later in late July, and hostilities continued into 1858, when Natí-
tayt resisters were finally defeated and most began to remove to the reser-
vations.

what did the treaty do?

From the American perspective the treaty of 1855 accomplished four
acts of importance:

1. It constituted a new nation — the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla

Indian Reservation (CTUIR) — as a party competent to treat with the

United States and to cede land claimed or occupied by its constituent

bands.50

2. It granted the United States some lands desired for its citizens.

3. It reserved some lands for the people of the new nation (who were not cit-

izens of the United States).

4. It reserved certain rights, already held and exercised by the Natítayt under

their own traditional law and custom, for the people of the new nation.
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Explicit reserved rights included the exclusive right to fish “in the
streams running through and bordering said reservation” and “at all
other usual and accustomed stations in common with citizens of the
United States, and of erecting suitable buildings for curing the same; the
privilege of hunting, gathering roots and berries and pasturing their stock
on unclaimed lands in common with citizens.” But the Natítayt were
exercising other rights neither explicitly reserved nor explicitly relin-
quished in the treaty. We must understand, from the Natítayt perspec-
tive, that they did not leave the treaty council believing they had
surrendered any unmentioned rights. And the treaty made no mention of
burials, graves, or funerary customs. Since it did permit the Natítayt to
be on lands other than the reservations, they had good reason for expect-
ing that they could continue tending to the ancestors’ resting places,
wherever those were.51

who had property rights at the 
kennewick site in 1855?

Now we consider the third base of the argument that the Natítayt
reserved the right to deal in traditional ways with ancient human remains
in the Kennewick area: the nature of customary Natítayt rights in that
land. That entails reviewing evidence that connects the land in question
to the people who occupied it in the classical period before the treaty.
The evidence is convincing that Kennewick, Washington, is in territory
that was occupied by Walla Walla people during the historic period and
by their social, cultural, linguistic, and biological ancestors for some mil-
lennia previous.52 The Walla Wallas are therefore the traditional own-
ers of the land, and their leaders ceded it to the United States as part of
the larger area ceded in the treaty of 1855.

On October 17, 1805, Captain William Clark visited a Natítayt fish-
ing settlement near present-day Kennewick when he made a brief upriver
reconnaissance from the camp of the Corps of Discovery near Kw�sí-s at
the mouth of the Snake River. Clark’s account provides clear evidence
that a Natítayt group was then in occupation of the general area where
the Ancient One’s remains surfaced 190-odd years later. He found men,
women, and children living there and engaged in drying salmon. Among
other things the people showed him the mouth of the Yakima River
upstream.53 According to the anthropologist Eugene Hunn (in an early
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2005 e-mail with the author), there was an island, now flooded, across
from the site where the Ancient One’s remains were found, and its high-
est point might well have been sufficiently high to give Clark a view of
the Yakima River’s mouth.

In 1953, Pákayatut (also known as Johnny Buck), wyánč�i (“leader”)
of the Wánapam people at Priest Rapids, named the general Kennewick
area on the right bank as Ánwaš (“Sun’s Place”)54 Ánwaš is also the
indigenous name of Clover Island, just downstream and now a marina.
Pákayatut knew the area and the wider region well; his people (many of
them descended from the nineteenth-century occupants of the area) still
fished at Kennewick in 1950, although fish were scarce there by then.55

After departing their camp near Kw�sí-s on October 18, the Lewis and
Clark party passed “eleven large mat lodges” at Walúula and proceeded
a few miles down the Columbia to make their next camp on the north
side of the river near a village of five lodges. Later that night they were
visited by “the first Chief of all the tribes in this quarter,” who set up
camp nearby and came again early the next morning with three other
chiefs, when they smoked, parleyed, and were given gifts. They called
the main chief “Yelleppit” or “Yellept,” described as “a handsome well
proportioned man, about five feet eight inches high, and thirty-five years
of age, with a bold and dignified countenance.”56 On their return
upstream the next year, the Americans again met Yellept, who took them
to his village on the northern side of the river, “about twelve miles below
the mouth” of the Snake, and encouraged them to stop for a few days.
The next evening a party of a hundred or so Čhamnápam arrived and
joined the Walúulapam for an evening of dancing with the explorers’
party. Five years later the fur trader David Thompson met Yellept five
miles below the junction of the Snake with the Columbia and subse-
quently described him as the “Chief of all the Shawpatin Tribes.”57

Based on records of the Lewis and Clark expedition, other explorers’
accounts, and information supplied by indigenous people, ethnographers
have determined that there were three permanent Natítayt winter vil-
lages in the wider area where the Yakima, Snake, and Walla Walla rivers
flow into the Columbia. From the south the village complex of Walúula
or Walawála was on both sides of the Columbia at the Walla Walla
mouth,58 Kw�́sí-s was on the point at the north side of the Snake mouth,
and Čamná was on the north bank just inside the Yakima mouth. There
were other named places (such as Ánwaš) in the area where people
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camped for shorter periods to fish and dry their fish and such. The  
people of the area spoke similar Sahaptin varieties. My coauthor Noel 
Rude and I have classified these dialects as belonging to the Northeast 
subgroup of the Northern groups of Sahaptin, but we can also call 
them Walla Walla Sahaptin.59 Lewis and Clark identified the people at 
Kw�sí-s as the “Sokulk nation,”60 their neighbors at Čamná as “Chim-
nahpum” and “Chimnapoos,”61 and the “Wollawollah nation on both
sides of the Columbia from the entrance of Lewis’s [Snake] River, as low
as the Muscleshell rapid.”62

the indian claims commission dockets 
264, 264a, and 264b claims

It has been little appreciated that the first court ruling in Bonnichsen,
the so-called Kennewick Man case, rested in part on an earlier ICC find-
ing that the area where the remains were found lacked aboriginal Indian
owners. Scientific, legal, and public attention focused on whether there
were demonstrable relationships of “lineal descent” or “cultural affilia-
tion” between the remains and any contemporary Native American
group. These issues arising under NAGPRA obscured important matters
of tribal sovereign rights and jurisdiction. The earlier ICC proceeding
was relevant because of a previously mentioned section of NAGPRA,
which instructs the government to rely on a “final judgment” of the ICC
when determining whether human remains were found on a tribe’s “abo-
riginal land.” In the CTUIR’s case the relevant ICC proceeding began
with a petition for compensation filed in August 1951.63 Only Claim 1
for the ceded treaty area is directly relevant to the repatriation question,
but two findings in Claim 4 provide evidence of the United States’ gen-
eral position that there was no Indian property in lands and waters.

The commissioners’ final determination in June 1960 denied that the
CTUIR’s predecessor groups held “Indian title” based on “exclusive use
and occupancy from time immemorial of any definable area in such
ceded territory for each of the Indian tribes or bands who were parties
to that treaty.” If evidence had been shown to support the recognition
of Indian title in some areas, the ICC determination continued, it was “in
each instance . . . limited to the immediate vicinity of the respective vil-
lage occupied by such Indians.” Also rejected was an argument that the
CTUIR’s predecessor groups at least had “recognized title” to lands
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named in the treaty — recognized by American negotiators and the Con-
gress that ratified the treaty.64 In truth, the ICC thus denied that the
Natítayt had owned the very land they ceded by treaty.

In December 1960 the CTUIR filed a Petitioner’s Motion for Rehear-
ing and Amendment of Findings. In September 1964 the ICC vacated
(that is, annulled) its final determination and entered new findings of
fact and opinion and an interlocutory order. Among them was a finding
and opinion that the Cayuse, Umatilla, Walla Walla, the “Wayampam
bands [from Celilo Falls and upstream a bit], the Nez Perce tribe, the
Snake Indians, and other Indians jointly used the area where the remains
were later found.”65 Consequently, there was no aboriginal or Indian
title to be recognized. Nonetheless, the United States accepted a com-
promise proposal by the ICC to settle all CTUIR claims with an award
for $2.5 million. The CTUIR appealed (Appeal Docket 1-65) the new
findings in the Court of Claims on December 28, 1965. But shortly
before that the CTUIR General Council met and voted to accept the
final compromise offer. At hearings in Washington, D.C., on January
20, 1966, the ICC determined that the General Council meeting and
vote of acceptance were proper and aboveboard. The final compromise
settlement of February 11, 1966, consolidated Dockets 264, 264A, and
264B and awarded a “final judgement against defendant and in favor of
petitioner in the net amount of $2,450,000.” The agreement also
included these passages:

This stipulation and entry of Final Judgment shall finally dispose of all claims

or demands which the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reserva-

tion have asserted or could have asserted against said defendant . . . 

This stipulation, dismissal of the appeal and entry of the Final Judgment shall

not be construed as an admission of either party as to any issue for purposes

of precedent in any other case or otherwise.66

It was the vacated 1960 final determination, among other matters,
which led the trial judge in 2002 to reject the Natítayt argument that “a
claim based on aboriginal occupation . . . was also a basis for” repatri-
ating the Ancient One’s remains to the tribal coalition defendants/inter-
venors. That rejection, though consistent with NAGPRA, especially
section 3002(a)(2)(C), plainly disregards the second stipulation above
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“with regard to determining the ownership of Native American human
remains and cultural items excavated or removed from Federal lands
after November 16, 1990.”67

The COE, DOI, and NPS defendants took the position that section
3(a)(2)(C) of NAGPRA does not apply because “the land where the
remains were discovered [now managed by the Corps of Engineers] has
not been judicially determined to be the exclusive aboriginal territory of
any modern Indian tribe.” They argued further: “It is recognized by
many, including the tribes, that the area around Kennewick was used
heavily by many tribes and bands, so much so that the Commission
found that no single tribe had a claim to exclusive use or occupancy.”68

I doubt many Natítayt hold the view that no specific classical group
owned the area where the remains were found. That region was one of
intensive occupation and use, but it was not without resident landown-
ers. There are differences of opinion over who the classical owning group
was: whether it was the Na∏íyampam of Kw�sí-s and the Lower Snake,
the Čhamnápam of the Lower Yakima, the Walla Walla or Walúulapam
(whose classical estate was south of the Snake River junction on the
Columbia), the Wánapam (whose southern boundary on the Columbia
is unclear), or even the Palouses or Pelúuspem.69 I have taken the posi-
tion here that we can identify the Walla Wallas as its traditional owners
at the time of the treaty in 1855 and the CTUIR as their successors at
law, but the point is arguable.

the indian claims commission final
determination in hindsight

We anthropologists have made considerable advances in knowledge
since the ICC hearings in the 1950s and 1960s. There is considerably
more evidence available in the way of primary written sources and oral
history (for example, the L. V. McWhorter, Verne Ray, and Click
Relander Papers, Sam Black’s 1829 report from Fort Nez Perces, and 
A. D. Pambrun’s 1978 reprinted memoirs and his descendant’s  bio graph -
i cal sketch)70 as well as scholarly research studies based on much new
evidence.71 We now understand classical Plateau social organization and
land tenure better.72 The same is true of comparative jurisprudence —
specifically international law as it applies to the lands of indigenous peo-
ples encapsulated in state-organized societies.73
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More recent decisions in Australia and Canada (for example, the cases
known as Mabo No. 2 and Delgamuukw), also common law jurisdic-
tions, provide new precedents and obiter on traditional aboriginal title
to lands and waters and whether and how the common law (and statu-
tory law) can recognize it. And finally, our general social theory under-
standing of the character of property74 and of land tenure and use
among hunter-gatherer-fishers75 has increased and been refined in recent
decades. The incidents of Natítayt title under traditional law and custom
include much more than just usufructuary rights.76 We social scientists
can read and interpret the old and new evidence better these days, and
we hope that our legal and judicial colleagues will give such improved
analyses serious consideration when the opportunity arises, rather than
accepting without question the findings of tribunals that heard testimony
from an earlier generation of researchers.

The 1960 ICC final determination was based on a flawed theory and
model of land tenure and use that privileged use and evidence for exclu-
sion over normative law and custom. Put baldly, it held that the Indian
occupation of the ceded lands did not give rise to Indian title because it
was not based on exclusive possession from time immemorial. As the
anthropologist Joe Jorgensen has noted: “The chief attorney of the
Indian Claims Section [Ralph Barney] . . . took the position that Indians
never really owned any land.” The strategic and tactical positions taken
by the United States’ lawyers during the hearings reflected Barney’s views
consistently.77 The vacated 1960 ICC final determination for Docket
264 can now be plainly seen as ethnographically unsound and legally
not credible.

conclusion

A recurring discourse in the popular media and among researchers was
that the struggle for control of the Ancient One’s remains was an
instance of the battle between science and religion. There is no doubt
that religious beliefs and practices widely shared among the Natítayt
underlie their general opposition to studies of the remains and their
intention to rebury them, but exclusive attention to those religious con-
siderations ignores Natítayt concern about their treaties and treaty
rights.

This oversight is understandable, since the CTUIR sought repatria-
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tion under the provisions of NAGPRA (which in turn is understand-
able, given the prominence of that legislation meant to right past wrongs
and prevent new ones). When political leader Antone Minthorn said, “It
is not science versus religion, . . . it is science versus the law,” he identi-
fied NAGPRA as the law in question but neglected to mention the treaty
and rights reserved under it.78 The CTUIR’s and the tribal coalition’s
reliance on NAGPRA had the unforeseen effect of foreclosing other pos-
sibilities. When the vacated ICC final determination came to light, the
die was cast, precluding an action based on rights reserved by the
treaties. No one had realized that they would have to contend with an
ICC finding motivated at base by the United States’ desire to minimize
the costs of compensating Indians for and by an ideology of Indian
assimilation.

When members of Congress approved the phrasing of NAGPRA’s
25 U.S. Code section 3002(a)(2)(C)(1) to require “a final judgment of the
Indian Claims Commission” that the federal land on which remains or
object(s) were found was “the aboriginal land of some Indian tribe,”
they probably were unaware that historians have developed a negative
assessment of the ICC’s work. Nor, of course, were they aware of new
anthropological and historical data proving traditional Natítayt owner-
ship of the land where the Ancient One’s remains were found. The 1964
ICC finding that the area was not held under aboriginal title or Indian
title was based on incorrect interpretation of evidence that Indian peo-
ple other than Walla Walla people were observed there engaged in such
activities as camping, dwelling, fishing, drying fish, trading, conducting
ceremonies, gambling, raiding, and performing servile labor.

The CTUIR and other members of the tribal coalition now need to
establish more clearly just what land they ceded and what rights they
reserved when their ancestors signed the treaties 150 years ago. The
treaties are not just documents from the past, but they are living char-
ters for the present and future. Despite the coercive, even deceitful cir-
cumstances of their origins, the treaties are authoritative guarantees for
sovereign tribes and their own space in Indian Country. They offer
opportunities for the future that we cannot always foresee, and as the
historian Andrew Fisher has noted, they have also produced unexpected
social changes.79

The task at hand includes reviewing the ICC claims documents and
evidence as well as other documents and evidence that have come to light
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over the past forty years. Our new interpretation and assessment should
be based on contemporary social theory and understandings. The old
view that hunter-gatherers did not truly own their homelands or that
they did not have, exercise, and recognize property rights and interests
in them is no longer conventional wisdom in general social theory. When
we look back at earlier records and oral histories of who was there 
and near about, we should be able to distinguish landowning groups 
and their members from people who were there as spouses, in-laws, and
other relatives, trading partners, friends, travelers, war captives, or what-
ever. In this light I have taken the position that we can identify the tra-
ditional owners in 1855 of the site now on Columbia Park at Kennewick
as Walla Walla people and that the CTUIR are their contemporary suc-
cessors.

We cannot replay the ICC Docket 264 or its sequel in the Court of
Claims. The enabling legislation ran its course long ago, and there is no
way to appeal further and change its determinations. However, the
 Congress could achieve the same end in the future by amending the
NAGPRA legislation to recognize that compromise final agreements
with the ICC trump its vacated final determinations. Such amendment
is unlikely unless there develops a wider public knowledge and accept-
ance that the CTUIR and/or the tribal coalition indeed should properly
have jurisdiction because their predecessors occupied, were in posses-
sion of, and owned the lands and waters where the remains were found
at the time they signed the treaty of 1855. That is linked to the proposi-
tion that the ICC final determination for Docket 264 was incorrect and
that the current wording of 25 U.S. Code section 3002(a)(2)(C)(1) has
worked an injustice on the CTUIR, successor to the Walla Walla signa-
tories and traditional owners.

My argument is not simply a human rights and social justice one, but
at base it is a jurisdictional argument, one of tribal sovereign right: that
under the treaty of 1855 the CTUIR implicitly reserved the right to bury
their dead in accord with their traditional law and custom and to look
after and curate the many graves and burial sites on their ceded home-
lands, whether on reservation lands or not, and irrespective of their age
and antiquity.80 (It is useful to recall that if the remains had been found
on current tribal land, whether reserved by treaty or acquired later, the
CTUIR would have been able to require repatriation under NAGPRA
— end of story!)
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This argument does not require a finding or an assumption of direct
biological descent from the Ancient One to present members of the
CTUIR (although long-term continuity of the regional deme is likely, in
my opinion). The argument is a legal one: that the present-day political
successors of the sovereign indigenous parties to the treaties of 1855 did
not cede, and therefore reserved, the right to care for or dispose of the
remains of indigenous dead within their territories. This is a position the
CTUIR took from the beginning. However — perhaps because their
lawyers deemed NAGPRA the obvious and stronger basis for securing
the Ancient One’s remains — they did not pursue the argument in the lit-
igation.

It is too late to reverse the situation of the Ancient One following the
Bonnichsen decision, but the CTUIR, the other members of the tribal
coalition, and their lawyers and researchers should consider ways to deal
with such situations if and when they arise in the future. It is always use-
ful to consider decisions in other common law jurisdictions, especially in
Canada, which might offer alternative strategies and arguments. We also
need to develop an ethnographically more adequate explanation of tra-
ditional-customary landownership and use to identify and secure better
recognition of the rights reserved when ancestors of today’s Indians
ceded their lands by treaty; in other words, deeper knowledge of their
past exercise of sovereignty and dominion in the region is needed. These
should be put before the court of public opinion more effectively than
has been done to date.
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9 “History Wars” and Treaty Rights in Canada

a canadian case study
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In recent years Canadian judges have presided over some lengthy tri-
als of cases brought against the federal government for its failure to
fulfill the obligations that arise from historic treaties. The longest

and most expensive of these so far is that of the Samson Cree Nation of
Hobbema, Alberta, which filed a claim in the Federal Court of Canada
in 1989 (Victor Buffalo v. Regina 2005), alleging that the government
had failed to meet its obligations to them as provided in Treaty 6 (of
1876). Their action asked for damages in the amount of $1.385 billion
plus interest. Not counting closing arguments, the Samson litigation took
365 trial days, involved over twenty-five lawyers and sixty-five witnesses
(including a former prime minister), generated fifteen thousand docu-
ments and over fifty thousand pages of transcripts, and cost the oppos-
ing parties more than $100 million collectively.1 By all measures, to date,
the Samson Cree case is the granddaddy of treaty claims in Canada.
Indeed, its scope even surpassed the massive Gitxsan-Wet�suwet�en Abo-
riginal title claim in British Columbia (Delgamuukw v. Regina).2 Such
a case not only raises questions about the courts’ accessibility to First
Nations who cannot meet the massive costs of proving their claims in
court, but it also raises questions about whether it is possible to “teach”
judges the complex history on which they must base their decisions. I
believe that this is an unrealistic expectation.



The complex Victor Buffalo lawsuit proceeded in two phases: Phase
I concerned historical and treaty issues; Phase II addressed questions of
money management. The opening historical segment took up almost half
of the Court’s time (174 days). It raised all of the core issues that arise
in treaty rights cases concerning the use of diverse lines of ethnohistori-
cal evidence and competing interpretive frameworks that are deployed to
contextualize these historical, cross-cultural agreements. For instance,
presiding Justice Max Teitelbaum listened to the testimony of thirty-five
experts. These included Cree elders, who presented their evidence at the
Hobbema Reserve, and other witnesses whose range of expertise repre-
sented the academic disciplines of archaeology, Canadian history, eco-
nomic history, ethnohistory, historical geography, law, linguistics, and
political science.

Collectively, the reports and testimony of this eclectic array of experts
covered essentially all aspects of western Canada Native history, the fur
trade, early colonial settlement, economic development, treaty making in
western Canada, and federal-Indian relations after Treaty 6. This mas-
sive trial presents fundamental concerns about Aboriginal and treaty
rights litigation, most notably, the decreasing accessibility of courts due
to the mounting costs of legal battles (since few other First Nations have
financial resources comparable to those of the oil-rich Samson Cree) and
questions about whether it is possible to “teach” history in court when
opposing sides are engaged in a hotly contested litigation. I address the
latter issue in this essay, emphasizing the problems that arose in the Vic-
tor Buffalo trial and drawing on my experience as a historical expert in
other Canadian cases.

“teaching” ethnohistory in court

My first involvement as an expert witness in treaty rights litigation took
place in 1985, when I was asked to take part in the case known as Regina
v. Horseman (1990).3 That case concerned First Nations’ hunting rights
in the Treaty 8 region, which lies north of the Alberta portion of Treaty
6. When the lawyer for the Cree defendant asked me to testify about the
pretreaty economic history of the Treaty 8 area, I asked him, “What am
I supposed to do as an expert?” He tersely replied, “You will be there to
educate the court about Native history.” Perhaps not wanting to alarm
or confuse me, the lawyer did not add that the Court was a highly
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unusual student and the courtroom was unlike any university classroom.
My involvement in subsequent cases from British Columbia to Ontario
repeatedly forced me to confront these realities. They were particularly
acute in the Victor Buffalo trial, where a battery of experts presented
massive amounts of documentary and oral history evidence to the Court
and provided contradictory interpretations of it. In this respect the case
was very similar to the Delgamuukw trial.

The Court as Student

The “court” (a legal euphemism for a particular judge) usually poses
sub stantial challenges for the expert witness/teacher. In my experience
trial judges typically have little or no previous experience with Aborigi-
nal rights litigation. The Victor Buffalo case was different in that respect,
however. Justice Max Teitelbaum had extensive prior experience with
such cases, including ones from western Canada.4 More problematic for
the ethnohistorical expert is the fact that trial judges commonly have lit-
tle knowledge of the complex ethnohistory that is relevant to the case at
hand. Likewise, they are unfamiliar with the nature and the methodolo-
gies of the disciplines that contribute to that history.

These problems were made starkly apparent to me in the Victor Buf-
falo and Delgamuukw cases. In the former, after I had testified exten-
sively about the western Canada fur trade, Justice Teitelbaum revealed
the limit of his previous education by asking me whether the Indians or
the Hudson’s Bay Company had built fur-trading posts in the Saskatche -
wan area.5 In Delgamuukw the lawyers for the Aboriginal plaintiffs
introduced me to the Court as a historical geographer. The problem they
faced was that this specialty had not yet been recognized by Canadian
courts, and opposing counsel did not think it was in their interests to
have it recognized. As a result, counsel for the plaintiffs and lawyers for
the Crown (representing the provincial and federal governments)
engaged in a poorly informed, though sometimes entertaining, discus-
sion about the nature of historical geography. Since I had not yet been
recognized by the Court, I could not take part in this “seminar” discus-
sion.

Once accepted by the Court, the expert faces formidable challenges as
a teacher. In Victor Buffalo, as in Delgamuukw, experts were expected
to bring the trial judge from a secondary-school level of historical
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 knowledge to an advanced university graduate understanding — all this
in an unreasonably short period of time. In the Samson Cree trial, for
example, Justice Teitelbaum was given a crash course on Native history
in western Canada from the time of initial contact (mid- to late-seven-
teenth century) to the present day in only fifty-eight days of conflicting
testimony supported by reports and rebuttal and surrebuttal briefs.6 It
is not surprising that after trials of this magnitude, judges sometimes
have difficulty absorbing the material and make basic factual errors.
That happened in the Delgamuukw judgment.7

The trial judge’s purpose poses another major challenge for the expert
witness /teacher. The judge does not come to “class” out of curiosity,
even if very interested in fur trade history, as may often be the case.8

Rather, the court has to make findings of “facts” that are relevant to set-
tling the dispute at hand. In the case of Regina v. Marshall (1999),
Supreme Court Justice Binnie succinctly summarized the Court’s
approach to history when he wrote: “The law sees a finality of interpre-
tation of historical events where finality, according to the professional
historian, is not possible. The reality, of course, is that the courts are
handed disputes that require for their resolution the finding of certain
historical facts. The litigating parties cannot await the possibility of a
stable academic consensus.”9 This perspective means that trial judges
usually have little interest in the kinds of theoretical and methodologi-
cal debates that excite the academic community, drive scholarly dis-
courses, and lead to new interpretations with succeeding generations.10

Rather, as Justice Binnie tersely put it, they search for, or make, findings
of “facts” that address the current relevant case law. Therefore, to be
effective teachers in the courtroom, experts must present facts in light of
models that case law has generated rather than challenge the models, as
scholars normally do in academic settings. This involves searching for
data and theoretical frameworks that establish whether or not aspects of
First Nations parties’ ancestral practices meet the tests the courts have
established to define surviving Aboriginal and treaty rights.

Another problem that expert witnesses/teachers face in developing a
lesson plan for the court relates to the nature of the Aboriginal and treaty
rights litigation process: it destabilizes “academic consensuses.” In
Canada a key reason for this is that before the Aboriginal title suit of the
Nisga�a of British Columbia (Calder v. Regina [1973]),11 the Canadian
legal system and the academic scholarship concerning First Nations
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largely supported the dispossession and economic marginalization of
Aboriginal people. Particularly important to the process were Lockean
notions of property,12 evolutionary models of cultural development,13

and nation-building historical narratives that glamorized Canada’s treat-
ment of its Aboriginal people.14 Ever since the Calder case, which
launched the Aboriginal and treaty rights litigation era in Canada, First
Nations have had to challenge this colonial legacy repeatedly by bring-
ing new research findings to the court.

This means that the expert witnesses/teachers who appear for Abo-
riginal claimants and defendants frequently deliver revisionist lectures
that contradict aspects of the established academic and popular under-
standings of Native history. Those who appear for the Crown, on the
other hand, often reiterate older stories that are based on the extant and
sometimes outdated scholarly literature.15 The result is that the trial
judge is forced to make difficult choices between revisionist perspectives,
which often have not yet been subjected to peer review in the academy,
and older outlooks, which often are based on literature that was subject
to peer review in earlier times and therefore seemingly still bear the
stamp of scholarly approval. Dated publications may be appealing to
the court because they were not “tainted” by the claims process. As men-
tioned, however, these earlier works were often based on scholarly dis-
courses that are prejudicial to current First Nations’ interests. This
problem arose in the case of Victor Buffalo as it had in Delgamuukw.16

Four Basic Issues

In the battle over revisionist and “standard” interpretations of Plains
Cree history generally, and the Samson Cree specifically, four basic issues
were hotly contested. The first issue concerned the historical locations of
the ancestral Samson Cree. Historian Joan Holmes argued for the plain-
tiffs that the Western Plains Cree had lived in the region from the ear liest
times; archaeologist Alexander von Gernet countered for the defendant
by arguing that published archaeological and historical research (includ-
ing my work) suggested the ancestral Samson Cree did not move into
the Hobbema area until the mid-nineteenth century.17

A second issue of sharp dispute concerned the question of whether
the Cree understood and agreed to the written terms of Treaty 6. Wit-
nesses for the Samson Cree, especially Cree linguist H. C. Wolfart,
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argued that the Cree would not have understood certain concepts, par-
ticularly the notion of surrendering the land, because of fundamental
differences between English and old Cree (that is, before 1876).18 For
the Crown, political scientist Thomas Flanagan advanced the opposing
proposition that the Cree fully understood the terms of the treaty because
by 1876 they had established a long tradition of dealing with English-
speaking fur traders. Also, he noted that interpreters were present.
Accordingly, Flanagan contended there was no reason to suspect the
Cree misunderstood the government’s intentions.19 In other words, he
was advancing a traditional government proposition that the treaty
was/is “plain on its face” to both parties. A substantial portion of trial
testimony, including mine, addressed various aspects of this issue. The
topics concerned questions about the competency of the interpreters, the
extent to which the dialects of Plains and Swampy Cree and Plains
Ojibwa interfered with translation efforts, and determining what the
interpreters said to the Cree. The documentary records, on which schol-
ars had largely relied prior to the case, say interpreters “explained” the
treaty to the Cree. The problem is that those records do not provide
detailed descriptions of the explanations.

A third question that arose, and one that is closely related to the inter-
pretation issue, concerned the Samson Cree’s own oral histories of
Treaty 6. Through their oral history evidence, the Samson Cree advanced
the proposition that their ancestors had agreed to share their lands, 
not surrender them, in exchange for promises that Canada would pro-
vide various social services, most notably education, health care, aid in
times of famine and pestilence, and help in making the transition from
a  buffalo-hunting economy to a farming way of life. These ideas were put
forward by the elders. One of the objects of my evidence and testimony
was to consider whether documentary records would support Cree inter-
pretations. This involved reviewing the history of the Cree’s relations
with the Hudson’s Bay Company, which had been the Crown’s repre-
sentative in western Canada from 1670 to 1870. It also involved pro-
viding an economic context for the 1876 treaty and a discussion of
Canadian treaty making in western Canada in the 1870s.

Given that Justice Teitelbaum had little prior familiarity with most
of the historical characters and issues that were central to the trial, I
opted to begin my “lecture” (as the first expert for the Samson Cree to
follow the elders) with a brief PowerPoint slide presentation to “bring
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the history to life” in court by offering a visual summary of the main
points of my written submission.20 At the time this was an unusual tech-
nique for presenting evidence, and opposing counsel were reluctant to
allow it. After receiving my assurance that I was not going to use the
presentation as a Trojan horse to introduce new material other than that
of a visual nature, they agreed to let me proceed with my slide presen-
tation. I used it to emphasize the continuity that existed between the
diplomatic and economic protocols that the Cree and their neighbors
had established with the Crown through the Hudson’s Bay Company
and thought they had continued through treaties with Canada in the
1870s. The slide presentation afforded the best way to highlight the cru-
cial symbolic dimensions of this Cree-Crown relationship by showing
trade ceremonies from the eighteenth century and treaty proceedings of
the nineteenth century. Central to both were gift-giving ceremonies, espe-
cially the clothing of Native leaders in British military uniforms, the
smoking of the pipe, and speeches promising friendship, fair dealing, and
mutual assistance in times of need.21

Subsequently, historian Winona Wheeler appeared for the plaintiffs to
discuss the nature of oral history and the appropriate methodologies for
its use inside and outside of the Cree community. She emphasized that
once oral history sources are transcribed, they cannot be treated like any
other documentary sources because, in the writing, they are transformed,
become incomplete, and lose important contextual aspects.22

The Crown, however, mostly through the briefs and the testimony of
Von Gernet, took a conventional stance. They argued that oral history
must be treated like any other line of evidence and be subjected to test-
ing against other sources.23 Von Gernet posited that documentary
sources contradict key points of the Samson Cree oral histories about
Treaty 6. He had made this line of argument for the Crown in other
cases, and generally the courts had received it favorably.24 Only recently,
in the case of Regina v. Benoit (2002), did a trial judge reject Von Ger-
net’s testimony as biased against oral history evidence. That decision
was overturned, however, by the federal courts of appeal.25 Significantly,
the intense battle in Victor Buffalo over the merits of oral history is part
of an ongoing dispute in Canadian courts that began when the Supreme
Court of Canada faulted the trial judge in Delgamuukw for not giving
it sufficient weight.26 Given the ongoing struggle in the courts about this
line of evidence, it is not surprising that Justice Teitelbaum listened to the
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testimony about this subject, especially that of Wheeler, with great inter-
est, although he gave no weight to her testimony.

The fourth subject of intense dispute concerned the question of
whether the government acted in good faith in discharging the obliga-
tions assumed in Treaty 6. The Samson Cree and their experts, particu-
larly economic historian Carl Beal, told Justice Teitelbaum that from the
outset the Canadian government had often acted in ways that jeopardized
this First Nation’s interests.27 Beal drew mostly on research he had under-
taken for his doctoral dissertation in economic history28 and the recent
work of other historians, notably Sarah Carter.29 Neither his disserta-
tion nor Carter’s work had focused on the Samson Cree, however, but
they did address more generally questions concerning the Canadian gov-
ernment’s approaches to the development of reserve agriculture in the
Canadian Prairie West. In defense of the Crown, Flanagan advanced an
older perspective, which holds that the government treated the Cree as
well as could be expected given the economic and political circumstances
that it faced during the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.30

Inevitably, these historical disputes raised basic questions about the
nature of history and the methodologies that historians (broadly defined)
use. Flanagan and von Gernet emphasized the merits of Western scien-
tific methods and approaches to history that are rooted in the European
Enlightenment. Many of the Samson Cree experts adopted a more post-
modern and postcolonial perspective and argued for relativistic and poly-
vocal interpretations, which attempted to address the fact that the
documentary records generated by colonizers and universalizing schol-
arly discourses of the past tend to silence the voices of the local colo-
nized population. This has been an issue in other recent landmark trials,
perhaps most notably in the case of Regina v. Marshall (1999).31 Thus
the briefs and testimony of opposing experts /teachers left Justice Teitel-
baum with the problem of having to make decisions about the merits of
revisionist and traditional interpretations of Western Cree history that
are based on very different intellectual and philosophical positions con-
cerning the best ways to study ethnohistory.

Expert Witness/Teacher

Having discussed the judge as a history student, I now consider briefly
the expert witnesses/teachers who appear before the court. Expert wit-
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nesses /teachers typically have very disparate qualifications to address
the particular and general historical issues of concern to the court. Like
most university professors, some experts have established their Native
history credentials through an active research and publishing agenda.32

In effect, they are research-based teachers who bring to the court their
in-depth knowledge of the history that is relevant to the litigation.33

Typically these types of expert witnesses/teachers have earned doctoral
degrees (the research degree of the academy), hold full-time university
teaching/research positions, appear in court only occasionally, and do
not depend on claims work for their income.

Because of the complex nature of ethnohistory, the domain of these
witnesses’ expertise often is limited to a few Aboriginal groups, or a
small geographical area, or a narrow range of topics, methodologies,
and lines of evidence. Perhaps the best examples would be experts whose
research is based on archaeological, ethnographic (oral interviews), or
linguistic fieldwork, because collecting these types of data is time-
 consuming, geographically focused, and often depends on the establish-
ment of close working relationships with a First Nations group. The
latter requirement means that academics who engage in this kind of
research often are unwilling to appear on behalf of the Crown out of
loyalty to their informants or because they fear their testimony for the
Crown will jeopardize their future research prospects. This has been a
problem in claims litigation since the earliest days of the United States
Indian Claims Commission (USICC), which was created in 1946.34 In
my opinion it is becoming a critical problem in Canada today. The
Crown finds it nearly impossible to retain experts who have close ties to
Aboriginal communities. Barred from access to this line of evidence
before trial, Crown counsel has little choice but to treat oral evidence in
an adversarial way at trial. 

In contrast to the preceding group of experts are those who do not
hold full-time university appointments, are not publishing scholars, and
make most of their livelihood from consulting work. The majority of
these experts in Canada do not have doctoral degrees.35 Often these full-
time consultants lack in-depth familiarity with the history of the First
Nation that is the subject of the litigation. Typically reports of these
types of experts draw heavily on the secondary literature for theoretical
and interpretive frameworks. Sometimes they support their interpreta-
tions with primary research. In other words they are generalists. Indeed,
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von Gernet claims that he is one of the few experts in Canada who is
qualified to comment on archaeological, documentary, and oral history
aspects of the ethnohistory of diverse areas and Aboriginal peoples of
Canada, although his claim is not supported by a publishing record that
demonstrates this expertise.36

In short, in most cases the trial judge receives history lessons from
experts who have very uneven credentials. Some have in-depth knowl-
edge of local histories based on long periods of study; others offer a
broad perspective with little depth that often is based on a quick read-
ing of the readily available primary and secondary sources. In the Vic-
tor Buffalo case all of these issues concerning the merits and problems
of types of experts were aired, beginning with the exchange of experts’
reports and rebuttal and surrebuttal briefs.37 This raises questions about
the ability of judges to assess ethnohistorical experts’ credentials and
evaluate their presentations in court. The process begins when the judge
faces the decision of whether to accept an individual as an expert before
evidence-in-chief can begin. The judge bases this decision on the pres-
entation of the witness’s vitae and any challenges from opposing coun-
sel. Occasionally this process can be time-consuming, and that is espe cially
likely if the field of expertise is unfamiliar to the court. What happened
when I appeared in the Delgamuukw trial as a historical geographer is
a good example. Prior to my being qualified, opposing counsel expressed
their various understandings about what this field of expertise is and
how perspectives drawn from it might, or might not, be useful to the
Court.38

In the end Canadian courts rarely reject the qualifications of histori-
cal experts. (It has not happened in any of the cases in which I have been
involved.)39 Acceptance is essentially automatic when a historical expert
already has been accepted by other courts in previous cases. Further-
more, it has also been my experience that the court at trial gives roughly
equal weight to experts of various kinds—people the academic commu-
nity would consider to hold sharply different qualifications. Usually, the
court discounts the testimony of historical experts only when they dis-
play rather blatant biases in their interpretation. Finally, justices have
shown little concern with experts who appear in court routinely but
rarely, if ever, subject their court submissions to peer review in any of the
usual forums provided by the relevant academic associations. In his
briefs for the Victor Buffalo trial, for example, von Gernet cited positive
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citations of his testimony and briefs by courts in prior cases as proof of
his authority and reliability.40 In my opinion one of the reasons courts
tend to weigh historical experts roughly equally is a common underlying
notion that anyone can be a historian and that documents “are plain on
their face.”41 Also, there is the notion that historians serve as clerks who
simply bring to the court’s attention documents that are deemed to be
relevant.42

The Courtroom as Classroom

The most problematic aspect of the courtroom as classroom is its adver-
sarial climate, which does not encourage opposing experts to search for
common intellectual ground, advance explanations for their differences,
or promote the acceptance of multiple interpretations and narratives of
past events. Instead, a primary object of counsel at the trial is to rigor-
ously “test” any evidence or interpretations that they deem to be preju-
dicial to their clients’ interests and challenge the reputations of the experts
retained by opposing counsel.43 This practice serves to accentuate dif-
ferences and often encourages experts to advance historical interpreta-
tions that push (and sometimes overrun) the boundaries indicated by
currently accepted academic theoretical and methodological frameworks
or warranted by new research. In the often heated courtroom battles,
especially under cross-examination, experts can find it very difficult to
avoid going beyond currently acceptable limits and thereby becoming
mere advocates. Often the problem is exacerbated when litigation-
 oriented research uncovers new information that challenges current aca-
demic understandings of particular historical issues. In these instances the
boundaries of reasonable expert opinion may not be clear. When I am
confronted with such a situation, I ask myself whether I would be will-
ing to present my research and conclusions to scholarly conferences and
publish them in scholarly outlets (refereed journals and academic presses).
Indeed, if experts are not simply being advocates and their claims work
does lead to new understandings, I believe they have an obligation to take
their findings out of the courtroom and present it to the academy. Too
often this is not done.

Anthropologist Nancy Lurie, who is one of the veterans of Indian his-
tory “wars” before courts and commissions in the United States, has
identified another key problem with the courtroom setting. She has noted
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that the ability of witnesses to educate the court is seriously hampered
by the fact that they can only answer the questions put to them by the
plaintiffs’ or defendants’ counsel or, less commonly, by the court.44 The
possibilities of real dialogue are further reduced by the fact that the
 evidence-in-chief and even cross-examination usually are tightly scripted.
Lawyers do not like surprises in court.

Experts can address some of these constraints by helping counsel to
develop the line of questioning they will face during the evidence-in-
chief. My experience in this respect has varied greatly from one extreme,
in which I wrote my own evidence-in-chief questions the night before I
appeared, to the others, in which I had no input. In the case of Victor
Buffalo, I spent a great deal of time working with the lawyers for the
plaintiffs so that my evidence-in-chief was well structured and addressed
key historical issues. Of course, experts have no control over the ques-
tions they will receive in cross-examination, but occasionally they can
become heavily engaged in the preparation of questions for the cross-
examination of opposing witnesses. In any event these are not very effi-
cient or productive ways for experts to explore their differences or
establish areas of agreement. Ethnohistorians addressed this problem in
the earliest days of the USICC and recommended that pretrial (or pre-
hearing) meetings of opposing experts be held for this purpose.45 Rarely
has this been done in an adversarial system.

A new problem has arisen in Canada recently. It is an increasingly
common practice for the Crown to retain experts merely to have them
prepare rebuttal briefs and give refutation testimony. There appear to
be several reasons for this. It saves the Crown from having to commis-
sion expensive, case-specific research.46 More important, in civil suits
the plaintiffs have to carry the burden of proof, as the Samson Cree were
required to do in Victor Buffalo. This means that the Crown merely has
to raise what appear to be reasonable doubts about the evidence
claimants bring forward. That is what happened in Victor Buffalo. The
Crown’s two experts, Flanagan and von Gernet, filed rebuttal and sur-
rebuttal briefs. As noted previously, the archaeologist von Gernet chal-
lenged the work of Joan Holmes on general aspects of Plains Cree history
and disputed Winona Wheeler on the use and reliability of oral evidence.
The reality is that neither Holmes nor von Gernet has established  exper -
tise on Plains Cree history through normal academic channels of schol-
arly publishing or presentations at appropriate academic conferences,
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nor has Von Gernet done so with respect to oral history methods and
interpretation.

conclusion

The Victor Buffalo trial demonstrates many of the basic problems that
have to be overcome when educating a court about the ethnohistory of
a claimant group. A battery of opposing experts of very uneven qualifi-
cations presented the judge in that case with a massive amount of his-
torical information and conflicting interpretations supporting or in
opposition to the Samson Cree understanding of Treaty 6, which their
elders presented. To weigh this material properly, when viewed from an
academic perspective, the judge would have needed a level of ethnohis-
torical understanding that is equivalent to that of an advanced graduate
student. He was expected to obtain this knowledge on the basis of barely
two months of “class” time. Much of the “instruction” was not aimed
at providing him with a nuanced understanding of the poly-vocal nature
of that history; rather, it aimed to champion certain perspectives at the
expense of others.
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10 History, Democracy, and Treaty Negotiations 

in British Columbia

Ravi de Costa

297

hat relationship do modern treaty-making processes, such
as that under way in British Columbia in the twenty-first

century, have with the histories of treaty making across the
continent? This chapter explores the political context of current treaty
making, comparing it with the era of imperialism, and argues that suc-
cessful modern treaty processes need to acknowledge the democratic
landscape on which they are taking place. The dense interactions and
transformations inside and between indigenous and nonindigenous com-
munities in settled colonies, such as those across the Pacific Northwest,
require processes that allow for ongoing negotiation rather than “cer-
tainty” and “finality.”

treaties as democratic acts: inclusion & consent

Two principles may be thought of as central to modern democratic soci-
eties: inclusion and consent. A democratic state requires popular legiti-
macy, which has historically meant the expansion of those able to
participate and the need to seek all actors’ consent, even if it is not forth-
coming (though minorities’ systematic refusal to give their consent dam-
ages the legitimacy of democratic orders). It is then a paradox that few
states can point to their own birth as democratic acts on these terms. This
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is palpably true in the case of the colonies of European empires, which
were founded on the tacit and often explicit assumption that indigenous
peoples’ inclusion and consent were not necessary. Modern treaty making
strives for legitimation of this sort. But as I argue in this essay by drawing
on a narrative of treaty making in British Columbia, the search for legiti-
macy situates the struggle for decolonization of colonial nation-states like
Canada in a democratic context that both enables and requires new types
of claims to be heard. The crisis of legitimacy faced by colonial nation-
states can no longer be resolved by the simple, onetime transfer of consent
from undifferentiated indigenous populations to the state.

Many theorists have criticized the liberal notion of consent, built on
a thoughtful and informed, choosing individual. We can certainly con-
sider the accumulated effects of colonization, with all its violence, dis-
ease, and genocidal intentions of policy, as creating a diminished
capacity for indigenous consent. But we need to go much further, to
accept that the social changes experienced by both indigenous and non-
indigenous parties since colonization require a much more sophisticated
and subtle approach to consent formation than that characterizing mod-
ern treaty processes so far. We need to embark on processes that are
flexible enough to deal with the accumulated effects of colonization and
the evolving ways that those effects are understood.

representations of treaties

Scholars working for decolonization in Australia make frequent rhetor-
ical recourse to the history of colonial treaty making in North America
and New Zealand. This is sometimes portrayed as a centuries-long tra-
dition of the recognition of indigenous peoples by European settlers and
thus evidence of Australia’s exceptionalism. Twentieth-century advo-
cates of treaties in British Columbia have made similar remarks. Of
course, close inspection of treaties with indigenous peoples reveals a his-
tory in which neglect by colonizers is at least as strong a theme as recog-
nition. However, ample writing has demonstrated the moral power and
precedent of the original treaties of the “peace and friendship” era and
later ones, where two distinct and coherent peoples and traditions
encountered each other and, through the wisdom of their respective lead-
erships, reached agreements giving the newcomers recognition and access
to territory and resources.
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As the scholar of legal history and philosophy Robert Williams has
argued in his work Linking Arms Together, if historians include indige-
nous accounts of the encounter era in North America, a different picture
of the frontier emerges in which cooperation and “rough equality” are
central. Rather than devoid of agency in the face of the expansion of set-
tler interests, indigenous peoples should be seen as “active, sophisticated
facilitators on a multicultural frontier.”1 Rethinking treaties in this way
allows us to see the moment that two discrete traditions and peoples were
bound into mutual, enduring obligation. Indigenous diplomats honored
the sacredness of treaties by insisting on such ceremonies as smoking the
pipe before signing the documents. This, they understood, cleared the
channels of communication and rendered the agreement sacred and per-
manent.2 Treaties in the Indian tradition also meant the sharing of sto-
ries with a “jurisgenerative” or law-creating aspect. Treaties were the
instantiation of a way of living and being together.

On this point Williams draws on political philosopher Richard Rorty’s
claim that solidarity relies on shared experiences (particularly shared hard-
ships) more than the simple clearing away of misunderstanding and prej-
udice. Treaties between indigenous and settler groups that had faced each
other in conflict exemplified this.3 In such moments of encounter the per-
formance of the leaders was of great significance for any future relation-
ship, “made settled by the fact that the first or early performers’ example
is followed, their confidence confirmed, general expectation of further con-
formity strengthened and so a general custom launched.”4 In this sense
treaties were living agreements that gave indigenous and settler peoples a
framework for encountering each other and negotiating their interests as
they arose. However, as indigenous peoples understood them, treaties as
relationships also had a moral character, requiring that future encounters
and negotiations would be conducted in keeping with the original agree-
ment, respecting the autonomy of indigenous communities.

Memories of these aspects of treaty making persist, for example, in
indigenous elders’ understanding of the undertakings and spirit of
Canada’s Treaty 7, signed in 1877. In their view the treaty was an act of
peace and coexistence, not the pretext for dispossession.5 Recent work
has recovered indigenous agency both in demanding and negotiating
agreements; it has also exposed flaws in the colonial historiography of
treaty making, in which triumphal narratives of extinguishment were
abetted by complacent and complicit historians.6
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In recent treaty-making endeavors, the rhetoric of Canadian govern-
ments both federal and provincial for building “new relationships” has
drawn heavily on indigenous perceptions of the earlier treaties as sacred
acts and performances.7 But First Nations usually respond warily to gov-
ernment calls for new relations, suspecting that modern treaty making
may work according to the same assumptions as those actually held by
the original colonists: that treaties were conclusions to the matter of
indigenous presence and did not provide a framework for the recognition
of indigenous autonomy other than that which the state found conve -
nient. Consequently, contemporary hopes that the moral force of the
original treaties can be reproduced should be tempered by the fact that
the parties to those treaties had differing views of what was actually tak-
ing place. Moreover, modern treaties must also acknowledge how much
both parties have changed since the early period of colonization. The
rest of the chapter demonstrates this by examining the British Columbia
treaty process.

history of treaty making in british columbia

“Alone in the new world, with neither outside aid nor previous example
to call upon, the Indians of British Columbia embarked on sustained
political action within the new political system, demanding that it live up
to its own official ideals.”8 For Europeans the will to treat has histori-
cally been a matter of necessity: treaty making has not been the conse-
quence of Europeans’ adherence to prior principles of inclusion and
respect but a function of their need for assistance and stability during
settlement processes. To understand how this is true of the present-day
process, we need to examine how indigenous political representations,
the nonindigenous authority, and the political landscape of British
Columbia were all transformed, destabilizing the economy and eroding
state legitimacy, so that treaty making was by the late 1980s inevitable.
In the process, however, the original narrative of treaty making as per-
formative encounter was superseded by the realities of modern pluralist
politics.

A full account of Native mobilization would require a history of
indigenous representations beginning in the second half of the nineteenth
century. In this essay, however, I focus on the political mobilization and
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direct action of Natives in the province during the post – World War II
period, when Native claims were able to connect more effectively with
national and international currents of change. Indigenous subjectivities
such as pan-Indianism and tribalism rose to significance during the
course of the twentieth century and became the basis for cross-national
or cross-clan political activity intended to present a united front to the
absolutist settler state.9 New political organizations started to reflect
these shifts in political identity, with northern coastal Natives forming
the Native Brotherhood of British Columbia in 1931 and interior Indi-
ans setting up the Confederacy of Indian Tribes of British Columbia in
the mid-1940s.10

In 1951, as an international discourse of human rights gained momen-
tum, the federal government of Canada lifted prohibitions on indigenous
political activity in place under the Indian Act, the domestic legislation
that oversaw indigenous life. Indigenous political activity expanded, rap-
idly so after a federal process of indigenous consultation on further
reforms to the Indian Act was undertaken in 1968 and 1969. In 1969 the
federal government tabled a new statement on Indian policy in the House
of Commons, the so-called White Paper. Its ultra-assimilationist call for
the abolition of Natives’ special status immediately stimulated national
opposition and the formation of a Native political organization that
encompassed all of British Columbia, the Union of B.C. Indian Chiefs.11

Political development meant Native leaders were dealing with broader
constituencies, such as “non-status” indigenous peoples, and gaining
greater access to federal funding for land claims activity.12 New indige-
nous organizations sprang up: the Alliance of B.C. Indian Bands and the
United Native Nations in 1974, the B.C. Coalition of Native Indians and
the Tribal Forum in 1980, and finally the First Nations Congress in
1988. In their names no less than their policies, these organizations
showed how rapidly Native political ideas were developing.13

These organizations cohered throughout this period in response to
the lack of substantive government change on a range of issues and in
particular the B.C. government’s intransigence over land claims. In 1973
the land claim of the Nisga�a people of northern B.C. was adjudicated in
the Supreme Court of Canada. In their finding, known as the Calder
decision, the justices were split on the substantive matters, but their judg-
ment raised the likelihood that aboriginal title continued to exist on
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Crown lands where it had not been extinguished expressly. General land
regulation or legislation that was not explicit could not extinguish abo-
riginal rights held “from time immemorial.”14 This led to fundamental
shifts in federal policy and the beginnings of modern treaty making.
Native people were suspicious about the motivations underlying what
the federal government began to call a “comprehensive claims” process.
However, within B.C. it was the continued refusal of the province to
enter into any negotiations that became the focus of indigenous peoples’
anger.

The political scientist Paul Tennant has suggested that 1973 was also
the start of “the contemporary era of B.C. Indian political protest.”15

Although there had been earlier protests at Fort St. John and at Williams
Lake, the timing seemed influenced by the American Indian Movement’s
standoff with the FBI at Wounded Knee in South Dakota. Direct action
proliferated: in 1973 there was a blockade of Department of Indian
Affairs (DIA) offices in Vancouver, and a traditional but allegedly ille-
gal fish weir was built by the Cowichan people on Vancouver Island. In
June 1974 there was a protest march on the legislature to pressure the
New Democratic Party government to recognize Aboriginal title. That
year as well, DIA offices across Canada were blockaded, the Nisga�a
prevented a railway development on their territory, and armed Natives
maintained a prolonged blockade of a highway near Cache Creek. The
year 1975 saw an increase in confrontational actions, particularly the
assertion of traditional resource rights.16 That was a particular empha-
sis of interior groups under the leadership of Assembly of First Nations
chief George Manuel. After a Lillooet “fish-in” in 1978, Manuel indi-
cated that “sophisticated civil disobedience” would be an outcome of
continued government intransigence; he also referred to an “army” of
activists who would take up weapons in the struggle if necessary.17

In the early 1980s First Nations across the province began a second
phase of direct action aimed in particular to disrupt the resource sec-
tor.18 In 1984 first the Kaska-Dena people in the remote Northeast and
then the Nuu-chah-nulth on Meares Island blocked logging access. In
1985 the Haida obstructed logging on Lyell Island. The following year,
the Kwakiutl protested on Deare Island; the Nisga�a, Lillooet, and
Nlaka�pamux all obstructed railway constructions, and Bella Bella pad-
dlers arriving at Expo in Vancouver in 1986 encountered protests and
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speeches by the Native Brotherhood of British Columbia, angry at the
appropriation of Native culture during the exhibition.19 Also in 1986,
Indians threatened not to participate in the census, which meant that
British Columbia might lose up to $3,000 per person in federal transfer
payments;20 the Gitxsan Wet�suwet�en took offensive action, hurling
marshmallows at fisheries officers; and the McLeod Lake band not only
obstructed a logging road but actually started taking logs themselves.21

Gitxsan Wet�suwet�en roadblocks and standoffs made it clear that the
government’s control was limited. David Mitchell, a member of the leg-
islative assembly of B.C. and a vice president of the lumber company
Westar, was quoted as saying the system has broken down completely.
“It is no longer certain who controls the forests in north-west BC,” he
declared. Westar was eventually forced to reach a deal with tribal lead-
ers.22 The Nemaiah Chilcotin band forced Carrier Lumber, Ltd., to stop
logging after unilaterally declaring their territory a wilderness preserve.23

In the 1970s protests had focused on the administrative concerns of
bands — typically on reserves — and there was little media or court
involvement. By the 1980s, however, the key difference was that the
tribal basis of protests brought them to nonreserve lands and targeted
resource companies that were perceived to be benefiting from the
province’s continuing refusal to negotiate. The media became more inter-
ested as protests offered the spectacle of traditionally garbed indigenous
peoples confronting resource developers and the state. Native commu-
nities sought injunctions against developments in advance of preparing
their land claims. Major churches became sympathetic as well as envi-
ronmental groups. This was especially the case on the West Coast of
Vancouver Island, where a broad coalition opposed to logging formed
and included the local municipality.24 It was, according one participant
in the treaty process, “a very confrontational time in the province’s his-
tory.”25 The province’s dependence on natural resources made the con-
frontations and disruptions untenable, and the provincial Social Credit
government rapidly reformed its policy from 1986.

Two points can be taken from this history. First, it demonstrates an
inversion that has taken place between the nineteenth-century treaties
and contemporary treaties. Now indigenous peoples must come into the
colonists’ world and demand recognition and inclusion in the dominant
sociopolitical order. On the signing of the B.C. Treaty Commission
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agreement in 1993, George Watts of the Nuu-chah-nulth Tribal Coun-
cil said, “I’m actually going to be part of this country in a little while.”26

Second, indigenous peoples’ struggles for decolonization not only rely
on the tools of the democratic order (such as formal political institutions
and the public sphere of media and civil society), but also open the dem-
ocratic realm as part of making claims. New ways of making their claims
meant that indigenous peoples were envisaging a new shared moral
order. Indigenous claim making not only strained and broke the bounds
of “legality” but also forced the inclusion of new voices, such as those
raised on behalf of nonstatus Indians or for tribal and other broader
groups. The broader range of interests now working for decolonization
in B.C. meant that the authorized parties to any treaty would have to
reflect these newer ideas. Moreover, the forcefulness with which Natives
had had to assert their rights would set in motion new kinds of state and
social response.

the process and status of treaty making 
in british columbia

The political transformations of the 1960s and 1970s bore fruit in the
1980s. Indigenous claims severely disrupted the economic and social
order of British Columbia, and by the late 1980s the province agreed to
participate in a new comprehensive process of making treaties that
would in many ways be distinct from the federal process under way since
1973. It was legislated in the early 1990s and began formally in 1993.
The new process indicated how different a modern process needs to be
from the early colonial “peace and friendship” treaties or the numbered
treaties of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. The differ-
ence was visible not simply in the new proceedings’ technical nature but
also in the range of ways that indigenous peoples could identify and rep-
resent themselves as part of the process and in the range of different non-
indigenous interests that would be represented. Treaty making was also
very much placed in the public eye, with effusive political rhetoric about
how it would transform the collective identity of B.C. and correct the
injustices of history.27

Six stages comprise treaty making as it was launched in 1993. Indi-
vidual First Nations initiate negotiations by first submitting a formal
statement of intent, comprising a rough indication of their traditional
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territories and a sense of who the relevant community is and how it is
represented. Stage 2 requires both First Nations and the federal and
provincial governments to demonstrate “readiness” for negotiations —
that is, the capacity of each party to undertake negotiations and to
demonstrate its “mandate.” Stage 3 sees the parties develop their
agenda for negotiations, known as a framework agreement. This
includes details about the structure of the negotiations as well as a broad
indication of the issues the parties wish to have discussed. Once a frame-
work agreement is initialed at the table, it undergoes ratification
processes set out at Stage 2. Stage 4 is the first substantive stage of nego-
tiations: the parties work through the issues they have identified, the
goal being to draft chapters of agreement on each topic, such as land
and resources, fiscal relations, or wildlife management. The collection
of these drafts is an agreement in principle (AIP) and requires ratifica-
tion once again. The provincial government ratifies an AIP via cabinet
approval.

Stage 5 attempts to turn drafts into a complete text that would
become the final agreement. At this point a process of review is under-
taken to ensure that nothing conflicts with the Constitution of Canada.
This stage requires ratification by all three parties, a community refer-
endum in the case of First Nations, as well as approval by both the
British Columbia legislature and the parliament of Canada. On the
“effective date” the final agreement becomes a treaty in the terms of sec-
tion 35 of the Constitution Act (1982). Implementation, including trans-
fer of resources and powers, comprises Stage 6 of the process. At this
point the relevant indigenous community will no longer be administered
under the Indian Act but under terms of its own making.

In mid-2008, in the sixteenth year of the process, only two First
Nations have ratified Final Agreements. Tsawwassen and Maa-Nulth
First Nations awaited passage of their Final Agreements through the
Parliament of Canada.28 Fifty-six other First Nations remained in nego-
tiations at forty-six treaty “tables.” Of these, thirty-four tables were
making little or no progress.29 As I have argued at length elsewhere,
major impediments to agreements include the narrowness of what gov-
ernments have been willing to discuss in terms of historical restitution,
indigenous self-government, and the question of what treaties will do 
to aboriginal rights in a context of ongoing jurisprudence on those
rights.30
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inclusion and consent: indigenous 
perspectives on treaties

We should not underestimate the difficulty for Native communities in
consenting to treaties. For example, the Sechelt band rejected its AIP in
July 2000; the Nuu-chah-nulth Tribal Council AIP was rejected in mid-
2001 by Nuu-chah-nulth communities; the Snuneymuxw First Nation,
who reached a draft AIP in April 2003, had still to gain community
approval as of early 2007; and the Sliammon AIP failed its initial ratifi-
cation vote in 2001 in the face of community disaffection, although it was
eventually approved by a majority of 62 percent.31 Such difficulties are
likely to become more acute as communities are asked to ratify final agree-
ments. Indigenous peoples realize that treaties increase the power of their
own leaderships, and it has often been remarked that there are significant
differences between those negotiating agreements and the community
itself.32 The community vote to ratify the Nisga�a Final Agreement (passed
by only 61 percent of 2,376 eligible voters, with 23 percent against and
15 percent abstaining) included a ballot on a future Nisga�a constitution
that had not yet been seen by the Nisga�a community.33

In some communities indigenous women have leveled criticism at the
patriarchal membership of negotiation teams and at the inadequate
attention paid to gender issues. In 1999 the commission that oversees
treaty making convened a focus group on indigenous women’s views
about the treaty process. Women, the report concluded, played a highly
subordinate role in treaty negotiations and felt isolated from them. The
report found concern that a number of issues were not gaining a place
in the treaty process discussions, including child welfare, domestic vio-
lence, and family health. Underlying these views was the concern that
the process was dominated by the male Native elite.34

Conversely, lack of progress creates pressure within communities to
prioritize more urgent social activities, such as education, or to pursue
other political strategies. Some tables have effectively disbanded. Two
First Nations — Ts�kw�aylaxw and Xaxli�p —have formally withdrawn.35

The McLeod Lake band rejected the process of trilateral negotiations with
B.C. and Canada, instead negotiating an “adhesion” with the federal gov-
ernment to Treaty 8 and securing a significant amount of land and
resource rights through bilateral negotiations with Canada.36 Further-
more, other First Nations in British Columbia, representing about one-
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third of the Native population, have never joined the process and continue
to reject what they see as its basic assumption that the result will be extin-
guishment of aboriginal rights. They also object to the inclusion of the
province in what they feel should be “nation-to-nation” negotiations with
the federal government alone.

Indigenous people have criticized the definition of organizations that
would represent First Nations.37 One Secwepemc elder maintained that
“it should be hereditary people who are signing these agreements. The
tribal council is a civil servant who takes orders from the federal gov-
ernment.”38 In its 1998 Annual Report the Treaty Commission noted
that there “may be as few as 10 or as many as 200 First Nations in B.C.,
depending on the definition used.” Band councils, the bodies established
by the Indian Act, are negotiating in most of the nearly fifty cases. Thir-
teen tables see indigenous interests represented by tribal councils (com-
prised of several bands), while three are based on traditional governance
arrangements.39 The enabling legislation described First Nations as any
indigenous group, “however organized and established by aboriginal
people within their traditional territory in British Columbia, that has
been mandated by its constituents to enter into treaty negotiations on
their behalf with Her Majesty.”40 The legislation made no reference to
Aboriginal rights, which were rapidly evolving in the courts. In fact,
major legal developments have shifted the ground on which modern
treaty negotiations stand.

In 1999 the Treaty Commission prepared a confidential report for the
principals, responding to the new environment created after the Delga-
muuk�w judgment in 1997, which significantly expanded the conception
of Aboriginal rights to allow indigenous peoples to enjoy their rights in
a contemporary social and economic order. The report, Strengthening
First Nations for Treaty Purposes, noted the potential that the changing
jurisprudence of aboriginal title could “alter the very political founda-
tions on which the treaty process rests.”41 Repeated admonitions of First
Nations such as the Gitxsan for asserting their legal rights42 seemed hyp-
ocritical when the commission concluded that “ultimately treaties are
not only political documents but also legal ones . . . each party needs the
assurance in treaty negotiations that the other parties have the legal
capacity to deliver . . . , [raising] the spectre of negotiations being carried
out with a First Nation that is not coterminous with the nation that holds
title to a particular territory.”43 This reanimated divisions among Native
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people over their approach to the state and offered succor to more rad-
ical Native positions.

For example, Westbank First Nation went logging on their traditional
territory in 1999, from the province’s point of view, “illegally.” Rather
than pursuing criminal sanctions, however, the governments chose to
negotiate “off the table,” granting Westbank significant logging rights.
One legal scholar suggested that the decision not to prosecute may indi-
cate that the Delgamuuk�w decision shifted the balance of power sig-
nificantly toward Natives, with an “onus of proof” of title now being on
the provincial government.44 The national indigenous organization, the
Assembly of First Nations, developed a post-Delgamuuk�w strategy to
“provide assistance and organizational capacity for First Nations con-
sidering asserting their title consistent with the Delgamuuk�w deci-
sion.”45 Indigenous organizations in British Columbia, representing
those both in and outside the process, issued a joint “Consensus State-
ment” in early 2000, calling for the establishment of “a new policy of
recognition, affirmation and implementation of aboriginal title.”46

Even those First Nations who have been most attracted to the treaty
process as it has unfolded, such as Lheidli T�enneh, have seen it as a mat-
ter of pragmatism at the very best. As their treaty analyst Rick Krehbiel put
it: “Basically, there’s only one process to work in. The Band was inter-
ested in getting itself built into the twentieth century in Canada, and there’s
really no other way to do it at this point. It’s the only game in town.”47

Another analyst, Bernard Schulmann, noted that Ts�kw�aylaxw were moti-
vated by economic isolation and dependence: “Ts�kw�aylaxw . . . entered
the process in May 1994, and much of it has to do with the fact that
they are sitting on 2000 hectares of rocks. Their land is utterly useless,
they are in no position to pick up any other land through any other
method, and they want to move from the past.”48 In the circumstances
we should at least retain some skepticism about the extent to which
absolute and final indigenous consent can be secured through the treaty
process.

inclusion and consent: nonindigenous
perspectives on treaties

During the negotiations that led to the creation of the treaty process,
indigenous peoples insisted on a “nation-to-nation” quality to treaty
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making, often speaking of a “one window” approach, where integrated
and coherent indigenous communities deal directly and only with the
(federal) government.49 The metaphor of one window evokes the his-
tory of treaties made between the “elders” of each side, a single channel
for recognition and exchange. Yet as we have seen, some now doubt the
ability of such negotiations to take into account the range of indigenous
groups that have interests in treaty making. The nonindigenous “party”
to treaties is no less heterogeneous and certainly has had the means to
demand the inclusion of multiple constituents.

The founding agreement of the treaty process made clear that “non-
aboriginal interests are to be represented at the table by the provincial
and federal governments.” The governments, particularly the province,
have been innovative in that respect. At the top of a pyramidal structure
of consultation is the Treaty Negotiation Advisory Committee, a group
of resource industry, labor, social, and environmental organizations that
work with Canada and B.C. to identify the interests on which provincial
negotiating mandates are based. Regional advisory committees are sim-
ilar bodies of representatives from key economic and social sectors that
support clusters of negotiations in particular regions and localities.50 A
special role was given to municipalities, because of their delegated
authority for local government matters, through the creation of treaty
advisory committees. In a memorandum of understanding with the body
representing local governments in B.C., the province indicated that
municipal representatives would be treated as “respected advisors of
provincial negotiating teams” on transitional cooperation, public infor-
mation, and British Columbia budget allocations.51 Local government
participants have been known to point out that they are nearly always
the only elected members of negotiating teams.

Federal chief treaty negotiator Eric Denhoff publicly lamented the
increasing complexity caused by the addition of local governments to
provincial negotiation teams and the growing sophistication of “third
party” demands like those of resource groups such as the Fisheries
 Survival Coalition.52 Bruce Nelson was one such intervener, who sought
to make room for the particular needs of ranchers in B.C.: “There is a
new group trying to peer through that window. For them, not only are
the images unclear, but they are becoming increasingly indiscernible. The
group to which I refer is the other stakeholders, conveniently designated
as third parties, people immersed in the land claims issue . . . we view the
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federal government as systematically abandoning the rights of rural,
farming and ranching people in the government’s efforts to achieve a
politically correct solution to an extremely complex problem. . . . What
has the government done to protect our minority rights?”53 Voices like
the British Columbia Citizens’ Front stoked a new climate of litigation
and conflict as when the Nisga�a Final Agreement faced provincial rati-
fication in 1999.54 The business community often portrayed itself as an
innocent bystander in the internecine squabbles of vested interest groups.
“We’re the meat in the sandwich,” said the president and CEO of the
Mining Association of B.C., Gary Livingstone.55 However, the distance
from passivity to the maintenance of existing practices looked to be short
indeed. In a publication setting out their perspective on treaties, the B.C.
and Yukon Chamber of Mines asserted that “the industry just wants
these contentious issues settled. Exploration needs access to the largest
land base possible. . . . We need to work hard toward preventing . . .
another set of regulatory hoops to jump through.”56

Another resource group, the Council of Forest Industries, has consis-
tently taken a tougher line, particularly after the Delgamuuk�w decision.
It sees litigation as inevitable because the treaty process “has not pro-
vided any concrete deliverables.”57 It is “unreasonable, irrational and
counter-productive,” the group argues, “for native groups to claim the
benefits of aboriginal title before such title is proved in court.”58 Most
pointedly, treaties did not provide “enough certainty that land claims
issues will be extinguished.”59 Jerry Lampert of the B.C. Business Coun-
cil announced that “there have been major disappointments in achieving
the certainty we are looking for.”60

A provincial election in May 2001 appeared to absorb much of this
tension, however. The British Columbia Liberals routed the governing
New Democratic Party (NDP), taking seventy-seven out of seventy-nine
of contested seats in the provincial legislature. Some part of this result,
though by no means the whole, should be attributed to the delegitima-
tion of the NDP and their strategy toward treaties. The combination of
a resurgent Native opposition and the lack of actual progress in a costly
public policy ensured that there were few votes the NDP could win on
the treaty process and its promise of a “new relationship” in the prov -
ince. Liberals spent considerable time positioning themselves as the
guardians of democracy on treaty making. This came to a head during
the legislative debates about the ratification of the Nisga�a Final Agree-
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ment in 1999. The intransigence of the opposition then led to the closure
of the debate, providing fuel for the fire.

The problem with legislative scrutiny of treaty negotiations arises
because of the recasting of power that takes place under treaty making:
legislatures traditionally transmit their intentions to the populace, where
they are digested by interest groups who lobby their responses and seek
changes. Yet the legislation to enact treaties that have been agreed at
treaty tables cannot be amended without undermining the entire process.
This formal moment that decolonizes the democratic order thus appears
to turn the parliaments into rubber stamps, where frustrated oppositions
berate bored, even embarrassed governments.

A further rejoinder to treaty making has been that the principles on
which it was based were rejected during a national referendum on con-
stitutional reform — the Charlottetown Accord of 1992.61 This did not
prevent the opposition Liberals from including another referendum on
provincial negotiating mandates as part of their Aboriginal policy plat-
form. In 1999 the leader of the opposition, Gordon Campbell, asserted
that, if elected, his party was committed to a policy of “bringing people
into it.” He said: “I am committed to giving all British Columbians a
one-time province-wide referendum on the principles that will guide the
province’s negotiating mandate for future treaties. Make no mistake, the
government under my leadership will not accept this Nisga�a treaty as a
template for future treaty settlements. We will not endorse any treaty
until there has been a genuine attempt to engage all British Columbians
in a meaningful debate on the principles that they expect treaties to
embrace.”62

“All British Columbians” was unlikely to include many Native peo-
ple, however. NDP premier Ujjal Dosanjh challenged Campbell to name
one Native leader who supported his proposal, and Campbell could
not.63 Regardless, once the Liberals were elected in 2001, eight ques-
tions were put to the electorate, to provide clear instructions to members
of the provincial negotiating teams.64 The referendum was held under
the British Columbia Referendum Act so that, if approved, the eight
issues would become legally binding on the government under provincial
law. All eight received overwhelming approval.65 This was due in part
to a concerted boycott by Native peoples and their supporters.

On one issue — the character of indigenous self-government to be
agreed as part of treaty negotiations — we can see the potential effect of
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the referenda. Natives have been claiming recognition for autonomy
and self-government since contact. In 1995 the federal government rec-
ognized self-government as an inherent right.66 Canadian courts have
repeatedly endorsed this position, perhaps most explicitly in a 2001
British Columbia Supreme Court ruling in Campbell et al. v. Attorney-
General of British Columbia / Attorney-General of Canada & Nisga�a
Nation et al. (an action brought by Gordon Campbell himself), which
rejected the proposition that all power in Canada resides with the fed-
eral and provincial governments, stating that self-government was an
Aboriginal right as protected by section 35 of the Constitution of
Canada.67 Nevertheless, the British Columbia government chose to ask
residents of the province whether they agreed with the proposition that
“Aboriginal self-government should have the characteristics of local
government, with powers delegated from Canada and British Colum-
bia.”68

Eighty-seven percent approval of that question implies that provincial
negotiators are now obliged under provincial law to discuss only dele-
gated models of self-government at treaty tables. Although the exact
effect remains unclear, few could argue that “delegated” and “inherent”
mean the same thing. The position of the province that it will only con-
sent to a “delegated” model is unlikely to survive a constitutional chal-
lenge, and indeed, recent agreements indicate that the “delegated” model
is not being insisted upon.69 However, the episode exposes the gulf
between two notions of provincial political legitimacy: on the one hand,
the wishes of the democratic majority and, on the other, the need to seek
indigenous consent and inclusion. Although indigenous peoples suc-
ceeded in dragging a recalcitrant state into negotiations on decoloniza-
tion through radical and more moderate forms of action that expanded
the democratic realm, the new space they entered was porous to a range
of nonindigenous actors who undermined the state’s capacity (often with
its approval) to act in the so-called one-window mode.

conclusion

The memory of the earlier treaties as moments of recognition and esteem
might still be a source of inspiration, but it can no longer be an exam-
ple. In British Columbia discussions at treaty tables provide neither
Native nor settler communities with models of exemplary behavior,
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other than perhaps the common-sense principle that it is good for peo-
ple to talk to each other. In fact, the new treaty negotiations are highly
technical blueprints for future systems of rule, the codification of exem-
plary behavior rather than its performance. It could be no other way.
Compared with the early colonial examples cited by Robert Williams
and discussed earlier in this essay, both “sides” are far less homogeneous
than they were. The locus of authority in each case has been transformed
such that when elders perform handshakes today there is as much skep-
ticism as celebration. The hope that senior figures might enact a per-
formance (or text) that is wholly representative, widely supported, and
yet aspirational seems utopian amid the complexity of modern life.

Structures of legitimacy and authority are radically different than they
were in previous centuries, and the traditional modes of authority of
indigenous communities must now take into account the views of indige-
nous people living off-reserve as well as the concerns of women and
Native youth, who all have their own desire to participate. Simultane-
ously, the colonial agent of empire has had to be reinvented for a plu-
ralist democracy in which business interests, media representations,
bureaucracy, civil society, and local government are all articulate and
demanding. This is to say nothing, moreover, of the immensely complex
relations that already exist between the two putative parties to a treaty,
between indigenous peoples and others inside schools, workplaces, social
settings, and families. We must assume these relations will continue to
evolve, creating new representations of self and others, new challenges
and problems.

Shorn of their rhetorical boilerplate and corporate dressage, modern
treaties look nothing like the indigenous vision retold by Williams.
Although I strongly agree with his conclusion that classical indigenous
legal traditions have a great deal to offer contemporary conflicts, I
 wonder how such possibilities could ever find their way into current
treaty practices, where those indigenous people most likely to want such
 agreements (elders and others dedicated to traditional commitments
based on trust, shared stories, and the performance of exemplary behav-
ior) are the most likely to be alienated from technical and legal  nego -
tiations. Some scholars are optimistic about the possibility that new
frameworks of rights, such as the Canadian Charter of Rights, will
enable new intercultural conversations and dialogue over core concepts
like equality.70 However, critics such as Taiaiake (Gerald) Alfred have
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attacked such processes (including the treaty process in B.C.) as simply
another layer of colonization in the guise of indigenous recognition. Abo-
riginal rights and title, argues Alfred, are simply the colonial offerings
available to those who “abandon their autonomy in order to enter the
legal and political framework of the state.”71

Does the treaty rationale reinforce rather than renounce fundamen-
tally assimilationist foundations? Only indigenous peoples themselves
can answer that question. My own view is that the British Columbia
process is cast in anachronistic terms because of its commitment to “cer-
tainty” and finality.72 We have not yet achieved a broad, meaningful
social consensus about whether we should view the past as progress,
misfortune, or genocide. Yet treaties seem to function for both the state
and the nonindigenous public as ways to seal the past shut. For decolo-
nizing states to insist that indigenous peoples reach consensus about the
parameters of their futures in these circumstances seems quite unjust.
That is a project that requires Native leaders, in the present moment, to
set out the needs and desires of their communities comprehensively and
conclusively for all time. It places great faith in the forbearance of every-
one else not to use democratic institutions and values in ways that alter
or undermine treaties.

Might we revitalize the performative character of treaty making? If so,
how? Scholarly debates about theories of citizenship include concern
about the integrating versus the differentiating implications of the recog-
nition of difference. Critical advocates of treaty making urge both these
goals simultaneously: a stronger and more trusting community based on
a fundamental valuing of difference rather than mere tolerance of it. This
would be difficult enough if the demarcations between indigenous and
settler peoples were in every instance steady and clear, but in the “decol-
onizing democracies,” they are not. For those committed to some notion
of indigenous “authenticity,” the transformation of indigenous peoples
from the period of contact into the communities of today renders talk of
rights or historical restitution unpalatable. The evidence from British
Columbia suggests that it makes more sense to encourage a permanent
culture of negotiation. Treaties are being conceived of as high-stakes
moments that threaten existing, stable communities when the situation
really calls for contingency and “uncertainty.”

I conclude by reflecting on what this might mean for scholars. We
can, for example, urge a better historical understanding on the assump-
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tion that wider knowledge of the ongoing illegitimacy of colonial nation-
states will produce an alternative public discourse. I doubt that this will
be easy or is even possible. Perhaps my own view on this is colored by
the experience of Australia’s reconciliation process — an attempt at dem-
ocratic decolonization through a modest effort at public education,
“sharing history,” and “national healing” — where advocates grossly
underestimated settler investments in the status quo.73 In B.C. the ref-
erendum on the provincial government’s treaty mandate as well as the
building hostility to the recent agreements made on the Tsawwassen and
Lheidli T’enneh tables suggest that even where there is wide support for
reform, such a pedagogical strategy still faces real limits to convincing
settler populations of shared alternative visions.74 Scholars need to be far
more candid than they have been about the prospects for any widely
shared and meaningful visions in societies as complexly varied as con-
temporary liberal democracies.

Alternatively, we might learn from the historical evidence that social
change requires new distributions of power and thereby urge indigenous
peoples to take a more contrary stance, one that actually disrupts the
assimilationist imperatives of treaty making — a return to the direct action
and litigation that brought the governments to the table in the first place,
or First Nations simply returning to traditional lifeways. This implies that
nonindigenous people will also actively support and engage with that
process, reinforcing the idea of illegitimacy through their own disobedi-
ence. The danger of provoking an entrenched opposition by doing this is
unquestionably real. Moreover, we need to be careful that we do not
repeat the oldest error once more, where nonindigenous peoples assume
they know what indigenous peoples actually want and can formulate
broad policies that will accommodate all claims to decolonization.

In light of the democratic imperatives of decolonization, I concur with
the Canadian anthropologist Michael Asch who, drawing on Levi-Strauss,
has argued that treaty making as consent-seeking should be “an uninter-
rupted process of reciprocal gifts, which effects the transition from hostil-
ity to alliance, from anxiety to confidence, and from fear to friendship.”75

We need to encourage the practice of perpetual negotiation and should
do so in the knowledge that the “certainty” being sought in current
treaty making can no more predict the future causes of hostility, anxiety,
and fear than it can create new bases of alliance, confidence, and friend-
ship.
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11 Treaty Substitutes in the Modern Era

Robert T. Anderson

321

lthough the U.S. Congress prohibited treaties with Indians after
1871, there are significant parallels between treaty negotiations

prior to that ban and modern Indian tribes’ negotiations with
the federal government regarding land and natural resource claims. The
power balance in both cases has been such that the Indian tribes have
had to concede that the United States can unilaterally determine most
issues about which it will negotiate. In no case has the government been
willing to put its ultimate sovereignty within U.S. borders at issue, and
certain rights that tribes may wish to obtain or reaffirm have been off
limits as a practical matter.

People familiar with Indian policy in the United States sometimes
assume that the doctrine of discovery — the claim that European nations
acquired title to American land they “discovered,” leaving indigenous
inhabitants with a mere right of occupancy — is a relic of the past, along
with the corresponding colonial mind-set. On the one hand, since the
dawn of the current self-determination policy era in the mid-1960s, the
property rights of Indian tribes do seem to be held in higher legal and
moral regard than during earlier times. On the other hand, in recent
years when the Supreme Court and Congress have faced fresh issues
regarding aboriginal property rights, both bodies have returned to
approaches that have more in common with the proponents of manifest

A



destiny than the professed self-determination policy. Although current
federal policy in support of tribal self-determination has undoubted ben-
efits for the tribes, it is the federal government that defines the outer
bounds of tribal sovereignty and dictates those outer bounds in much
the same fashion as in the nineteenth century.

The early treaty period in the United States was marked by the use of
diplomatic language reflecting tribal governmental status approaching
that of nations under rules of international law.1 At the same time there
is little doubt that the U.S. government usually held the upper hand in
the negotiations, and the tribes had little choice but to participate and
achieve the best bargains they could. By the third decade of the 1800s the
expansion of the non-Indian population, the growth in U.S. military
prowess, and the retreat of the British as a competitor resulted in treaty
terms that were increasingly one-sided. There were calls for the end of
treaty making as early as the presidency of Andrew Jackson,2 and fed-
eral policy generally reflected the notion that Indian lands would be
acquired whether the tribes wanted to surrender their homelands or not.
For example, Congress in 1850 authorized the president “to appoint one
or more commissioners to negotiate treaties with the several Indian tribes
in the Territory of Oregon, for the extinguishment of their claims to
lands lying west of the Cascade Mountains; and if found expedient and
practicable, for their removal east of said mountains.”3

After Washington Territory was created from the northern portion
of Oregon Territory in 1853, this mission fell in part to the new terri-
tory’s governor, Isaac Stevens, whose biographer concluded that he “ran
the treaty cessions as if he were a judge in a court of law. Though all
had the opportunity to speak, to ask questions, and to demand expla-
nations, and though there was room for minor modifications in the
treaty drafts, the end result of the councils was inevitable.”4 The
inevitable result was the cession of vast tribal territory to the United
States in exchange for various payments, services, and the retention of
smaller reservations. The tribes did obtain meaningful concessions from
the United States in treaty negotiations, such as the right to fish at usual
and accustomed stations, but the exchange of value was notoriously one-
sided.5

Although formal treaty making in the United States ended in 1871,
the U.S. government continued bilateral negotiations with Indian tribes
over matters of mutual concern. But many of the “permanent” home-
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lands promised in treaties prior to 1871 were substantially reduced in
size when non-Indian settlers sought land previously guaranteed by
treaty. The federal government accelerated its efforts to shrink the Indian
land base through agreements that went to both houses of Congress for
ratification.6 Thus, although the United States in the Fort Laramie Treaty
of 1868 promised to protect the Black Hills of the Dakota Territory for
the Great Sioux Nation, the discovery of gold prompted a quick rever-
sal and the taking of most of that land for non-Indian exploitation by 
an “agreement” that Indians signed under duress in 1876.7 An early
 twentieth-century historian reviewed the situation: “As will be readily
understood, the making of a treaty was a forced put, so far as the Indi-
ans were concerned. Defeated, disarmed, dismounted, they were at the
mercy of a superior power and there was no alternative but to accept
the conditions imposed upon them.”8 Indians frequently complained of
fraud on the part of the United States in the negotiation or implementa-
tion of treaties,9 but tribes with such complaints were left to appeal to
an unresponsive Congress.10 Through this process and supplementary
federal legislation such as the General Allotment Act of 1887, the Indian
land base was reduced from 156 million acres in 1881 to approximately
48 million acres in 1934.11

A major shift in federal policy occurred with the passage of the Indian
Reorganization Act in 1934. That statute precluded the further allotment
of communal reservation lands and provided permanent protection for
allotments and tribal property from any form of involuntary loss.12 It also
marked a corresponding shift toward the support of tribal governmental
institutions and their authority to exercise jurisdiction over members and
territory.13 The termination era of the 1950s was a brief interlude in which
these pro-tribal policies were suspended and several tribes suffered disas-
trous consequences when their relationship with the federal government
was severed.14 But President Richard Nixon’s announcement of the pol-
icy of self-determination marked a return to policies protective of the tribal
land base and Indian sovereignty.15 At a time of pro-tribal shifts in Con-
gress and the executive branch, the courts also looked more favorably on
tribal rights in some areas. Thus in 1980 the Supreme Court rejected the
political question doctrine, which had allowed fraud by the United States
in land dealings to escape judicial review. In a ruling challenging the fed-
eral government’s expropriation of the Black Hills, the Court held that
the United States must pay compensation when it takes recognized Indian
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title to land or water and that courts may not defer to congressional judg-
ments of whether a “taking” has occurred.16

Those advances in federal policy have been qualified, however, by a
number of other decisions restricting tribal jurisdiction over nonmembers
in the criminal and civil contexts.17 The Supreme Court’s rejection of
tribal regulatory power over non-Indians has been complemented by
modern land claim settlements that restrict tribal powers to relatively
small land areas and often subject tribes to some state authority. The
settlements of modern Indian land claims, which are the closest con-
temporary analog to Indian treaties in the United States, have reflected
continuing federal domination of negotiations. There remains essentially
no chance for tribes to retain all aboriginal lands, and it is commonplace
that land conveyed to non-Indians in violation of federal law will at best
be only partially restored to tribal ownership. Thus, in the case of unex-
tinguished aboriginal title to Alaska, the question was not whether the
claims would be extinguished by Congress, but how much compensa-
tion would be awarded.18 Likewise, in the case of the Maine Indian
Land Settlement Act of 1980, invalid sales of Indian land to the state
were certain to be ratified by Congress, with the amount of compensa-
tion the foremost question.19 Settlements in Rhode Island, Connecticut,
Massachusetts, and South Carolina share the pattern of extinguishing
substantial tribal land claims in exchange for relatively small land
areas.20

While some of the foregoing settlements have been criticized for tribal
capitulation to state jurisdiction, more recent events indicate that the
alternative of continued litigation in hope of substantial land recovery or
large damage awards could have had worse consequences. For example,
the land claims in upstate New York have not been settled despite nearly
forty years of litigation, and once promising possible outcomes for the
tribes in the courts now appear in doubt. In 1985 the Supreme Court
ruled that Indian tribes whose lands had been sold in violation of federal
law could sue for damages and recovery of the land.21 However, in 2004
the Court held that land reacquired by the Oneida Indian Nation in its
reservation claim area was subject to state taxation.22 A federal appeals
court quickly extended the Supreme Court’s reasoning and rejected tribal
claims for damages for non-Indian trespass on the ground that too much
time had passed since the initial wrong.23

A brief examination of the Alaska land claims settlement and a recent
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Indian water rights settlement reveals that, as in treaty times, indigenous
groups are forced to negotiate in forums chosen by the colonizing nation
and on terms that are implicitly or explicitly dictated. This is not to say
that the outcomes were completely unjust. Rather, Native tribes end up
with what the dominant society is willing to surrender instead of what
the tribes might prefer. In that sense little has changed since the nine-
teenth century.

the alaska native claims settlement act: 
a settlement in the treaty tradition?

Although Alaska Natives were long neglected by the U.S. government, it
is now well settled that they have the same legal status as Indian tribes
in the lower forty-eight states.24 The Tee-Hit-Ton case of 1955, in which
the Supreme Court ruled that Alaska Native aboriginal title was not pro-
tected by the Constitution’s prohibition on taking without the payment
of just compensation, set a precedent applicable to tribes throughout the
United States.25 Despite that holding, the Alaska Statehood Act (passed
in 1958) required the state to renounce any interest in lands claimed by
Alaska Natives.26 However, the act inconsistently granted the State of
Alaska the right to select 102.5 million acres for its own use from
“vacant, unappropriated, and unreserved” public lands. As the new state
began to select lands, Native villages protested to the Secretary of the
Interior, and on January 12, 1969, Secretary Stewart Udall imposed a
freeze on further patenting or approval of applications for public lands
in Alaska pending the settlement of Native claims.27 Momentum for the
extinguishment of aboriginal claims increased,28 because oil develop-
ment in northern Alaska could not occur so long as Native claims pre-
cluded the issuance of permits to construct the Trans-Alaska Pipeline,
which was necessary to transport the oil.29

Although Natives would have some say in the terms of the settlement,
they would not have a veto. As such, the situation differed little from
the agreements dictated by the United States in the latter years of the
treaty-making era and continuing through the late nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries. Aboriginal claims would be settled, and the ques-
tions of how much land and money would be provided in compensation
for the extinguishment would be decided by Congress, not Alaska
Natives.30 Furthermore, rather than taking the usual course of vesting
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existing tribal governments with the assets reserved after extinguishment
of the aboriginal claims, Congress adopted an experimental model ini-
tially calculated to promote the speedy assimilation of Alaska Natives
into corporate America.31

The Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act (ANCSA) of 1971 extin-
guished aboriginal title and also expressly extinguished “any aboriginal
hunting and fishing rights that may exist.”32 In exchange, Alaska
Natives alive on December 18, 1971, were permitted to enroll and be
issued stock in one of thirteen regional corporations and in one of more
than two hundred village corporations, according to their place of resi-
dence or origin.33 Those corporations as a group were entitled to receive
approximately 40 million acres of land and nearly a billion dollars.34 In
addition, Congress indicated its intent that there be some protection of
Native hunting and fishing rights. While the Senate and the House could
not agree on the means, the conference report expressed the conviction
that “Native peoples’ interest in and use of subsistence resources” could
be safeguarded by the Interior secretary’s “exercise of his existing with-
drawal authority” to “protect Native subsistence needs and require-
ments; . . . The Conference Committee expects both the Secretary and
the State to take any action necessary to protect the subsistence needs of
the Natives.”35 Nothing other than this was done to provide generally
for Native hunting and fishing rights, except to specify a subsistence pref-
erence for all rural residents of Alaska in 1980, after it became clear that
the state and federal governments were doing little to provide for Native
hunting and fishing rights.36

ANCSA did not even mention the governmental powers exercised by
Native tribes in Alaska, so many assumed that those powers continued to
exist, as would normally be the case under federal law. The inherent pow-
ers of self-governance over members and territory had been acknowl-
 edged in a number of ways,37 and there is no evidence that Congress
intended to extinguish them. The general rule is that when Congress
determines to extinguish tribal property rights or governmental power, it
must do so expressly.38 Why was ANCSA silent on such a critical mat-
ter? The remote locations of Native villages and the relative lack of non-
Native encroachment best explain the lack of concern for expressly
securing rights of self-government. As a prominent Native leader involved
in the negotiations explained:
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Our focus was on land. Land was our future, our survival. In my region all

we wanted was to get control of our space so we could live on it and hunt and

fish on it and make our own way into the twentieth century at our own pace.

Our focus was on land not structure. The vehicle for administering the land

was not our focus. We weren’t lawyers. We were battling the state tooth and

tong. We were always afraid the President might create a pipeline corridor.

We were afraid of failure, or not getting a settlement and not protecting the

land for our future generations. As a minority group we knew we could only

press the country so far. But none of us ever envisioned a loss of tribal struc-

ture. We never thought the tribal control would not continue.39

The matter is still not finally settled, but the United States Supreme
Court dealt a major blow to the scope of tribal powers in Alaska 
when it ruled in Alaska v. Native Village of Venetie that land conveyed
to Native corporations (approximately 40 million acres) pursuant to
ANCSA was not “Indian country” and thus not territory subject to tribal
jurisdiction under general principles of federal Indian law.40 The Alaska
Supreme Court subsequently ruled that Alaska tribes continue to have
power over their members and others who consent to their jurisdiction
notwithstanding the Venetie decision,41 but that is small consolation fol-
lowing the loss of jurisdiction over a territory the size of Washington
State.

Is ANCSA like a treaty? It is in the sense that a deal was presented to
Alaska Natives by federal negotiators — a deal that could be tweaked
around the edges and a deal whose provision for land and money dis-
tributions to Native people was negotiable to some extent. But there was
no doubt that there would be a “settlement.” Like treaties of the nine-
teenth century, the legislation agreed on accomplished the primary goal
of removing indigenous claims to title to vast areas of land in order to
facilitate non-Native settlement and resource extraction. In place of the
backdrop of the military threat of the nineteenth century, there was the
legal certainty (due to the Tee-Hit-Ton ruling) that aboriginal title could
be eliminated unilaterally and without any compensation. And as in the
treaty era, there were many who thought it right that the Natives be pro-
vided fair compensation, but the definition of “fair’ would be largely
dictated by the federal government with no realistic opportunity for
Alaska Natives to insist otherwise.
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the nez perce water right settlement:
negotiating out of a hostile forum

The Nez Perce Tribe negotiated treaties and agreements with the United
States throughout the second half of the nineteenth century, but one of
the tribe’s most important assets — water — was not dealt with in any for-
mal and final way until the twenty-first century. After years of neglect the
Nez Perce found themselves involved in a massive struggle over control
of water needed by the tribe to protect their fishing rights. Encouraged
and subsidized by the federal government, non-Indians had developed
massive irrigation projects for out-of-stream water uses. The non- Indians
fiercely resisted any change in the status quo. In the end the Nez Perce
ended up with a substantial water right and other compensation, but
they were forced to abandon their quest to substantially limit  exis ting
non-Indian out-of-stream uses. As in the nineteenth century, this was
due in large part to the fact that U.S. law set out restrictive rules and a
negotiation platform tilted in favor of non-Indian interests.

At the time of its initial treaty with the United States in 1855, the Nez
Perce Tribe controlled an aboriginal territory of over 13 million acres in
what is now Idaho, eastern Washington, and Oregon.42 The 1855 treaty
negotiated by Isaac Stevens established a “permanent” 7-million-acre
reservation and promised that the tribe would retain the right to fish at
all usual and accustomed stations outside of reservation boundaries.43

Another treaty in 1863 reduced the original reservation to 700,000
acres.44 By 2006 allotment of the reservation and measures to imple-
ment allotment had further diminished tribal and individual Indian land
holdings to fewer than 100,000 acres. The 1863 treaty with the Nez
Perce expressly guaranteed tribal rights to springs and fountains for
tribal use and left the fishing provisions of the 1855 treaty intact.45 Aside
from the springs and fountains language, no further mention of water is
found, although water would obviously be necessary to maintain tribal
fisheries and sustain the Nez Perce. Nearly all Indian treaties fail to men-
tion water explicitly, and yet the Supreme Court determined early on
that when Indian reservations were set aside, they often included reser-
vations of water.

The central case involving Indian reserved water rights is Winters v.
United States.46 In Winters the U.S. Supreme Court construed a con-
gressionally ratified agreement between the Indians of the Fort Belknap
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Reservation and the United States.47 In the agreement the Gros Ventre
and Assiniboine Bands of Indians surrendered most of their larger reser-
vation and retained a much smaller reservation adjacent to the Milk
River in Montana.48 Non-Indians who had settled upstream of the reser-
vation claimed paramount rights to use water from the Milk River based
on the prior appropriation doctrine.49 For the Indians to grow crops as
contemplated by the agreement creating the reservation, they would need
water being used by the non-Indians. The Supreme Court ruled that the
federal government had the power to exempt waters from appropriation
under state water law,50 and that the United States and the Indians
intended to reserve the waters of the Milk River to fulfill the purposes of
the agreement between the Indians and the United States.51 The Court
stated that “ambiguities occurring will be resolved from the standpoint
of the Indians. And the rule should certainly be applied to determine
between two inferences, one of which would support the purpose of the
agreement and the other impair or defeat it.”52

Unfortunately for the tribes, the victory in the Winters case was not
accompanied by federal action to protect tribal water rights. Instead, the
federal government expended vast resources developing water projects
for non-Indian use.53 The National Water Commission in 1973 con-
cluded that “in the history of the United States Government’s treatment
of Indian tribes, its failure to protect Indian water rights for use on the
reservations it set aside for them is one of the sorrier chapters.”54 The
commission also recognized the United States’ trust responsibility to
tribes with respect to water.55 However, the hard fact is that non-Indian
development resulted in much of the water in the West being put to out-
of-stream uses pursuant to state law, such that the modern assertion of
senior Indian rights has been fiercely resisted.

The Winters case is strong precedent for tribal reserved water rights,
but those rights have been effectively weakened by the fact that Con-
gress has permitted litigation over Indian water rights, unlike nearly all
other disputes involving Indian rights, to be forced into state courts56—
forums traditionally hostile to Indian tribes.57 Tribes strenuously
opposed the litigation of their rights in state courts, but the Supreme
Court ruled that the McCarran Amendment — an act of Congress in
1952— provides for state court jurisdiction despite tribal objections, and
it may occur without tribal participation.58 In effect, Congress has dero-
gated tribal rights by forcing tribes to litigate in forums hostile to tribal
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interests.59 At the same time the federal executive branch is charged as
a trustee with advancing Indian water rights as trustee.60

In 1987 the State of Idaho brought a lawsuit to determine the scope
of all state water rights, along with federal and tribal reserved water
rights, in the Snake River Basin, where Nez Perce aboriginal fishing areas
and the Nez Perce Reservation are located.61 Consistent with historical
practice,62 the U.S. Justice Department took a position firmly support-
ive of Nez Perce rights to water for in-stream flows to support fisheries
on and off the reservation;63 for on-reservation consumptive uses,
including irrigation, domestic, commercial, and industrial uses; and for
springs and fountains as guaranteed by the 1863 treaty. In 1998 the state
district court hearing the case rejected the reserved right claims for in-
stream flows64 amid allegations that the trial judge had a conflict of
interest.65 The tribe’s choice at this point was to appeal to the Idaho
Supreme Court, which was known for its hostility to federal reserved
rights, and/or to pursue settlement of its claims. The tribe and the United
States pursued both avenues.66

The settlement they reached became federal law in 2004 with passage
of the Snake River Water Rights Settlement Act.67 The act’s terms are
certainly more favorable to the tribe than the result that would have been
achieved in litigation. The tribe ended up with water to satisfy all the
claims advanced by it and the United States,68 but it made a major con-
cession in subordinating all of its in-stream flow claims to existing non-
Indian out-of-stream uses.69 In exchange, the tribe received $22 million
for water-delivery systems on the reservation, title to approximately
11,000 acres of land worth up to $7 million, and $60 million to restore
fish and wildlife habitat.70

The Nez Perce faced a government (the State of Idaho) determined to
use the jurisdiction Congress had provided in the McCarran Amendment
as a device to define treaty-reserved water rights out of existence, or at
least to limit any harmful effect those rights might have on existing state
law water uses. By bringing the tribe and its trustee (the United States)
into a state court in which a majority of judges were avowed opponents
of federal water rights, the state secured an advantageous position from
which it could negotiate to protect its interests. Despite the state’s home-
field advantage, however, the Nez Perce and the United States were able
to use leverage afforded by the Endangered Species Act to obtain con-
cessions on the water rights front. In short, since the federal govern-
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ment’s regulatory power to protect salmon habitat under the Endan-
gered Species Act threatened to disrupt water deliveries in much of
Idaho, the state and powerful irrigation interests agreed to a settlement
that accommodated the tribe’s interests as well as non-Indian interests.71

Although Congress in the 1950s had tilted the playing field against the
tribe through the McCarran Amendment, the Justice Department and
federal regulatory agencies (the departments of Interior and Commerce)
were allied with the tribe and, at the tribe’s urging, used their authority
to advance a favorable settlement.

The funding and return of land certainly could not have been achieved
outside of the settlement context. But as in the case of the Alaska land
claims, successfully asserting senior reserved water rights to provide for
treaty fisheries was not a realistic option.72 The McCarran Amendment
forced the tribe into a hostile forum for judicial determination of their
water rights and foreclosed the tribe’s preferred option — recognition of
substantial senior reserved water rights. Given the Idaho Supreme
Court’s apparent bias against rights based on federal law, it would have
been foolhardy to proceed to litigate without taking into account the
reality of the Idaho courts’ bias.73 Although a review of an Idaho
Supreme Court ruling on treaty right claims would have been available
in the United States Supreme Court, that court has not been sympathetic
to Indian claims in recent years.74 In these inauspicious circumstances
the Nez Perce Tribe managed to negotiate a surprisingly favorable set-
tlement.

modern settlement processes and treaties

Tribal claims to unextinguished aboriginal title and reserved water rights
are negotiated and litigated in an atmosphere that in many respects
resembles the nineteenth-century treaty era. Many policy makers express
the desire to deal fairly with the Indians, but as in treaty times it is the
federal government that establishes the governing substantive rules and
determines the forums for resolution.75 Tribes generally do not have the
option of forcing the government to respect complete tribal claims,
although the courts now provide an avenue that was not generally avail-
able. But even in court the law is interpreted by judges who look sym-
pathetically at non-Indian possessors of Indian land and water and tend
to treat tribal claims with skepticism. Tribes are thus left to negotiate
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over what constitutes fair compensation for land and water in negotiated
settlements. The settlements are presented to Congress for final approval
— and possible unilateral modification. Given these significant legal and
practical obstacles to achieving their important goals, tribes have done
relatively well in both the treaty era of the nineteenth century and in
modern negotiations over land, water, and sovereignty.

As shown earlier in this essay, Alaska Natives surrendered their abo-
riginal lands in a “settlement,” but they really had no more choice in
determining whether to surrender most of their aboriginal lands than
the Indian tribes in Washington Territory who were presented with pre-
drafted treaties by Governor Isaac Stevens. The fact was that the oil com-
panies, non-Natives, and members of Congress who advanced statehood
for Alaska proceeded on the assumption that Native title would be ex -
tinguished and the primary matter of debate would be the amount of
compensation. It is the familiar tale of superior numbers and power
accompanied by the sense of manifest destiny that drove the United
States’ westward expansion. Natives have achieved much with the pro-
ceeds of their settlement: the assets controlled by Native corporations
ensure that they will remain among the most important economic forces
in Alaska. Nevertheless, they had no real choice in the matter of whether
to settle.

U.S. law and government practices have similarly forced tribes to
make their claims to water in circumstances that give their adversaries
the advantage. For years non-Indians dealt with Indian water rights and
associated obstacles for development by simply ignoring the reserved
rights doctrine and using water meant for Indians in massive reclamation
projects. As awareness of the potential cloud on non-Indian water use
grew, Congress (aided by the Supreme Court’s generous interpretation
of the McCarran Amendment) provided state courts with jurisdiction to
determine the existence and scope of tribal water rights, to the decided
disadvantage of tribes. Against these odds the Nez Perce turned an all-
but-certain loss in state court into a settlement that provides great ben-
efit to current and future tribal members and will allow substantial
progress to be made in habitat restoration and thus advance treaty rights.
Many other tribes have done the same in other water rights settlements.
The tribes in nearly all modern settlements were compelled to accept less
water than their legal entitlement under the Winters doctrine due to the
fact that Congress authorized generally hostile state forums to adjudicate
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the tribal claims. However, the tribes have been very resourceful in
obtaining other assets in exchange for the diminished quantities of water.

As in treaty times, tribes generally have no choice but to negotiate
when summoned to the negotiation table over land claims and water
rights. Furthermore, the federal government and states hold most of the
political power and thus the negotiating edge. In a change from earlier
times, however, the United States generally adheres to the notion that it
must deal fairly with the tribes and acknowledges officially that the tribes
are here to stay as sovereigns within the United States. Unlike treaty
times, the federal courts have sometimes played a favorable role in shap-
ing positive resolution of Indian land and water claims, and the federal
government sometimes supports the tribes in litigation. Tribes are now
assisted by their own lawyers (many of whom are Indians), and tribal
leaders are skilled in the use of a wide variety of negotiation strategies.
Tribes also have financial resources not previously available to influence
public opinion and thus assure that Congress hears their views. But at the
end of the day the tribes’ subordinate position under U.S. law drastically
diminishes their status at the negotiating table, just as they were disad-
vantaged in the treaty era.
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